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Number of 
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Total Funding 

 
Skills Bootcamps of which Cloud Engineering 

Skills Bootcamp of which Data Science Skills 
Bootcamp of which Software Engineering 
Skills Bootcamp of which Web Development 
Skills Bootcamp 
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SBD-1147-275 

  
£4,499,550.00 

 
£589,050.00 

  £895,950.00 
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SBD-1147-323 £2,475,000.00 
£539,550.00 

SBD-1147-336 

£4,499,550.00 
Total Funding for this 
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ACCEPTANCE BY THE CONTRACTOR 
BY ACCEPTING THIS CONTRACT VIA THE MANAGE YOUR EDUCATION & SKILLS FUNDING 
SERVICE THE PERSON TAKING THIS ACTION ON BEHALF OF THE CONTRACTOR 
REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT THE CONTRACTOR HAS READ AND UNDERSTOOD 
THIS CONTRACT, THE CONTRACTOR AGREES TO BE BOUND BY THIS CONTRACT AND 
THAT HE/SHE IS DULY AUTHORISED TO ACCEPT THIS CONTRACT AND LEGALLY BIND THE 
CONTRACTOR 

 
SIGNED FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR EDUCATION 
By Jill Carswell, Deputy Director & Head of Commercial - Skills & Strategy Groups Commercial Delivery 
Directorate: Operations Group 

 
 

This Contract is made on the date the Contract is digitally signed by the Contractor on the 
Manage Your Education & Skills Funding Service between: 

 
 

COGRAMMAR LTD AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR 

20-22 Wenlock Road  EDUCATION 

London 
 

DEPARTMENT FOR EDUCATION 

N1 7GU  20 GREAT SMITH STREET 
  LONDON 

Company No: 10493520  SW1P 3BT 

 
 
Hereinafter called 

  
 

Hereinafter called 

the “Contractor”  the “DFE” 
 
 
 

 
each a “Party” and together the “Parties”. 

It is agreed that: 

 
1. this contract, together with the attached schedules and annexes, collectively form the 

"Contract"; and 



2. if there is a conflict between the provisions of the clauses of the Contract and the provisions 
of the schedules, contract clause 1.4 in the contract below shall apply. 
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A. BACKGROUND 

1. The Supplier is a participant on the Dynamic Purchasing System for Skills Bootcamp Services System and 
has entered into the Dynamic Purchasing Agreement, “the DPA. 

2. The Customer has, through the DPA, selected the Supplier to provide services required as detailed in 
the Contract Order Form. 

3. Both the Customer and the Supplier have agreed that these terms and conditions, together with the 
Contract Order Form, will govern their relationship. 

 
B. PRELIMINARIES 

 
1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 
1.1. In this Contract, unless the context otherwise requires, capitalised expressions shall have the meanings set 

out in Contract Schedule 1 (Definitions) or the relevant Contract Schedule in which that capitalised 
expression appears. 

1.2. If a capitalised expression does not have an interpretation in Contract Schedule 1 (Definitions) or relevant 
Contract Schedule, it shall have the meaning given to it in the DPA. If no meaning is given to it in the 
DPA, it shall, in the first instance, be interpreted in accordance with the common interpretation within 
the relevant market sector/industry where appropriate. Otherwise, it shall be interpreted in accordance 
with the dictionary meaning. 

1.3. In this Contract, unless the context otherwise requires: 

1.3.1 the singular includes the plural and vice versa; 

1.3.2 reference to a gender includes the other gender and the neuter; 

1.3.3 references to a person include an individual, company, body corporate, corporation, 
unincorporated association, firm, partnership or other legal entity or Crown Body; 

1.3.4 a reference to any Law includes a reference to that Law as amended, extended, consolidated or 
re-enacted from time to time; 

1.3.5 the words "including", "other", "in particular", "for example" and similar words shall not limit the generality of the 
preceding words and shall be construed as if they were immediately followed by the words 
"without limitation"; 

1.3.6 references to “writing” include typing, printing, lithography, photography, display on a screen, 
electronic and facsimile transmission and other modes of representing or reproducing 
words in a visible form, and expressions referring to writing shall be construed accordingly; 

1.3.7 references to “representations” shall be construed as references to present facts, to “warranties” 
as references to present and future facts and to “undertakings” as references to obligations 
under this Contract; 

1.3.8 references to “Clauses” and “Contract Schedules” are, unless otherwise provided, references to 
the clauses and schedules of this Contract and references in any Contract Schedule to parts, 
paragraphs, annexes and tables are, unless otherwise provided, references to the parts, 
paragraphs, annexes and tables of the Contract Schedule in which these references appear; 
and 
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1.3.9 the headings in this Contract are for ease of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation 
or construction of this Contract. 

1.4. In the event of and only to the extent of any conflict between the Contract Order Form, the Contract Terms 
and the provisions of the DPA, the conflict shall be resolved in accordance with the following order of 
precedence: 

1.4.1 The DPA; 

1.4.2 the Contract Order Form; and 

1.4.3 the Contract Terms. 

1.5. Any permitted changes by the Customer to the Template Contract Terms and the Template Contract Order 
Form under Clause 5 (Call for Competition Procedure) of the DPA and DPA Schedule 5 (Call for 
Competition Procedure) prior to them becoming the Contract Terms and the Contract Order Form which 
comprise this Contract shall prevail over the DPA. 

 
2. NOT USED 

 
3. DUE DILIGENCE 

3.1. The Supplier acknowledges that: 

3.1.1 the Customer has delivered or made available to the Supplier all of the information and 
documents that the Supplier considers necessary or relevant for the performance of its 
obligations under this Contract; 

3.1.2 it has made its own enquiries to satisfy itself as to the accuracy and adequacy of the Due Diligence 
Information; 

3.1.3 it has raised all relevant due diligence questions with the Customer before the Contract 
Commencement Date; 

3.1.4 it has undertaken all necessary due diligence and has entered into this Contract in reliance on its 
own due diligence alone; and 

3.1.5 it shall not be excused from the performance of any of its obligations under this Contract on the 
grounds of, nor shall the Supplier be entitled to recover any additional costs or Contract 
Charges, arising as a result of any: 

(a) misinterpretation of the requirements of the Customer in the Contract Order 
Form or elsewhere in this Contract; 

(b) failure by the Supplier to satisfy itself as to the accuracy and/or adequacy of 
the Due Diligence Information; and/or 

(c) failure by the Supplier to undertake its own due diligence. 

 
4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

4.1. Each Party represents and warrants that: 

4.1.1 it has full capacity and authority to enter into and to perform this Contract; 

4.1.2 this Contract is executed by its duly authorised representative; 
4.1.3 there are no actions, suits or proceedings or regulatory investigations before any court or 

administrative body or arbitration tribunal pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against 
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it (or, in the case of the Supplier, any of its Affiliates) that might affect its ability to perform 
its obligations under this Contract; and 

4.1.4 its obligations under this Contract constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable 
in accordance with their respective terms subject to applicable (as the case may be for each 

Party) bankruptcy, reorganisation, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting 
creditors’ rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to equitable principles of 
general application (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity 
or Law). 

4.2. The Supplier represents and warrants that: 

4.2.1 it is validly incorporated, organised and subsisting in accordance with the Laws of its place of 
incorporation; 

4.2.2 it has all necessary consents (including, where its procedures so require, the consent of its 
Parent Company) and regulatory approvals to enter into this Contract; 

4.2.3 its execution, delivery and performance of its obligations under this Contract does not and will not constitute a breach 
of any Law or obligation applicable to it and does not and will not cause or result in a Default 
under any agreement by which it is bound; 

4.2.4 as at the Contract Commencement Date, all written statements and representations in any written 
submissions made by the Supplier as part of the procurement process, and any other 
documents submitted remain true and accurate except to the extent that such statements 
and representations have been superseded or varied by this Contract; 

4.2.5 if the Contract Charges payable under this Contract exceed or are likely to exceed five (5) million 
pounds, as at the Contract Commencement Date it has notified the Customer in writing of 
any Occasions of Tax Non-Compliance or any litigation that it is involved in connection 
with any Occasions of Tax Non Compliance; 

4.2.6 it has and shall continue to have all necessary rights in and to the Third Party IPR, the Supplier 
Background IPRs and any other materials made available by the Supplier (and/or any 
SubContractor) to the Customer which are necessary for the performance of the Supplier’s 
obligations under this Contract including the receipt of the Services by the Customer; 

4.2.7 it shall take all steps, in accordance with Good Industry Practice, to prevent the introduction, 
creation or propagation of any disruptive elements (including any virus, worms and/or 
trojans, spyware or other malware) into systems, data, software or the Customer’s 
Confidential Information (held in electronic form) owned by or under the control of, or used 
by, the Customer; 

4.2.8 it is not subject to any contractual obligation, compliance with which is likely to have a material 
adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this Contract; 

4.2.9 it is not affected by an Insolvency Event and no proceedings or other steps have been taken and 
not discharged (nor, to the best of its knowledge, are threatened) for the winding up of the 
Supplier or for its dissolution or for the appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver, 
liquidator, manager, administrator or similar officer in relation to any of the Supplier’s 
assets or revenue; and 

4.2.10 for the Contract Period and for a period of twelve (12) Months after the termination or expiry of 
this Contract, the Supplier shall not employ or offer employment to any staff of the 
Customer which have been associated with the provision of the Services without Approval 
or the prior written consent of the Customer which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
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4.3. Each of the representations and warranties set out in Clauses 4.1 and 4.2 shall be construed as a separate 
representation and warranty and shall not be limited or restricted by reference to, or inference from, 
the terms of any other representation, warranty or any undertaking in this Contract. 

4.4. If at any time a Party becomes aware that a representation or warranty given by it under Clauses 4.1 and 
4.2 has been breached, is untrue or is misleading, it shall immediately notify the other Party of the 

relevant occurrence in sufficient detail to enable the other Party to make an accurate assessment of the 
situation. 

4.5. For the avoidance of doubt, the fact that any provision within this Contract is expressed as a warranty shall 
not preclude any right of termination the Customer may have in respect of breach of that provision by 
the Supplier which constitutes a material Default. 

 
C. DURATION OF CONTRACT 

 
5. CONTRACT PERIOD 
5.1. This Contract shall take effect on the Contract Commencement Date and will expire on the Contract Expiry 

Date unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of this Contract. 

5.2. The term of this Contract shall be the Contract Period. 

5.3. The Customer may extend the Contract Period on one or more occasions for a minimum of 6 months per 
extension subject to the maximum aggregate extension that is permissible being 24 months. 

5.4. The contract contains extension provisions which enable the Authority to exercise discretion and extend for 
up to 24 months on 4 occasions up to a maximum total term (including the initial term) of 6 years to 
align with the DPS lifespan. 

 
D. CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 

 
6. IMPLEMENTATION 
6.1. The Supplier shall provide to the Customer the Services as identified in Schedule 2 Part 1 (Services) to this 

Contract and in the Contract Order Form. 

6.2. When providing the Services, as required by Clause 6.1, the Supplier shall comply with the Performance 
Measures detailed in Schedule 2 Part 2 (Performance Measures). 

 
7. SERVICES 

7.1. Provision of the Services 

7.2. The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that the Customer relies on the skill and judgment of the Supplier in 
the provision of the Services and the performance of its obligations under this Contract. 

7.3. The Supplier shall ensure that the Services: 

7.3.1 comply in all respects with the description of the Services in Contract Schedule 2 Part 1 (Services) 
or elsewhere in this Contract; and 

7.3.2 are supplied in accordance with the provisions of this Contract. 

7.4. The Supplier shall perform its obligations under this Contract in accordance with: 

7.4.1 All applicable Law; 

7.4.2 Good Industry Practice; 
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7.4.3 the Quality Standards; 

7.4.4 the Skills Bootcamp Guidance; and 

7.4.5 the Supplier’s own established procedures and practices to the extent the same do not conflict 
with the requirements of Clauses 7.4.1 to 7.4.4. 

7.5. The Supplier shall: 

7.5.1 at all times allocate sufficient resources with the appropriate technical expertise to deliver the 
Services in accordance with this Contract; 

7.5.2 obtain, and maintain throughout the Contract Period, all the consents, approvals, licences and 
permissions (statutory, regulatory contractual or otherwise) it may require which are 
necessary for the provision of the Services; 

7.5.3 ensure that any Services recommended or otherwise specified by the Supplier for use by the 
Customer in conjunction with the Services shall meet the requirements of the Customer; 

7.5.4 ensure that the Supplier Assets will be free of all encumbrances (except as agreed in writing with 
the Customer); 

7.5.5 minimise any disruption to the Sites and/or the Customer's operations when providing the 
Services; 

7.5.6 ensure that any Documentation and training provided by the Supplier to the Customer are 
comprehensive, accurate and prepared in accordance with Good Industry Practice; 

7.5.7 co-operate with any other Supplier’s and provide reasonable information (including any 
Documentation), advice and assistance in connection with the Services to any other 
supplier and, on the Contract Expiry Date for any reason, to enable the timely transition of 
the supply of the Services (or any of them) to the Customer and/or to any Replacement 
Supplier; 

7.5.8 assign to the Customer, or if it is unable to do so, shall (to the extent it is legally able to do so) 
hold on trust for the sole benefit of the Customer, all warranties and indemnities provided 
by third parties or any Sub-Contractor in respect of Services. Where any such warranties 
are held on trust, the Supplier shall enforce such warranties in accordance with any 
reasonable directions that the Customer may notify from time to time to the Supplier; 

7.5.9 provide the Customer with such assistance as the Customer may reasonably require during the 
Contract Period in respect of the supply of the Services; 

7.5.10 deliver the Services in a proportionate and efficient manner; 
7.5.11 gather, collate and provide such information and co-operation as the Customer may reasonably 

request for the purposes of ascertaining the Supplier’s compliance with its obligations 
under this Contract; and 

7.5.12 provide the Customer with access to all information and data relating to the Services (including to 
Learner files) for the purposes for evaluation as detailed in the Service Requirements and 
co-operate fully and promptly with the requests made by the Customer including those 
relating to the retention of information and data (including the Learner files) and 
evaluation. 

7.6. An obligation on the Supplier to do, or to refrain from doing, any act or thing shall include an obligation 
upon the Supplier to procure that all Sub-Contractors and Supplier Personnel also do, or refrain from 
doing, such act or thing. 

Drafting Note: clause 7.7 will be marked “Not Used” where a Parent Company Guarantee is not required. 
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7.7. On or before the date of this Contract the Supplier shall procure the execution of a Guarantor by the 
Guarantor in favour of the Customer in the form annexed at Schedule 13 to the DPA. 

8. SERVICES 

General application 

8.1. The Services to be delivered have been included in Schedule 2 Part 1 (Services). 

Time of Delivery of the Services 

8.2. The Supplier shall provide the Services on the date(s) specified in the Contract Order Form (or elsewhere in 
this Contract). 

Location and Manner of Delivery of the Services 

8.3. Except where otherwise provided in this Contract, the Supplier shall provide the Services to the Customer 
through the Supplier Personnel at the Sites. 

8.4. The Customer may inspect and examine the manner in which the Supplier provides the Services at the Sites 
and if the Sites are not the Customer Premises, the Customer may carry out such inspection and 
examination on reasonable notice during normal business hours. 

Undelivered Services 

8.5. In the event that any of the Services are not delivered in accordance with Clauses 7 (Provision of the 
Services), 8.2 (Time of Delivery of the Services) and 8.3 and 8.4 (Location and Manner of Delivery of the 
Services) ("Undelivered Services"), the Customer, without prejudice to any other rights and remedies 
of the Customer howsoever arising, shall be entitled to withhold payment of any applicable Contract 
Charges for the Services that were not so delivered until such time as the undelivered Services are 
delivered. 

8.6. The Customer may, at its discretion and without prejudice to any other rights and remedies of the Customer 
howsoever arising, deem the failure to comply with Clauses 7 (Provision of the Services), 8.2 (Time of 
Delivery of the Services) and 8.3 and 8.4 (Location and Manner of Delivery of the Services) to be a 
material Default. 

Obligation to Remedy of Default in the Supply of the Services 

8.7. Subject to Clauses 22.9 and 22.20 (IPR Indemnity) and without prejudice to any other rights and remedies 
of the Customer howsoever arising (including under Clauses 8.6 (Undelivered Services) and 27 
(Customer Remedies for Default)), the Supplier shall, where practicable: 

8.7.1 remedy any breach of its obligations in Clauses 8 and 9 within three (3) Working Days of becoming 
aware of the relevant Default or being notified of the Default by the Customer or within 
such other time period as may be agreed with the Customer (taking into account the nature 
of the breach that has occurred); 

8.7.2 meet all the costs of, and incidental to, the performance of such remedial work 
 

Continuing Obligation to Provide the Services 
8.8. The Supplier shall continue to perform all of its obligations under this Contract and shall not suspend the 

provision of the Services, notwithstanding: 

8.8.1 any withholding or deduction by the Customer of any Contract Charges or other sum due to the 
Supplier pursuant to the exercise of a right of the Customer to such withholding or 
deduction under this Contract; 

8.8.2 the existence of an unresolved Dispute; and/or 
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8.8.3 any failure by the Customer to pay any Contract Charges, unless the Supplier is entitled to 
terminate this Contract under Clauses 31.1 to 31.4 (Termination on Customer Failure to 
Pay) for failure by the Customer to pay undisputed Contract Charges. 

9. QUALITY STANDARDS 

9.1. The Supplier shall at all times during the Contract Period comply with the Quality Standards and maintain, 
where applicable, accreditation with the relevant Quality Standards authorisation body. 

9.2. Throughout the Contract Period, the Parties shall notify each other of any new or emergent Quality 
Standards which could affect the Supplier’s provision, or the receipt by the Customer, of the Services. 
A proposed adoption of any such new or emergent Quality standard, or changes to existing Quality 
Standards (including any specified in the Contract Order Form), shall be made by the Supplier by 
adhering to the Variation procedure set out at Clauses 13.3 to 13.5. 

9.3. Where a new or emergent Quality Standard is to be developed or introduced by the Customer, the Supplier 
shall be responsible for ensuring that the potential impact on the Supplier’s provision, or the Customer’s 
receipt of the Services is explained to the Customer (within a reasonable timeframe), prior to the 
implementation of the new or emergent Quality Standard. 

9.4. Where Quality Standards conflict with each other or with Good Industry Practice, then the later Quality 
Standard or best practice shall be adopted by the Supplier. The proposal to use the later Quality 

Standard or best practice shall require Approval (and the written consent of the Customer where the 
relevant Standard or Standards is/are included in DPA Schedule 2 (Services, Performance Measures and 
Contract Performance) and shall be implemented within an agreed timescale. 

9.5. Where a Quality Standard, policy or document is referred to by reference to a hyperlink, then if the hyperlink 
is changed or no longer provides access to the relevant standard, policy or document, the Supplier shall 
notify the Customer and provide access to an updated hyperlink.. 

 
10. DISRUPTION 
10.1. The Supplier shall take reasonable care to ensure that in the performance of its obligations under this 

Contract it does not disrupt the operations of the Customer, its employees or any other contractor 
engaged by the Customer. 

10.2. The Supplier shall immediately inform the Customer of any actual or potential industrial action, whether 
such action be by the Supplier Personnel or others, which affects or might affect the Supplier’s ability at 
any time to perform its obligations under this Contract. 

10.3. In the event of industrial action by the Supplier Personnel, the Supplier shall seek Approval to its proposals 
for the continuance of the supply of the Services in accordance with its obligations under this Contract. 

10.4. If the Supplier’s proposals referred to in Clause 10.3 are considered insufficient or unacceptable by the 
Customer acting reasonably then the Customer may terminate this Contract for material Default. 

 
11. FINANCIAL DISTRESS 
11.1. The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Contract Schedule 15 (Financial Distress) in relation to the 

assessment of the financial standing of the Supplier and the consequences of a change to that financial 
standing. 

 
E. CONTRACT GOVERNANCE 
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12. RECORDS, AUDIT ACCESS AND OPEN BOOK DATA 

12.1. The Supplier shall keep and maintain for seven (7) years after the Contract Expiry Date or Termination 
Date, whichever is the earlier, full and accurate records and accounts of the operation of this Contract 
including the Services provided under it, any Sub-Contracts and the amounts paid by the Customer. 

12.2. The Supplier shall: 

12.2.1 keep the records and accounts referred to in Clause 12.1 in accordance with Good Industry 
Practice and Law; and 

12.2.2 afford any Auditor access to the records and accounts referred to in Clause 12.1 at the Supplier’s 
premises and/or provide records and accounts (including copies of the Supplier’s published 
accounts) or copies of the same, as may be required by any of the Auditors from time to 
time during the Contract Period and the period specified in Clause 12.1, in order that the 
Auditor(s) may carry out an inspection to assess compliance by the Supplier and/or its Sub- 
Contractors of any of the Supplier’s obligations under this Contract including in order to: 

(a) verify the accuracy of the Contract Charges and any other amounts payable by 
the Customer under this Contract (and proposed or actual variations to them 
in accordance with this Contract); 

(b) verify the costs of the Supplier (including the costs of all Sub Contractors and 
any third party Supplier’s) in connection with the provision of the Services; 

(c) verify the Open Book Data; 

(d) verify the Supplier’s and each Sub-Contractor’s compliance with the applicable 
Law; 

(e) identify or investigate an actual or suspected Prohibited Act, impropriety or 
accounting mistakes or any breach or threatened breach of security and in 
these circumstances the Customer shall have no obligation to inform the 
Supplier of the purpose or objective of its investigations; 

(f) identify or investigate any circumstances which may impact upon the financial 
stability of the Supplier, and/or any Sub-Contractors or their ability to perform 
the Services; 

(g) obtain such information as is necessary to fulfil the Customer’s obligations to 
supply information for parliamentary, ministerial, judicial or administrative 
purposes including the supply of information to the Comptroller and Auditor 
General; 

(h) review any books of account and the internal contract management accounts 
kept by the Supplier in connection with this Contract; 

(i) carry out the Customer’s internal and statutory audits and to prepare, examine 
and/or certify the Customer's annual and interim reports and accounts; 

(j) enable the National Audit Office to carry out an examination pursuant to 
Section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with which the Customer has used its resources; 

(k) verify the accuracy and completeness of any information delivered or required 
by this Contract; 
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(l) review the Supplier’s quality management systems (including any quality 
manuals and procedures); 

(m) review the Supplier’s compliance with the Standards; 

(n) inspect the Customer Assets, including the Customer's IPRs, equipment and 
facilities, for the purposes of ensuring that the Customer Assets are secure and 
that any register of assets is up to date; and/or 

(o) review the integrity, confidentiality and security of the Customer Data. 

12.3. The Customer shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that the conduct of each audit does not 
unreasonably disrupt the Supplier or delay the provision of the Services save insofar as the Supplier 
accepts and acknowledges that control over the conduct of audits carried out by the Auditor(s) is outside 
of the control of the Customer. 

12.4. Subject to the Supplier’s rights in respect of Confidential Information, the Supplier shall on demand 
provide the Auditor(s) with all reasonable co-operation and assistance in: 

12.4.1 all reasonable information requested by the Customer within the scope of the audit; 

12.4.2 reasonable access to sites controlled by the Supplier and to any Supplier Equipment used 
in the provision of the Services; and 

12.4.3 access to the Supplier Personnel. 

12.5. The Parties agree that they shall bear their own respective costs and expenses incurred in respect of 
compliance with their obligations under this Clause 12, unless the audit reveals a Default by the Supplier 
in which case the Supplier shall reimburse the Customer for the Customer's reasonable costs incurred 
in relation to the audit. 

13. CHANGE 

Legislative Change 

13.1. The Supplier shall neither be relieved of its obligations under this Contract nor be entitled to an increase 
in the Contract Charges as the result of a: 

13.1.1 General Change in Law; 
13.1.2 Specific Change in Law where the effect of that Specific Change in Law on the Services is 

reasonably foreseeable at the Contract Commencement Date. 

13.2. If a Specific Change in Law occurs or will occur during the Contract Period (other than as referred to in 
Clause 13.1.2, the Supplier shall: 

13.2.1 notify the Customer as soon as reasonably practicable of the likely effects of that change 
including: 

(a) whether, in their opinion a contract variation is required to the provision of the 
Services, the Contract Charges or this Contract ; and 

(b) whether any relief from compliance with the Supplier’s obligations is required; 
and 

13.2.2 provide to the Customer with evidence: 

(a) that the Supplier has minimised any increase in costs or maximised any 
reduction in costs, including in respect of the costs of its Sub-Contractors; 
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(b) as to how the Specific Change in Law has affected the cost of providing the 
Services; and 

(c) demonstrating that any expenditure that has been avoided, has been taken 
into account in amending the Contract Charges. 

Variation Process 

13.3. Subject to the provisions of this Clause 13.3 and Call Off Schedule 3 (Call Off Contract Charges, Payment 
and Invoicing), either Party may request a variation to this Call Off Contract provided that such variation 
does not amount to a material change of this Call Off Contract within the meaning of the Regulations 
and the Law. Such a change once implemented is hereinafter called a "Variation” 

13.4. A Party may request a Variation by completing, signing and sending the Variation Form to the other Party 
giving sufficient information for the receiving Party to assess the extent of the proposed Variation and 
any additional cost that may be incurred. 

13.5. If the Parties agree the Variation, the Supplier shall implement such Variation and be bound by the same 
provisions so far as is applicable, as though such Variation was stated in this Call Off Contract. 

F. PAYMENT, TAXATION AND VALUE FOR MONEY PROVISIONS 

 
14. ILR DATA, CONTRACT CHARGES AND PAYMENT 

The Submission of ILR Data 

14.1. The Provider must register with UKRLP (UK Register of Learning Providers (ukrlp.co.uk)) and maintain 
contact details on an on-going basis. 

14.2. The Supplier must submit promptly to the Customer an accurate Individualised Learning Record (“ILR”) in 
relation to each individual Learner in accordance with this Contract and the ILR technical documents, 
guidance and requirements as amended and updated from time to time. 

14.3. The Supplier can view the ILR technical documents, guidance and requirements by visiting the website 
https://guidance.submit-learner-data.service.gov.uk/. Suppliers should view the “Skills Bootcamps 
Funding and Performance Management Guidance”, which includes the latest instructions on how to 
complete the ILR for Skills Bootcamp courses. 

14.4. The Supplier must notify the Customer through the ILR of any new Learners within the timescale specified 
in the Skills Bootcamp Guidance. 

14.5. ILR Data collected by the Supplier must be transmitted to the Customer through the Submit Learner Data 
service . 

14.6. The Supplier shall ensure that information about Learners (including new Learners) is recorded on the ILR 
promptly (as defined in the Skills Bootcamp Guidance) and regularly reviewed and updated within a 
month when there has been a change. 

14.7. Further to clause 14.6 the Supplier must also and in any event check the accuracy of the ILR Data submitted 
via the Submit Learner Data service and the Supplier must correct any errors immediately. 

14.8. All submissions to the ILR must be supported by evidence including but not limited to the information 
specified in Annex 1 to Schedule 2 Part 3 (Contract Management), and the Skills Bootcamp Guidance. 

14.9. The Customer may publish monitoring reports via View your education data. If these monitoring reports 
are published, the Supplier must access the monitoring reports every month and amend any errors for 
the next submission of the ILR by taking the actions specified in the report user guide. Failure to amend 

the ILR data as required will constitute a breach of this Contract and in addition the provisions of Clause 
14.15 will apply. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0914-cyber-essentials-scheme-certification
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0914-cyber-essentials-scheme-certification
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0914-cyber-essentials-scheme-certification
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0914-cyber-essentials-scheme-certification
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0914-cyber-essentials-scheme-certification
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0914-cyber-essentials-scheme-certification
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14.10. Where the Customer has grounds to be concerned about the ILR Data submitted by the Supplier, including 
but not limited to the completeness or accuracy of the ILR Data provided by the Supplier under this 
Contract or any other agreement between the Supplier and the Customer, the Customer may take one 
or more of the following actions: 

14.10.1 require the Supplier, at its own cost, to carry out such work as the Customer deems necessary 
to improve the quality of the ILR Data; 

14.10.2 require the Supplier at its own cost to carry out an audit in accordance with Clause 14.15; 

14.10.3 where ILR Data submitted by the Supplier on an ILR is missing, incomplete or incorrect in the final ILR submission of 
the Academic Year, the Customer will recover the Contract 
Charges that correspond with the missing, incomplete or incorrect ILR Data; 

14.10.4 require the Supplier to supply ILR Data at such intervals and for such a period as is specified by 
the Customer; 

14.10.5  suspend the payment of the Contract Charges for a specified period in accordance; and / 
or 

14.10.6 terminate the Contract in accordance with Clauses 30 or 32. 
14.11. If served with notice of a breach of the submission requirements as referred to in this Clause, the Supplier 

must correct the ILR Data or supply the Customer with evidence in support of its ILR submission within 
the period specified in the notice. This evidence can include digital copies of documents such as Learner 
files, commitment statements or employer declarations. The Supplier should note that annotated 
spreadsheets or notes are not acceptable to the Customer as evidence. 

14.12. Where the Supplier is delivering Skills Bootcamp Courses to one or more Learners claiming state benefits, 
it must provide data to the Secretary of State with responsibility for unemployment or their nominated 
representative in accordance with the requirements notified to the Supplier. 

14.13. The Customer will pay the Contract Charge due to the Supplier in accordance with the payment profile 
set out in the table at Annex 2 of Contract Schedule 3 (Contract Charges, Payment & Invoices). 

14.14. The payment of Contract Charges by the Customer shall be without prejudice to any claims or rights, 
which the Customer may have against the Supplier and shall not be taken as an acknowledgement that 
the Supplier has fulfilled its obligations under this Contract. Prior to payment of Contract Charges, the 
Customer shall be entitled to make deductions or deferments in respect of any disputes or claims 
whatsoever with or against the Supplier, arising from this Contract or any other Contract between the 
Supplier and the Customer. 

14.15. Where the Customer identifies errors which it deems to be material in the ILR Data, the Customer 
reserves the right at its absolute discretion to require the Supplier at the Supplier’s cost to carry out a 
100% audit of all or part of the Skills Bootcamp Course by a deadline specified by the Customer and / or 
to recover from the Supplier Contract Charges equivalent to an amount based on the error rate 
identified and the total value of the Contract Charges paid to the Supplier under this Contract. 

14.16. Without prejudice to any other provisions of this Contract, such amounts may be recovered by making 
adjustments to ILR Data submitted by the Supplier under the Contract, or by raising an invoice for 
payment by the Supplier, or by making deductions from future payments (including Contract Charges) 
due to the Supplier under the Contract. Failure by the Supplier to settle such amounts will constitute a 
material Default of this Contract. The decision of the Customer as to the amount of recovery under this 
Clause is final. 

14.17. All payments by the Customer of the Contract Charges will be made via BACS. 

Contract Charges 
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14.18. In consideration of the Supplier carrying out its obligations under this Contract the Customer shall pay 
the Contract Charges in accordance with Clause 14.13. 

14.19. Except as otherwise provided, each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses incurred in respect of 
compliance with its obligations under Clauses 12 (Records, Audit Access and Open Book Data), 23.20 to 
23.21 (Freedom of Information) and 23.22 to 23.36 (Protection of Personal Data). 

14.20. If the Customer fails to pay the Contract Charges the Supplier shall have the right to charge interest on the 
overdue amount at the applicable rate under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, 
accruing on a daily basis from the due date up to the date of actual payment, whether before or after 
judgment. 

14.21. The Customer is not responsible for any shortfall in fees or any lost revenue suffered by the Supplier, in 
the event that a Learner does not complete their Skills Bootcamp course and withdraws early from it. 

VAT 

14.22. The Contract Charges are stated exclusive of VAT, which shall be added at the prevailing rate as applicable 
and paid by the Customer in accordance with Clause 14.13. 

14.23. Where VAT is applicable, the Supplier shall indemnify the Customer on a continuing basis against any 
liability, including any interest, penalties or costs incurred, which is levied, demanded or assessed on 
the Customer at any time (whether before or after the making of a demand pursuant to the indemnity 
hereunder) in respect of the Supplier’s failure to account for or to pay any VAT relating to payments 
made to the Supplier under this Contract 

14.24. Any amounts due under Clause 14.23 (VAT) shall be paid in cleared funds by the Supplier to the Customer 
not less than five (5) Working Days before the date upon which the tax or other liability is payable by 
the Customer. 

Retention and Set Off 

14.25. The Customer may retain or set off any amount owed to it by the Supplier against any amount due to the 
Supplier under this Contract or under any other agreement between the Supplier and the Customer. 

14.26. If the Customer wishes to exercise its right pursuant to Clause 14.25 it shall give notice to the Supplier 
setting out the Customer’s reasons for retaining or setting off the relevant Contract Charges. 

14.27. The Supplier shall make any payments due to the Customer without any deduction whether by way of 
set-off, counterclaim, discount, abatement or otherwise unless the Supplier has obtained a sealed court 
order requiring an amount equal to such deduction to be paid by the Customer to the Supplier. 

Foreign Currency 

14.28. Any requirement of Law to account for the Services in any currency other than Sterling, (or to prepare for 
such accounting) instead of and/or in addition to Sterling, shall be implemented by the Supplier free of 
charge to the Customer. 

14.29. The Customer shall provide all reasonable assistance to facilitate compliance with Clause 14.28 by the 
Supplier. 

Income Tax and National Insurance Contributions 

14.30. Where the Supplier or any Supplier Personnel are liable to be taxed in the UK or to pay national insurance 
contributions in respect of consideration received under this Contract, the Supplier shall: 

14.30.1 at all times comply with the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 and all other statutes 
and regulations relating to income tax, and the Social Security Contributions and Benefits 
Act 1992 and all other statutes and regulations relating to national insurance contributions, 
in respect of that consideration; and 
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14.30.2 indemnify the Customer against any income tax, national insurance and social security 
contributions and any other liability, deduction, contribution, assessment or claim arising 
from or made (whether before or after the making of a demand pursuant to the indemnity 
hereunder) in connection with the provision of the Services by the Supplier or any Supplier 
Personnel. 

14.31. In the event that any one of the Supplier Personnel is a Worker as defined in Contract Schedule 1 
(Definitions) who receives consideration relating to the Services, then, in addition to its obligations 
under Clause 14.30, the Supplier shall ensure that its contract with the Worker contains the following 
requirements: 

14.31.1 that the Customer may, at any time during the Contract Period, request that the Worker 
provides information which demonstrates how the Worker complies with the 

requirements of Clause 14.30, or why those requirements do not apply to it. In such case, 
the Customer may specify the information which the Worker must provide and the period 
within which that information must be provided; 

14.31.2 that the Worker’s contract may be terminated at the Customer’s request if: 

(a) the Worker fails to provide the information requested by the Customer within 
the time specified by the Customer under Clause 14.31.1; and/or 

(b) the Worker provides information which the Customer considers is inadequate 
to demonstrate how the Worker complies with Clause 14.30 or confirms that 
the Worker is not complying with those requirements; and 

(c) that the Customer may supply any information it receives from the Worker to 
HMRC for the purpose of the collection and management of revenue for which 
they are responsible 

 
15. PROMOTING TAX COMPLIANCE 
15.1. This Clause 15 shall apply if the Contract Charges payable under this Contract exceed or are likely to exceed 

five (5) million pounds during the Contract Period. 

15.2. If, at any point during the Contract Period, an Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance occurs, the Supplier shall: 

15.2.1 notify the Customer in writing of such fact within five (5) Working Days of its occurrence; 
and 

15.2.2 promptly provide to the Customer: 

(a) details of the steps that the Supplier is taking to address the Occasion of Tax 
Non-Compliance and to prevent the same from recurring, together with any 
mitigating factors that it considers relevant; and 

(b) such other information in relation to the Occasion of Tax Noncompliance as 
the Customer may reasonably require. 

In the event that the Supplier fails to comply with this Clause 15 and/or does not provide details of 
proposed mitigating factors which in the reasonable opinion of the Customer are acceptable, then the 
Customer reserves the right to terminate this Contract for material Default. 

G. SUPPLIER PERSONNEL AND SUPPLY CHAIN MATTERS 

 
16. SUPPLIER PERSONNEL 
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Supplier Personnel 

16.1. The Supplier shall: 

16.1.1 provide a list of the names of all Supplier Personnel requiring admission to Customer Premises, 
specifying the capacity in which they require admission and giving such other particulars as the 
Customer may reasonably require; 16.1.2 ensure that all Supplier Personnel: 

(a) are appropriately qualified, trained and experienced to provide the Services 
with all reasonable skill, care and diligence; 

(b) are vetted in accordance with Good Industry Practice and, where applicable, 
the Security Policy and the Standards; 

(c) obey all lawful instructions and reasonable directions of the Customer 
(including, if so required by the Customer, the ICT Policy) and provide the 
Services to the reasonable satisfaction of the Customer; and 

(d) comply with all reasonable requirements of the Customer concerning conduct 
at the Customer Premises, including the security requirements set out in 
Contract Schedule 4 (Security); 

16.1.3 subject to Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer), retain overall control of the Supplier Personnel 
at all times so that the Supplier Personnel shall not be deemed to be employees, agents or 
contractors of the Customer; 

16.1.4 be liable at all times for all acts or omissions of Supplier Personnel, so that any act or omission 
of a member of any Supplier Personnel which results in a Default under this Contract shall 
be a Default by the Supplier; 

16.1.5 use all reasonable endeavours to minimise the number of changes in Supplier Personnel; 

16.1.6 replace (temporarily or permanently, as appropriate) any Supplier Personnel as soon as 
practicable if any Supplier Personnel have been removed or are unavailable for any reason 
whatsoever; 

16.1.7 bear the programme familiarisation and other costs associated with any replacement of any 
Supplier Personnel; and 

16.1.8 procure that the Supplier Personnel shall vacate the Customer Premises immediately upon the 
Contract Expiry Date. 

16.2. If the Customer reasonably believes that any of the Supplier Personnel are unsuitable to undertake work 
in respect of this Contract, it may: 

16.2.1 refuse admission to the relevant person(s) to the Customer Premises; and/or 

16.2.2 direct the Supplier to end the involvement in the provision of the Services of the relevant 
person(s). 

16.3. The decision of the Customer as to whether any person is to be refused access to the Customer Premises 
shall be final and conclusive. 

Relevant Convictions 

16.4. For each member of Supplier Personnel who, in providing the Services, has, will have or is likely to have 
access to children, vulnerable persons or other members of the public to whom the Customer owes a 
special duty of care, the Supplier shall (and shall procure that the relevant Sub-Contractor shall): 

16.4.1 carry out a check with the records held by the Department for Education (DfE); 



15  

16.4.2 conduct thorough questioning regarding any Relevant Convictions; and 
16.4.3 ensure a police check is completed and such other checks as may be carried out through the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS), and the Supplier shall not (and shall ensure that any 
Sub-Contractor shall not) engage or continue to employ in the provision of the Services any 
person who has a Relevant Conviction or an inappropriate record. 

 
17. STAFF TRANSFER 
17.1. Where the commencement of the provision of the Services or any part of the Services results in one or 

more Relevant Transfers, Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall apply as follows: 

17.1.1 where the Relevant Transfer involves the transfer of Transferring Customer Employees, Part A of 
Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall apply; 

17.1.2 where the Relevant Transfer involves the transfer of Transferring Former Supplier Employees, 
Part B of Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall apply; 

17.1.3 where the Relevant Transfer involves the transfer of Customer Employees and Transferring 
Former Supplier Employees, Parts A and B of Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall 
apply; and 

17.1.4 Part C of Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall not apply; 
17.2. Where commencement of the provision of the Services or a part of the Services does not result in a 

Relevant Transfer, Part C of Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall apply and Parts A and B of Contract 
Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall not apply. 

17.3. Part D of Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) shall apply on the expiry or termination of the Services or any 
part of the Services. 

17.4. The Supplier shall both during and after the Contract Period indemnify the Customer against all Employee 
Liabilities that may arise as a result of any claims brought against the Customer by any person where 
such claim arises from any act or omission of the Supplier or any Supplier Personnel. 

18. SUPPLY CHAIN RIGHTS AND PROTECTION 

Appointment of Sub-Contractors 

18.1. The Supplier may enter into one or more Sub-Contracts provided that it does so in accordance with this 
Clause 18, Contract Schedule 1 (Service Requirements) and Contract Schedule 14 (Sub-Contracting). 
Clauses 18.9 and 18.11 will apply to Key Sub-Contractors. 

18.2. Failure to comply with any of the requirements under this Clause 18 may result in the Customer taking 
such actions as it deems appropriate, which may include but is not limited to suspending payment of 
the Contract Charges and/or termination of this Contract under Clause 30.1 (Termination). 

18.3. The Supplier shall exercise due skill and care in the selection of any Sub-Contractors to ensure that the 
Supplier is able to: 

18.3.1 manage any Sub-Contractors in accordance with Good Industry Practice; 

18.3.2 comply with its obligations under this Contract; and 
18.3.3 assign, novate or otherwise transfer to the Customer or any Replacement Supplier any of its 

rights and/or obligations under each Sub-Contract that relate exclusively to this Contract. 

18.4. Prior to sub-contacting any of its obligations under this Contract, the Supplier shall notify the Customer 
and provide the Customer with: 

18.4.1 the proposed Sub-Contractor’s name, registered office and company registration number; 
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18.4.2 the scope of any Services to be provided by the proposed Sub-Contractor; and 
18.4.3 where the proposed Sub-Contractor is an Affiliate of the Supplier, evidence that demonstrates 

to the reasonable satisfaction of the Customer that the proposed SubContract has been 
agreed on "arm’s-length" terms. 

18.5. If requested by the Customer within ten (10) Working Days of receipt of the Supplier’s notice issued 
pursuant to Clause 18.4, the Supplier shall also provide: 

18.5.1 a copy of the proposed Sub-Contract; and 

18.5.2 any further information reasonably requested by the Customer. 
18.6. The Customer may, within ten (10) Working Days of receipt of the Supplier’s notice issued pursuant to 

Clause 18.4 (or, if later, receipt of any further information requested pursuant to Clause 18.5), object to 
the appointment of the relevant Sub-Contractor if they consider that: 

18.6.1 the appointment of a proposed Sub-Contractor may prejudice the provision of the Services or 
may be contrary to the interests respectively of the Customer under this Contract 

18.6.2 the proposed Sub-Contractor is unreliable and/or has not provided reliable and/or reasonable 
services to its other customers; and/or 

18.6.3 the proposed Sub-Contractor employs unfit persons, 
in which case, the Supplier shall not proceed with the proposed appointment. 

 
18.7. The Supplier may proceed with the proposed appointment if 

18.7.1 the Customer has not notified the Supplier that it objects to the proposed Sub-Contractor’s 
appointment by the later of ten (10) Working Days of receipt of: 

(a) the Supplier’s notice issued pursuant to Clause18.4; and 

(b) any further information requested by the Customer pursuant to Clause 18.5; 
and 

18.7.2 the proposed Sub-Contract is not a Key Sub-Contract which shall require the written consent of 
the Authority and the Customer in accordance with Clause 18.10 to 18.11 (Appointment of 
Key Sub-Contractors). 

18.8. The Supplier shall ensure that each Sub-Contract shall include a provision restricting the ability of the 
SubContractor to Sub-Contract all or any part of the provision of the Services to the Supplier under the 
SubContract without first seeking the written consent of the Customer. 

Appointment of Key Sub-Contractors 

18.9. Any Key Sub-Contractors that have been appointed by the Supplier at the Contract Commencement Date 
are set out at Paragraph 2.1 of Schedule 14 (Sub-Contracting). 

18.10. Where the Supplier wishes to enter into a new Key Sub-Contract or replace a Key Sub-Contractor, it must 
obtain the prior written consent of the Customer (the decision to consent or otherwise not to be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed). The Customer may reasonably withhold its consent to the 
appointment of a Key Sub-Contractor if any of them considers that: 

18.10.1 the appointment of a proposed Key Sub-Contractor may prejudice the provision of the Services 
or may be contrary to its interests; 

18.10.2 the proposed Key Sub-Contractor is unreliable and/or has not provided reliable and/or 

reasonable services to its other customers; and/or 18.10.3 the proposed Key Sub-Contractor employs 

unfit persons. 
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18.11. The Supplier shall ensure that each Key Sub-Contract shall include: 

18.11.1 provisions which will enable the Supplier to discharge its obligations under this Contract; 
18.11.2 a right under CRTPA for the Customer to enforce any provisions under the Key SubContract 

which confer a benefit upon the Customer; 

18.11.3  a provision enabling the Customer to enforce the Key Sub-Contract as if it were the 
Supplier; 

18.11.4 a provision enabling the Supplier to assign, novate or otherwise transfer any of its rights and/or 
obligations under the Key Sub-Contract to the Customer or any Replacement Supplier; 

18.11.5 obligations no less onerous on the Key Sub-Contractor than those imposed on the Supplier 
under this Contract in respect of: 

(a) data protection requirements set out in Clauses 23.1 (Security Requirements), 

23.2 to 23.9 (Protection of Customer Data) and 23.22 to 23.36 (Data 
Protection); 

(b) FOIA requirements set out in Clause 23.20 to 23.21 (Freedom of Information); 

(c) the keeping of records in respect of the Services being provided under the Key Sub- 
Contract, including the maintenance of Open Book Data; 

(d) the conduct of audits set out in Clause 12 (Records, Audit Access & Open Book Data); 

18.11.6 provisions enabling the Supplier to terminate the Key Sub-Contract on notice on terms no 
more onerous on the Supplier than those imposed on the Customer under Clauses 30 
(Customer Termination Rights), 32 (Termination by Either Party) and 34 (Consequences of 
Expiry or Termination) of this Contract; 

18.11.7 the provision set out in clause 18.8 above; and 

18.11.8 a provision, where a provision in Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) imposes an obligation 
on the Supplier to provide an indemnity, undertaking or warranty, requiring the Key 
SubContractor to provide such indemnity, undertaking or warranty to the Customer, Former 
Supplier or the Replacement Supplier as the case may be. 

Supply Chain Protection 

18.12. The Supplier shall ensure that all Sub-Contracts contain a provision: 

18.12.1 requiring the Supplier to pay any undisputed sums which are due from it to the SubContractor 
within a specified period not exceeding thirty (30) days from the receipt of a Valid Invoice; 

18.12.2 requiring that any invoices submitted by a Sub-Contractor shall be considered and verified by the Supplier in a timely 
fashion and that undue delay in doing so shall not be sufficient justification for failing to 
regard an invoice as valid and undisputed; 

18.12.3 requiring the Sub-Contractor to include in any Sub-Contract which it in turn awards suitable provisions to impose, as 
between the parties to that Sub-Contract, requirements to the same effect as those 
required by sub-clauses 18.12.1 and 18.12.2 directly above; and 

18.12.4 conferring a right to the Customer to publish the Supplier’s compliance with its obligation to 
pay undisputed invoices within the specified payment period. 

18.13. The Supplier shall: 
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18.13.1 pay undisputed sums which are due from it to a Sub-Contractor within thirty (30) days from 
the receipt of a Valid Invoice; 

18.13.2 Provide a summary of its compliance with this Clause 18.13.1, such data to be certified each 
quarter by a director of the Supplier as being accurate and not misleading. 

18.14. Any invoices submitted by a Sub-Contractor to the Supplier shall be considered and verified by the 
Supplier in a timely fashion. Undue delay in doing so shall not be sufficient justification for the Supplier 
failing to regard an invoice as valid and undisputed. 

18.15. Notwithstanding any provision of Clauses 23.10 to 23.18 (Confidentiality) and 24 (Publicity and Branding) 
if the Supplier notifies the Customer that the Supplier has failed to pay an undisputed SubContractor’s 
invoice within thirty (30) days of receipt, or the Customer otherwise discovers the same, the Customer 
shall be entitled to publish the details of the late or non-payment (including on government websites 
and in the press). 

Termination of Sub-Contracts 

18.16. The Customer may require the Supplier to terminate: 

18.16.1 a Sub-Contract where: 

(a) the acts or omissions of the relevant Sub-Contractor have caused or materially 
contributed to the Customer's right of termination pursuant to any of the 
termination events in Clause 30 (Customer Termination Rights) except Clause 
30.10 (Termination Without Cause); and/or 

(b) relevant Sub-Contractor or its Affiliates embarrassed the Customer or 
otherwise brought the Customer into disrepute by engaging in any act or 
omission which is reasonably likely to diminish the trust that the public places 
in the Customer, regardless of whether or not such act or omission is related 
to the Sub-Contractor’s obligations in relation to the Services or otherwise; 

18.16.2 a Key Sub-Contract where there is a Change of Control of the relevant Key Sub-Contractor, 
unless: 

(a) the Customer has given its prior written consent to the particular Change of 
Control, which subsequently takes place as proposed; or 

(b) the Customer has not served its notice of objection within six (6) Months of the later of the date the 
Change of Control took place or the date on which the Customer was given notice of the Change of 
Control. 

Retention of Legal Obligations 

18.17. Notwithstanding the Supplier’s right to Sub-Contract pursuant to Clause 18 (Supply Chain Rights and 
Protection), the Supplier shall remain responsible for all acts and omissions of its Sub-Contractors and 
the acts and omissions of those employed or engaged by the Sub-Contractors as if they were its own. 

 
Allocation of title to IPR 

22.1. Save as expressly granted elsewhere under this Contract: 

22.1.1 the Customer shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the Intellectual Property Rights 
of the Supplier or its licensors, including: 

(a) the Supplier Background IPR; 
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(b) the Third Party IPR; and (c) the Project 

Specific IPR. 

22.1.2 the Supplier shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the Intellectual Property Rights 
of the Customer or its licensors, including the: (a) Customer Background IPR; and 

(b) Customer Data. 

22.2. Where either Party acquires, by operation of Law, title to Intellectual Property Rights that is inconsistent 
with the allocation of title set out in Clause 22.1, 22.2 and 22.3, it shall assign in writing such Intellectual 
Property Rights as it has acquired to the other Party on the request of the other Party (whenever made). 

22.3. Neither Party shall have any right to use any of the other Party's names, logos or trade marks on any of its 
products or services without the other Party's prior written consent. 

H. NOT USED Licence granted by the Supplier: Project Specific 

IPR 

19. NOT USED 
 

 
20. NOT USED 

 
22.4. The Supplier if requested by the Customer will 
grant to the Customer or shall procure the direct 

 
grant to the Customer of, a 10 year, royalty-free, 
irrevocable, nonexclusive licence to use the Project 

21. NOT USED Specific 
IPR including but not limited to the right to copy, 

 
I. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND INFORMATION adapt, publish and distribute such Project Specific 

IPR. 
 

22. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS Licence granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR 

22.5. The Supplier if requested by the Customer will grant to the Customer a 10 year, royalty-free and 
nonexclusive licence to use the Supplier Background IPR for any purpose relating to the Services (or 
substantially equivalent services) or for any purpose relating to the exercise of the Customer’s (or, if the 
Customer is a Central Government Body, any other Central Government Body’s) business or function. 

22.6. In the event the licence of the Supplier Background IPR is terminated for Default or expires, the Customer 
shall: 

22.6.1 immediately cease all use of the Supplier Background IPR; 
22.6.2 at the discretion of the Supplier, return or destroy documents and other tangible materials that 

contain any of the Supplier Background IPR, provided that if the Supplier has not made an 
election within six (6) Months of the termination of the licence, the Customer may destroy 
the documents and other tangible materials that contain any of the Supplier Background 
IPR; and 

22.6.3 ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that any Supplier Background IPR that is held in 
electronic, digital or other machine-readable form ceases to be readily accessible (other 
than by the information technology staff of the Customer) from any computer, word 
processor, voicemail system or any other device containing such Supplier Background IPR. 

Customer’s right to sub-license 

22.7. The Customer shall be freely entitled to sub-license the rights granted to it pursuant to Clause 22.4 (Licence 
granted by the Supplier: Project Specific IPR). 
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22.8. The Customer may sub-license: 

22.8.1 the rights granted under Clause 22.5 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) 
to a third party (including for the avoidance of doubt, any Replacement Supplier) provided 
that: 

(a) the sub-licence is on terms no broader than those granted to the Customer; 
and 

(b) the sub-licence only authorises the third party to use the rights licensed in 
Clause 22.5 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) for 
purposes relating to the Services (or substantially equivalent services) or for 
any purpose relating to the exercise of the Customer’s (or, if the Customer is a 
Central Government Body, any other Central Government Body’s) business or 
function; and 

22.8.2 the rights granted under Clause 22.5 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) 
to any Approved Sub-Licensee to the extent necessary to use and/or obtain the benefit of 
the Project Specific IPR provided that the sub-licence is on terms no broader than those 
granted to the Customer. 

Customer’s right to assign/novate licences 

22.9. The Customer shall be freely entitled to assign, novate or otherwise transfer its rights and obligations under 
the licence granted to it pursuant to Clause 22.4 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Project Specific IPR). 

22.10. The Customer may assign, novate or otherwise transfer its rights and obligations under the licence 
granted pursuant to Clause 22.5 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) to: 

22.10.1 a Central Government Body; or 

22.10.2 to any body (including any private sector body) which performs or carries on any of the 
functions and/or activities that previously had been performed and/or carried on by the 
Customer. 

22.11. Where the Customer is a Central Government Body, any change in the legal status of the Customer which 
means that it ceases to be a Central Government Body shall not affect the validity of any licence granted 
in Clause 22.4 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Project Specific IPR) and/or Clause 22.5 (Licences 
granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR). If the Customer ceases to be a Central Government 
Body, the successor body to the Customer shall still be entitled to the benefit of the licences granted in 

Clause 22.4 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Project Specific IPR) and Clause 22.5 (Licence granted by 
the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR). 

22.12. If a licence granted in Clause 22.4 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Project Specific IPR) and/or Clause 

22.5 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) is novated under Clauses 22.9 and/or 
22.10 or there is a change of the Customer’s status pursuant to Clause 22.11 (both such bodies being 
referred to as the “Transferee”), the rights acquired by the Transferee shall not extend beyond those 
previously enjoyed by the Customer. 

Third Party IPR 

22.13. The Supplier shall procure that the owners or the authorised licensors of any Third Party IPR grant a direct 
licence to the Customer on terms at least equivalent to those set out in Clause 22.5 (Licence granted by 
the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) and Clause 22.10 (Customer’s right to assign/novate licences). If 
the Supplier cannot obtain for the Customer a licence materially in accordance with the licence terms 
set out in Clause 22.5 (Licences granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) and Clause 22.10 
(Customer’s right to assign/novate licences) in respect of any such Third Party IPR, the Supplier shall: 
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22.13.1 notify the Customer in writing giving details of what licence terms can be obtained from the 
relevant third party and whether there are alternative providers which the Supplier could 
seek to use; and 

22.13.2 only use such Third Party IPR if the Customer Approves the terms of the licence from the 
relevant third party. 

Licence granted by the Customer 

22.14. The Customer hereby grants to the Supplier a royalty-free, nonexclusive, non-transferable licence during 
the Contract Period to use the Customer Background IPR and the Customer Data solely to the extent 
necessary for providing the Services in accordance with this Contract, including (but not limited to) the 
right to grant sub-licences to Sub-Contractors provided that: 

22.14.1 any relevant Sub-Contractor has entered into a confidentiality undertaking with the Supplier 
on the same terms as set out in Clause 23.10 to 23.18 (Confidentiality); and 

22.14.2 the Supplier shall not without Approval use the licensed materials for any other purpose or for 
the benefit of any person other than the Customer. 

Termination of Licences 

22.15. Subject to Clause 22.5 (Licence granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR), all licences granted 
pursuant to Clause 22 (Intellectual Property Rights) (other than those granted pursuant to Clause 22.13 
(Third Party IPR) and 22.14 (Licence granted by the Customer)) shall survive the Contract Expiry Date. 

22.16. The Supplier shall, if requested by the Customer as a result of a contract termination in accordance with 
Clause 30, grant (or procure the grant) to the Replacement Supplier of a licence to use any Supplier 
Background IPR and/or Third Party IPR on terms equivalent to those set out in Clause 22.5 (Licence 
granted by the Supplier: Supplier Background IPR) subject to the Replacement Supplier entering into 
reasonable confidentiality undertakings with the Supplier. 

22.17. The licence granted pursuant to Clause 22.14 (Licence granted by the Customer ) and any sub-licence 
granted by the Supplier in accordance with Clause 22.14 (Licence granted by the Customer) shall 
terminate automatically on the Contract Expiry Date and the Supplier shall: 

22.17.1 immediately cease all use of the Customer Background IPR and the Customer Data (as the case 
may be); 

22.17.2 at the discretion of the Customer, return or destroy documents and other tangible materials 
that contain any of the Customer Background IPR and the Customer Data, provided that if 
the Customer has not made an election within six months of the termination of the licence, 
the Supplier may destroy the documents and other tangible materials that contain any of 
the Customer Background IPR and the Customer Data (as the case may be); and 

22.17.3 ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that any Customer Background IPR and Customer Data 
that are held in electronic, digital or other machine-readable form ceases to be readily 
accessible from any computer, word processor, voicemail system or any other device of the 
Supplier containing such Customer Background IPR and/or Customer Data. 

IPR Indemnity 

22.18. The Supplier shall, during and after the Contract Period, on written demand, indemnify the Customer 
against all Losses incurred by, awarded against, or agreed to be paid by the Customer (whether before 
or after the making of the demand pursuant to the indemnity hereunder) arising from an IPR Claim. 

22.19. If an IPR Claim is made, or the Supplier anticipates that an IPR Claim might be made, the Supplier may, at 
its own expense and sole option, either: 
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22.19.1 procure for the Customer the right to continue using the relevant item which is subject to the 
IPR Claim; or 

22.19.2 replace or modify the relevant item with non-infringing substitutes provided that: 

(a) the performance and functionality of the replaced or modified item is at least equivalent to 
the performance and functionality of the original item; 

(b) the replaced or modified item does not have an adverse effect on any other 
Services; 

(c) there is no additional cost to the Customer; and 

(d) the terms and conditions of this Contract shall apply to the replaced or modified Services. 

22.20. If the Supplier elects to procure a licence in accordance with Clause 22.19.1 or to modify or replace an 
item pursuant to Clause 22.19.2, but this has not avoided or resolved the IPR Claim, then: 

22.20.1 the Customer may terminate this Contract by written notice with immediate effect; and 

22.20.2 without prejudice to the indemnity set out in Clause 22.18, the Supplier shall be liable for all reasonable and 
unavoidable costs of the services including the additional costs of procuring, implementing and maintaining 
the substitute items. 

22.21. Within one month of the Contract Commencement Date, the Supplier will compile an IPR Register which 
lists the categories of IPR that are referred to in this Clause and the corresponding documents, software, 
materials or any other asset in which there is IPR that are used in and / or generated under this DPA. 

22.22. The IPR Register must be kept up to date during the Contract Period. 

 
23. SECURITY AND PROTECTION OF INFORMATION 

Security Requirements 

23.1. The Supplier shall comply with the requirements of Contract Schedule 4 (Security) including the Security 
Management Plan (if any). 

Protection of Customer Data 

23.2. The Supplier shall not delete or remove any proprietary notices contained within or relating to the 
Customer Data. 

23.3. The Supplier shall not store, copy, disclose, or use the Customer Data except as necessary for the 
performance by the Supplier of its obligations under this Contract or as otherwise Approved by the 
Customer. 

23.4. To the extent that the Customer Data is held and/or Processed by the Supplier, the Supplier shall supply 
that Customer Data to the Customer as requested by the Customer and in the format (if any) specified 
by the Customer in the Contract Order Form and, in any event, as specified by the Customer from time 
to time in writing. 

23.5. The Supplier shall take responsibility for preserving the integrity of Customer Data and preventing the 
corruption or loss of Customer Data. 

23.6. The Supplier shall perform secure back-ups of all Customer Data and shall ensure that up-to-date backups 
are stored off-site at an Approved location in accordance with any business continuity plan or otherwise. 
The Supplier shall ensure that such back-ups are available to the Customer (or to such other person as 
the Customer may direct) at all times upon request and are delivered to the Customer at no less than 
six (6) Monthly intervals (or such other intervals as may be agreed in writing between the Parties). 
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23.7. The Supplier shall ensure that any system on which the Supplier holds any Customer Data, including backup 
data, is a secure system that complies with the Security Policy and the Security Management Plan (if 
any) 

23.8. If at any time the Supplier suspects or has reason to believe that the Customer Data is corrupted, lost or 
sufficiently degraded in any way for any reason, then the Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately 
and inform the Customer of the remedial action the Supplier proposes to take. 

23.9. If the Customer Data is corrupted, lost or sufficiently degraded as a result of a Default so as to be unusable, 
the Customer may: 

23.9.1 require the Supplier (at the Supplier’s expense) to restore or procure the restoration of Customer 
Data as required by the Customer, and the Supplier shall do so as soon as practicable but 
not later than five (5) Working Days from the date of receipt of the Customer’s notice; 
and/or 

23.9.2 itself restore or procure the restoration of Customer Data, and shall be repaid by the Supplier 
any reasonable expenses incurred in doing so as required by the Customer. 

Confidentiality 

23.10. For the purposes of Clauses 23.11 to 23.18, the term “Disclosing Party” shall mean a Party which discloses 
or makes available directly or indirectly its Confidential Information and “Recipient” shall mean the 
Party which receives or obtains directly or indirectly Confidential Information. 

23.11. Except to the extent set out in Clauses 23.1123.10 to 23.18 or where disclosure is expressly permitted 
elsewhere in this Contract, the Recipient shall: 

23.11.1 treat the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information as confidential and keep it in secure 
custody (which is appropriate depending upon the form in which such materials are stored 
and the nature of the Confidential Information contained in those materials); and 

23.11.2 not disclose the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information to any other person except as 
expressly set out in this Contract or without obtaining the owner's prior written consent; 

23.11.3 not use or exploit the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information in any way except for the 
purposes anticipated under this Contract ; and 

23.11.4 immediately notify the Disclosing Party if it suspects or becomes aware of any unauthorised 
access, copying, use or disclosure in any form of any of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential 
Information. 

23.12. The Recipient shall be entitled to disclose the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party where: 

23.12.1 the Recipient is required to disclose the Confidential Information by Law, provided that Clause 
23.20 to 23.21 (Freedom of Information) shall apply to disclosures required under the FOIA 
or the EIRs; 

23.12.2 the need for such disclosure arises out of or in connection with: 

(a) any legal challenge or potential legal challenge against the Customer arising 
out of or in connection with this Contract; 

(b) the examination and certification of the Customer's accounts (provided that 
the disclosure is made on a confidential basis) or for any examination pursuant 
to Section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with which the Customer is making use of any Services provided 
under this Contract; or 
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(c) the conduct of a Central Government Body review in respect of this Contract; 
or 

23.12.3 the Recipient has reasonable grounds to believe that the Disclosing Party is involved in activity 
that may constitute a criminal offence under the Bribery Act 2010 and the disclosure is 
being made to the Serious Fraud Office. 

23.13. If the Recipient is required by Law to make a disclosure of Confidential Information, the Recipient shall 
as soon as reasonably practicable and to the extent permitted by Law notify the Disclosing Party of the 
full circumstances of the required disclosure including the relevant Law and/or regulatory body 
requiring such disclosure and the Confidential Information to which such disclosure would apply. 

23.14. Subject to Clause 23.11, the Supplier may only disclose the Confidential Information of the Customer on 
a confidential basis to: 

23.14.1 Supplier Personnel who are directly involved in the provision of the Services and need to 
know the Confidential Information to enable performance of the Supplier’s obligations 
under this Contract; and 

23.14.2 its professional advisers for the purposes of obtaining advice in relation to this Contract. 
 

23.15. Where the Supplier discloses Confidential Information of the Customer pursuant to Clause 23.14, it shall 
remain responsible at all times for compliance with the confidentiality obligations set out in this 
Contract by the persons to whom disclosure has been made. 

23.16. The Customer may disclose the Confidential Information of the Supplier: 

23.16.1 to any Central Government Body on the basis that the information may only be further 
disclosed to Central Government Bodies; 

23.16.2 to the British Parliament and any committees of the British Parliament or if required by any 
British Parliamentary reporting requirement; 

23.16.3 to the extent that the Customer (acting reasonably) deems disclosure necessary or 
appropriate in the course of carrying out its public functions; 

23.16.4 on a confidential basis to a professional adviser, consultant, supplier or other person 
engaged by any of the entities described in Clause 23.16.4 (including any benchmarking 
organisation) for any purpose relating to or connected with this Contract; 

23.16.5 on a confidential basis for the purpose of the exercise of its rights under this Contract; or 

23.16.6 to a proposed transferee, assignee or novatee of, or successor in title to the Customer, and 
for the purposes of the foregoing, references to disclosure on a confidential basis shall 
mean disclosure subject to a confidentiality agreement or arrangement containing terms 
no less stringent than those placed on the Customer under Clause 23.1123.10 to 23.18. 

23.17. Nothing in Clause 23.11 to 23.18 shall prevent a Recipient from using any techniques, ideas or KnowHow 
gained during the performance of this Contract in the course of its normal business to the extent that 
this use does not result in a disclosure of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information or an 
infringement of Intellectual Property Rights. 

23.18. In the event that the Supplier fails to comply with Clauses 23.11 to 23.12, the Customer reserves the 
right to terminate this Contract for material Default. 
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Transparency 

23.19. The Supplier recognises that the Customer is subject to PPN 01/17 (Updates to transparency principles 
v1.1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note- 
0117updatetotransparency-principles and shall provide the Customer with such information as it 
reasonably requests in this regard. 

Freedom of Information 

23.20. The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the EIRs. 
The Supplier shall: 

23.20.1 provide all necessary assistance and cooperation as reasonably requested by the Customer to 
enable the Customer to comply with its Information disclosure obligations under the FOIA 
and EIRs; 

23.20.2 transfer to the Customer all Requests for Information relating to this Contract that it receives as 
soon as practicable and in any event within two (2) Working Days of receipt; 

23.20.3 provide the Customer with a copy of all Information belonging to the Customer requested in 
the Request for Information which is in its possession or control in the form that the 
Customer requires within five (5) Working Days (or such other period as the Customer may 
reasonably specify) of the Customer's request for such Information; and 

23.20.4 not respond directly to a Request for Information unless authorised in writing to do so by the 
Customer. 

23.21. The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer may be required under the FOIA and EIRs to disclose 
Information (including Commercially Sensitive Information) without consulting or obtaining consent 
from the Supplier. The Customer shall take reasonable steps to notify the Supplier of a Request for 
Information (in accordance with the Secretary of State’s Section 45 Code of Practice on the Discharge of 
the Functions of Public Authorities under Part 1 of the FOIA) to the extent that it is permissible and 
reasonably practical for it to do so but (notwithstanding any other provision in this Contract ) the 
Customer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any Commercially 
Sensitive Information and/or any other information is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the 
FOIA and/or the EIRs. 

Data Protection 

23.22. The Parties acknowledge that for the purposes of the Data Protection Legislation, the Customer is the 
Controller and the Supplier is the Processor unless otherwise specified in Contract Schedule 7. The only 
processing that the Processor is authorised to do is listed in Contract Schedule 7 by the Controller and 
may not be determined by the Processor. 

23.23. The Processor shall notify the Controller immediately if it considers that any of the Controller's 
instructions infringe the Data Protection Legislation. 

23.24. The Processor shall provide all reasonable assistance to the Controller in the preparation of any Data 
Protection Impact Assessment prior to commencing any processing. Such assistance may, at the 
discretion of the Controller, include: 

23.24.1 a systematic description of the envisaged processing operations and the purpose of the 
processing; 

23.24.2 an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the processing operations in relation to 
the Services; 

23.24.3 an assessment of the risks to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects; and 
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23.24.4 the measures envisaged to address the risks, including safeguards, security measures and 
mechanisms to ensure the protection of Personal Data. 

23.25. The Processor shall, in relation to any Personal Data processed in connection with its obligations under 
this Contract: 

23.25.1 process that Personal Data only in accordance with Contract Schedule 7, unless the Processor 
is required to do otherwise by Law. If it is so required the Processor shall promptly notify 
the Controller before processing the Personal Data unless prohibited by Law; 

23.25.2 ensure that it has in place Protective Measures, which are appropriate to protect against a 
Data Loss Event, which the Controller may reasonably reject (but failure to reject shall not 
amount to approval by the Controller of the adequacy of the Protective Measures), having 
taken account of the: 

(a) nature of the data to be protected; 

(b) harm that might result from a Data Loss Event; 

(c) state of technological development; and 

(d) cost of implementing any measures; 
23.25.3  

ensure that: 

(a) the Processor Personnel do not process Personal Data except in accordance 
with this Contract (and in particular Schedule 7); 

(b) it takes all reasonable steps to ensure the reliability and integrity of any 
Processor Personnel who have access to the Personal Data and ensure that 
they: 

(i) are aware of and comply with the Processor’s duties under this clause; 
 

(ii) are subject to appropriate confidentiality undertakings with the Processor 
or any Sub-processor; 

(iii) are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data and do not 
publish, disclose or divulge any of the Personal Data to any third Party 
unless directed in writing to do so by the Controller or as otherwise 
permitted by this Contract; and 

(iv) have undergone adequate training in the use, care, protection and handling 
of Personal Data; and 

23.25.4 not transfer Personal Data outside of the EU unless the prior written consent of the Controller 
has been obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled: 

(a) the Controller or the Processor has provided appropriate safeguards in relation 
to the transfer (whether in accordance with GDPR Article 46 or LED Article 37) 
as determined by the Controller; 

(b) the Data Subject has enforceable rights and effective legal remedies; 

(c) the Processor complies with its obligations under the Data Protection 
Legislation by providing an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data 
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that is transferred (or, if it is not so bound, uses its best endeavours to assist 
the Controller in meeting its obligations); and 

(d) the Processor complies with any reasonable instructions notified to it in 
advance by the Controller with respect to the processing of the Personal Data; 

23.25.5 at the written direction of the Controller, delete or return Personal Data (and any copies of it) 
to the Controller on termination of the Contract unless the Processor is required by Law to 
retain the Personal Data. 

23.26. Subject to Clause 23.27, the Processor shall notify the Controller immediately if it: 

23.26.1 receives a Data Subject Request (or purported Data Subject Request); 

23.26.2 receives a request to rectify, block or erase any Personal Data; 

23.26.3 receives any other request, complaint or communication relating to either Party's 
obligations under the Data Protection Legislation; 

23.26.4 receives any communication from the Information Commissioner or any other regulatory 
authority in connection with Personal Data processed under this Contract; 

23.26.5 receives a request from any third Party for disclosure of Personal Data where compliance 
with such request is required or purported to be required by Law; or 

23.26.6 becomes aware of a Data Loss Event. 
 

23.27. The Processor’s obligation to notify under Clause 23.26 shall include the provision of further information 
to the Controller in phases, as details become available. 

23.28. Taking into account the nature of the processing, the Processor shall provide the Controller with full 
assistance in relation to either Party's obligations under Data Protection Legislation and any complaint, 
communication or request made under Clause 23.26 (and insofar as possible within the timescales 
reasonably required by the Controller) including by promptly providing: 

23.28.1 the Controller with full details and copies of the complaint, communication or request; 

23.28.2 such assistance as is reasonably requested by the Controller to enable the Controller to 
comply with a Data Subject Request within the relevant timescales set out in the Data 
Protection Legislation; 

23.28.3 the Controller, at its request, with any Personal Data it holds in relation to a Data Subject; 

23.28.4 assistance as requested by the Controller following any Data Loss Event; 

23.28.5 assistance as requested by the Controller with respect to any request from the Information 
Commissioner’s Office, or any consultation by the Controller with the Information 
Commissioner's Office. 

23.29. The Processor shall maintain complete and accurate records and information to demonstrate its 
compliance with this clause. This requirement does not apply where the Processor employs fewer than 
250 staff, unless: 

23.29.1 the Controller determines that the processing is not occasional; 

23.29.2 the Controller determines the processing includes special categories of data as referred to 
in Article 9(1) of the GDPR or Personal Data relating to criminal convictions and offences 
referred to in Article 10 of the GDPR; or 
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23.29.3 the Controller determines that the processing is likely to result in a risk to the rights and 
freedoms of Data Subjects. 

23.30. The Processor shall allow for audits of its Data Processing activity by the Controller or the Controller’s 
designated auditor. 

23.31. Each Party shall designate its own data protection officer if required by the Data Protection Legislation. 

23.32. Before allowing any Sub-processor to process any Personal Data related to this Contract, the Processor 
must: 

23.32.1 notify the Controller in writing of the intended Sub-processor and processing; 

23.32.2 obtain the written consent of the Controller; 

23.32.3 enter into a written agreement with the Sub-processor which give effect to the terms set 
out in clauses 23.22 to 23.36 (Data Protection) such that they apply to the Sub-processor; 
and 

23.32.4 provide the Controller with such information regarding the Sub-processor as the Controller 
may reasonably require. 

23.33. The Processor shall remain fully liable for all acts or omissions of any of its Sub-processors. 

23.34. The Controller may, at any time on not less than 30 Working Days’ notice, revise this clause by replacing 
it with any applicable controller to processor standard clauses or similar terms forming part of an 
applicable certification scheme (which shall apply when incorporated by attachment to this Contract). 

23.35. The Parties agree to take account of any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner’s Office. The 
Controller may on not less than 30 Working Days’ notice to the Processor amend this agreement to 
ensure that it complies with any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner’s Office. 

23.36. Where the Parties include two or more Joint Controllers as identified in Contract Schedule 7 in 
accordance with GDPR Article 26, those Parties shall enter into a Joint Controller Agreement based on 
the terms outlined in Contract Schedule 8 in replacement of Clauses 23.22 to 23.36 for the Personal 
Data under Joint Control. 

24. PUBLICITY AND BRANDING 
24.1. The Supplier shall not, without Approval (the decision of the Customer to Approve or not shall not be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed): 

24.1.1 make any press announcements or publicise this Contract in any way; or 

24.1.2 use the Customer's name or brand in any promotion or marketing or announcement of 
orders, 

24.2. Each Party acknowledges to the other that nothing in this Contract either expressly or by implication 
constitutes an endorsement of any products or services of the other Party (including the Services and 
Supplier Equipment) and each Party agrees not to conduct itself in such a way as to imply or express any 
such approval or endorsement. 

24.3. The Supplier must adhere to the Communications Guidelines provided by the Customer in the document 
embedded here entitled, “Skills Bootcamps Communications Guidance”. The Customer reserves the 
right to update the said document from time to time. 
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J. LIABILITY AND INSURANCE 

 
25. LIABILITY 

Unlimited Liability 

25.1. Neither Party excludes or limits it liability for: 

25.1.1 death or personal injury caused by its negligence, or that of its employees, agents or 
SubContractors (as applicable); 

25.1.2 bribery or Fraud by it or its employees; or 

25.1.3 any liability to the extent it cannot be excluded or limited by Law. 
25.2. The Supplier does not exclude or limit its liability in respect of the indemnity in Clauses 22.18 to 22.20 (IPR 

Indemnity) and in each case whether before or after the making of a demand pursuant to the indemnity 
therein. 

Financial Limits 

25.3. The Supplier’s total aggregate liability: in respect of all Losses incurred by the Customer under or in 
connection with this Contract as a result of Defaults shall in no event exceed: the higher of ten million 
pounds (£10,000,000) or a sum equal to one hundred and fifty per cent (150%) of the Contract Charges 
unless such Losses are in whole or in part incurred under Clauses 25.1 and / or 25.2 in which case the 
Supplier has unlimited liability. 

25.4. Without prejudice to its obligation to pay the undisputed Contract Charges as and when they fall due for 
payment, the Customer's total aggregate liability in respect of all Losses shall be limited to a sum equal 
to Contract Charges unless such Losses are in whole or in part incurred under Clauses 25.1 and / or 25.2 
in which case the Customer has unlimited liability. 

Non-recoverable Losses 

25.5. Subject to Clause 25.1 and 25.2 (Unlimited Liability) neither Party shall be liable to the other Party for any: 

25.5.1 indirect, special or consequential Loss; 
25.5.2 loss of profits, turnover, savings, business opportunities or damage to goodwill (in each case 

whether direct or indirect). 

Recoverable Losses 

25.6. Subject to Clause 25.3 and 25.4 (Financial Limits), and notwithstanding Clause 25.5 (Non-recoverable 
Losses), the Supplier acknowledges that the Customer may, amongst other things, recover from the 
Supplier the following Losses incurred by the Customer to the extent that they arise as a result of a 
Default by the Supplier: 

25.6.1 any additional operational and/or administrative costs and expenses incurred by the Customer, 
including costs relating to time spent by or on behalf of the Customer in dealing with the 
consequences of the Default; 

25.6.2 any wasted expenditure or Contract Charges; 
25.6.3 the additional cost of procuring Replacement Services for the remainder of the Contract Period, 
which shall include any incremental costs associated with such Replacement Services above those which 
would have been payable under this Contract; 25.6.4 any compensation or interest paid to a third party 
by the Customer; and 

25.6.5   any fine, penalty or costs incurred by the Customer pursuant to Law. 
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Miscellaneous 

25.7. Each Party shall use all reasonable endeavours to mitigate any loss or damage suffered arising out of or in 
connection with this Contract. 

25.8. Any Deductions shall not be taken into consideration when calculating the Supplier’s liability under Clause 
25.3 to 25.4 (Financial Limits). 

25.9. Subject to any rights of the Customer under this Contract (including in respect of an IPR Claim), any claims 
by a third party where an indemnity is sought by that third party from a Party to this Contract shall be 
dealt with in accordance with the provisions of DPA Schedule 20 (Conduct of Claims). 

 
26. INSURANCE 

26.1. This Clause 26 will only apply where specified in the Contract Order Form or elsewhere in this Contract. 

26.2. Notwithstanding any benefit to the Customer of the policy or policies of insurance referred to in Clause 31 
(Insurance) of the DPA, the Supplier shall effect and maintain such further policy or policies of insurance 
or extensions to such existing policy or policies of insurance procured under the DPA in respect of all 
risks which may be incurred by the Supplier arising out of its performance of its obligations under this 
Contract. 

26.3. Without limitation to the generality of Clause 26.2 the Supplier shall ensure that it maintains the following 
insurance policies at the level set out below in respect of each and every claim: 

26.3.1 Employers’ Liability - £10 million; 

26.3.2 Public Liability - £10 million; and 

26.3.3 Professional Indemnity - £5 million 

26.4. The Supplier shall effect and maintain the policy or policies of insurance referred to in Clause 26.3 for the 
Contract Period and for six (6) years after the Contract Expiry Date. 

26.5. The Supplier shall give the Customer, on request, copies of all insurance policies referred to in Clause 26 or 
a broker's verification of insurance to demonstrate that the appropriate cover is in place, together with 
receipts or other evidence of payment of the latest premiums due under those policies. 

26.6. If, for whatever reason, the Supplier fails to give effect to and maintain the insurance policies required 
under Clause 26 the Customer may make alternative arrangements to protect its interests and may 
recover the premium and other costs of such arrangements as a debt due from the Supplier. 

26.7. The provisions of any insurance or the amount of cover shall not relieve the Supplier of any liability under 
this Contract. It shall be the responsibility of the Supplier to determine the amount of insurance cover 
that will be adequate to enable the Supplier to satisfy any liability in relation to the performance of its 
obligations under this Contract. 

26.8. The Supplier shall ensure that nothing is done which would entitle the relevant insurer to cancel, rescind 
or suspend any insurance or cover, or to treat any insurance, cover or claim as voided in whole or part. 
The Supplier shall use all reasonable endeavours to notify the Customer (subject to third party 
confidentiality obligations) as soon as practicable when it becomes aware of any relevant fact, 
circumstance or matter which has caused, or is reasonably likely to provide grounds to, the relevant 
insurer to give notice to cancel, rescind, suspend or void any insurance, or any cover or claim under any 
insurance in whole or in part. 

 
K. REMEDIES AND RELIEF 

 
27. CUSTOMER REMEDIES FOR DEFAULT 
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Remedies 

27.1. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy of the Customer howsoever arising, if the Supplier commits 
any Default of this Contract then the Customer may (whether or not any part of the Services have been 
Delivered) do any of the following: 

27.1.1 at the Customer's option, give the Supplier the opportunity (at the Supplier’s expense) to 
remedy the Default together with any damage resulting from such Default (where such 
Default is capable of remedy) or to supply Replacement Services and carry out any other 
necessary work to ensure that the terms of this Contract are fulfilled, in accordance with 
the Customer's instructions; 

27.1.2 carry out, at the Supplier’s expense, any work necessary to make the provision of the Services 
comply with this Contract; 

27.1.3 if the Default is a material Default that is capable of remedy (and for these purposes a material 
Default may be a single material Default or a number of Defaults or repeated Defaults - 
whether of the same or different obligations and regardless of whether such Defaults are 
remedied - which taken together constitute a material Default): 

(a) instruct the Supplier to comply with the Rectification Plan Process; 

(b) suspend this Contract (whereupon the relevant provisions of Clause 33 (Partial 
Termination, Suspension and Partial Suspension) shall apply) and step-in to 
itself supply or procure a third party to supply (in whole or in part) the Services; 

(c)  without terminating or suspending the whole of this Contract, terminate or 
suspend this Contract in respect of part of the provision of the Services only 

(whereupon the relevant provisions of Clause 33 (Partial Termination, 
Suspension and Partial Suspension) shall apply) and step-in to itself supply or 
procure a third party to supply (in whole or in part) such part of the Services; 

27.2. Where the Customer exercises any of its step-in rights under Clauses 27.1.3(b) or 27.1.3(c), the Customer 
shall have the right to charge the Supplier for and the Supplier shall on demand pay any costs reasonably 
incurred by the Customer (including any reasonable administration costs) in respect of the supply of any 

part of the Services by the Customer or a third party and provided that the Customer uses its reasonable 
endeavours to mitigate any additional expenditure in obtaining Replacement Services. 

Rectification Plan Process 

27.3. Where the Customer has instructed the Supplier to comply with the Rectification Plan Process pursuant to 
Clause 27.1.3(a): 

27.3.1 the Supplier shall submit a draft Rectification Plan to the Customer for it to review as soon as 
possible and in any event within 10 (ten) Working Days (or such other period as may be 
agreed between the Parties) from the date of Customer’s instructions. The Supplier shall 
submit a draft Rectification Plan even if the Supplier disputes that it is responsible for the 
Default giving rise to the Customer’s request for a draft Rectification Plan. 

27.3.2 the draft Rectification Plan shall set out: 

(a) full details of the Default that has occurred, including a cause analysis; 

(b) the actual or anticipated effect of the Default; and 

(c) the steps which the Supplier proposes to take to rectify the Default (if applicable) and to prevent such 
Default from recurring, including timescales for such steps and for the rectification of the Default 
(where applicable). 
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27.4. The Supplier shall promptly provide to the Customer any further documentation that the Customer 
requires to assess the Supplier’s root cause analysis. If the Parties do not agree on the root cause set 
out in the draft Rectification Plan, either Party may refer the matter to be determined by an expert in 
accordance with paragraph 5 of Contract Schedule 6 (Dispute Resolution Procedure). 

27.5. The Customer may reject the draft Rectification Plan by notice to the Supplier if, acting reasonably, it 
considers that the draft Rectification Plan is inadequate, for example because the draft Rectification 
Plan: 

27.5.1 is insufficiently detailed to be capable of proper evaluation; 

27.5.2 will take too long to complete; 

27.5.3 will not prevent reoccurrence of the Default; and/or 

27.5.4 will rectify the Default but in a manner which is unacceptable to the Customer. 

27.6. The Customer shall notify the Supplier whether it consents to the draft Rectification Plan as soon as 
reasonably practicable. If the Customer rejects the draft Rectification Plan, the Customer shall give 
reasons for its decision and the Supplier shall take the reasons into account in the preparation of a 
revised Rectification Plan. The Supplier shall submit the revised draft of the Rectification Plan to the 
Customer for review within five (5) Working Days (or such other period as agreed between the Parties) 
of the Customer’s notice rejecting the first draft. 

27.7. If the Customer consents to the Rectification Plan, the Supplier shall immediately start work on the 
actions set out in the Rectification Plan. 

L. OFSTED 
28. OFSTED MONITORING VISITS 
28.1. Where the Customer is made aware that OFSTED has assessed the Supplier as having made “insufficient 

progress” after a monitoring visit, the Customer may, at its absolute discretion take one or more of the 
following actions: 

28.1.1 require the Supplier to accept and comply with additional contractual obligations relating to 
the improvement of the Services assessed as insufficient progress; 

28.1.2 reduce and / or recover from the Supplier Contract Charges paid by the Customer in respect of 
that part of the Services that has been assessed as having made insufficient progress; 

28.1.3 suspend the payment of Contract Charges for current Learners for a specified period; 

28.1.4 not consider any applications or pay any Contract Charges for new Learners for a specified 
period; 

28.1.5 require the Supplier to inform all of its existing Employers and Subcontractors as relevant, about 
the outcome of the OFSTED visit; 

28.1.6 require the Supplier to enter into a subcontracting arrangement with another provider in order 
to ensure that there is minimal disruption to the Supplier’s current Learners; 

28.1.7 terminate this Contract for material Default in accordance with Clause 30.1.3 (Termination) 
where Learners may be at immediate risk on the grounds of safeguarding issues and / or 
the quality of leadership and / or training provision is such that one or more Learner has 
no reasonable prospect of achieving his or her training objective; and / or 

28.1.8 terminate this Contract for material Default in accordance with Clause 30.1.3 (Termination) if the Supplier has two 
consecutive monitoring visits each resulting in one or more 
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“insufficient progress” judgements in relation to one or more themes 

28.2. Where the Customer is made aware that OFSTED has assessed a Subcontractor to the Supplier as having 
made “insufficient progress” during OFSTED’s Supplier monitoring visits, if requested in writing by the 
Customer, the Supplier will suspend the delivery of the Services under the Subcontract and shall not 
subcontract any further Services to the Subcontractor until permitted to do so by the Customer. 

 
OFSTED Inspection 

28.3. When the Supplier receives notification from OFSTED that the Services are going to be inspected, the 
Supplier shall on request provide the Customer with details of its quality improvement activity, and any 
other relevant information at the same time as it submits it to OFSTED in accordance with the timescale 
specified by OFSTED. The Supplier must notify the Customer in writing of the date of the meeting at 
which OFSTED will give feedback on the inspection and allow the Customer’s nominated representative 
to attend the meeting. The Supplier must confirm to the Customer in writing the outcome of the 
inspection within 5 Working Days of receiving OFSTED’s feedback. 

28.4. OFSTED may, at any time during the Contract Period, undertake an inspection of the Supplier. The Customer 
will consider the outcome of any such inspection as follows 

Inadequate in Part 

28.5. Where OFSTED has assessed the Services to be inadequate in part, the Customer may, at its absolute 
discretion, take one or more of the following actions; 

28.5.1 require the Supplier to accept and comply with additional contractual obligations relating to the 
improvement of the Services assessed as inadequate; 

28.5.2 suspend the payment of Contract Charges for current Learners for a specified period; 

28.5.3 not consider any applications or pay any Contract Charges for new Learners for a specified 
period; 

28.5.4 reduce and / or recover from the Supplier Contract Charges paid by the Customer in respect of 
that part of the Services that has been assessed as inadequate; 

28.5.5 require the Supplier to inform all of its existing Employers, Subcontractors and 
EmployerProviders, as relevant, about the outcome of the OFSTED visit; and / or 

28.5.6 terminate this Contract for material Default in accordance with Clause 30.1.3 (Termination) 
where Learners may be at immediate risk on the grounds of safeguarding issues and / or 
the quality of leadership and / or training provision within the ‘adult learning programmes’ 
judgment is judged inadequate. 

Inadequate Overall 

28.6. Where OFSTED has assessed the Services as inadequate overall, the Customer may, at its absolute 
discretion take one or more of the following actions: 

28.6.1 require the Supplier to accept and comply with additional conditions relating to the 
improvement of the overall Services; 

28.6.2 suspend the payment of Contract Charges to the Supplier in relation to Learners for a specified 
period; 

28.6.3 not consider any applications or pay any Contract Charges for new Learners for a specified 
period; 

28.6.4 give consideration to the assessment of inadequate when considering access to Contract 
Charges in any subsequent agreements and / or contracts between the Parties; 
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28.6.5 reduce and / or recover the Contract Charges paid to the Supplier; 
28.6.6 require the Supplier to inform all of its existing Employers, Subcontractors and 

EmployerProviders, as relevant, about the outcome of the OFSTED visit; and / or 

28.6.7 terminate this Contract for material Default in accordance with Clause 30.1 (Termination) if 
Learners may be at immediate risk on the grounds of safeguarding issues; and / or the 
quality of leadership is inadequate; and / or training provision within the ‘adult learning 
programmes’ is judged to be inadequate. 

28.7. If a Sub-Contractor is assessed by OFSTED as having made “insufficient progress” in relation to one or more 
themes during an OFSTED monitoring visit, or judged as ‘inadequate’ in one or more theses in an Ofsted 
full inspection, unless permitted to continue by the Customer, the Supplier shall suspend delivery of the 
Services under the Sub-Contract and shall not subcontract any further Services to that Sub-Contractor. 

28.8. The failure of the Supplier, as assessed by the Customer, to comply with any requirements of Clauses 28.1, 
28.5 and 28.6 within such time as the Customer may deem reasonable may lead to the Customer 
taking such action as it deems appropriate which may include, but is not limited to, terminating this 
Contract in accordance with Clause 30.1.5 (Termination). 

28.9. The Customer will take action based on OFSTED’s provisional and confirmed outcomes. Where the 
Customer is made aware that the Supplier has made a complaint about the outcome of the OFSTED 
assessment, the Customer will continue to consider what action it needs to take under this Contract but 
will be mindful of the implications arising from the outcome of a complaint. The Customer will review 
any decisions made at such time when the outcome of any complaint is made known. 

29. FORCE MAJEURE 
29.1. Subject to the remainder of Clause L, a Party may claim relief under Clause L from liability for failure to 

meet its obligations under this Contract for as long as and only to the extent that the performance of 
those obligations is directly affected by a Force Majeure Event. Any failure or delay by the Supplier in 
performing its obligations under this Contract which results from a failure or delay by an agent, 
SubContractor or supplier shall be regarded as due to a Force Majeure Event only if that agent, 

SubContractor or supplier is itself impeded by a Force Majeure Event from complying with an obligation 
to the Supplier. 

29.2. The Affected Party shall as soon as reasonably practicable issue a Force Majeure Notice, which shall include 
details of the Force Majeure Event, its effect on the obligations of the Affected Party and any action the 
Affected Party proposes to take to mitigate its effect. 

29.3. If the Supplier is the Affected Party, it shall not be entitled to claim relief under Clause L to the extent that 
consequences of the relevant Force Majeure Event: 

29.3.1 are capable of being mitigated by any of the provision of any Services, but the Supplier has failed 
to do so; and/or 

29.3.2 should have been foreseen and prevented or avoided by a prudent provider of services similar 
to the Services, operating to the standards required by this Contract. 

29.4. Subject to Clause 29.5, as soon as practicable after the Affected Party issues the Force Majeure Notice, and 
at regular intervals thereafter, the Parties shall consult in good faith and use reasonable endeavours to 
agree any steps to be taken and an appropriate timetable in which those steps should be taken, to 
enable continued provision of the Services affected by the Force Majeure Event. 

29.5. The Parties shall at all times following the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event and during its subsistence 
use their respective reasonable endeavours to prevent and mitigate the effects of the Force Majeure 
Event. Where the Supplier is the Affected Party, it shall take all steps in accordance with Good Industry 
Practice to overcome or minimise the consequences of the Force Majeure Event. 
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29.6. Where, as a result of a Force Majeure Event, an Affected Party fails to perform its obligations in accordance 
with this Contract, then during the continuance of the Force Majeure Event: 

29.6.1 the other Party shall not be entitled to exercise any rights to terminate this Contract in whole 
or in part as a result of such failure unless the provision of the Services is materially 
impacted by a Force Majeure Event which endures for a continuous period of more than 
ninety (90) days; and 

29.6.2 the Supplier shall not be liable for any Default arising as a result of such failure; 
29.7. Where, as a result of a Force Majeure Event the Supplier fails to perform its obligations in accordance with 

this Contract: 

29.7.1 the Customer shall not be entitled: during the continuance of the Force Majeure Event to 
exercise its step-in rights under Clause 27.1.2 and 27.1.3 (Customer Remedies for Default) 
as a result of such failure 

29.7.2 the Supplier shall be entitled to receive payment of the Contract Charges (or a proportional 
payment of them) only to the extent that the Services (or part of the Services) continue to 
be provided in accordance with the terms of this Contract during the occurrence of the 
Force Majeure Event. 

29.8. The Affected Party shall notify the other Party as soon as practicable after the Force Majeure Event ceases 
or no longer causes the Affected Party to be unable to comply with its obligations under this Contract. 

29.9. Relief from liability for the Affected Party under Clause L shall end as soon as the Force Majeure Event no 
longer causes the Affected Party to be unable to comply with its obligations under this Contract and 
shall not be dependent on the serving of notice under Clause 29.8. 

 
M. TERMINATION AND EXIT MANAGEMENT 

 
30. CUSTOMER TERMINATION RIGHTS 

Termination on Material Default 

30.1. The Customer may terminate this Contract for material Default by issuing a Termination Notice to the 
Supplier where: 

30.1.1  the representation and warranty given by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 4.2.5 
(Representations and Warranties) is materially untrue or misleading, and the Supplier fails 
to provide details of proposed mitigating factors which in the reasonable opinion of the 
Customer are acceptable; 

30.1.2 as a result of any Defaults, the Customer incurs Losses in any Contract Year which exceed 80% 
(unless stated differently in the Contract Order Form) of the value of the Supplier’s 
aggregate annual liability limit for that Contract Year as set out in Clauses 25.3 and 25.4 
(Liability) ; 

30.1.3 the Customer expressly reserves the right to terminate this Contract for material Default, including pursuant 
to any of the following Clauses: 10.4 (Disruption), 12.5 (Records, Audit 

Access and Open Book Data), 14.10.6 (ILR Data, Contract Charges and Payment) 15 
(Promoting Tax Compliance), 23.18 (Confidentiality), 28.1.7 (Ofsted Monitoring Visits), 
28.1.8 (Ofsted Monitoring Visits), 28.6.7 (Ofsted Inadequate Overall) 39.6.2 (Prevention of 
Fraud and Bribery), Paragraph 1.2.4 of the Annex to Part A and Paragraph 1.2.4 of the Annex 
to Part B of Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer); 
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30.1.4 the Supplier commits any material Default of this Contract which is not, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Customer, capable of remedy; and/or 

30.1.5 the Supplier commits a Default, including a material Default, which in the opinion of the 
Customer is remediable but has not remedied such Default to the satisfaction of the 
Customer in accordance with the Rectification Plan Process. 

30.2. For the purpose of Clause 30.1, a material Default may be a single material Default or a number of Defaults 
or repeated Defaults (whether of the same or different obligations and regardless of whether such 
Defaults are remedied) which taken together constitute a material Default. 

Termination in Relation to Financial Standing 
 

30.3. The Customer may terminate this Contract by issuing a Termination Notice to the Supplier: 

30.3.1 in the circumstances set out in Paragraph 6 of Schedule 15 (Financial Distress); or 
30.3.2 where in the reasonable opinion of the Customer there is a material detrimental change in the 

financial standing and/or the credit rating of the Supplier which adversely impacts on the 
Supplier’s ability to supply the Services under this Contract or which could reasonably be 
expected to have an adverse impact on the Supplier’s ability to supply the Services under 
this Contract. 

Termination on Insolvency 

30.4. The Customer may terminate this Contract by issuing a Termination Notice to the Supplier where an 
Insolvency Event affecting the Supplier occurs. 

Termination on Change of Control 

30.5. The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately in writing and as soon as the Supplier is aware (or 
ought reasonably to be aware) that it is anticipating, undergoing, undergoes or has undergone a Change 
of Control and provided such notification does not contravene any Law. 

30.6. The Supplier shall ensure that any notification made pursuant to Clause 30.5 shall set out full details of 
the Change of Control including the circumstances suggesting and/or explaining the Change of Control. 

30.7. The Customer may terminate this Contract by issuing a Termination Notice to the Supplier within six 
(6) Months of: 

30.7.1 being notified in writing that a Change of Control is anticipated or in contemplation or has 
occurred; or 

30.7.2 where no notification has been made, the date that the Customer becomes aware that a Change 
of Control is anticipated or is in contemplation or has occurred, but shall not be permitted 
to terminate where an Approval was granted prior to the Change of Control 

Termination in relation to IPR Indemnity 

30.8. The Customer may terminate this Contract with immediate effect by issuing a Termination Notice to the 
Supplier where the circumstances in Clause 22.20.1 (IPR Indemnity) arise. 

Termination for breach of Regulations 

30.9. The Customer may terminate this Contract by issuing a Termination Notice to the Supplier on the 
occurrence of any of the statutory provisos contained in Regulation 73 (1) (a) to (c) or any applicable 
relevant successor legislation. 
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Termination Without Cause 

30.10. The Customer shall have the right to terminate this Contract at any time by issuing a Termination Notice 
to the Supplier giving at least ninety (90) Working Days written notice (unless stated differently in the 
Contract Order Form). 

Termination in Relation to Dynamic Purchasing Agreement 

30.11. The Customer may terminate this Contract by issuing a Termination Notice to the Supplier if a Call Off 
Contract entered under this Contract is terminated for any reason whatsoever. 

 
31. SUPPLIER TERMINATION RIGHTS 

Termination on Customer Failure to Pay 

31.1. The Supplier may, by issuing a Termination Notice to the Customer, terminate this Contract if the Customer 
fails to pay an undisputed sum due to the Supplier under this Contract which in aggregate exceeds an 
amount equal to one month’s average Contract Charges (unless a different amount has been specified 
in the Contract Order Form), for the purposes of this Clause 31.1 (the “Undisputed Sums Limit”), and 
the said undisputed sum due remains outstanding for forty (40) Working Days (the “Undisputed Sums 
Time Period”) after the receipt by the Customer of a written notice of non-payment from the Supplier 
specifying: 

31.1.1 the Customer’s failure to pay; and 

31.1.2 the correct overdue and undisputed sum; and 

31.1.3 the reasons why the undisputed sum is due; and 

31.1.4 the requirement on the Customer to remedy the failure to pay; 
31.2. If a Termination Notice is issued in accordance with Clause 31.1 this Contract will terminate on the date 

specified in the Termination Notice (which shall not be less than twenty (20) Working Days from the 
date of the issue of the Termination Notice). 

31.3. Termination rights under Clause 31.1 shall not apply where the failure to pay is due to the Customer 
exercising its right(s) of retention and/or set off. 

31.4. The Supplier shall not suspend the supply of the Services for failure of the Customer to pay undisputed 
sums of money (whether in whole or in part). 

 
32. TERMINATION BY EITHER PARTY 
32.1. Either Party may, by issuing a Termination Notice to the other Party, terminate this Contract in accordance 

with Clause 29.6.1 (Force Majeure). 

33. PARTIAL TERMINATION, SUSPENSION AND PARTIAL SUSPENSION 
33.1. Where the Customer has the right to terminate this Contract, the Customer shall be entitled to terminate 

or suspend all or part of this Contract provided always that, if the Customer elects to terminate or 
suspend this Contract in part, the parts of this Contract not terminated or suspended can, in the 
Customer’s reasonable opinion, operate effectively to deliver the intended purpose of the surviving 
parts of this Contract. 

33.2. Any suspension of this Contract under Clause 33.1 shall be for such period as the Customer may specify 
and without prejudice to any right of termination which has already accrued, or subsequently accrues, 
to the Customer. 
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34. CONSEQUENCES OF EXPIRY OR TERMINATION Consequences of termination under Clauses 30.1 and 30.2 
(Termination on Material Default), 30.3 (Termination in Relation to Financial Standing), 30.11 (Termination in Relation to DPA) 
 

34.1. Where the Customer: 

34.1.1  terminates (in whole or in part) this Contract under any of Clauses 30.1, 30.2, 30.3 and 
30.11; and 

34.1.2 then makes other arrangements for the supply of the Services, the Customer may recover from the 
Supplier the cost reasonably incurred of making those other arrangements and any additional 
expenditure incurred by the Customer throughout the remainder of the Contract Period 
provided that Customer shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate such additional expenditure. 
No further payments shall be payable by the Customer to the Supplier until the Customer has 
established the final cost of making those other arrangements 

Consequences of termination under Clause 30.10 (Termination without Cause) and 31.1 (Termination on 
Customer Failure to Pay) 

34.2. Where: 

34.2.1 the Customer terminates (in whole or in part) this Contract under Clause 30.10 (Termination 
without Cause); or 

34.2.2 the Supplier terminates this Contract pursuant to Clause 31.1 (Termination on Customer 
Failure to Pay), 

the Customer shall indemnify the Supplier against any reasonable and proven Losses which would 
otherwise represent an unavoidable loss by the Supplier by reason of the termination of this Contract. 

34.3. The Supplier shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate Losses identified in accordance with Clause 34.2. 

34.4. The Supplier shall submit a fully itemised and costed list of such Losses identified in accordance with 
supporting evidence including such further evidence as the Customer may require, reasonably and 
actually incurred by the Supplier. 

34.5. The Customer shall not be liable under Clause 34.2 to pay any sum which: 

34.5.1 was claimable under insurance held by the Supplier, and the Supplier has failed to make a claim 
on its insurance, or has failed to make a claim in accordance with the procedural 
requirements of the insurance policy; or 

34.5.2 when added to any sums paid or due to the Supplier under this Contract, exceeds the total sum 
that would have been payable to the Supplier if this Contract had not been terminated. 

Consequences of termination under Clause 32.1 (Termination for Continuing Force Majeure Event) 

34.6. The costs of termination incurred by the Parties shall lie where they fall if either Party terminates 
or partially terminates this Contract for a continuing Force Majeure Event pursuant to Clause 
32.1 (Termination for Continuing Force Majeure Event). 

Consequences of Termination for any reason 
 

34.7. Save as otherwise expressly provided in this Contract, 
34.7.1 termination or expiry of this Contract shall be without prejudice to any rights, remedies or 

obligations accrued under this Contract prior to termination or expiration and nothing in 
this Contract shall prejudice the right of either Party to recover any amount outstanding at 
the time of such termination or expiry; and 
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34.7.2 termination of this Contract shall not affect the continuing rights, remedies or obligations of the 
Customer or the Supplier under Clauses 12 (Records, Audit Access & Open Book Data), 22 
(Intellectual Property Rights), 23.10 to 23.18 (Confidentiality), (Freedom of Information) 
23.22 to 23.36 (Data Protection), 25 (Liability), 34 (Consequences of Expiry or Termination), 
40 (Severance), 43 (Entire Agreement), 44 (Third Party Rights) 46 (Dispute 
Resolution) and 47 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction), and the provisions of Contract 
Schedule 1 (Definitions), Contract Schedule 3 (Contract Charges, Payment and Invoicing), 
Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer), Contract Schedule 6 (Dispute Resolution Procedure) 
and, without limitation to the foregoing, any other provision of this Contract which 
expressly or by implication is to be performed or observed notwithstanding termination or 
expiry shall survive the Contract Expiry Date. 

34.7.3 On or before the Contract Expiry Date or Termination Date, the Supplier must ensure that all 
documents or computer records in its possession, custody or control including but not 
limited to e-portfolios, which contain information relating to the Services including any 
documents in the possession, custody or control of a Sub-Contractor are made available 
upon request to the Customer. 

34.7.4 For the avoidance of doubt, after notice of termination and/or an Insolvency Event affecting the 
Supplier, the Supplier must not share any information about Learners, including but not 
limited to Department Data, with another organisation unless the Department provides 
written authorisation for the Contractor to do so. 

34.7.5 The Supplier hereby grants the Customer a non-exclusive licence to access the Supplier’s 
Premises from the date of a notice of termination for such periods as may be reasonably 
necessary to enable the Customer to retrieve the information referred to in Clause 34.7.3. 
The Customer will exercise the rights provided under this clause where the Supplier has 
failed to comply with Clause 34.7.3. 

34.7.6 The Customer reserves the right to retain Contract Charges that would otherwise be paid to the 
Supplier prior to the Expiry Date or Termination Date and/or to demand repayment of 
Contract Charges, as relevant, in order to reconcile what has already been paid to the 
Supplier under this Contract. 

34.7.7 Where this Contract is terminated or expires, the Customer may elect to take the role of Data 
Controller to secure and protect Learner Files, Learner Records and/or Evidence Packs, 
including e-portfolios until the Learner information can be transferred to a new provider, 

the Learner, or destroyed in accordance with defined retention periods. If the Customer 
elects to assume this role, the Supplier shall co-operate fully to facilitate this. 

34.7.8 On expiry or termination of this Contract for any reason, the Supplier shall do its utmost to 
minimise any disruption to Learners and shall co-operate fully with any reasonable requests 
made by the Customer relating to this. For the avoidance of doubt the 

Department will be entitled to request that where the Supplier cannot complete Learners 
that it will co-operate in transferring the Learners to a new provider even if this is prior to 
the Termination Date or Expiry Date of this Contract and the Supplier’s Exit Plan should 
reflect this. The Customer will not be liable for any costs prior to or after the Termination 
Date or Expiry Date incurred by the Supplier in complying with this Clause 34.7.8. 

34.7.9 If the Supplier does not co-operate with the Customer in relation to exit and the Customer incurs 
additional expenditure of any description as a result, the Customer reserves the right to 
require the Supplier to reimburse the Customer for this additional expenditure. 

 
N. MISCELLANEOUS AND GOVERNING LAW 
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35. COMPLIANCE 

Health and Safety 

35.1. The Supplier shall perform its obligations under this Contract (including those in relation to the Services) 
in accordance with: 

35.1.1 all applicable Law regarding health and safety; and 
35.1.2 the Customer’s health and safety policy (as provided to the Supplier from time to time) whilst at 

the Customer Premises. 

35.2. Each Party shall promptly notify the other of as soon as possible of any health and safety incidents or 
material health and safety hazards at the Customer Premises of which it becomes aware and which 
relate to or arise in connection with the performance of this Contract 

35.3. While on the Customer Premises, the Supplier shall comply with any health and safety measures 
implemented by the Customer in respect of Supplier Personnel and other persons working there and 
any instructions from the Customer on any necessary associated safety measures. 

Equality and Diversity 

35.4. The Supplier shall: 

35.4.1 perform its obligations under this Contract (including those in relation to the Services) in 
accordance with: 

(a) all applicable equality Law (whether in relation to race, sex, gender 
reassignment, age, disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy, 
maternity or otherwise); 

(b) the Authority’s equality and diversity policy as provided to the Supplier from 
time to time; and 

(c) any other requirements and instructions which the Authority reasonably 
imposes in connection with any equality obligations imposed on the Authority 
at any time under applicable equality Law; and 

35.4.2 take all necessary steps, and inform the Authority of the steps taken, to prevent unlawful 
discrimination designated as such by any court or tribunal, or the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission or (any successor organisation). 

Finance Act 
 

35.5. The Supplier shall comply with the provisions of section 182 of the Finance Act 1989. 

Environmental Requirements 

35.6. The Supplier shall, when working on the Sites, perform its obligations under this Contract in accordance 
with the Environmental Policy of the Customer. 

35.7. The Customer shall provide a copy of its written Environmental Policy (if any) to the Supplier upon the 
Supplier’s written request. 

 
36. ASSIGNMENT AND NOVATION 
36.1. The Supplier shall not assign, novate, Sub-Contract or otherwise dispose of or create any trust in relation 

to any or all of its rights, obligations or liabilities under this Contract or any part of it without Approval. 

36.2. The Customer may assign, novate or otherwise dispose of any or all of its rights, liabilities and obligations 
under this Contract or any part thereof to: 
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36.2.1 any other Contracting Authority; or 
36.2.2 any other body established by the Crown or under statute in order substantially to perform any 

of the functions that had previously been performed by the Customer; or 

36.2.3 any private sector body which substantially performs the functions of the Customer, and the 
Supplier shall, at the Customer’s request, enter into a novation agreement in such form as the Customer 
shall reasonably specify in order to enable the Customer to exercise its rights pursuant to this Clause 
36.2. 

36.3. A change in the legal status of the Customer shall not, subject to Clause 36.4 affect the validity of this 
Contract and this Contract shall be binding on any successor body to the Customer. 

36.4. If the Customer assigns, novates or otherwise disposes of any of its rights, obligations or liabilities under 
this Contract to a private sector body in accordance with Clause 36.2.3 (the “Transferee” in the rest of 
this Clause 36.4 the right of termination of the Customer in Clause 30.4 (Termination on Insolvency) 
shall be available to the Supplier in the event of insolvency of the Transferee (as if the references to 
Supplier in Clause 30.4 (Termination on Insolvency) and to Supplier or DPA Guarantor or Contract 
Guarantor in the definition of Insolvency Event were references to the Transferee). 

37. WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES 

37.1. The rights and remedies under this Contract may be waived only by notice and in a manner that expressly 
states that a waiver is intended. A failure or delay by a Party in ascertaining or exercising a right or 

remedy provided under this Contract or by law shall not constitute a waiver of that right or remedy, nor 
shall it prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. No single or partial 
exercise of any right or remedy shall prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or 
remedy. 

37.2. Unless otherwise provided in this Contract, rights and remedies under this Contract are cumulative and do 
not exclude any rights or remedies provided by law, in equity or otherwise. 

 
38. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES 
38.1. Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Contract, nothing in this Contract, nor any actions taken by 

the Parties pursuant to this Contract, shall create a partnership, joint venture or relationship of employer 
and employee or principal and agent between the Parties, or authorise either Party to make 
representations or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of any other Party. 

39. PREVENTION OF FRAUD AND BRIBERY 
39.1. The Supplier represents and warrants that neither it, nor to the best of its knowledge any Supplier 

Personnel, have at any time prior to the Contract Commencement Date: 

39.1.1 committed a Prohibited Act or been formally notified that it is subject to an investigation or 
prosecution which relates to an alleged Prohibited Act; and/or 

39.1.2 been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, suspended, proposed 
for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for participation in government 
procurement programmes or contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act. 

39.2. The Supplier shall not during the Contract Period: 

39.2.1 commit a Prohibited Act; and/or 
39.2.2 do or suffer anything to be done which would cause the Customer or any of the Customer’s 

employees, consultants, contractors, sub-contractors or agents to contravene any of the 
Relevant Requirements or otherwise incur any liability in relation to the Relevant 
Requirements. 
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39.3. The Supplier shall during the Contract Period: 

39.3.1 establish, maintain and enforce, and require that its Sub-Contractors establish, maintain and enforce, policies and 
procedures which are adequate to ensure compliance with the Relevant Requirements and 
prevent the occurrence of a Prohibited Act; 

39.3.2 keep appropriate records of its compliance with its obligations under Clause 39.3.1 and make 
such records available to the Customer on request; 

39.3.3 have in place reasonable prevention measures (as defined in sections 45(3) and 46(4) of the Criminal Finance Act 2017) 
to ensure that Associated Persons of the Supplier do not commit tax evasion facilitation 
offences as defined under that Act; 

39.3.4 if so required by the Customer, within twenty (20) Working Days of the Contract Commencement 
Date, and annually thereafter, certify to the Customer in writing that the Supplier and all 
persons associated with it or its Sub-Contractors or other persons who are supplying the 
Services in connection with this Contract are compliant with the Relevant Requirements. 
The Supplier shall provide such supporting evidence of compliance as the Customer may 
reasonably request; 

39.3.5 take account of any guidance about preventing facilitation of tax evasion offences which may be 
published and updated in accordance with Section 47 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 
and 

39.3.6 have, maintain and where appropriate enforce an anti-bribery policy (which shall be disclosed 
to the Customer on request) to prevent it and any Supplier Personnel or any person acting 
on the Supplier’s behalf from committing a Prohibited Act. 

39.4. The Supplier shall immediately notify the Customer in writing if it becomes aware of any breach of Clause 
39.1 and/or Clause 39.2, or has reason to believe that it has or any of the Supplier Personnel have: 

39.4.1 been subject to an investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged Prohibited Act; 
39.4.2 been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, suspended, proposed 

for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for participation in government 
procurement programmes or contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act; and/or 

39.4.3 received a request or demand for any undue financial or other advantage of any kind in 
connection with the performance of this Contract or otherwise suspects that any person 
or Party directly or indirectly connected with this Contract has committed or attempted to 
commit a Prohibited Act. 

39.5. If the Supplier makes a notification to the Customer pursuant to Clause 39.4, the Supplier shall respond 
promptly to the Customer's enquiries, co-operate with any investigation, and allow the Customer to 
audit any books, records and/or any other relevant documentation in accordance with Clause 12 
(Records, Audit Access and Open Book Data). 

39.6. If the Supplier is in Default under Clauses 39.1 and/or 39.2, the Customer may by notice: 

39.6.1 require the Supplier to remove from performance of this Contract any Supplier Personnel whose 
acts or omissions have caused the Default; or 

39.6.2 immediately terminate this Contract. 
39.7. Any notice served by the Customer under Clause 39.4 shall specify the nature of the Prohibited Act, the 

identity of the Party who the Customer believes has committed the Prohibited Act and the action that 
the Customer has elected to take (including, where relevant, the date on which this Contract shall 
terminate). 
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40. SEVERANCE 

40.1. If any provision of this Contract (or part of any provision) is held to be void or otherwise unenforceable by 
any court of competent jurisdiction, such provision (or part) shall to the extent necessary to ensure that 
the remaining provisions of this Contract are not void or unenforceable be deemed to be deleted and 
the validity and/or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Contract shall not be affected. 

40.2. In the event that any deemed deletion under Clause 40.1 is so fundamental as to prevent the 
accomplishment of the purpose of this Contract or materially alters the balance of risks and rewards in 
this Contract, either Party may give notice to the other Party requiring the Parties to commence good 
faith negotiations to amend this Contract so that, as amended, it is valid and enforceable, preserves the 
balance of risks and rewards in this Contract and, to the extent that is reasonably practicable, achieves 
the Parties' original commercial intention. 

40.3. If the Parties are unable to resolve the Dispute arising under Clause 40 within twenty (20) Working Days of 
the date of the notice given pursuant to Clause 40.2, this Contract shall automatically terminate with 
immediate effect. The costs of termination incurred by the Parties shall lie where they fall if this Contract 
is terminated pursuant to Clause 40. 

41. MODERN SLAVERY 

41.1. The Supplier: 

41.1.1 shall not use, nor allow its Sub-Contractors to use forced, bonded or involuntary prison 
labour; 

41.1.2 shall not require any Supplier Personnel or the personnel of any Sub-Contractors to lodge 
deposits or identity papers with their employer and shall be free to leave their employer 
after reasonable notice; 

41.1.3 warrants and represents that it has not been convicted of any slavery or human trafficking 
offences anywhere around the world; 

41.1.4 warrants that to the best of its knowledge it is not currently under investigation, inquiry or 
enforcement proceedings in relation to any allegation of slavery or human trafficking 
offences anywhere around the world; 

41.1.5 shall make reasonable enquires to ensure that its officers, employees and sub-contractors have 
not been convicted of slavery or human trafficking offences anywhere around the world; 

41.1.6 shall have and maintain throughout the Contract Period its own policies and procedures to ensure its compliance with 
the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and include in its contracts with its Sub-Contractors 
antislavery and human trafficking provisions; 

41.1.7 shall implement due diligence procedures to ensure that there is no slavery or human trafficking 
in any part of its supply chain performing obligations under the Contract; 

41.1.8 shall prepare and deliver to the Customer, an annual slavery and human trafficking report 
setting out the steps it has taken to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not taking 
place in any of its supply chains or in any part of its business; 

41.1.9 shall not use, nor allow its employees or Sub-Contractors to use physical abuse or discipline, the threat of physical 
abuse, sexual or other harassment and verbal abuse or other forms of intimidation of its 
employees or sub-contractors; 

41.1.10 shall not use or allow child or slave labour to be used by its Sub-contractors; and 

41.1.11 shall report the discovery or suspicion of any slavery or trafficking by it or its subcontractors 
to the Customer and the Modern Slavery Helpline 

(modernslaveryhelpline.org). 
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41.2. In addition to any other rights under the Contract, the Customer may instruct the Supplier to carry out 
such an audit of any Sub-Contractor by an independent third party and, if so instructed, the Supplier 
shall deliver a report to the Customer within ninety (90) days of such instruction. 

41.3. If the Supplier notifies the Customer pursuant to Clause 41.5 it shall respond promptly to the Customer’s 
enquiries, co-operate with any investigation, and allow the Customer to audit any books, records and/or 
any other relevant documentation in accordance with the Contract. 

41.4. If the Supplier is in Default under Clause 41.1 the Customer may by notice: 

41.4.1 require the Supplier to remove from performance of the Contract any Sub-Contractor, Supplier 
Personnel or other persons associated with it whose acts or omissions have caused the 
Default; or 

41.4.2 immediately terminate the Contract. 

Whistleblowing 

41.5. As soon as it is aware of it the Supplier and Supplier Personnel must report to the Customer any actual or 
suspected breach of; 

41.5.1 Law; 

41.5.2 Clauses 41.1 

41.6. The Supplier must not retaliate against any of the Supplier Personnel who in good faith reports a breach 
listed in this Clause to the Customer or a Prescribed Person. 

 
42. FURTHER ASSURANCES 

42.1. Each Party undertakes at the request of the other, and at the cost of the requesting Party to do all acts 
and execute all documents which may be necessary to give effect to the meaning of this Contract. 

 
43. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
43.1. This Contract and the documents referred to in it constitute the entire agreement between the Parties in 

respect of the matter and supersede and extinguish all prior negotiations, course of dealings or 
agreements made between the Parties in relation to its subject matter, whether written or oral. 

43.2. Neither Party has been given, nor entered into this Contract in reliance on, any warranty, statement, 
promise or representation other than those expressly set out in this Contract. 

43.3. Nothing in Clause 43 shall exclude any liability in respect of misrepresentations made fraudulently. 

44. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

44.1. The provisions of paragraphs 2.1 and 2.6 of Part A, paragraphs 2.1, 2.6, 3.1 and 3.3 of Part B, paragraphs 
2.1 and 2.3 of Part C and paragraphs and 1.4, 2.3 and 2.8 of Part D of Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer) 
(together “Third Party Provisions”) confer benefits on persons named in such provisions other than the 
Parties (each such person a “Third Party Beneficiary”) and are intended to be enforceable by Third 
Parties Beneficiaries by virtue of the CRTPA. 

44.2. Subject to Clause 44.1, a person who is not a Party to this Contract has no right under the CTRPA to enforce 
any term of this Contract but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is 
available otherwise than pursuant to that Act. 

44.3. No Third Party Beneficiary may enforce, or take any step to enforce, any Third Party Provision without the 
prior written consent of the Customer, which may, if given, be given on and subject to such terms as the 
Customer may determine. 
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44.4. Any amendments or modifications to this Contract may be made, and any rights created under Clause 44.1 
may be altered or extinguished, by the Parties without the consent of any Third Party Beneficiary. 

 
45. NOTICES 

45.1. Except as otherwise expressly provided within this Contract, any notices sent under this Contract must be 
in writing. For the purpose of Clause 45, an e-mail is accepted as being "in writing". 

45.2. Subject to Clause 45.3, the following table sets out the method by which notices may be served under this 
Contract and the respective deemed time and proof of service: 

Manner of delivery Deemed time of delivery Proof of Service 

Email (Subject to 
Clauses 45.3 and 
45.4) 

9.00am on the first 
Working Day after sending 

 
Dispatched as a pdf 
attachment to an e-mail to 
the correct e-mail address 
without any error message 

Personal delivery  
On delivery, provided 
delivery is between 
9.00am and 5.00pm on a 
Working Day. 
Otherwise, delivery will 
occur at 9.00am on the 
next Working Day 

Properly addressed and 
delivered as evidenced by 
signature of a delivery receipt 

Royal Mail Signed For™ 1st 
Class or other prepaid, next 
Working Day service providing 
proof of delivery 

 
At the time recorded by the 
delivery service, 

provided that delivery is 
between 9.00am and 
5.00pm on a Working Day. 
Otherwise, delivery will 
occur at 9.00am on the 
same Working Day 
(if delivery before 
9.00am) or on the next 
Working Day (if after 
5.00pm) 

Properly addressed prepaid 
and delivered as evidenced by 
signature of a delivery receipt 

45.3. The following notices may only be served as an attachment to an email if the original notice is then sent to 
the recipient by personal delivery or Royal Mail Signed For™ 1st Class or other prepaid in the manner set 
out in the table in Clause 45.2: 

45.3.1 any Termination Notice (Clause 30 (Customer Termination Rights)), 45.3.2 
 

any notice in respect of: 
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(a) partial termination, suspension or partial suspension (Clause 33 (Partial Termination, 
Suspension and Partial Suspension)) 

(b) waiver (Clause 37 (Waiver and Cumulative Remedies)) 

(c) Default ; and 

(d) Any Dispute Notice. 

45.4. Failure to send any original notice by personal delivery or recorded delivery in accordance with Clause 
45.3 shall invalidate the service of the related e-mail transmission. The deemed time of delivery of such 
notice shall be the deemed time of delivery of the original notice sent by personal delivery or Royal Mail 
Signed For™ 1st Class delivery (as set out in the table in) or, if earlier, the time of response or 
acknowledgement by the other Party to the email attaching the notice. 

45.5. Clause 45 does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other documents in any legal action or, 
where applicable, any arbitration or other method of dispute resolution (other than the service of a 
Dispute Notice under the Dispute Resolution Procedure). 

45.6. For the purposes of Clause 45, the address and email address of each Party shall be as specified in the 
Contract Order Form. 

46. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
46.1. The Parties shall resolve Disputes arising out of or in connection with this Contract in accordance with the 

Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

46.2. The Supplier shall continue to provide the Services in accordance with the terms of this Contract until a 
Dispute has been resolved. 

 
47. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 
47.1. This Contract and any issues, Disputes or claims (whether contractual or non-contractual) arising out of or 

in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of England and Wales. 

47.2. Subject to Clause 46 (Dispute Resolution) and Contract Schedule 6 (Dispute Resolution Procedure) 
(including the Customer’s right to refer the Dispute to arbitration), the Parties agree that the courts of 
England and Wales (unless stated differently in the Contract Order Form) shall have exclusive jurisdiction 
to settle any Dispute or claim (whether contractual or non-contractual) that arises out of or in 
connection with this Contract or its subject matter or formation. 

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 1: DEFINITIONS 

1. In accordance with Clause 1 (Definitions and Interpretations), in this Dynamic Purchasing System Agreement 
including its Recitals the following expressions shall have the following meanings: 

“Academic Year” means 1 August to 31 July; 

"Achieve"  means in respect of a Test, to successfully pass such Test without any 
Test Issues in accordance with the Test Strategy Plan and in respect 
of a Milestone, the issue of a Satisfaction Certificate in respect of that 
Milestone and "Achieved", “Achieving” and "Achievement" shall be 
construed accordingly; 



47  

 

“Acquired Rights Directive” the European Council Directive 2001/23/EC on the approximation of 
the laws of the member states of the European Union relating to the 
safeguarding of employees’ rights in the event of transfers of 
undertakings, businesses or parts of undertakings or businesses, as 
amended or re-enacted from time to time; 

"Additional Clauses" means the additional Clauses in Contract Schedule 12 (Alternative 
and/or Additional Clauses) and any other additional Clauses set out 
in the Contract Order Form or elsewhere in this Contract; 

"Affected Party" means the party seeking to claim relief in respect of a Force Majeure; 

"Affiliates" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Alternative Clauses" means the alternative Clauses in Contract Schedule 12 (Alternative 
and/or Additional Clauses) and any other alternative Clauses set out 
in the Contract Order Form or elsewhere in this Contract; 

"Approval" means the prior written consent of the Customer and "Approve" and 
"Approved" shall be construed accordingly; 

"Approved Sub-Licensee" means any of the following: 

 
a) a Central Government Body; 

 
b) any third party providing services to a Central Government 

Body; and/or 
 

c) any body (including any private sector body) which performs 
or carries on any of the functions and/or activities that 
previously had been performed and/or carried on by the 
Customer; 

“Associated Persons” has the meaning as set out in Section 44(4) of the Criminal Finance 
Act 2017; 

"Auditor" means: 

a) the Customer’s internal and external auditors; 

b) the Customer’s statutory or regulatory auditors; 

c) the Comptroller and Auditor General, their staff and/or any 
appointed representatives of the National Audit Office; 

d) HM Treasury or the Cabinet Office; 

e) any party formally appointed by the Customer to carry out 
audit or similar review functions; and 

f) successors or assigns of any of the above. 
"Authority" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 
“BACS” means the Bankers’ Automated Clearing Services, which is a scheme 

for the electronic processing of financial transactions within the 
United Kingdom; 

“Call for Competition 
Procedure” 

means the competition procedure described in paragraph 2 of DPA 
Schedule 5 (Call for Competition Procedure); 
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“Category” means the Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education 
occupational routes as referred to at Occupational Maps / Institute 

https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
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for Apprenticeships and Technical Education; 
 

“Comptroller and Auditor 
General” 

means the head of the National Audit Office; 

"Contract Commencement 
Date" 

means the date of commencement of this Contract set out in the 
Contract Order Form; 

"Contract " 
 
 
 
"Contract Charges" 

means this contract between the Customer and the Supplier (entered 
into pursuant to the provisions of the DPA), which consists of the 
terms set out in the Contract Order Form and the Contract Terms; 

 
 

means the prices (inclusive of any Milestone Payments and exclusive 
of any applicable VAT), payable to the Supplier by the Customer 
under this Contract, as set out in Annex 1 of Contract Schedule 3 
(Contract Charges, Payment and Invoicing), for the full and proper 
performance by the Supplier of its obligations under this Contract 
less any Deductions; 

“Contract Finder” means the online portal administered by the UK Government that 
lets economic operators Contracts Finder lets you search for 
information about contracts worth over £10,000 with the UK 
Government and its agencies. 

"Contract Period" means the term of this Contract from the Contract Commencement 
Date until the Contract Expiry Date; 

"Contract Year" means a consecutive period of twelve (12) Months commencing on the 
Contract Commencement Date or each anniversary thereof; 

"Contract Expiry Date" means: 

a) the end date of the Contract Initial Period or any Contract 
Extension Period; or 

b) if this Contract is terminated before the date specified in (a) 
above, the earlier date of termination of this Contract; 

"Contract Extension Period" means such period or periods up to a maximum of the number of 
years in total as may be specified by the Customer, pursuant to Clause 
5.2 and in the Contract Order Form; 

"Contract Initial Period" means the initial term of this Contract from the Contract 
Commencement Date to the end date of the initial term stated in the 
Contract Order Form; 

“Contract Order Form” means the order form applicable to this Contract containing details 
of the parties and the service to be provided that is generated at the 
end of the DPA process or otherwise provided; 

“Call for Competition 
Procedure” 

has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Contract Schedule" means a schedule to this Contract; 
“Contract Tender” means the tender submitted by the Supplier in response to the 

Customer’s Statement of Requirements following a Call for 
Competition Procedure and set out at Contract Schedule 5 (Contract 
Tender); 

"Contract Terms" means the terms applicable to and set out in this Contract; 

https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/secure-sanitisation-storage-media?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
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"Central Government Body" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 
"Change in Law" means any change in Law which impacts on the supply of the Services 

and performance of the Contract which comes into force after the 
Contract Commencement Date; 

"Change of Control" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Charging Structure" means the structure to be used in the establishment of the charging 
model which is applicable to the Contract, which is set out in Contract 
Schedule 3 (Contract Prices and Charging Structure); 

"Commercially Sensitive 
Information" 

means the Confidential Information listed in the Contract Order Form 
(if any) comprising of commercially sensitive information relating to 
the Supplier, its IPR or its business or which the Supplier has indicated 
to the Customer that, if disclosed by the Customer, would cause the 
Supplier significant commercial disadvantage or material financial 
loss; 

"Comparable Supply" means the supply of Services to another customer of the Supplier that 
are the same or similar to the Services; 

"Confidential Information" means the Customer's Confidential Information and/or the Supplier’s 
Confidential Information, as the context specifies; 

“Call Off Contract” or 
“Contract” 

means this contract; 

“Contract Charges” means the charges raised under or in connection with this Contract 
from time to time, which shall be calculated in a manner that is 
consistent with the Charging Structure; 

“Contract Commencement 
Date 

means the date of commencement of the Contract as written at the 
top of the Contract; 

“Contract Monitoring Plan” or means a submission by the Supplier that incorporates the “CMP” and 
“Learner information required in the form of contract monitoring plan set out Datasheet” or “LD” at 
Schedule 2 Part 3 (Contract Management), Annex 1; 

"Contracting Authority" means the Authority, the Customer and any other bodies listed in the 
OJEU Notice; 

"Control" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

“Controller” take the meaning given in the GDPR 

"Conviction" means other than for minor road traffic offences, any previous or pending prosecutions, 
convictions, cautions and binding over orders (including any spent 
convictions as contemplated by section 1(1) of the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 by virtue of the exemptions 
specified in Part II of Schedule 1 of the Rehabilitation of Offenders 
Act 1974 (Exemptions) Order 1975 (SI 1975/1023) or any 
replacement or amendment to that Order, or being placed on a list 
kept pursuant to section 1 of the Protection of Children Act 1999 or 
being placed on a list kept pursuant to the Safeguarding Vulnerable 
Groups Act 2006; 

"Customer Assets" means the Customer’s infrastructure, data, software, materials, assets, equipment 
or other property owned by and/or licensed or leased to the Customer and which is or may be used in 
connection with the provision of the Services; "Customer Background IPR" means: 

a) IPRs owned by the Customer before the Contract 
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Commencement Date, including IPRs contained in any of the 
 

"Costs" the following costs (without double recovery) to the extent that they 
are reasonably and properly incurred by the Supplier in providing the 
Services: 
a) the cost to the Supplier or the Key Sub-Contractor (as the context 

  requires), calculated per Man Day, of engaging the Supplier 
Personnel, including: 

i) base salary paid to the Supplier Personnel; ii) 

employer’s national insurance contributions; iii) 

pension contributions; iv) car 

allowances; 
  v) any other contractual employment benefits; vi) staff 

training; vii) work place accommodation; viii) work 
place IT equipment and tools reasonably necessary to 
provide the Services (but not including items included 
within limb (b) below); and 

  ix) reasonable recruitment costs, as agreed with the 
Customer; 

 a) costs incurred in respect of those Supplier Assets which are 
detailed on the Registers and which would be treated as 
capital costs according to generally accepted accounting 
principles within the UK, which shall include the cost to be 
charged in respect of Supplier Assets by the Supplier to the 
Customer or (to the extent that risk and title in any Supplier 
Asset is not held by the Supplier) any cost actually incurred 
by the Supplier in respect of those Supplier Assets; 

 b) operational costs which are not included within (a) or (b) 
above, to the extent that such costs are necessary and 
properly incurred by the Supplier in the provision of the 
Services; 

"Crown" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Crown Body" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"CRTPA" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Customer" means the customer(s) identified in the Contract Order Form; 
Customer's Know-How, documentation, software, processes 
and procedures; 

b) IPRs created by the Customer independently of this Contract 
; and/or 

c) Crown Copyright which is not available to the Supplier  otherwise than under this Contract; 
 

“Customer Data” means data that refers to or belongs to the Customer; 

Assessment”, “Data Protection Officer”, “Data Subject” “Data Subject Request”, “Personal Data”, 
“Processor” and “Processor Personnel” 
“Data Protection Legislation" means: 
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(i) The General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 (“GDPR”), the 
 

"Customer Premises" means premises owned, controlled or occupied by the Customer 
which are made available for use by the Supplier or its 
SubContractors for the provision of the Services (or any of them); 

"Customer Property" means the property, other than real property and IPR, including any 
equipment issued or made available to the Supplier by the Customer 
in connection with this Contract ; 

"Customer Representative" means the representative appointed by the Customer from time to time 
in relation to this Contract; 

"Customer Responsibilities" means the responsibilities of the Customer set out in the Contract 
Order Form or agreed in writing between the Parties from time to 
time in connection with this Contract ; 

"Customer's Confidential 
Information” 

means: 

(a) all Personal Data and any information, however it is conveyed, 
that relates to the business, affairs, developments, property 
rights, trade secrets, Know-How and IPR of the Customer 
(including all Customer Background IPR and Project Specific IPR); 

(b) any other information clearly designated as being confidential 
(whether or not it is marked "confidential") or which ought 
reasonably be considered confidential which comes (or has 
come) to the Customer’s attention or into the Customer’s 
possession in connection with this Contract ; and 

information derived from any of the above; 
“Data Loss Event”, Data 
Protection Impact 

each have the meaning given to the relevant term in the Data Protection 
Act 2018; 

law enforcement directive 2016/680 (“LED”) and any applicable 
national implementing laws as amended from time to time; 

(ii) The DPA 2018 to the extent that it relates to processing of 
personal data and privacy; 

(iii) all applicable Law about the processing of personal data and 
privacy; 

“Deductions"  means any form of Service Credits, Delay Payments or any other deduction which the 
Customer is paid or is payable under this 
Contract; 

"Default"  means any breach of the obligations of the Supplier (including but not limited to including 
abandonment of this Contract in breach of its terms) or any other 
default (including material Default), act, omission, negligence or 
statement of the Supplier, of its SubContractors or any Supplier 
Personnel howsoever arising in connection with or in relation to the 
subject-matter of this Contract and in respect of which the Supplier 
is liable to the Customer; 
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nce or question o interpretation relating to the Services, 

"DueleivDeirlaigbelne"ce Information" means anyitienmforomr afetiaotnurseupinpltiheed stuoptphley SoufptphleieSrebryvicoersodneblievheraelfdoofrthe 
tCousbtoemdeerlipvreiorerdtobtyhethCeonSturapcptliCeormamt eanncyemotehnetrDsattaeg;e during the 

“Employer” 
"Delivery" 

 
“Employer-Provider” 

 
"Employee Liabilities" 
“Delivery Plan” 

pmeerafonrsmtahnecepeorfstohnis  oCronotrrgaacnt;isation that enters into a contract of 
emmeapnlosymdeelnivterwyitihn a cpoerrdsaoncewhwoithbetchoemtesrmas Loefartnheisr CoonntaracStkialls 
cBoonofitcrammepd Cboyutrhsee idsesulievebryedthbey Coursotnombehr aolf oafStahtiesSfaucptipolnierC;ertificate 
imneraensps eacnt eomf tphloeyreerlethvat tdMeliivl esrtsoonneetohrermeorfe(iSf kainllsy)BoorootctahmerpwCisoeuirnses 
taoccLoeradrannecres twhiatht atrheisitCsoenmtrpalcotyaeneds;accepted by the Customer and 
"Deliver" and "Delivered" shall be construed accordingly; means all claims, actions, proceedings, orders, demands, complaints, 
imnveeasntisgathtieonpsla(nsavsettifonrg aonuyt ckleayimtismfionrgspearnsdontarlajiencjtuorryiews hfiocrh tahree 
cSouvpeprleiedr’sbydeilnivseurryandcuer)inagndtheanCyonatwrardt ,Pceorimodp,enasaatigorne,eddabmyatghees, 
tCruibsutonmalerawanadrdisn,clfiundein, globsus,t noordt elirm, iptendatloty, disbursement, payment 
mad(ae) bythweaDyeolivf esreyttPlleamn eTnratjeacntdorycoPsotisn, tse;xapnednses and legal costs 
reasonably incurred in connection with a claim or investigation 
incl(ubd)inghinowrelmatiaonnytLoetahrenfeorlslowwiilnlgs:tart or Complete at each of 
those Delivery Plan Trajectory Points. as is set out further in 
Schedule 2 Part 2 (Performance Management and Part 3 (Contract a) redundancy payments including contractual or enhanced Management);; 

redundancy costs, termination costs and notice payments; 
"Disclosing Party" has the meaning given to it in Clause 23.10 to 23.18 (Confidentiality); 

b) unfair, wrongful or constructive dismissal compensation; 
"Dispute" cm) eans any dispute, difference or question of interpretation arising 

out of or in connection with this Contract, including any dispute, 
differe compensation forf discrimination on grounds of sex, race, 

disability, age, religion or belief, gender reassignment, 
failure to agree in accordance with the Variation Procedure or any 

marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or 
matter where this Contract directs the Parties to resolve an issue by 

sexual orientation or claims for equal pay; 
reference to the Dispute Resolution Procedure; 
d) compensation for less favourable treatment of part time 

"Dispute Notice" means wa owrkriettres nornfioxtiecde tseerrmveedmbpylooyneeesP;arty on the other stating that 
ath)e  Parotyustsetravnindgintghedenbottiscaenbdeulinelvaewsftuhl adtetdhuecrtieoisnaofDwisapguetes ;including 

"Dispute Resolution  Procedure" means athney dPiAsYpEutaenrdesNoalutitioonnalpIrnoscueradnucre sCeotnoturitbiuntiCoonnstirnacrteSlactihoendutole 
6 (DispuptaeymReesnotlsumtioandePrboyctehdeuCreu)s;tomer or the Replacement Supplier 

to a Transferring Supplier Employee which would have been 
"Dynamic Purchasing 
Agreement" or “DPA” 

means pthaeyaDbylenabmy itchPeuSrucphpalsiienrgoAr gthreeeSmuben-Ctobnettrwaceteonr itfhseuAchutphaoyrmiteynatnd 
the Supsphloieur,lddhataevde rbeefernremdatdoeinprtihoer tCootnhteraScet rOvircdeeTr rFaonrsmfe;r Date; 

"DPA Schedule" means a schedule to the DPA; 
f) claims whether in tort, contract or statute or otherwise; 

"Documentation" means all documentation as: 
g) any  investigation  by  the  Equality  and  Human  Rights 
a) is required to be supplied by the Supplier to the Customer under Commission or other enforcement, regulatory or supervisory this Contract; 

body and of implementing any requirements which may arise 
from such investigation; 

b) would reasonably be required by a competent third party 
capable of Good Industry Practice contracted by the Customer 

"Employment Regulations" means tohedeTrvaenlosfpe,rcoofnUfignudreer,tabkuiinldg,sd(Perpolotey,ctiruonn, omfaEimntpaliony, mupegnrta)de 
Regulatiaonndst2e0st0t6h(eSIin2d0i0vi6d/u2a4l6s)yastseammsetnhdaetdproorvriedpelathced oSrearvniyceost;her 
Regulations implementing the Acquired Rights Directive; 

“Equality and Human Rights 
Commission” 

c) is required by the Supplier in order to provide the Services; means the statutory and non-departmental public body established 
under tahnedE/qour ality Act 2006 as the national equality body for Great 

dB)ritain;has been or shall be generated for the purpose of providing 
“Evidence Pack” means tahfieleSeorrvdicoesss;ier of information, either in physical or electronic 

form, that evidences a Learner’s progress on a Skills Bootcamp 
"DOTAS" hC aosu rtshee;  meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"“EDnPvAir2o0n1m8e” ntal Information 
Regulations or EIRs" 

hmaesatnhseDmateaanPirnogtegcivtieonn tAocitt2in01D8P;A Schedule 1 (Definitions); 
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"Environmental Policy" means to conserve energy, water, wood, paper and other resources, 
reduce waste and phase out the use of ozone depleting substances 
and minimise the release of greenhouse gases, volatile organic 
compounds and other substances damaging to health and the 
environment, including any written environmental policy of the 
Customer; 

“Exit Plan” means the exit plan described in paragraph 5 of Contract Schedule 10 
(Exit Management); 

"Expedited Dispute 
Timetable" 

means the timetable set out in paragraph 5 of Contract Schedule 6 
(Dispute Resolution Procedure); 

"FOIA" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Force Majeure" means any event outside the reasonable control of either Party 
affecting its performance of its obligations under this Contract, 
arising from acts, events, omissions, happenings or non-happenings 
beyond its reasonable control and which are not attributable to any 
wilful act, neglect or failure to take reasonable preventative actions 
by that Party, including riots, war terrorism, acts of government, local 
government or regulatory bodies, fire, flood, earthquake, or other 
natural disaster but excluding any industrial dispute relating to the 
Supplier or Supplier Personnel or any other failure in the Supplier’s 
or Sub-contractor’s supply chain;; 

"Force Majeure Notice" means a written notice served by the Affected Party on the other 
Party stating that the Affected Party believes that there is a Force 
Majeure Event; 

"Former Supplier" means a supplier supplying the Services to the Customer before the 
Relevant Transfer Date that are the same as or substantially similar to 
the Services (or any part of the Services) and shall include any 
subcontractor of such supplier (or any sub-contractor of any such 
subcontractor); 

"Fraud" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"General Anti-Abuse Rule" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"General Change in Law" Has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

“Geographical Filter” refers to three types of area in England: (i) Regions, (ii) Mayoral 
Combined Authority areas, and (iii) Upper Tier Local Authority areas; 

"Good Industry Practice" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Government" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 
“Government Procurement 
Card” 

means the Government’s preferred method of purchasing and payment 
for low value goods or services 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government 

procurement-card--2 ; 

"Halifax Abuse Principle" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"HMRC" means His Majesty’s Revenue and Customs; 

“Holding Company” has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government
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"ICT Policy" means the Customer's policy in respect of information and 
communications technology, referred to in the Contract Order Form, 
which is in force as at the Contract Commencement Date (a copy of 
which has been supplied to the Supplier), as updated from time to 
time; 

“Implementation Plan” means the plan devised by the Supplier as to how it will mobilise the 
Services; 

"Information" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Insolvency Event" means, in respect of the Supplier or DPA Guarantor or Contract 
Guarantor (as applicable): 

 
a) a proposal is made for a voluntary arrangement within Part I 

of the Insolvency Act 1986 or of any other composition 
scheme or arrangement with, or assignment for the benefit 
of, its creditors; or 

 b) a shareholders' meeting is convened for the purpose of 
considering a resolution that it be wound up or a resolution 
for its winding-up is passed (other than as part of, and 
exclusively for the purpose of, a bona fide reconstruction or 
amalgamation); or 

 c) a petition is presented for its winding up (which is not 
dismissed within fourteen (14) Working Days of its service) or 
an application is made for the appointment of a provisional 
liquidator or a creditors' meeting is convened pursuant to 
section 98 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or 

 d) a receiver, administrative receiver or similar officer is 
appointed over the whole or any part of its business or 
assets; or 

 e) an application order is made either for the appointment of an 
administrator or for an administration order, an administrator 
is appointed, or notice of intention to appoint an administrator 
is given; or 

 f) it is or becomes insolvent within the meaning of section 123 of 
the Insolvency Act 1986; or 

 g) being a "small company" within the meaning of section 382(3) 
of the Companies Act 2006, a moratorium comes into force 
pursuant to Schedule A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or 

 h) where the Supplier or DPA Guarantor or Contract Guarantor 
is an individual or partnership, any event analogous to those 
listed in limbs (a) to (g) (inclusive) occurs in relation to that 
individual or partnership; or 

 i) any event analogous to those listed in limbs (a) to (h) 
(inclusive) occurs under the law of any other jurisdiction; 

"Intellectual Property Rights" means 
or "IPR" a)  copyright, rights related to or affording protection similar to copyright, rights in databases, 

patents and rights in inventions, semi-conductor topography 
rights, trade marks, rights in internet domain names and 
website addresses and other rights in trade or business 
names, designs, KnowHow, trade secrets and other rights in 
Confidential Information; 

b) applications for registration, and the right to apply for 
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registration, for any of the rights listed at (a) that are capable 
of being registered in any country or jurisdiction; and 

c) all other rights having equivalent or similar effect in any 
country or jurisdiction; 

"IPR Claim" means any claim of infringement or alleged infringement (including the defence of such 
infringement or alleged infringement) of any IPR, used to provide the 
Services or as otherwise provided and/or licensed by the Supplier (or 
to which the Supplier has provided access) to the Customer in the 
fulfilment of its obligations under this Contract; 

“IPR Register” has the meaning given to it in Clause 22.21; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
"Law" means any law, subordinate legislation within the meaning of Section 

21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, bye-law, enforceable right 
within the meaning of Section 2 of the European Communities Act 
1972, regulation, order, regulatory policy, mandatory guidance or 
code of practice, judgment of a relevant court of law, or directives or 
requirements, with which the Supplier is bound to comply; 

“Learner” means an applicant who is accepted on to a Skills Bootcamp course; 
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"Losses" means all losses, liabilities, damages, costs, expenses (including legal 
fees), disbursements, costs of investigation, litigation, settlement, 
judgment, interest and penalties whether arising in contract, tort 
(including negligence), breach of statutory duty, misrepresentation or 
otherwise and “Loss” shall be interpreted accordingly; 

“Joint Controllers” means where two or more Controllers jointly determine the purposes and means of 
processing; 

 

"Key Sub-Contract" means each Sub-Contract with a Key Sub-Contractor; 
"Key Sub-Contractor" means any Sub-Contractor: 

a) nominated as such as part of the Selection Questionnaire 
(SQ); 

 b) which, in the opinion of the Customer, performs (or would 
perform if appointed) a critical role in the provision of all or 
any part of the Services which shall include but is not limited 
to the delivery of the Services to the Learners by way of 
education and training; and/or 

 c) with a Sub-Contract with a contract value which at the time 
of appointment exceeds (or would exceed if appointed) 20% 
of the aggregate Contract Charges forecast to be payable 
under this Contract; 

"Know-How" means all ideas, concepts, schemes, information, knowledge, techniques, methodology, 
and anything else in the nature of knowhow relating to the Services 
but excluding know-how already in the other Party’s possession 
before the Contract Commencement Date; 
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"Man Day" means 7.5 Man Hours, whether or not such hours are worked 
consecutively and whether or not they are worked on the same day; 

"Man Hours" means the hours spent by the Supplier Personnel properly working 
on the provision of the Services including time spent travelling (other 
than to and from the Supplier’s offices, or to and from the Sites) but 
excluding lunch breaks; 

“Management Charge” means a charge levied by the Authority on the Supplier where the 
Customer is a contracting authority other than the Authority itself; 

“Milestone” means each of the Delivery Plan Trajectory Points as set out in the 
Delivery Plan. 

“Milestone Date” means the date on which a Milestone is to be achieved by the 
Supplier; 

“Milestone Payment” means the payment of the relevant sum of Contract Charges that the 
Supplier will receive for achieving the relevant Milestone at the 
relevant Delivery Plan Trajectory Point; 

"Month" means a calendar month and "Monthly" shall be interpreted 
accordingly; 

"Occasion of Tax Non- 
Compliance" 

means:  

a) any tax return of the Supplier submitted to a Relevant Tax 
Authority on or after 1 October 2012 which is found on or 
after 1 April 2013 to be incorrect as a result of: 

i) a Relevant Tax Authority successfully challenging the 
Supplier under the General Anti-Abuse Rule or the Halifax 
Abuse Principle or under any tax rules or legislation in any 
jurisdiction that have an effect equivalent or similar to the 
General Anti-Abuse Rule or the Halifax Abuse Principle; ii) the 
failure of an avoidance scheme which the Supplier was 
involved in, and which was, or should have been, notified to a 
Relevant Tax Authority under DOTAS or any equivalent. 

 b)  

  
any tax return of the Supplier submitted to a Relevant Tax 
Authority on or after 1 October 2012 which gives rise, on or 
after 1 April 2013, to a criminal conviction in any jurisdiction 
for tax related offences which is not spent at the Contract 
Commencement Date or to a civil penalty; 

"Open Book Data " means complete and accurate financial and non-financial information 
which is sufficient to enable the Customer to verify the 
Contract Charges already paid or payable and Contract Charges 
forecast to be paid during the remainder of this Contract, including 
details and all assumptions relating to: 

 
a) the Supplier’s Costs broken down against each Service and/or 

Deliverable, including actual capital expenditure (including 
capital replacement costs) and the unit cost and total actual 
costs of all services; 
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b) operating expenditure relating to the provision of the Services manpower resources broken down into 
the number and grade/role of all Supplier Personnel (free of any contingency) together with a list of 
agreed rates against each manpower grade; a list of Costs underpinning those rates for each manpower 
grade, being the agreed rate less the Supplier’s Profit Margin;  c) Overheads; 

d) all interest, expenses and any other third party financing costs incurred in relation to the 
provision of the Services; 

e) the Supplier Profit achieved over the Contract Period and on an annual basis; 

f) confirmation that all methods of Cost apportionment and 
Overhead allocation are consistent with and not more onerous 
than such methods applied generally by the Supplier; 

g) an explanation of the type and value of risk and contingencies associated with the provision of 
the 
Services, including the amount of money attributed to each risk and/or contingency; and 

h) the actual Costs profile for each Service Period. 
 

"Overhead" means those amounts which are intended to recover a proportion of the Supplier’s or the 
 

"Order" means the order for the provision of the Services placed by the 
Customer with the Supplier in accordance with the DPA and under the 
terms of this Contract ; 

"Other Supplier" means any supplier to the Customer (other than the Supplier) which 
is notified to the Supplier from time to time and/or of which the Supplier 
should have been aware; 

Key Sub-Contractor’s (as the context requires) indirect corporate 
costs (including financing, marketing, advertising, research and 
development and insurance costs and any fines or penalties) but 
excluding allowable indirect costs apportioned to facilities and 
administration in the provision of Supplier Personnel and accordingly 
included within limb (a) of the definition of “Costs”; 

"Parent Company" means any company which is the ultimate Holding Company of the 
Supplier and which is either responsible directly or indirectly for the 
business activities of the Supplier or which is engaged by the same 
or similar business to the Supplier. The term "Holding or Parent 
Company" shall have the meaning ascribed by the Companies Act 
2006 or any statutory re-enactment or amendment thereto; 

"Party"  means the Customer or the Supplier and "Parties" shall mean both of 
them; 

“Performance Measures”  means the Tier 1 measures set out in Table 1 and the Tier 2 measures set out 
in Table 3 Schedule 2 Part 2 (Performance Management);. 

 
"Prohibited Act" means any of the following: 
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 a) to directly or indirectly offer, promise or give any person 
working for or engaged by the Customer and/or the Customer 
or any other public body a financial or other advantage to: i) 
induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function 
or activity; or 

ii)  reward that person for improper performance of a 
relevant function or activity; 

 b) to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any 
financial or other advantage as an inducement or a reward for 
improper performance of a relevant function or activity in 
connection with this Contract; 

 c) committing any offence: 

i) under the Bribery Act 2010 (or any legislation repealed 
or revoked by such Act); or 

ii) under   legislation or common 
law concerning fraudulent acts; or iii) defrauding, 

attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Customer; 
or iv) any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute 
one of the offences listed under (c) above if such activity, 
practice or conduct had been carried out in the UK; 

“Protected Measures”   

means appropriate technical and organisational measures which may 
include: pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data, ensuring 
confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of systems and 
services, ensuring that availability of and access to Personal Data can 
be restored in a timely manner after an incident, and regularly 
assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the such measures 
adopted by it including those outlined in Contract Schedule 4 
(Security); 

"Project Specific IPR" means: 

a) Intellectual Property Rights in items created by the Supplier (or 
by a third party on behalf of the Supplier) specifically for the 
purposes of this Contract and updates and amendments of 
these items including (but not limited to) database schema; 
and/or 

b) IPR in or arising as a result of the performance of the Supplier’s 
obligations under this Contract and all updates and 
amendments to the same; but shall not include the Supplier 
Background IPR; 

"Quality Standards" means any: 
a) standards published by BSI British Standards, the National 

Standards Body of the United Kingdom, the International Organisation 
for Standardisation or other reputable or equivalent bodies (and their 
successor bodies) that a skilled and experienced operator in the same 

type of industry or business sector as the Supplier would reasonably and 
ordinarily be expected to comply with; 
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 b) standards detailed in the specification in DPA Schedule 2 Part 
1 (Services); 

c) standards detailed by the Customer in the Contract Order 
Form or agreed between the Parties from time to time; 

d) relevant Government codes of practice and guidance 
applicable from time to time. 

"Recipient" has the meaning given to it in Clauses 23.10 to 23.18 
(Confidentiality); 

"Rectification Plan" means the rectification plan pursuant to the Rectification Plan 
Process; 

"Rectification Plan Process" means the process set out in Clause 27.3 (Rectification Plan Process); 

"Registers" has the meaning given to in Contract Schedule 10 (Exit 
Management); 

"Regulations" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

"Related Supplier" means any person who provides services to the Customer which are 
related to the Services from time to time; 

"Relevant Conviction" means a Conviction that is relevant to the nature of the Services to be 
provided or as specified in the Contract Order Form; 

"Relevant Requirements" means all applicable Law relating to bribery, corruption and fraud, 
including the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State for Justice pursuant to section 9 of the Bribery Act 
2010; 

"Relevant Tax Authority" means HMRC, or, if applicable, the tax authority in the jurisdiction in 
which the Supplier is established; 

"Relevant Transfer" means a transfer of employment to which the Employment 
Regulations applies; 

"Relevant Transfer Date" means, in relation to a Relevant Transfer, the date upon which 
the Relevant Transfer takes place; 

 
"Replacement Services" 

 
means any services which are substantially similar to any of the 
Services and which the Customer receives in substitution for any of 
the Services following the Contract Expiry Date, whether those 
services are provided by the Customer internally and/or by any third 
party; 

"Replacement Sub- 
Contractor" 

means a sub-contractor of the Replacement Supplier to whom 
Transferring Supplier Employees will transfer on a Service Transfer 
Date (or any sub-contractor of any such sub-contractor); 

"Replacement Supplier" means any third party provider of Replacement Services appointed 
by or at the direction of the Customer from time to time or where 
the Customer is providing Replacement Services for its own account, 
shall also include the Customer; 
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"Service Failure" 

"Service Transfer" 

 
"Service Transfer Date" 

"Services" 

“Skills Bootcamp Course” 

“Skills Bootcamp Guidance” 
 

 
"Sites" 

 
 
 

 

"Specific Change in Law" 

"Staffing Information" 

“Sub-category 1” 
 
 

 
“Sub-category 2” 

 

 
"Request for Information" 

 
 

 
means the Supplier’s security management plan prepared pursuant to paragraph 4 of 
Contract Schedule 4 (Security) a draft of which has been provided by the Supplier to 
the Customer in accordance with paragraph 4 of Contract Schedule 4 (Security) and as 
updated from time to time; 
means the Customer's security policy, referred to in the Contract Order Form and / or in 
contract Schedule 2 (Services, Performance 
Management and Contract Management), in force as at the Contract 
Commencement Date (a copy of which has been supplied to the 
Supplier), as updated from time to time and notified to the Supplier; 

 
the current HMG Security Policy DPA that can  be found at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securitypolicy-DPA ; means a failure to 

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securitypolicy-DPA
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securitypolicy-DPA
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substantially meet the Performance 

Measures set out in Contract Schedule 2 

Part 2 (Performance Management); 

means any transfer of the Services (or 

any part of the Services), for whatever 

reason, from the Supplier or any Sub- 

Contractor to a Replacement Supplier or 

a Replacement Sub-Contractor; means 

the date of a Service Transfer; 

which can be found atSkills Bootcamps funding and performance management - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) means any premises (including the Customer Premises, the 
Supplier’s premises or third party premises) or any virtual environment from, to or at 
which: 

a) the Services are (or are to be) provided; or 

b) the Supplier manages, organises or otherwise directs the provision or the use 
of the Services. means a Change in Law that relates specifically to the business of the 
Customer and which would not affect a Comparable Supply; has the meaning give to 
it in Contract Schedule 5 (Staff Transfer); refers the Institute for Apprenticeships and 
Technical Education occupational pathways which are set out at Occupational Maps / 

means the services to be provided by Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education; 
the Supplier to the Customer as referred 
to Schedule 2 Part A (Services); 

 
refers to the extent to which delivery of the Skills Bootcamp can 

means a course delivered by or on correspond to Green Skills and Pathways to Accelerated 
behalf of the Supplier under this 
Contract; 

Apprenticeships; 
means a request for information or an apparent request relating to this Contract or the 

means guidance produced by the provision of the Services or an apparent request for such information under the FOIA 

Authority relating to skills bootcamps or the EIRs; 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-bootcamps-funding-and-performance-management
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning?crId=635b90fc9c7c396b8d27fd24&Domain=sharpepritchard.co.uk&Base64Url=eNoFwtEJwDAIBcCJGv-7jYhthEYlvuD65W4CWTdRdw_zguFAn9icudVhojUta8R-KUROMiycv2txFv0LhhiV
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"Sub-Contract" means any contract or agreement (or proposed contract or 
agreement), other than this Contract or the DPA, pursuant to which 
a third party: 

a) provides the Services (or any part of them); 

b) provides facilities or services necessary for the provision of the 
Services (or any part of them); and/or 

c) is responsible for the management, direction or control of the 
provision of the Services (or any part of them); 

"Sub-Contractor" means any person other than the Supplier, who is a party to a 
SubContract and the servants or agents of that person; 

"Supplier" means the person, firm or company with whom the Customer enters 
into this Contract as identified in the Contract Order Form; 

"Supplier Assets" means all assets and rights used by the Supplier to provide the 
Services in accordance with this Contract but excluding the 
Customer Assets; 

"Supplier Background IPR" means 

a) Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Supplier before the 
Contract Commencement Date, for example those subsisting in 
the Supplier’s standard development tools, program 
components or standard code used in computer programming 
or in physical or electronic media containing the Supplier’s 
Know-How or generic business methodologies; and/or 

b) Intellectual Property Rights created by the Supplier 
independently of this Contract; 

"Supplier’s 

Confidential 

Information" 

means 

a) any information, however it is conveyed, that relates to the 
business, affairs, developments, IPR of the Supplier 
(including the Supplier Background IPR) trade secrets, Know- 
How, and/or personnel of the Supplier; 

b) any other information clearly designated as being confidential 
(whether or not it is marked as "confidential") or which ought 
reasonably to be considered to be confidential and which 
comes (or has come) to the Supplier’s attention or into the 
Supplier’s possession in connection with this 
Contract; 

c) information derived from any of the above. 
"Supplier Equipment" means the Supplier’s hardware, computer and telecoms devices, 

equipment, plant, materials and such other items supplied and used 
by the Supplier (but not hired, leased or loaned from the Customer) 
in the performance of its obligations under this Contract; 

"Supplier Personnel" means all directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants and 
contractors of the Supplier and/or of any Sub-Contractor engaged in 
the performance of the Supplier’s obligations under this Contract; 



68  

 

"Supplier Profit" means, in relation to a period or a Milestone (as the context 
requires), the difference between the total Contract Charges (in 
nominal cash flow terms but excluding any Deductions) and total 
Costs (in nominal cash flow terms) for the relevant period or in 
relation to the relevant Milestone; 

"Supplier Profit Margin" means, in relation to a period or a Milestone (as the context 
requires), the Supplier Profit for the relevant period or in relation to 
the relevant Milestone divided by the total Contract Charges over 
the same period or in relation to the relevant Milestone and 
expressed as a percentage; 

"Supplier Representative" means the representative appointed by the Supplier named in the 
Contract Order Form; 

"Template Contract Order 
Form" 

means the Template Contract Order Form in Annex 1 of DPA 
Schedule 4 (Template Contract Order Form and Template Contract 
Terms); 

"Template Contract Terms" means the template terms and conditions in Annex 2 of DPA Schedule 
4 (Template Order Form and Template Contract Terms); 

"Tender" means the tender submitted by the Supplier to the Customer and 
annexed to or referred to in Contract Schedule 5; 

"Termination Notice" means a written notice of termination given by one Party to the 
other, notifying the Party receiving the notice of the intention of the 
Party giving the notice to terminate this Contract on a specified date 
and setting out the grounds for termination; 

"Test Issue" means any variance or non-conformity of the Services or Deliverables 
from their requirements as set out in the Contract; 

"Third Party IPR" means Intellectual Property Rights owned by a third party which is 
or will be used by the Supplier for the purpose of providing the 
Services; 

“Transferring Customer 
Employees” 

those employees of the Customer to whom the Employment 
Regulations will apply on the Relevant Transfer Date; 

“Transferring Former Supplier 
Employees” 

in relation to a Former Supplier, those employees of the Former 
Supplier to whom the Employment Regulations will apply on the 
Relevant Transfer Date; 

"Transferring Supplier 
Employees" 

means those employees of the Supplier and/or the Supplier’s 
SubContractors to whom the Employment Regulations will apply on 
the Service Transfer Date; 

"Undelivered Services" has the meaning given to it in Clause 8.5 (Services); 

"Undisputed Sums Time 
Period" 

has the meaning given to it Clause 31.1 (Termination of Customer 
Failure to Pay); 

"Valid Invoice" means an invoice issued by the Supplier to the Customer that complies 
with the invoicing procedure in paragraph 7 (Invoicing 
Procedure) of Contract Schedule 3 (Contract 
Charges, Payment and Invoicing); 

"Variation" has the meaning given to it in Clause 13.3 (Variation Procedure); 
"Variation Form" means the form set out in Schedule 11 (Variation Form); 
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"VAT" has the meaning given to it in DPA Schedule 1 (Definitions); 

“Worker”  means any one of the Supplier Personnel which the 
Customer, in its reasonable opinion, considers is 
an individual to which Procurement Policy Note 

08/15 (Tax Arrangements of Public Appointees) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procuremen 
tpolicynote-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees 

"Working Day" means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday in England and 
Wales unless specified otherwise by Parties in this Contract; 

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/certified-professional
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning
https://links.uk.defend.egress.com/Warning
https://www.cpni.gov.uk/secure-destruction
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/certified-cyber-consultancy
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/certified-cyber-consultancy
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/certified-cyber-consultancy
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/certified-cyber-consultancy
https://viewyourdata.education.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/articles/about-certified-professional-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/security-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/security-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/security-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/security-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/security-policy-framework
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0117-update-to-transparency-principles
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-security-classifications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-security-classifications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-security-classifications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-security-classifications


70  

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 2: SERVICES, PERFORMNCE MANAGEMENT AND CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Contract Schedule 2 Part 1specifies the Services to be provided under this Contract, Part 2 sets out the 
requirements for Performance Management and Part 3 sets out the requirements for Contract 
Management and Management Information: 

 
Please refer to: 

• DPA Schedule 2 Service Requirements 

• DPS First Competitions Tender Document 4a Contract Order Form – Digital Competition 

• DPS First Competitions Tender Document 4b Contract Order Form – Sales, Marketing and 
Procurement Competition. 
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PART 1: THE SERVICES 

1. The Supplier will provide the Services as detailed in the Contract Order Form and/or as amended by 
special terms set out below in this Part 1. 

2. The Supplier will provide any additional supplementary services required and specified by Contracting 
Authorities and as outlined in the Customer Needs under supplementary requirements. 
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PART 2: PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
 

In this section the words below have the following meaning: 

 
“Contract Performance Review” means a monthly review of the Supplier’s performance under this 

Contract. 
“Complete or Completion” (a) means as follows; 

(b) for Learners – completion by the Learner of their training and final 
assessment; 

(c) for Independent Learners – an offer of an interview for a vacancy 
which meet the criteria set out in the Service Requirements; 

(d) for Self-Employed Learners -written confirmation from the 
SelfEmployed Leaners of how the Skills Bootcamp training has 
been or will be applied to enable them to secure new work of 
contract, which meet the criteria set out in the Service 
Requirements; and 

(e) for Co-Funded Learners – an offer of an interview for a new role or 
responsibility or an offer of a new role or responsibility which in 
either case meets the criteria set out in the Service Requirements. 

(f) Including any definition as defined within the payment 
terms/profile 

“Drop Out” 

“Delivery Plan” 

means a Learner who starts but does not Complete a Skills Bootcamp 

 
means the plan setting out key timings and trajectories for the 
Supplier’s delivery during the Contract Period, as agreed by the 
Customer and including but not limited to 

(a) the Delivery Plan Trajectory Points; and 

(b) how many Learners will start or Complete at each of those 
Delivery Plan Trajectory Points. 

“Delivery Plan Trajectory Point” means, but is not limited to, the anticipated dates on which Milestone 
Payments in relation to specified numbers of Learners would be 
scheduled to be paid by the Customer to the Supplier as follows: (a) 
Commencement Date 

(b) Mid-course Milestone Date 

(c) Course Completion and offer of interview Milestone Date 

(d) Positive Outcome (or equivalent) Milestone Date 

(e) Finishing the Course; 

(f) Completion including offer of an interview Milestone Date. 
“Improvement Plan” means a plan for improvement that the Customer can request from the 

Supplier within ten (10) Working Days in the event of failure. 
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“Management Information” means the data and information relevant to the Services and 
performance the Supplier shall collate and provide to the Customer 
in accordance with this Schedule. 

“Management Information means the report containing the Management Information that the 
Report”  Supplier is required to submit to the Customer in accordance with this 

Schedule. 
“Performance Management” means how the Customer will measure the Supplier’s performance and 

progress against the Service Requirements (Schedule 2: Part 1), and 
the Delivery Plan. 

 

 
“Performance Manager” means the person the Supplier 

will appoint to ensure that the Contract is delivered as specified in 
the Contract and that Service 

Levels, Recruitment Targets and Performance Measures are achieved. 

“Performance Measures” means the Tier 1 measures set out in Table 1 and the Tier 2 measures set out in 
Table 3. 

“Reporting Period” means the reporting period that occurs every calendar month from X of each month to 
the X of the following month and will commence on the Contract 
Commencement Date. 

 
“Service Level” means the Service Levels as set out in Table 1 of this Schedule by which the Contractor’s 

performance will be measured. 
 
 

 
1. PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

1.1. This section sets out the Performance Measures against which the Parties shall measure the Supplier’s 
performance. 

1.2. The objective of the Performance Measures is to: 

1.2.1 ensure that the Services are of a consistently high quality and meet the requirements of the 
Customer; 

1.2.2 provide a mechanism whereby the Customer can attain meaningful recognition of inconvenience 
and/or loss resulting from the Supplier’s failure to deliver the Services; and 

1.2.3 incentivise the Supplier to meet the Performance Measures and to remedy any failure to meet the 
required standards expeditiously. 

Performance Measures Targets 

1.3. The Supplier shall ensure compliance with the Tier 1 Performance Measures listed in Table 1 and the Tier 2 
Performance Measures in Table 3. 

1.4. The Customer reserves the right to revise Performance Measures and introduce subject specific Performance 
Measures as required. 

1.5. The Supplier and the Customer shall monitor the Supplier’s performance against each of the Tier 1 and Tier 2 
Performance Measures. 
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1.6. The Supplier shall complete and return the monthly Customer Reporting Template outlining performance 
against the Performance Measures to date and confirm whether they have been achieved. 

1.7. If the Supplier fails to meet any one Performance Measure in any Reporting Period, the Customer reserves 
the right to take action in line with Paragraph 3 (Consequence of Service Failure in relation to a Tier 1 
Performance Measure) and in line with Paragraph 5 (Consequence of Service Failure in relation to a Tier 
2 Performance Measure) in relation to a Tier 2 Performance Measure. 

1. TIER 1 PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

1.1. The Tier 1 Performance Measures are set out in Table 1 below. 

 
Table 1: Tier 1 Performance Measures 

 

Performance Measure Description Performance Measure Metric: 

Tier 1 Performance Measure 1: Completions 

Learners who successfully Complete the Skills 
Bootcamp Course, of those Learners who Start the 
Skills Bootcamp. For the purposes of this measure, 
Completion must be achieved within 8 weeks of 
the training finishing. 

Green: 80% or more of Learners 
 

 
Amber: Between 79 – 40% of Learners 
 
 

 
Red: Less than 40% of Learners 

Tier 1 Performance Measure 2: Positive Outcomes 
Learners who successfully achieve a Positive 
Outcome within six months of Completing the Skills 
Bootcamp, of those Learners who Complete the 
Skills Bootcamp 

 
Green: 75% of Learners 

 
Amber: 74 – 40% of Learners 

 
 

 
Red: Less than 40% of Learners 
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Tier 1 Performance Measure 3: Data Requests 
from 
DfE 

The Supplier must submit timely, accurate and 
complete data and evidence. 

This includes: 

- The Supplier shall submit the Contract 
Monitoring Plan (CMP) Report on a monthly 
basis on a date specified by the Customer. 

- The Learner Datasheet (LD) must be 
submitted each time the Supplier makes an 
ILR submission to provide supporting 
information for the ILR submission. 

Data returns will be checked on an ongoing basis to 
review if they are on time, accurate and complete. 

Green: 90% or more of data returns are timely, 
accurate and complete 

 
Amber: 89 – 40% of data returns are timely, accurate 
and complete 

 
Red: Less than 40% of data returns are timely, 
accurate and complete 

1.2. The Customer shall monitor the Supplier’s performance against each of the Performance Measures listed in 
Table 1 – Tier 1 Performance Measures. The Supplier’s performance will be measured and its 
performance rated in accordance with the criteria set out in Table 2 below. 

 
Table 2: Tier 1 Performance Measures Rating and Performance Management Implications 

 

Rating Criteria 

  

 
The Supplier is meeting or exceeding the Tier 1 Performance Measure Target 

Gree 
n 

- Good 

 

  
The performance of the Supplier is below the Tier 1 Performance Measure Target 

Ambe 
r 

- 
Improvement 

Needed 

 The performance of the Supplier is significantly below the Tier 1 Performance Measure Target 

Red - Unacceptable 
 

 
 

1.3. If at the measurement or reporting point for an individual Tier 1 Performance Measure, the Supplier; 

1.3.1 achieves a rating of “Green – Good” for an individual Tier 1 Performance Measure Target no further 
action will be required; 

1.3.2 achieves a rating of “Amber - Improvement Needed” or “Red – Unacceptable” for any Tier 1 
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Performance Measure Target, the Supplier will incur a Service Failure and the provisions of 
Paragraph 3 of this Schedule will apply; 

1.3.3 achieves a rating of “Red - Unacceptable”, the Supplier will not be entitled to participate in any 
Call Off Competitions under the DPA while the Supplier’s performance against the relevant 
Performance Measure Target remains “ Red - Unacceptable”. If the Supplier achieves a 
rating of “Red – Unacceptable” at Completion, then the Supplier will not be entitled to 
participate in any Further Competitions for Skills Bootcamps for 12 months; 

1.3.4 if the Supplier’s performance remains “Red – Unacceptable” at the next agreed measurement or 
reporting point at which the Tier 1 Performance is Measure is being considered, the 
Customer reserves the right to terminate this Contract and / or the DPA with regards to the 
Supplier. 

1.4. In line with the cross-government transparency agenda the Customer reserves the right to make the 
Supplier’s performance against the Performance Measures in Table 1 of this Schedule available in the 
public domain, which may include publishing them on gov.uk and including them in any related 
transparency reporting 

 
2. CONSEQUENCE OF SERVICE FAILURE IN RELATION TO A TIER 1 PERFORMANCE MEASURE 
2.1. Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies arising under this Contract, including under Clause 30 

(Termination) for material Default, if the Supplier incurs a Service Failure in relation to any Tier 1 
Performance Measure in any Reporting Period, the Supplier acknowledges and agrees that the 
Customer shall have the right to exercise (in its absolute and sole discretion) all or any of the following 
remedial actions: 

2.1.1 The Customer shall be entitled to require the Supplier, and the Supplier agrees to prepare and 
provide to the Customer, a plan for improvement (an “Improvement Plan”) within ten (10) 
Working Days of a written request by the Customer for such Improvement Plan. Such 
Improvement Plan shall be subject to the Customer’s prior approval and the Supplier will 
be required to implement any approved Improvement Plan, as soon as reasonably 
practicable; 

2.1.2 The Customer shall be entitled to require the Supplier, and the Supplier agrees to attend, within 
a reasonable time one (1) or more meetings at the request of the Customer in order to 
resolve the issues raised by the Customer in its notice to the Supplier requesting such 
meetings; 

2.1.3 Without prejudice to Paragraph 3.1.1, the Customer shall be entitled to serve a notice of 
improvement (“Improvement Notice”) on the Supplier and the Supplier shall implement 
such requirements for improvement as set out in the Improvement Notice; 

2.1.4 The Customer shall be entitled to issue interim Performance Measures and/or milestones in order 
to monitor the Supplier’s implementation of any Improvement Plan or Improvement 
Notice. 

2.2. If at the date stated in the Improvement Plan or Improvement Notice by which time the Service Failures(s) 
should have been remedied, the Customer is not satisfied that the Supplier has: 

2.2.1 implemented the actions set out in the Improvement Notice (if an Improvement Notice has been 
served) and as a consequence the Service Failure is ongoing; and/or 

2.2.2 implemented an Improvement Plan approved by the Customer and as a consequence the Service 
Failure is ongoing; and/or 

2.2.3 met the interim performance measures and/or milestones; 
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1 

and the relevant original Service Failure was originally “Amber – Requires Improvement”, the 
Service Failure will be escalated to be “Red – Unacceptable” and the provisions of Paragraph 2.3.3 
and if relevant Paragraph 2.3.4 will apply. If the original Service Failure was “Red – Unacceptable”, 
Paragraph 2.3.4 will apply. 

 

3. TIER 2 PERFORMANCE MEASURES  
 
3.1. The Tier 2 Performance Measures 

are set out in Table 3 below: Table 3: Tier 2 

Performance Measures 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

: 

Service Level Description Service Level Metric Final date for measure to be 
assessed 

Tier 2 Performance Measure 5: 
Drop outs 

 

 
Learners who leave a Skills 
Bootcamp (after they have started 
at milestone 1) but before they 
finish the training, of those 
Learners who Start the Skills 
Bootcamp 

 
 
Gree 

n: 15% or fewer of Learners : 
er 

6 – 25% of Learners 

This measure will be assessed 
on an ongoing basis 

Amb 

 
Red: More than 25% of Learners 

Tier 2 Performance Measure 6: 
meeting Delivery Plan Trajectory 
Points 

 
Likelihood of achieving the Tier 1 
performance measure targets. 

 
Green 
: 

The Supplier is likely or very likely 

: The Supplier is unlikely he 
Supplier is very unlikely 

This measure will be assessed 
on an ongoing basis 

 

Ambe 
r 

 

Red  
T 
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Tier 2 Performance Measure 7: 
Social Value 

 
Total percentage of full-time 
equivalent (FTE) people from 
groups under-represented in the 
provider workforce employed 
under the contract, as a proportion 
of the total FTE contract workforce, 
including apprentices. (Please note 
 

 
that the contract workforce can 
include contractors and T-level 
placements.) 

 
Green 
: 

10% and above improvement the 
lifetime of the contract from the 
g position 

vThis measure will be assessed 
at the end of the contract 
term. 

Ongoing reporting will be 
required throughout the 
contract. 

within 
starti 
n : above 0 to less than 10% 

Ambe 
 
r 

or decline 

 
 

 
Red: 

0 

 
 

Contractor to declare percentage 
position at contract start and 
achieve a percentage point 
improvement on that starting 
position by contract end. i.e., If at 
contract start the 20% are from 
under-represented groups, a 10% 
improvement would mean that by 
contract end 22% are from 
underrepresented groups. 

Under-represented groups defined 
as those with protected 
characteristics as defined under the 
Equality Act 2010 (age; disability; 
gender reassignment; marriage 
and civil partnership; pregnancy 
and maternity; race; religion or 
belief; sex; sexual orientation) as 
well those who may face barriers 
to employment such as veterans 
and prison leavers. 
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Tier 2 Performance Measure 8: 
Employer Engagement 

 
The Supplier has engaged 
employers at the design, delivery 
and post-Skills Bootcamp stage as 
set out in Table 5 below. 

 
The Supplier should be able to evidence 
Employer Engagement at the Design 
Stage, Learner Recruitment during the 
Delivery Stage and Post Skills Bootcamp 
Stage on every Skills Bootcamp. 
An Employer Engagement Pro Forma will 
be sent to all Suppliers to complete at the 
commencement of the Contract. 

 
The Supplier should list the Employers 
they have engaged (updated from bid 
stage) and include the role of each 
Employer and contact details. 

 
The Supplier will then need to provide 
evidence at four Points (as set out in 
Table 5 below) that Employers have been 
engaged in the way set out in the Pro 
Forma and the Supplier has achieved a 
minimum level of Employer satisfaction 
for the Skills Bootcamp. 

 
Green: the Supplier has met all Points to 
date 

 
Amber: the Supplier has not met one of 
the Points to date 

 
Red: the Supplier has not met two or more 
Points to date 

This measure will be assessed 
on an ongoing basis 

3.2. The Customer shall monitor the Supplier’s performance against each of the Performance Measures listed in 
Table 3 – Tier 2 Performance Measures. The Supplier’s performance will be measured and its 
performance rated in accordance with the criteria set out in Table 4 below: 

 
Table 4: Tier 2 Performance Measures Rating and Performance Management Implications 

 

Rating Criteria 

 
Green - Good 

 
The Supplier is meeting or exceeding the Tier 2 Performance Measure Target 

Amber -  
The performance of the Supplier is below the Tier 2 Performance Measure Target Improvement 

Needed 

 
Red - Unacceptable 

The performance of the Supplier is significantly below the Tier 2 Performance Measure Target 
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3.3. If at the agreed measurement or reporting point for an individual Tier 2 Performance Measure, the Supplier: 

3.3.1 achieves a rating of “Green - Good” for an individual Tier 2 Performance Measure Target, no further 
action will be required; 

 
3.4. achieves a rating of “Amber – Improvement Needed” or “Red – Unacceptable” for any Tier 2 Performance 

Measure Target, the Supplier will incur a Service Failure and the provisions of Paragraph 5 of this 
Schedule will apply.In line with the cross-government transparency agenda the Customer reserves the 
right to make the Supplier’s performance against the Performance Measures in Table 3 of this Schedule 
available in the public domain, which may include publishing them on gov.uk and including them in any 
related transparency reporting. 

 
4. CONSEQUENCE OF SERVICE FAILURE IN RELATION TO A TIER 2 PERFORMANCE MEASURE 
4.1. Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies arising under this Contract, including under Clause 30 

(Termination) for material Default, if the Supplier incurs a Service Failure in relation to any Tier 2 Performance 
Measure in any Reporting Period, the Supplier acknowledges and agrees that the Customer shall have 
the right to exercise (in its absolute and sole discretion) all or any of the following remedial actions: 

4.1.1 the Service Failure for the relevant Tier 2 Performance Measure is assessed as being “Amber – 
Requires Improvement”, the Supplier will, where instructed to do so by the Customer, 
attend Contract Performance Review meetings with the Customer at an interval specified 
by the Customer until the next date on which the relevant Tier 2 Performance Measure will 
be assessed and reported on; 

4.1.2 If the relevant Tier 2 Performance Measure remains “Amber – Requires Improvement” at the time 
the Tier 2 Performance Measure is reassessed, the provisions set out in Paragraph 3 of this 
Schedule will apply as if the references to “Tier 1 Performance Measures” have been 
replaced with “Tier 2 Performance Measures”; 

4.1.3 If the performance of the Supplier in relation to the relevant Tier 2 Performance Measure worsens 
to “Red – Unacceptable” at the time the Tier 2 Performance Measure is reassessed, the 

Tier 2 Performance Measure will be immediately escalated to a Tier 1 Performance Measure 
Service Failure and Paragraph 2.3.2 will apply; 

4.1.4 If after complying with Paragraph 5.4.2, the Tier 2 Performance Measure remains “Amber – 
Requires Improvement”, the Tier 2 Performance Measure will be immediately escalated to 
a Tier 1 Performance Measure Service Failure and Paragraph 2.3.2 will apply; 

4.1.5 If the Service Failure for the relevant Tier 2 Performance Measure is assessed as being “Red – 
Unacceptable”, the Performance Measure will be immediately escalated to a Tier 1 
Performance Measure Service Failure and Paragraph 2.3.2 will apply. 
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Table 5: Tier 2: Employer Engagement Performance Measure – Full Details 

Monitoring 
Stage 

When this will 
be 

measured 

 
 
How this will be measured - An Employer Engagement Pro Forma will be sent to all Suppliers for the Call-Off Contract to complete 
on mobilisation. The Supplier will list the Employers engaged with each of the Supplier’s Skills Bootcamps (updated from bid 
stage) within that Call-Off Contract with the role of each Employer and contact details provided. 

 
The supplier must include satisfactory explanation of the differences between Employers cited in bids or letters of support, and 
an updated list where some Employers have dropped out with an explanation of any dropouts and replacement Employers 
identified to ensure sufficient engagement and interviews for vacancies can be secured further on. 

Point  1 
Understandi 

ng skills 
needs and learner 
screening 

At or before 
Commencem 
ent payment 

• Evidence confirming how at least one employer contributed to the learner screening process and that 
employer skills need informed the learner recruitment process, such as (but not limited to) one of the following 
learner screening activities: 

• Confirming agreement with the employer regarding which learner eligibility requirements are needed in 
addition to the standard Skills Bootcamps eligibility requirements to ensure successful completion of the Skills 
Bootcamp OR confirmation that no further eligibility requirements are needed as agreed with the employer 
based on their skills needs; 

• Co-designing recruitment criteria, interview criteria, or pre-interview recruitment assessments (for example 
situational judgement tests if applicable) with the employer; 

• And/or the employer conducting learner recruitment activities, including interviews. 
 

Depending on the form of Employer engagement from the above list examples of acceptable forms of evidence for this stage may 
include:- 

• email/written statement or confirmation from the Employer; 

• photograph of the employer engaging with the Learner screening process with supporting email/written confirmation 
from the Supplier explaining what the photo indicates. 

The Customer reserves the right to amend/expand this list as necessary and where it does so will confirm the requirements. 
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Point 2 - 
Course 
Content 
Agreement 

At or before 
Commencem 
ent payment 

 
Evidence confirming that at least one employer engaged in at least one of the ways below to ensure effective course content alignment 
with existing skills need: 

• Engagement on the part of the employer in the co-design or co-development of the Skills Bootcamp to ensure that course 
provision will meet their existing skills need and what form this engagement took; 

• Contribution of feedback by the employer on the course design process regarding ensuring that the Skills Bootcamp’s 
course design would meet their existing need with confirmation of how this was implemented. For example, has the 
supplier carried out a needs analysis with the employer's business in order to develop the Skills Bootcamp, and the solution 
proposed as a result is approved by the employer [this line is from the current EE KPI Guidance around the training needs 
analysis]. 
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Point 3 
- 

Course 
Delivery 

At or before 
completion 
payment 

Evidence confirming that at least one employer was engaged in the delivery of the Skills Bootcamp and what form this took, for 
example via (but not limited to) one or more of the following activities: 

• Employer presentation(s); 

• Employer panel talk(s); 

• Employer-delivered course content; 

• Employer-led visit(s) to a workplace 

• Learner mentoring or coaching session(s); 

• Providing Learners with feedback on their work/performance; 

• Employer-led insight day(s); 

• Employer-led interview training and/or mock interview(s). 
 

Depending on the form of Employer engagement from the above list examples of acceptable forms of evidence for this stage may 
include:- 

• Email/written statement or confirmation from the employer confirming they participated in one or more of such course 
delivery activities; 

• Photograph of the employer engaging with the course delivery process via one or more of the above course delivery activities 
or equivalent with supporting email/written confirmation from the Supplier explaining what the photo indicates. 

The Customer reserves the right to amend/expand this list as necessary and where it does so will confirm the requirements. 

Point 4 - 
 

Course and 
Candidate 
Suitability 
Review 

At or before 
Outcome 
payment 

 
Evidence via an Employer survey (Employer Satisfaction Questionnaire), confirming the level of satisfaction held by at least one 
Employer on: 

• the course’s overall effectiveness in upskilling or reskilling Learners to the required standard in the required skills, 
knowledge and behaviours as outlined in the original tender; 

• the suitability of Learner candidates who attended guaranteed interviews provided by the Employer. 



84  

 

  
Acceptable evidence format for this stage:- 

   
• Course Content was approved by the employer as meeting the requirements of actual vacancies they hold or expect to hold 

within the next 12 months, or that the Skills Bootcamp meets the needs to train their own employees for a new role or new 
responsibilities. 

Depending on the form of Employer engagement from the above list examples of acceptable forms of evidence for this stage may 
include:- 

• email/written statement or confirmation from the Employer; 

• photograph of the Employer engaging with the course content agreement process with supporting email/written 
confirmation from the Supplier explaining what the photo indicates. 

The Customer reserves the right to amend/expand this list as necessary and where it does so will confirm the 
requirements. 



85  

 

  • Completion of a Skills Bootcamp Employer Satisfaction Questionnaire by the employer, which is then submitted as evidence 
via the supplier. 

The Customer reserves the right to amend/expand this list as necessary and where it does so will confirm the requirements. 
 

 
[Provisional] Employer Satisfaction Questionnaire Part A requirements:- 

 
Part A – Course Review: 
Within the questionnaire, the Employer will be asked their satisfaction levels with the Skills Bootcamp and to what extent it met 
their needs overall with a score from 0-4. 

 
Part A: Scoring Matrix 

4: Excellent The Supplier has fully met the needs of the Employer to an excellent standard, 
providing significant value and benefit to the Employer 

3: Good The Supplier has met the needs of the Employer to a good and satisfactory standard, 
providing good value and benefit to the Employer 

2: Unsatisfactory The Supplier has failed to meet the needs of the Employer, in many ways and/or 
materially in one or more ways 

1: Poor The Supplier failed to meet the needs of the Employer, in a significant number of 
ways and/or inadequate or no supporting evidence has been provided to support 
the response 

0: Unacceptable The Employer details are absent or incomplete and/ or the employer is not involved in 
the Skills Bootcamp. 

 
The RAG rating for measuring success will be:- 
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  Green - Good Suppliers scoring 3 (Good) or above 

  Ambe 
r 

– Improvement Needed Suppliers scoring 2 (Unsatisfactory) or above 

  
Red 

 
Suppliers scoring 1 (Poor) or below 

 
  

 
[Provisional] Employer Satisfaction Questionnaire Part B requirements:- 

 
Part B – Candidate Suitability Review: 
Within the questionnaire, the Employer will be asked their satisfaction levels regarding the suitability of Learner candidates that 
attended the guaranteed interviews, that they led for the agreed roles under consideration (in answer to the question below or 
equivalent) and assessed using the scoring matrix below. 



 

 
 

 
   

 
Please confirm your level of satisfaction with the suitability of interview candidates via indicating your level of agreement with the 
following statement: 
‘The Skills Bootcamp Supplier provided suitable Learner candidates for the Employer’s vacancies at the guaranteed interview stage.’ 

 
 

Part B Scoring Matrix 

 4 Strongly Agree 

3 Agree 

2 Neither Agree nor Disagree 

1 Disagree 

0 Strongly Disagree 

 
The RAG rating for measuring success will be:- 

  Green - Good Suppliers scoring 3 (Agree) or above  

  
Ambe 
r 

– Improvement Needed Suppliers scoring 2 (Neither Agree nor Disagree) or above  



 

    
 
Red 

- Suppliers scoring 1 (Disagree) or below  
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PART 3: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
 

 
1. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REVIEW MEETINGS 

1.1 The Supplier will work with the Customer and/or Other Contracting Authorities as appropriate to establish 
and maintain an effective and beneficial working relationship and to ensure that this Call Off Contract(s) 
is being delivered to at least the minimum required standard as specified in Schedule 2 (Services, 
Performance Management and Contract Management). 

1.2 This Call Off Contract will be contract managed (including performance management) in accordance with 
the terms of this Call Off Contract. Where the Supplier has been awarded one or more Call Off Contracts, 
the Customer reserves the right to consolidate the contract management of each Call Off Contract into 
one contract management process and manage it through the DPA. For the avoidance of doubt, each 
Call Off Contract would still be contract managed in accordance with its own terms. 

1.3 The Customer will conduct regular formal Performance Management Review Meetings at a frequency 
(usually monthly) determined by the Customer from time to time to monitor, measure and review the 
Supplier’s performance under this Call Off Contract. 

1.4 The objectives of the Performance Management Review Meetings will be to manage the Supplier’s performance under 
the Call Off Contract awarded to the Supplier and shall include but not be limited to: - 

 
(a) Monitoring and reviewing the Supplier’s compliance with its obligations under this Call Off Contract; 

 
(b) reviewing the performance of the Supplier against the Tier 1 and Tier 2 Performance Measures set out in 

the Call Off Contract, and conformance by the Supplier to all other standards and policies set out 
elsewhere in the Call Off Contract; 

 
(c) reviewing Improvement Plans; 

 
(d) agreeing any changes to the Call Off Contract, which have been raised through the Variation Procedure 

as detailed in Clause13 (Change); 

 
(e) reviewing the Service Requirements set out in Schedule 2 Part 1 (Services); 

 
(f)  resolving operational and contractual problems, which may have been raised using the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure as set out in Schedule 6 (Dispute Resolution Procedure); 

 
(g) identifying and recording Service Failures; 

 
(h) the Supplier’s System Assurance in accordance with Paragraph 2 of this Schedule. 

 
1.5 Any agenda for the Performance Management Review Meetings shall be produced by the Customer in conjunction 

with the Supplier. 

 
1.6 The Supplier shall supply all information requested by the Customer for the purpose of conducting the Performance 

Management Review Meetings. 
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1.7 The Supplier shall provide suitable representatives with the necessary authority to consider service performance and 
to ensure that any issues impacting the Customer are discussed and resolved. 

1.8 The Customer shall make, retain and distribute a record of the meetings. 

2 SUPPLIER’S SYSTEM ASSURANCE 

2.1 The Supplier shall comply with the Customer’s requirements for Supplier’s Systems Assurance as described in this 
Paragraph 2; 

 
2.2 The Supplier shall have systems in place to: 

 
(a) Detect and prevent duplicate Contract Charges; 

 
(b) Prepare and submit accurate, valid, supported, timely Contract Charges and cost information; 

 
(c) Carry out effective monitoring of Sub-Contractors in accordance with Clause 18 and Schedule 14 

(SubContracting) of the Call Off Contract; 

 
(d) Quality assure the content of Contract Monitoring Reports and Management Information; and 

 
(e) Respond to compliance monitoring and Supplier Review Meetings with an appropriate action plan. 

2.3 The Customer will discuss any Supplier’s System Assurance issues at the Performance Management Review 
Meetings. Any discussion on the Supplier’s System Assurance will focus on the Supplier’s internal 
control systems for: 

 
(a) Governance– Supplier systems for tracking and reporting performance including anti-fraud measures; 

 
(b) Service delivery – Supplier systems for ensuring the activities are delivered to the required standards and to 

prevent any delays to achieving the requirements for Milestone Payments; 

 
(c) Claim procedures and payment – Supplier systems to support claims for payment, including appropriate 

segregation of duties. 

 
3 PERFORMANCE RECORDS 

3.1 The Supplier shall keep appropriate documents and records (including but not limited to Learner eligibility 
records, attendance sheets, training records, complaints received) in relation to the Services being 
delivered. The records and documents of the Supplier shall be available for inspection by the Customer 
and/or its nominee at any time and the Customer and/or its nominee may make copies of any such 
records and documents. 

3.2 In addition to the requirement in Paragraph 3.1 maintain appropriate documents and records, the Supplier 
shall provide to the Customer with such supporting documentation as the Customer may reasonably 
require in order to verify the level of the performance of the Supplier. 
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4 CONTRACT MONITORING PLAN AND LEARNER DATASHEET 

4.1 The Supplier shall collect a range of data and report on its performance against the Performance Measures set out in 
this Schedule and the Service Levels set out in Table 1 of this Schedule. 

4.2 The Supplier shall submit the Contract Monitoring Plan (CMP) Report on a monthly basis. on a date specified 
by the Customer. The Learner Datasheet (LD) must be submitted each time the Supplier makes an ILR 
submission to provide supporting information for the ILR submission. The Customer may amend the 
reporting frequency and format in respect of any or all Contract Monitoring or Learner Datasheets or 

waive the requirement for any aspect of the Contract Monitoring or Learner Datasheets to be reported upon, by 
giving the Supplier not less than one (1) months’ notice in writing. 

4.3 The content and format of the CMP and LD shall be specified by the Customer but unless otherwise stated, 
it shall be presented in a tabular format or MS Excel and it shall include the formulas and calculations 
used by the Supplier to calculate the performance. 

4.4 The Supplier shall include in its CMP suitable commentary and narrative statements in respect of the report performance, 
including specifying any reasons for reported failures. 

4.5 The Customer will use the data presented by the Supplier and the CMP and LD to inform Supplier Reviews 
and contract management discussions, progress against Milestones and Performance Measures, 
auditing, reporting performance to other government departments, for Quality Assurance purposes as 
well as to support an independent evaluation of the Supplier. The Customer will also use independent 
evaluation of the Supplier to help assess whether the Supplier has achieved the relevant Delivery Plan 
Trajectory as set out in the Delivery Plan. The Customer will share data and the contents of the CMP for 
these purposes. 

4.6 The Supplier ensures it (and its Sub-Contractors do likewise) receives the necessary consent and puts in place 
data sharing agreements where necessary (with Learners, Sub-Contractors, third parties and the like), 
in relation to the collation and sharing of any data that is reported in its CMP and LD. 

4.7 In addition to the Contract Monitoring, the Supplier must respond to ad-hoc requests for information relating to the 
Activities and or Services from the Customer. 

4.8 The Authority may require additional information from a supplier outside these stated requirements to 
validate the service requirements are being met. Any such requirement will be communicated as part 
of contract management. 

4.9 Where any discrepancies, omissions or errors are identified in the CMP or LD, the Supplier shall correct and 
rectify the CMP or LD within 5 (five) Working Days of the date on which the discrepancy, omission or 
error was identified. 

4.10 For the avoidance of doubt, the Supplier is responsible for the collection of data including data collected by 
SubContractors and ensuring it is collected in a timely, secure, consistent and compliant manner. 

4.11 As the Supplier will be required to provide personal information about Learners, the Supplier must ensure this data 
collection template is returned to the Customer using the encrypted system; Galaxkey. 

 
5 DELIVERY PLAN TRAJECTORIES 

5.1 In accordance with the Performance Measures set out at Part 2 of this Schedule, the Customer will assess if 
the Supplier has achieved the Delivery Plan trajectories. If the Supplier does not achieve a Delivery Plan 
Trajectory, the Customer reserves the right to apply any or all of the following: 
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(a)  immediately require the Supplier to stop all or any part of the Services or not to continue to progress to 
deliver any further element of the Services (including those being provided under other call off contracts); 

(b) require the Supplier to: 

 
(i) revise and resubmit their Delivery Plan 

 
(ii) reschedule any activity; 

(iii) attend additional Supplier Review meetings with the Customer, submit reports, report 
on progress, provide additional resources and take the necessary action to provide 
assurances to the Customer that the failure to achieve the Delivery Plan Trajectory will 

not adversely affect the overall delivery of the Services within the stated timescale for the Skills 
Bootcamp, or any amended timescale as agreed by the Customer; 

(iv) recover any Contract Charges already paid to the Supplier in relation to any Milestone 
Payment the requirements for which were not actually achieved by the Supplier prior to 
the Milestone Payment having been made; 

 
(v) If the Supplier fails to achieve any one of the Delivery Plan Trajectories and at the same 

time is delivering Services under another call off contract, the Customer reserves the 
right to apply any or all of the following in relation to that call off contract: 

 
(vi) immediately require the Supplier to stop all or any part of the Services or not to continue 

to progress to deliver any further element of the Services, including delaying the 
Contract Commencement Date; 

 
(c) require the Supplier to: 

 
(i) revise and resubmit their Delivery Solution; 

 
(ii) reschedule any activity; 

 
(iii) attend meetings with the Customer, submit reports, report on progress, provide 

additional resources and take the necessary action to provide assurances to the 
Customer that the failure to achieve the Delivery Plan Trajectory on one call off contract 
will not adversely affect the overall delivery of the Services within the stated timescale 
for the Skills Bootcamp, or any amended timescale as agreed by the Customer in relation 
to any other Call Off Contract. 

Annex 1: Contract Monitoring Plan (provide in tender documentation as CMP document) 
 
 
 

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 3: CONTRACT CHARGES, PAYMENT AND INVOICING 

 
1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.1 This Contract Schedule 3 details: 

1.1.1 the Contract Charges the Services under this Contract; and 
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1.1.2 the payment terms/profile for the Contract Charges; 

1.1.3 the invoicing procedure; and 

1.1.4 the procedure applicable to any adjustments of the Contract Charges. 

2. CONTRACT CHARGES 

2.1 The Contract Charges which are applicable to this Contract are set out in Annex 1 of this Contract Schedule 3. 

2.2 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that the Contract Charges cannot be increased during the Contract 
Period. 

3. COSTS AND EXPENSES 

3.1 The Contract Charges include all costs and expenses relating to the Services and/or the Supplier’s 
performance of its obligations under this Contract and no further amounts shall be payable by 
the Customer to the Supplier in respect of such performance, including in respect of matters 
such as: 

3.1.1 any incidental expenses that the Supplier incurs, including travel, subsistence and 
lodging, document or report reproduction, shipping, desktop or office equipment 
costs required by the Supplier Personnel, network or data interchange costs or other 
telecommunications charges; or 

3.1.2 any amount for any services provided or costs incurred by the Supplier prior to the Contract 
Commencement Date. 

 
4. PAYMENT TERMS/PAYMENT PROFILE 

4.1 The payment terms/profile which are applicable to this Contract are set out in Annex 2 of this Contract Schedule 
3. 

 
5. PAYMENT AND INVOICING PROCEDURES 

5.1 Paragraphs 5.2 to 5.4 shall apply where the Customer is the Department for Education. 

5.2 The Payment Profile for the Call Off Contract will be based upon the Milestones outlined in Part A 
of Schedule 3 (Pricing and Charging Structure) of the DPA which will be amended to reflect the 
detailed specific category requirement specified in the Call for Competition Statement of 
Requirements. 

5.3 The Supplier must submit promptly to the Customer an accurate Individualised Learning Record 
(“ILR”) in relation to each individual Learner in accordance with this Contract and the ILR 
technical documents, guidance and requirements as amended and updated from time to time. 

5.4 Provided that the Supplier has complied with its obligation to complete the ILR, as set out in clause 
14 and has fulfilled the criteria for the relevant Milestone Payment, the Customer shall pay the 
Milestone Payment on the 14th Working Day of the month following the date on which the 
Supplier submitted data onto the ILR related to the Milestone Payment. The Supplier must 
submit data by the 4th Working Day of the month to be paid on the 14th Working Day of that 
same month, otherwise the Supplier will be paid on the 14th Working Day of the following 
month. For the avoidance of doubt, there is no requirement for the Supplier to submit an 
invoice for a Milestone Payment. 

5.5 The provisions in clauses 14.14 – 14.16 apply in relation to the Contract Charges and the Customer may reduce 
and/or recover Contract Charges accordingly. 
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5.6 Paragraphs 5.7 – 5.12 shall apply where the Customer is not the Department for Education unless 
that Customer specifies an alternative payment and/or invoicing process in the Call for 
Competition. 

5.7 The Customer shall pay all sums properly due and payable to the Supplier in cleared funds within 
thirty (30) days of receipt of a Valid Invoice, submitted to the address specified by the 
Customer and in accordance with the provisions of this Contract. 

5.8 The Supplier shall ensure that each invoice (whether submitted electronically through a 
purchasetopay (P2P) automated system (or similar) or in a paper form, as the Customer may 
specify (but, in respect of paper form, subject to paragraph 5.3 below)): 

5.8.1 contains: 

(a) all appropriate references, including the unique order reference number set out in 
the Contract Order Form; and 

(b) a detailed breakdown of the Services, including the Milestone(s) (if any) and 
Deliverable(s) within this Contract to which the Services relate, against the 
applicable due and payable Contract Charges; and 

5.8.2 shows separately: 

(a) any form of Service Credits due to the Customer; and 

(b) the VAT added to the due and payable Contract Charges in accordance with Clause 14.22 
of this Contract (VAT) and the tax point date relating to the rate of VAT shown; and 

5.8.3 is exclusive of any Management Charge (and the Supplier shall not attempt to increase the Contract 
Charges or otherwise recover from the Customer as a surcharge the Management Charge levied 
on it by the Authority); and 

5.8.4 it is supported by any other documentation reasonably required by the Customer to substantiate that 
the invoice is a Valid Invoice. 

5.9 If the Customer is a Central Government Body, the Customer’s right to request paper form 
invoicing shall be subject to procurement policy note 11/15 (available at Procurement policy 
note 11/15: unstructured electronic invoices - Publications - GOV.UK which sets out the policy 
in respect of unstructured electronic invoices submitted by the Supplier to the Customer (as 
may be amended from time to time). 

5.10 The Supplier shall accept the Government Procurement Card as a means of payment for the 
Services where such card is agreed with the Customer to be a suitable means of payment. The 
Supplier shall be solely liable to pay any merchant fee levied for using the Government 
Procurement Card and shall not be entitled to recover this charge from the Customer. 

5.11 All payments due by one Party to the other shall be made within thirty (30) days of receipt of 
a Valid Invoice unless otherwise specified in this Contract, in cleared funds, to such bank or 
building society account as the recipient Party may from time to time direct. 

5.12 The Supplier shall submit invoices directly to the Customer’s billing address set out in the 
Contract Order Form. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-baseline-personnel-security-standard
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/commercial-product-assurance-cpa
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/commercial-product-assurance-cpa
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/commercial-product-assurance-cpa
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/commercial-product-assurance-cpa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
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6. ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT CHARGES 

6.1 The Contract Charges shall only be varied: 

6.1.1 due to a Specific Change in Law in relation to which the Parties agree that a change is 
required to all or part of the Contract Charges in accordance with Clause 13.1 to 13.2 of 
this Contract (Legislative Change); or 

6.1.2 and/ or in accordance with DMP Schedule 3 (DMP Prices and Charging structure), Part A Pricing 
Matrix Quarterly Adjustment Schedule. 

 
 

ANNEX 1: CONTRACT CHARGES 

The Contract Charges are as set out in the Summary of Funding taken from the Suppliers Pricing Sheet. 
 

 
ANNEX 2: PAYMENT TERMS/PROFILE 

1.1 Payment by the Customer of the Contract Charges is to be made in accordance with the payment profile set out in the 
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Paid on the learner 
completing 14 
qualifying days of 
training and on 
completion of the initial 
assessment (initial 
assessment as set out 
in the service 
requirements). 
Learners must achieve 

14 qualifying 
days of the training 
course and a minimum 
of 10 guided learning 
hours. 

Suppliers must achieve 
Starts by 31st March 
2024, in line with 
delivery plans and in 
time to achieve 
Completions by this 
deadline also. The 
Supplier should report 
on the next monthly 
reporting cycle any new 
learner Starts via the ILR, 
Contract Monitoring 
Plan and Learner 
Datasheet. More detail 
on reporting is set out in 
the funding guidance. 

Course completion and interview 
offered: 

Completion of the training and 
completion of a final assessment (final 
assessment as set out in the service 
requirements), and; 

• For the independent learner: an 
offer of an interview for a vacancy 
which meets the criteria set out 
under the service requirements; 

• For the co-funded learner: an offer 
of an interview which meets the 
criteria set out under the service 
requirements 

• For the self-employed learner: 
written confirmation of how the 
new training has been/will be 
applied to get new work or 
contracts which meet the criteria 
set out under the service 
requirements 

 
If an independent learner plans to be 
selfemployed, they can achieve a 
selfemployed learner completion; and a 
self-employed learner who plans to 

become employed can achieve an 
independent learner completion. 
 
Suppliers must achieve Completions by 
31st March 2024 and in line with delivery 
plans. The Supplier should report on the 
next monthly reporting cycle any new 
learner Completions via the ILR, 

 
 
 
 

 
• For the independent learner: An offer 

for a job which meets the criteria set 
out in the service requirements 

• For the co-funded learner: the offer 
or commencement of a new 
role/responsibility within the current 
organisation which meets the criteria 
set out in the service requirements 

• For the self employed learner: 
Learner has secured new work/new 
contracts which meet the criteria set 
out in the service requirements 

If an independent learner plans to be 
selfemployed, they can achieve a 
selfemployed learner outcome; and a 
selfemployed learner who plans to become 
employed can achieve an independent 
learner outcome. 

Suppliers should note that the learner 
must have finished the training element of 
the Skills Bootcamp for the Supplier to be 
able to claim a Positive Outcome payment. 

Suppliers must achieve Positive Outcomes 
within the six months after the training 
finishes. The Supplier should report on the 
next monthly reporting cycle any new 
learner Positive Outcomes via the ILR, 
Contract Monitoring Plan and Learner 
Datasheet. 

  

 
Contract Monitoring Plan and Learner 
Datasheet. 

 

 
Pathways to Accelerated Apprenticeships 
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Commencement Contract Delivery Outcome 

 

 
  

 

 
Mid-course 

 
 

On job offer (or equivalent)  
 

Course 
completion and 
interview 
offered 

40% 0% 30% 30% 
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Paid on the learner 
completing 14 qualifying 
days of training and on 
completion of the initial 
assessment (initial 
assessment as set out in 
the service 
requirements). Learners 
must achieve 14 
qualifying days of the 
training course and a 
minimum of 10 guided 
learning hours. 

Suppliers must 
achieve Starts by 31st 
March 2024, in line 
with delivery plans 
and in time to achieve 
Completions by this 
deadline also. The 
Supplier should report 
on the next monthly 
reporting cycle any 
new learner Starts via 
the ILR, Contract 
Monitoring Plan and 
Learner Datasheet. 
More detail on 
reporting is set out in 
the funding guidance. 

Course completion and interview offered: 

Completion of the training and 
completion of a final assessment (final 
assessment as set out in the service 
requirements), and; 

 
• For the independent learner: an 

offer of an interview for an 
apprenticeship or other job 
vacancy which meets the 
criteria set out under the 
service requirements; 

• For the co-funded learner: an 
offer of an interview which 
meets the criteria set out under 
the service requirements 

• For the self-employed learner: 
written confirmation of how the 
new training has been/will be 
applied to get new work or 
contracts which meet the 
criteria set out under the 
service requirements 

If an independent learner plans to be 
selfemployed, they can achieve a 
selfemployed learner completion; and a 
selfemployed learner who plans to 
become employed can achieve an 
independent learner completion. 

 
Suppliers must achieve Completions by 
31st March 2024 and in line with 

• For the independent learner: An 
offer for an accelerated apprenticeship 
or for a job (which is not an 
apprenticeship) that meets the criteria 
set out in the service requirements. 

• For the co-funded learner the 
offer or commencement of a new 
role/responsibility within the current 
organisation which meets the criteria set 
out in the service requirements 

• For the self employed learner: 
Learner has secured new work/new 
contracts which meet the criteria set out 
in the service requirements. 
If an independent learner plans to be 
selfemployed, they can achieve a 
selfemployed learner outcome; and a 
selfemployed learner who plans to become 
employed can achieve an independent 
learner outcome. 

The offer of an apprenticeship that has not 
been accelerated cannot be used to claim 
for the Outcome payment in this model. 
Suppliers should note that the learner must 

have completed the training element of the 
Skills Bootcamp to be able to claim an 
outcome payment. 

  

 

 delivery plans. The Supplier should 
report on the next monthly reporting 
cycle any new learner Completions via 
the ILR, Contract Monitoring Plan and 
Learner Datasheet. 

Suppliers must achieve Positive 
Outcomes within the six months after the 
training finishes. The Supplier should 
report on the next monthly reporting 
cycle any new learner Positive Outcomes 
via the ILR, Contract 
Monitoring Plan and Learner Datasheet. 
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1.2 At each Milestone Date specified in the above table, the Customer will assess if the Supplier has achieved 
the relevant Milestone. If the Supplier does not achieve a Milestone, the Customer reserves the right to 
apply any or all of the following: 

 
1.2.1 immediately require the Supplier to stop or not start any part of the Services (including those being provided 

under other call off contracts). 

 
1.2.2 require the Supplier to: 

1.2.2.1 revise and resubmit their Delivery and Implementation Plan; 

1.2.2.2 reschedule any activity; 

1.2.2.3 attend meetings with the Customer and/or its QA Function, submit reports, report on 
progress, provide additional resources and take the necessary action to provide 
assurances to the Customer that the Milestone will be achieved by a revised 
Milestone Date with time being of the essence; 

1.2.3 withhold any Contract Charges that would have been due to the Supplier if the Supplier had achieved the 
Milestone; 

 
1.2.4 recover any Contract Charges already paid to the Supplier. 

 
1.3 If the Supplier fails to achieve any one of the Milestones and at the same time is delivering Services under another call 

off contract, the Supplier reserves the right to also take action under that call off contract. 

 
1.4 The customer reserves the right to review the milestones and where it does so will confirm the requirements. 

 
 
 

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 4: SECURITY 

 
1. DEFINITIONS 

“BPSS” a level of security clearance described as pre-employment 

“Baseline Contractor Staff Security Standard” checks in the National Vetting Policy. Further information can be found 
at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government 
-baseline-Contractor Staff-security-standard 

“CCSC” “CCP” 

“Certified Cyber Security Consultancy” “Certified Professional” 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
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is NCSC's approach to 
assessing the services 
provided by 
consultancies and 
confirming that they 
meet NCSC's standards. 
This approach builds on 
the strength of CLAS and 
certifies the competence 
of suppliers to deliver a 
wide and complex range 

the public and private sectors. See website: 
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/certifiedcyberconsultanc y 

is a NCSC scheme in consultation with government, industry and 
academia to address the growing need for specialists in the cyber 
security profession and are building a community of recognised 
professionals in both the UK public and 

 
private sectors. See website: 
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/certified-professional the Common 
Criteria scheme provides assurance that a developer’s claims about the 
security features of their product are valid and have been independently 

called “CESG Product Assurance”] standards. These CPA certified products can be used by tested against 
recognised 
criteria. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
https://www.iasme.co.uk/apply-for-self-assessment/ 

Is a set of 
guidance on 

cloud 
security 

principles, 
including 

their goals and technical 
implementation: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
of cyber security 
consultancy services to 
both 

 
 

“CC” 

“Common Criteria” 
 

 
“Cloud Security 
Principles” 

https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/collection/cloud/thecloudsec urityprinciples 

“CPA” is an ‘information assurance 

commercial off the shelf (COT 
“Commercial Product Assurance” developer 

against published security and 
development [formerly 

"Department’s Data" 

“Department’s Information” 

 government, the wider public sector and industry. See website: 
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/scheme/commercialproductassurancecpa 

“Cyber Essentials” 

“Cyber Essentials Plus” 
 

Cyber Essentials is the government backed, industry supported 
scheme to help organisations protect themselves against common 
cyber-attacks. Cyber Essentials and Cyber Essentials Plus are levels 
within the scheme. 
There are a number of certification bodies that can be approached 
for further advice on the scheme; the link below points to one of 
these providers: 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/
http://www.ncsc.gov.uk/collection/cloud/thecloudsecurityprinciples
http://www.ncsc.gov.uk/collection/cloud/thecloudsecurityprinciples
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees
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“Authority”, 
“Customer” 

“Department” 

“Departmental 
Security Standards” 

 
 

 
“Digital Marketplace / 
GCloud” 

 
 
 

 
“FIPS 140-2” 

 
 
 
 

 
“Good Industry 

Practice” “Industry 

Good Practice” 

 

 
“Good Industry 

Standard” “Industry 

Good Standard” 

 
 
 

 
“GSC” 

“GSCP” 

sounds (together with any repository or database made up of any of 
these components) which are embodied in any electronic, magnetic, 
optical or tangible media, and which are: 

(i) supplied to the Supplier by or on behalf of the 
Customer; or 

(ii) which the Supplier is required to generate, process, store or transmit 
pursuant to this 

Contract; or 

(b) any Personal Data for which the Department is the Data 
Controller; means the Department for 

Education 

 
means the Customer’s security policy or any standards, procedures, process 
or specification for security that the Supplier is required to deliver. 

 
the Digital Marketplace is the online framework for identifying and 
procuring cloud technology and people for digital projects. Cloud services 
(e.g. web hosting or IT health checks) are on the G-Cloud framework. 

 
this is the Federal Information Processing Standard (FIPS) Publication 140-2, 
(FIPS PUB 140-2), entitled ‘Security Requirements for Cryptographic 
Modules’. This document is the de facto security standard used for the 
accreditation of cryptographic modules. 

 
means the exercise of that degree of skill, care, prudence, efficiency, 
foresight and timeliness as would be expected from a leading company 
within the relevant industry or business sector. 
means the implementation of products and solutions, and the exercise 
of that degree of skill, care, prudence, efficiency, foresight and timeliness 
as would be expected from a leading company within the relevant 
industry or business sector. 

 

 
means the Government Security Classification Policy which establishes the 

is any data or information 
rules for classifying HMG information. The policy is available at: 

owned or retained in order 
to meet departmental 
business objectives and 
tasks, including: 

(a) any data, text, drawings, 
diagrams, images or 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government 
-security-classifications 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices
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“HMG” means His Majesty’s Government 
“ICT” means Information and Communications Technology (ICT) is 

used as an extended synonym for information technology 
(IT), used to describe the bringing together of enabling 
technologies used to deliver the end-to-end solution 

“ISO/IEC 27001” “ISO 27001” is the International Standard for Information Security 
Management Systems Requirements 

“ISO/IEC 27002” “ISO 27002” is the International Standard describing the Code of Practice 
for Information Security Controls. 

“ISO 22301” is the International Standard describing for Business 
Continuity 

“IT Security Health Check (ITSHC)” 

“IT Health Check (ITHC)” 

“Penetration Testing” 

means an assessment to identify risks and vulnerabilities in 
systems, applications and networks which may compromise 
the confidentiality, integrity or availability of information 
held on that IT system. 

“Need-to-Know” the Need-to-Know principle is employed within HMG to 
limit the distribution of classified information to those 
people with a clear ‘need to know’ in order to carry out 
their duties. 

“NCSC” The National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC) formerly CESG is 
the UK government’s National Technical Authority for 
Information Assurance. The NCSC website is 
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk 

 
“OFFICIAL” 

“OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE” 

 
the term ‘OFFICIAL’ is used to describe the baseline level of 
‘security classification’ described within the Government 
Security Classification Policy (GSCP) which details the level 
of protection to be afforded to information by HMG, for all 
routine public sector business, operations and services. 
The ‘OFFICIAL–SENSITIVE’ caveat is used to identify a limited 
subset of OFFICIAL information that could have more 
damaging consequences (for individuals, an organisation or 
government generally) if it were lost, stolen or published in 
the media, as described in the Government Security 
Classification Policy. 

https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/documents/ctas-principles-and-methodology
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/documents/ctas-principles-and-methodology
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/documents/ctas-principles-and-methodology
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services effectively and efficiently. 

 
“RBAC” “Role Based Access 

Control” Role Based Access 

 
“Secure Sanitisation” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
“Security and Information Risk Advisor” 

“CCP SIRA” 

“SIRA” 
 
 

 
“Service Standards” 

 
 
 
 

“SPF” 

“HMG Security Policy Framework” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Technology Code of Practice” 
 
 

Control, a method of 

”Tailored Assurance” 

[formerly called “CTAS”, or, 

”CESG Tailored Assurance”] 
government design, build 
and  operate  technology 

 

 
restricting a person’s or process’ access to information 

depending on the role or functions assigned to them. 

 
Secure sanitisation is the process of treating data held on 

storage media to reduce the likelihood of retrieval and 
reconstruction to an acceptable level. Some forms of 
sanitisation will allow you to re-use the media, while others 
are destructive in nature and render the media unusable. 
Secure sanitisation was previously covered by “Information 
Assurance Standard No. 5 - Secure Sanitisation” (“IS5”) issued 
by the former CESG. Guidance can now be found at: 
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/securesanitisationstorage 
media 

The disposal of physical documents and hardcopy materials 
advice can be found at: 
https://www.cpni.gov.uk/securedestruction 

 
the Security and Information Risk Advisor (SIRA) is a role 
defined under the NCSC Certified Professional (CCP) Scheme. 
See also: 
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/articles/aboutcertifiedprofessionals 
cheme 

 

 
The Service Standard helps teams to create and run great 
public services ensuring user needs are at the centre of design 
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/service-standard 

 
This is the definitive HMG Security Policy which describes the 
expectations of the Cabinet Secretary and Government’s 
Official Committee on Security on how HMG organisations 
and third parties handling HMG information and other assets 
will apply protective security to ensure HMG can function 
effectively, efficiently and securely. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securitypolicyf 
ramework 

 
The Technology Code of Practice is a set of criteria to help 
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assurance for a wide range of HMG, 
MOD, Critical National Infrastructure 

(CNI) and public sector customers procuring 
IT systems, products and services, ranging from simple 

 
 

 
93  software components to national infrastructure networks. https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/documents/ctas- 

principlesandmethodology 

1.1. The Supplier shall comply with the relevant HMG security policy framework, NCSC guidelines, Cloud Security 
Principles, and where applicable Departmental Security Standards which include but are not 
constrained to the following paragraphs. 

1.2. If the Supplier is providing a Technology Solution and / or as the Supplier will be handling information at 
OFFICIAL on behalf of the Customer, the requirements under Cabinet Office Procurement Policy Note – 
Use of Cyber Essentials Scheme certification - Action Note 09/14 25 May 2016, or any subsequent 
updated document, are mandated; that “contractors supplying products or services to HMG shall have 
achieved, and retain certification at the appropriate level, under the HMG Cyber Essentials Scheme”. The 
certification scope must be relevant to the services supplied to, or on behalf of, the Customer. 

1.3. The Supplier shall be able to demonstrate conformance to, and show evidence of such conformance to the 
ISO/IEC 27001 (Information Security Management Systems Requirements) standard, including the 
application of controls from ISO/IEC 27002 (Code of Practice for Information Security Controls). 

1.4. The Supplier shall follow the UK Government Security Classification Policy (GSCP) in respect of any 
Departmental Data being handled in the course of providing these Services, and will handle this data in 
accordance with its security classification. (In the event where the Supplier has an existing Protective 
Marking Scheme then the Supplier may continue to use this but must map the HMG security 
classifications against it to ensure the correct controls are applied to the Departmental Data). 

1.5. Departmental Data being handled in the course of providing an ICT solution or service must be segregated 
from all other data on the Supplier’s or Sub-Contractor’s own IT equipment to protect the Departmental 
Data and enable the data to be identified and securely deleted when required. In the event that it is not 
possible to segregate any Departmental Data then the Supplier and any SubContractor shall be required 
to ensure that it is stored in such a way that it is possible to securely delete the data in line with Paragraph 
1.16. 

1.6. The Supplier shall have in place and maintain physical security, in line with those outlined in ISO/IEC 27002 
including, but not limited to, entry control mechanisms (e.g. door access) to premises and sensitive 
areas. 

1.7. The Supplier shall have in place and maintain an access control policy and process for the logical access (e.g. 
identification and authentication) to ICT systems to ensure only authorised Staff have access to 
Departmental Data. This policy should include appropriate segregation of duties and if applicable role 
based access controls (RBAC). User credentials that give access to Departmental Data or systems shall 
be considered to be sensitive data and must be protected accordingly. 

1.8. The Supplier shall have in place and shall maintain procedural, Staff, physical and technical safeguards to 
protect Departmental Data, including but not limited to: 

i. physical security controls; ii. good industry standard policies and processes; 

iii. malware protection; iv. boundary access controls including firewalls, 

application gateways, etc; 
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v. maintenance and use of fully supported software packages in accordance with vendor 

recommendations; vi. use of secure device configuration and builds; 
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vii. software updates and patching regimes including malware signatures, for operating systems, 

network devices, applications and services; 

viii. user identity and access controls, including the use of multi-factor authentication for sensitive 
data and privileged account accesses; 

ix. Services provided to the Customer must capture audit logs for security events in an electronic 
format at the application, service and system level to meet the Customer’s logging and auditing 
requirements, plus logs shall be: 

a. retained and protected from tampering for a minimum period of six months; 

b. made available to the Customer on request. 

1.9. Any data in transit using either physical or electronic transfer methods across public space or cyberspace, 
including mail and courier systems, or third party provider networks must be protected via encryption 
which has been certified to FIPS 140-2 standard or a similar method approved by the Customer prior to 
being used for the transfer of any Departmental Data. 

1.10. Storage of Departmental Data on any portable devices or media shall be limited to the absolute minimum 
required to deliver the stated business requirement and shall be subject to Paragraph 1.11 and 1.12 
below. 

1.11. Any portable removable media (including but not constrained to pen drives, flash drives, memory sticks, 
CDs, DVDs, or other devices) which handle, store or process Departmental Data to deliver and support 
the service, shall be under the control and configuration management of the Suppler or SubContractors 
providing the Services, shall be both necessary to deliver the Services and shall be encrypted using a 
product which has been certified to FIPS140-2 standard or another encryption standard that is 
acceptable to the Customer. 

1.12. All portable ICT devices, including but not limited to laptops, tablets, smartphones or other devices, such as 
smart watches, which handle, store or process Departmental Data to deliver and support the Services, 
shall be under the control and configuration management of the Supplier or Sub-Contractors providing 
the Services, and shall be necessary to deliver the Services. These devices shall be full-disk encrypted 
using a product which has been certified to FIPS140-2 standard or another encryption standard that is 
acceptable to the Customer. 

1.13. Whilst in the Supplier’s care all removable media and hardcopy paper documents containing Departmental 
Data must be handled securely and secured under lock and key when not in use and shall be securely 
destroyed when no longer required, using either a cross-cut shredder or a professional secure disposal 
organisation. 

1.14. When necessary to hand carry removable media and/or hardcopy paper documents containing 
Departmental Data, the media or documents being carried shall be kept under cover and transported in 
such a way as to ensure that no unauthorised person has either visual or physical access to the material 



 

being carried. This requirement shall apply equally regardless of whether the material is being carried 
inside or outside of company premises. The term ‘under cover’ means that the information is carried 
within an opaque folder or envelope within official premises and buildings and within a closed briefcase 
or other similar bag or container when outside official premises or buildings. 

1.15. In the event of termination of the Contract due to expiry, as a result of an Insolvency Event or for Default by 
the Supplier, all products and materials provided, created or resulting from provision of the Services shall 
not be considered as the Supplier’s assets and must be returned to the Customer and written assurance 
obtained from an appropriate officer of the Supplier that these assets regardless of location and format 
have been fully sanitised throughout the Supplier’s organisation in line with paragraph 1.16. 
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1.16. At the end of the Contract Period or in the event of equipment failure or obsolescence, all Departmental 
information and data, in either hardcopy or electronic format, that is physically held or logically stored 
on the Supplier’s ICT infrastructure must be securely sanitised or destroyed and accounted for in 
accordance with the current HMG policy using a NCSC approved product or method. Where sanitisation 
or destruction is not possible for legal, regulatory or technical reasons, such as a Storage Area Network 
(SAN) or shared backup tapes, then the Supplier or Sub-Contractor shall protect the Customer’s 
information and data until the time, which may be long after the end of the contract, when it can be 
securely cleansed or destroyed. Evidence of secure destruction will be required in all cases. 

1.17. In the event of termination of Contract due to expiry, the Supplier will ensure that any purchased domain 
name (or domain names) in connection with the provision of the Services transfers ownership of those 
domains to the Customer free of charge as part of Exit Plan activity. Agreement on domain name will be 
made between the Government Digital Service and the Customer. 

1.18. Access by the Supplier or Sub-Contractor Staff to Departmental Data shall be confined to those individuals 
who have a “need-to-know” in order to carry out their role; and have undergone mandatory 
preemployment screening, to a minimum of HMG Baseline Contractor Staff Security Standard (BPSS); or 
hold an appropriate National Security Vetting clearance as required by the Customer. All Supplier or 
SubContractor Staff must complete this process before access to Departmental Data is permitted. Any 
Supplier Staff who will be in contact with children or vulnerable adults must, in addition to any security 
clearance, have successfully undergone an Enhanced DBS (Disclosure and Barring Service) check prior to 
any contact. 

1.19. All Supplier or Sub-Contractor Staff who handle Departmental Data must have annual awareness training in protecting 
information. 

1.20. Notwithstanding any other provisions as to business continuity and disaster recovery in the Contract, the 
Supplier shall, as a minimum, have in place robust Business Continuity arrangements and processes 
including IT disaster recovery plans and procedures that conform to ISO 22301 to ensure that the delivery 
of the Services is not adversely affected in the event of an incident. An incident shall be defined as any 
situation that might, or could lead to, a disruption, loss, emergency or crisis to the services delivered. If 
a ISO 22301 certificate is not available, the Supplier will provide evidence of the effectiveness of their 
ISO 22301 conformant Business Continuity arrangements and processes including IT disaster recovery 
plans and procedures. This should include evidence that the Supplier has tested or exercised these plans 
within the last 12 months and produced a written report of the outcome, including required actions. 

1.21. Any suspected or actual breach of the confidentiality, integrity or availability of Departmental Data being 
handled in the course of providing this service, or any non-compliance with these Departmental Security 
Standards for Contractors, or other Security Standards pertaining to the solution, shall be recorded as an 
incident. This includes any non-compliance with the Departmental Security Standards and these 
provisions, or other security standards pertaining to the solution. Incidents shall be reported to the 
Customer immediately, wherever practical, even if unconfirmed or when full details are not known, but 
always within 24 hours of discovery. If incident reporting has been delayed by more than 24 hours, the 
Supplier should provide an explanation about the delay. Incidents shall be reported through the 
Customer’s nominated system or service owner. Incidents shall be investigated by the Supplier with 
outcomes being notified to the Customer. 

1.22. The Supplier shall ensure that any IT systems and hosting environments that are used to handle, store or 
process Departmental Data shall be subject to independent IT Health Checks (ITHC) using a NCSC 
approved ITHC provider before go-live and periodically (at least annually) thereafter. The findings of the 
ITHC relevant to the Services being provided are to be shared with the Customer and all necessary 
remedial work carried out. In the event of significant security issues being identified, a follow up 
remediation test may be required. 
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1.23. The Supplier or Sub-Contractors providing the Services will provide the Customer with full details of any 
storage of Departmental Data outside of the UK or any future intention to host Departmental Data 
outside the UK or to perform any form of ICT management, support or development function from 
outside the UK. The Supplier or Sub-Contractor will not go ahead with any such proposal without the 
prior written agreement from the Customer. 

1.24. The Customer reserves the right to audit the Supplier or Sub-Contractors providing the Services within a 
mutually agreed timeframe but always within seven days of a request to audit being given. The audit shall 
cover the overall scope of the Services being provided and the Supplier’s, and any Sub-Contractors, compliance 
with the clauses contained in this Section. 

1.25. The Supplier shall use best endeavours to procure that all these Departmental Security Standards for 
Contractors shall be complied with by any third-party suppliers, Sub-Contractors or partners who could 
potentially access Departmental Data in the course of providing the Services. 

1.26. The Supplier and Sub-Contractors shall undergo appropriate security assurance activities as determined by 
the Customer. The Supplier and Sub-Contractors shall support the provision of appropriate evidence of 
assurance and the production of the necessary security documentation such as completing the Authority 
Security Assurance Model (DSAM) process or the Business Service Assurance Model (BSAM). This will 
include obtaining any necessary professional security resources required to support the 

Supplier’s and Sub-Contractor’s security assurance activities such as: a NCSC Certified Cyber Security Consultancy 
(CCSC) or NCSC Certified Professional (CCP) Security and Information Risk Advisor (SIRA) 

1.27. Where the Supplier is delivering an ICT solution to the Customer they shall design and deliver solutions and 
services that are compliant with the HMG Security Policy Framework in conjunction with current NCSC 
Information Assurance Guidance and Authority’s Policy. The Supplier will provide the Customer with 
evidence of compliance for the solutions and Services to be delivered. The Customer’s expectation is 
that the Supplier shall provide written evidence of: 

 

i. Compliance with HMG Minimum Cyber Security Standard. 

ii. Any existing security assurance for the Services to be delivered, such as: ISO/IEC 27001 / 27002 or 
an equivalent industry level certification. 

iii. Any existing HMG security accreditations or assurance that are still valid including: details of the 
awarding body; the scope of the accreditation; any caveats or restrictions to the accreditation; the 
date awarded, plus a copy of the residual risk statement. iv. Documented progress in achieving any 
security assurance or accreditation activities including whether documentation has been 
produced and submitted. The Supplier shall provide details of who the awarding body or 
organisation will be and date expected. 

 

 
ANNEX 1: SECURITY MANAGEMENT PLAN 

[Not Included] 
 

 
CONTRACT SCHEDULE 5: STAFF TRANSFER 

 
1. DEFINITIONS 

In this Contract Schedule 5, the following definitions shall apply: 
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“Admission Agreement” The agreement to be entered into by which the supplier agrees to 
participate in the Schemes as amended from time to time; 

“Eligible Employee”  any Fair Deal Employee who at the relevant time is an eligible employee as defined 
in the Admission Agreement; 

“Employee Liabilities” 
all  claims, actions, proceedings, orders, 

demands, complaints, investigations (save for any 
claims for personal injury which are covered by insurance) 
and any award, compensation, damages, tribunal awards, 

fine, loss, order, penalty, disbursement, payment made by 
way of settlement and costs, expenses and legal costs 

reasonably incurred in connection with a claim or 
investigation related to employment including in relation to 

the following: 

(a) redundancy payments including contractual or enhanced redundancy costs, termination costs and 
notice payments; 

(b) unfair, wrongful or constructive 
dismissal compensation; 

(c) compensation for discrimination on grounds of sex, race, disability, age, religion or belief, gender 
reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or sexual orientation or 
claims for equal pay; 

(d) compensation for less favourable treatment of parttime workers or fixed term employees; 

(e) outstanding employment debts and unlawful 
deduction of wages including any PAYE and national 
insurance contributions; 

(f) employment claims whether in tort, contract or 
statute or otherwise; 

 
any investigation relating to employment matters by the Equality 

and Human Rights  Commission or other 
enforcement, regulatory or supervisory body and of implementing 

any requirements which may arise from such 
 

“Fair Deal Employees” 
investigation; 

 
those Transferring Customer Employees who are on the 
Relevant Transfer Date entitled to the protection of New Fair 
Deal and any Transferring Former Supplier Employees who 
originally transferred pursuant to a Relevant Transfer under 
the Employment Regulations (or the predecessor legislation 
to the Employment Regulations), from employment with a 
public sector employer and who were once eligible to 
participate in the Schemes and who at the Relevant Transfer 
Date become entitled to the protection of New Fair Deal; 
“Former Supplier”  a supplier supplying services to the 
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Customer before the Relevant Transfer Date that are the 
same as or substantially similar to the Services (or any part 
of the Services) and shall include any sub-contractor of such 
supplier (or any sub-contractor of any such subcontractor); 

“New Fair Deal” the revised Fair Deal position set out in the HM Treasury guidance: “Fair Deal for 
staff pensions: staff transfer from central government” issued 
in October 2013; 

“Notified Sub-Contractor” a Sub-Contractor identified in the Annex to this Contract Schedule 
5 to whom Transferring Customer Employees and/or 
Transferring Former Supplier Employees will transfer on a 
Relevant Transfer Date; 

“Replacement Sub-Contractor” a sub-contractor of the Replacement Supplier to whom 

 
Transferring Supplier Employees will transfer on a Service 

Transfer Date (or any sub-contractor of any such subcontractor); 

“Relevant Transfer” a transfer of employment to which the Employment 

Regulations applies; 

“Relevant Transfer Date” in relation to a Relevant Transfer, the date upon which the 
Relevant Transfer takes place; 

 

 
“Staffing Information”  

“Schemes” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
“Service Transfer” 

the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme available to 
employees of the civil service and employees of bodies 
under the Superannuation Act 1972, as governed by rules 
adopted by Parliament; the Partnership Pension Account 
and its (i) Ill health Benefits Scheme and (ii) Death Benefits 
Scheme; the Civil Service Additional Voluntary Contribution 
Scheme; and the 2015 New Scheme (with 
effect from a date to be notified to the Supplier by the 
Minister for the Cabinet Office); 

 any transfer of the Services (or any part of the Services), for 
whatever reason, from the Supplier or any Sub- 
Contractor to a Replacement Supplier or a Replacement 
Sub-Contractor; 

“Service Transfer Date” the date of a Service Transfer; 
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in relation to all persons identified on the Supplier’s Provisional Supplier Personnel List or Supplier’s 
Final Supplier Personnel List, as the case may be, such 
information as the Customer may reasonably request 
(subject to all applicable provisions of the DPA), but 
including in an anonymised format: 

(a) their ages, dates of  
commencement of 

employment or engagement and gender; 
(b) details of whether they are employed, 

selfemployed contractors or consultants, agency workers or 
otherwise; 

(c) the identity of the employer or relevant 
contracting party; 

 

(d)  
 
 
 

 
(e) their wages, salaries and profit 

 
their relevant contractual notice periods and any 
other terms relating to termination of employment, 
including redundancy procedures, and redundancy 
payments; 

 
sharing 

arrangements as applicable; 

(f) details of other employment-related benefits, including (without limitation) medical insurance, life assurance, 
pension or other retirement benefit schemes, share option schemes and company car schedules applicable to 
them; 

(g) any outstanding or potential contractual, statutory 
or other liabilities in respect of such individuals (including in 
respect of personal injury claims); 

(h) details of any such individuals on long term sickness 
absence, parental leave, maternity leave or other authorised 
long term absence; 

(i) copies of all relevant documents and materials relating to such information, including copies of relevant 
contracts of employment (or relevant standard contracts if applied generally in respect of such employees); 
and 

(j) any other “employee liability information” as such 
term is defined in regulation 11 of the Employment Regulations; 

“Supplier’s Final Supplier a list provided by the Supplier of all Supplier Personnel 
Personnel List” who will transfer under the Employment Regulations on the Relevant Transfer Date; “Supplier’s 

Provisional Supplier a list prepared and updated by the Supplier of all Supplier Personnel List” Personnel who are engaged 
in or wholly or mainly assigned to the provision of the Services or any relevant part of the 

Services which it is envisaged as at the date of such list will no longer 
be provided by the Supplier; 

 
“Transferring Customer those employees of the Customer to whom the 
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Employees”  Employment Regulations will apply on the Relevant 
Transfer Date; 

 
“Transferring Former Supplier in relation to a Former Supplier, those employees of the 
Employees”  Former Supplier to whom the Employment Regulations will 

apply on the Relevant Transfer Date; and 
 

“Transferring Supplier  those employees of the Supplier and/or the Supplier’s Sub- Employees” 
Contractors to whom the Employment 
Regulations will apply on the Service 
Transfer Date. 

 
2. INTERPRETATION 

Where a provision in this Contract Schedule 5 imposes an obligation on the Supplier to provide an 
indemnity, undertaking or warranty, the Supplier shall procure that each of its Sub-Contractors shall 
comply with such obligation and provide such indemnity, undertaking or warranty to the Customer, 
Former Supplier, Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-Contractor, as the case may be. 

 
PART A 

 
TRANSFERRING CUSTOMER EMPLOYEES AT COMMENCEMENT OF SERVICES 

 
1. RELEVANT TRANSFERS 

1.1. The Customer and the Supplier agree that: 

1.1.1. the commencement of the provision of the Services or of each relevant part of the Services will be 
a Relevant Transfer in relation to the Transferring Customer Employees; and 

1.1.2. as a result of the operation of the Employment Regulations, the contracts of employment between 
the Customer and the Transferring Customer Employees (except in relation to any terms 
disapplied through operation of regulation 10(2) of the Employment Regulations) will have 
effect on and from the Relevant Transfer Date as if originally made between the Supplier 
and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor and each such Transferring Customer Employee. 

1.2. The Customer shall comply with all its obligations under the Employment Regulations and shall perform and 
discharge all its obligations in respect of the Transferring Customer Employees in respect of the period 
arising up to (but not including)the Relevant Transfer Date (including the payment of all remuneration, 
benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, 
payments of PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension contributions which in any case are 
attributable in whole or in part to the period up to (but not including) the Relevant Transfer Date) and 
any necessary apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between: (i) the 
Customer; and 

(ii) the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor (as appropriate). 

 
2. CUSTOMER INDEMNITIES 

2.1. Subject to Paragraph 2.2, the Customer shall indemnify the Supplier and any Notified Sub-Contractor against 
any Employee Liabilities in respect of any Transferring Customer Employee (or, where applicable any 
employee representative as defined in the Employment Regulations) arising from or as a result of: 
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2.1.1. any act or omission by the Customer occurring before the Relevant Transfer Date; 2.1.2. the breach 

or non-observance by the Customer before the Relevant Transfer Date of: 

a any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Customer Employees; and/or 

b any custom or practice in respect of any Transferring Customer Employees which the Customer is contractually 
bound to honour; 

2.1.3. any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing the Transferring Customer 
Employees arising from or connected with any failure by the Customer to comply with any 
legal obligation to such trade union, body or person arising before the Relevant Transfer 
Date; 

2.1.4. any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority in respect of any 
financial obligation including, but not limited to, PAYE and primary and secondary national 
insurance contributions: 

 
(a) in relation to any Transferring Customer Employee, to the extent that the proceeding, claim 

or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority relates to financial obligations arising 
before the Relevant Transfer Date; and 

 
(b) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Customer Employee and in respect of 

whom it is later alleged or determined that the Employment Regulations applied so as to 
transfer his/her employment from the Customer to the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub- 
Contractor as appropriate, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand by the 
HMRC or other statutory authority relates to financial obligations arising before the 
Relevant Transfer Date. 

2.1.5. a failure of the Customer to discharge, or procure the discharge of, all wages, salaries and all other benefits 
and all PAYE tax deductions and national insurance contributions relating to the Transferring Customer 
Employees arising before the Relevant Transfer Date; 

2.1.6. any claim made by or in respect of any person employed or formerly employed by the Customer 
other than a Transferring Customer Employee for whom it is alleged the Supplier and/or 
any Notified Sub-Contractor as appropriate may be liable by virtue of the Employment 
Regulations and/or the Acquired Rights Directive; and 

2.1.7. any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Customer Employee or any appropriate employee 
representative (as defined in the Employment Regulations) of any Transferring Customer 
Employee relating to any act or omission of the Customer in relation to its obligations under 
regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations, except to the extent that the liability arises 
from the failure by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to comply with regulation 13(4) of 
the Employment Regulations. 

2.2. The indemnities in Paragraph 2.1 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or are 
attributable to an act or omission of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor (whether or not a Notified 
SubContractor) whether occurring or having its origin before, on or after the Relevant Transfer Date including 
any Employee Liabilities: 

2.2.1. arising out of the resignation of any Transferring Customer Employee before the Relevant Transfer Date 
on account of substantial detrimental changes to his/her working conditions proposed by the Supplier 
and/or any Sub-Contractor to occur in the period from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date; or 

2.2.2. arising from the failure by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to comply with its obligations under the 
Employment Regulations. 
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2.3. If any person who is not identified by the Customer as a Transferring Customer Employee claims, or it is 
determined in relation to any person who is not identified by the Customer as a Transferring Customer 
Employee, that his/her contract of employment has been transferred from the Customer to the Supplier 
and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor pursuant to the Employment Regulations or the Acquired Rights 
Directive then: 

2.3.1. the Supplier shall, or shall procure that the Notified Sub-Contractor shall, within 5 Working Days of 
becoming aware of that fact, give notice in writing to the Customer; and 

2.3.2. the Customer may offer (or may procure that a third party may offer) employment to such person within 
15 Working Days of receipt of the notification by the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor, or take 
such other reasonable steps as the Customer considers appropriate to deal with the matter provided 
always that such steps are in compliance with Law. 

2.4. If an offer referred to in Paragraph 2.3.2 is accepted, or if the situation has otherwise been resolved by the Customer, 
the Supplier shall, or shall procure that the Notified Sub-Contractor shall, immediately release the person from his/her 
employment or alleged employment. 

2.5. If by the end of the 15 Working Day period specified in Paragraph 2.3.2: 

2.5.1. no such offer of employment has been made; 

2.5.2. such offer has been made but not accepted; or 2.5.3 the situation has not otherwise been resolved, 
the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor may within 5 Working Days give notice to terminate the 
employment or alleged employment of such person. 

2.6. Subject to the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor acting in accordance with the provisions of Paragraphs 2.3 
to 2.5 and in accordance with all applicable proper employment procedures set out in applicable Law, the Customer 
shall indemnify the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor (as appropriate) against all Employee Liabilities arising 
out of the termination pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 2.5 provided that the Supplier takes, or procures that the 
Notified Sub-Contractor takes, all reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee Liabilities. 

2.7. The indemnity in Paragraph 2.6: 

2.7.1. shall not apply to: 

(a) any claim for: 

(i) discrimination, including on the grounds of sex, race, disability, age, gender reassignment, 
marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or sexual orientation, religion or belief; or 

(ii) equal pay or compensation for less favourable treatment of part-time workers or fixedterm 
employees, in any case in relation to any alleged act or omission of the Supplier and/or any Sub- 
Contractor; or 

(b) any claim that the termination of employment was unfair because the Supplier and/or Notified SubContractor 
neglected to follow a fair dismissal procedure; and 

2.7.2. shall apply only where the notification referred to in Paragraph 2.3.1 is made by the Supplier 
and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor (as appropriate) to the Customer within 6 months of 
the Contract Commencement Date. 

2.8. If any such person as is referred to in Paragraph 2.3 is neither re-employed by the Customer nor dismissed by 
the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor within the time scales set out in Paragraph 2.5 such 
person shall be treated as having transferred to the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor and the 
Supplier shall, or shall procure that the Notified Sub-Contractor shall, comply with such obligations as 
may be imposed upon it under applicable Law. 
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3. SUPPLIER INDEMNITIES AND OBLIGATIONS 

3.1. Subject to Paragraph 3.2 the Supplier shall indemnify the Customer against any Employee Liabilities in 
respect of any Transferring Customer Employee (or, where applicable any employee representative as defined 
in the Employment Regulations) arising from or as a result of: 

3.1.1. any act or omission by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor whether occurring before, on or after the Relevant 
Transfer Date; 

3.1.2. the breach or non-observance by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor on or after the Relevant Transfer Date 
of: 

(a) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Customer Employees; and/or 

(b) any custom or practice in respect of any Transferring Customer Employees which the Supplier or any Sub- 
Contractor is contractually bound to honour; 

3.1.3. any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing any Transferring Customer Employees 
arising from or connected with any failure by the Supplier or any SubContractor to comply 
with any legal obligation to such trade union, body or person arising on or after the Relevant 
Transfer Date; 

3.1.4. any proposal by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor made before the Relevant Transfer Date to make 
changes to the terms and conditions of employment or working conditions of any 
Transferring Customer Employees to their material detriment on or after their transfer to 
the Supplier or the relevant Sub-Contractor (as the case may be) on the Relevant Transfer 
Date, or to change the terms and conditions of employment or working conditions of any 
person who would have been a Transferring Customer Employee but for their resignation 
(or decision to treat their employment as terminated under regulation 4(9) of the 
Employment Regulations) before the Relevant Transfer Date as a result of or for a reason 
connected to such proposed changes; 

3.1.5. any statement communicated to or action undertaken by the Supplier or any SubContractor to, 
or in respect of, any Transferring Customer Employee before the Relevant Transfer Date 
regarding the Relevant Transfer which has not been agreed in advance with the Customer 
in writing; 

3.1.6. any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority in respect of any 
financial obligation including, but not limited to, PAYE and primary and secondary national 
insurance contributions: 

(a) in relation to any Transferring Customer Employee, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC 
or other statutory authority relates to financial obligations arising on or after the Relevant Transfer Date; and 

(b) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Customer Employee, and in respect of whom it is later alleged 
or determined that the Employment Regulations applied so as to transfer his/her employment from 

the Customer to the Supplier or a Sub-Contractor, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC 

or other statutory authority relates to financial obligations arising on or after the Relevant 
Transfer Date; 

3.1.7. a failure of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to discharge or procure the discharge of all wages, 
salaries and all other benefits and all PAYE tax deductions and national insurance 
contributions relating to the Transferring Customer Employees in respect of the period from 
(and including) the Relevant Transfer Date; and 
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3.1.8. any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Customer Employee or any appropriate employee 
representative (as defined in the Employment Regulations) of any Transferring Customer 
Employee relating to any act or omission of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor in relation 
to their obligations under regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations, except to the extent 
that the liability arises from the Customer's failure to comply with its obligations under 
regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations. 

3.2. The indemnities in Paragraph 3.1 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or are 
attributable to an act or omission of the Customer whether occurring or having its origin before, on or 
after the Relevant Transfer Date including, without limitation, any Employee Liabilities arising from the 
Customer’s failure to comply with its obligations under the Employment Regulations. 

3.3. The Supplier shall comply, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall comply, with all its obligations 
under the Employment Regulations (including its obligation to inform and consult in accordance with 
regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations) and shall perform and discharge, and shall procure that 
each Sub-Contractor shall perform and discharge, all its obligations in respect of the Transferring 
Customer Employees, from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date (including the payment of all 
remuneration, benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, 
commissions, payments of PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension contributions which in any 
case are attributable in whole or in part to the period from and including the Relevant Transfer Date) and 
any necessary apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between the Customer 
and the Supplier. 

4. INFORMATION 

4.1. The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall, promptly provide to the Customer in 
writing such information as is necessary to enable the Customer to carry out its duties under regulation 
13 of the Employment Regulations. The Customer shall promptly provide to the Supplier and each 
Notified Sub-Contractor in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Supplier and each 
Notified Sub-Contractor to carry out their respective duties under regulation 13 of the Employment 
Regulations. 

 
5. PRINCIPLES OF GOOD EMPLOYMENT PRACTICE 

5.1. The Parties agree that the Principles of Good Employment Practice issued by the Cabinet Office in December 
2010 apply to the treatment by the Supplier of employees whose employment begins after the Relevant 
Transfer Date, and the Supplier undertakes to treat such employees in accordance with the provisions 
of the Principles of Good Employment Practice. 

5.2. The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall, comply with any requirement notified 
to it by the Customer relating to pensions in respect of any Transferring Customer Employee as set down 
in: 

5.2.1. the Cabinet Office Statement of Practice on Staff Transfers in the Public Sector of January 2000, revised 2007; 

5.2.2. HM Treasury's guidance “Staff Transfers from Central Government: A Fair Deal for Staff Pensions of 1999; 

5.2.3. HM Treasury's guidance “Fair deal for staff pensions: procurement of Bulk Transfer Agreements and Related 
Issues” of June 2004; and/or 

5.2.4. the New Fair Deal. 

5.3. Any changes embodied in any statement of practice, paper or other guidance that replaces any of the 
documentation referred to in Paragraphs 5.1 or 5.2 shall be agreed in accordance with the Variation 
Procedure. 
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6. PENSIONS 

6.1. The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each of its Sub-Contractors shall, comply with the pensions provisions in the 
following Annex. 

 

 
ANNEX TO PART A: PENSIONS 

1. PARTICIPATION 

1.1 The Supplier undertakes to enter into the Admission Agreement. 

1.2 The Supplier and the Customer: 

1.2.1 undertake to do all such things and execute any documents (including the Admission 
Agreement) as may be required to enable the Supplier to participate in the Schemes 
in respect of the Fair Deal Employees; 

1.2.2 agree that the Customer is entitled to make arrangements with the 

1.2.3 body responsible for the Schemes for the Customer to be notified if the Supplier breaches the 
Admission Agreement; 

1.2.4 notwithstanding Paragraph 1.2.2 of this Annex, the Supplier shall notify the Customer in the event 
that it breaches the Admission Agreement; and 

1.2.5 agree that the Customer may terminate this Contract for material default in the event that the Supplier 
breaches the Admission Agreement. 

1.3 The Supplier shall bear its own costs and all costs that the Customer reasonably incurs in connection 
with the negotiation, preparation and execution of documents to facilitate the Supplier 
participating in the Schemes. 

 
2. FUTURE SERVICE BENEFITS 

2.1 The Supplier shall procure that the Fair Deal Employees, shall be either admitted into, or offered 
continued membership of, the relevant section of the Schemes that they currently contribute 
to, or were eligible to join immediately prior to the Relevant Transfer Date and the Supplier shall 
procure that the Fair Deal Employees continue to accrue benefits in accordance with the 
provisions governing the relevant section of Schemes for service from (and including) the 
Relevant Transfer Date. 

2.2 The Supplier undertakes that should it cease to participate in the Schemes for whatever reason at a time 
when it has Eligible Employees, that it will, at no extra cost to the Customer, provide to any 
Fair Deal Employee who immediately prior to such cessation remained an Eligible Employee 

with access to an occupational pension scheme certified by the Government Actuary’s 
Department or any actuary nominated by the Customer in accordance with relevant guidance 
produced by the Government Actuary’s Department as providing benefits which are broadly 
comparable to those provided by the Schemes at the relevant date. 

2.3 The Parties acknowledge that the Civil Service Compensation Scheme and the Civil Service Injury 
Benefit Scheme (established pursuant to section 1 of the Superannuation Act 1972) are not 
covered by the protection of New Fair Deal. 
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3. FUNDING 

3.1 The Supplier undertakes to pay to the Schemes all such amounts as are due under the Admission 
Agreement and shall deduct and pay to the Schemes such employee contributions as are 
required by the Schemes. 

3.2 The Supplier shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Customer on demand against any claim by, 
payment to, or loss incurred by, the Schemes in respect of the failure to account to the Schemes 
for payments received and the non-payment or the late payment of any sum payable by the 
Supplier to or in respect of the Schemes. 

4. PROVISION OF INFORMATION 

The Supplier and the Customer respectively undertake to each other: 

4.1 to provide all information which the other Party may reasonably request concerning matters referred 
to in this Annex and set out in the Admission Agreement, and to supply the information as 
expeditiously as possible; and 

4.2 not to issue any announcements to the Fair Deal Employees prior to the Relevant Transfer Date 
concerning the matters stated in this Annex without the consent in writing of the other Party 
(not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). 

 
5. INDEMNITY 

5.1 The Supplier undertakes to the Customer to indemnify and keep indemnified the Customer on 
demand from and against all and any Losses whatsoever arising out of or in connection with 
any liability towards the Fair Deal Employees arising in respect of service on or after the Relevant 
Transfer Date which relate to the payment of benefits under an occupational pension scheme (within 
the meaning provided for in section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993) or the Schemes. 

 
6. EMPLOYER OBLIGATION 

6.1 The Supplier shall comply with the requirements of the Pensions Act 2008 and the Transfer of Employment 
(Pension Protection) Regulations 2005. 

 
7. SUBSEQUENT TRANSFERS 

The Supplier shall: 

7.1 not adversely affect pension rights accrued by any Fair Deal Employee in the period ending on the date 
of the relevant future transfer; 

7.2 provide all such co-operation and assistance as the Schemes and the Replacement Supplier and/or 
the Customer may reasonably require to enable the Replacement Supplier to participate in the 
Schemes in respect of any Eligible Employee and to give effect to any transfer of accrued rights 
required as part of participation under New Fair Deal; and 

7.3 for the period either: 

7.3.1 after notice (for whatever reason) is given, in accordance with the other provisions of this Contract, 
to terminate the Contract or any part of the Services; or 

7.3.2 after the date which is two (2) years prior to the date of expiry of this Contract, ensure 
that no change is made to pension, retirement and death benefits provided for or in 
respect of any person who will transfer to the Replacement Supplier or the Customer, 
no category of earnings which were not previously pensionable are made pensionable 
and the contributions (if any) payable by such employees are not reduced without (in 
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any case) the prior approval of the Customer (such approval not to be unreasonably 
withheld). Save that this subparagraph shall not apply to any change made as a 
consequence of participation in an Admission Agreement. 

 
PART B 

 
TRANSFERRING FORMER SUPPLIER EMPLOYEES AT COMMENCEMENT OF SERVICES 

 
1. RELEVANT TRANSFERS 

1.1 The Customer and the Supplier agree that: 

1.1.1 the commencement of the provision of the Services or of any relevant part of the 
Services will be a Relevant Transfer in relation to the Transferring Former Supplier 
Employees; and 

1.1.2 as a result of the operation of the Employment Regulations, the contracts of employment 
between each Former Supplier and the Transferring Former Supplier Employees 
(except in relation to any terms disapplied through the operation of regulation 10(2) 
of the Employment Regulations) shall have effect on and from the Relevant Transfer 
Date as if originally made between the Supplier and/or Notified Sub-Contractor and 
each such Transferring Former Supplier Employee. 

1.2 Subject to Paragraph 6, the Customer shall procure that each Former Supplier shall comply with all 
its obligations under the Employment Regulations and shall perform and discharge all its 
obligations in respect of all the Transferring Former Supplier Employees in respect of the period 
up to (but not including) the Relevant Transfer Date (including the payment of all remuneration, 
benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, 
commissions, payments of PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension contributions 
which in any case are attributable in whole or in part in respect of the period up to (but not 
including) the Relevant Transfer Date) and the Supplier shall make, and the Customer shall 
procure that each Former Supplier makes, any necessary apportionments in respect of any 
periodic payments. 

 
2. FORMER SUPPLIER INDEMNITIES 

2.1 Subject to Paragraphs 2.2 and 6, the Customer shall procure that each Former Supplier shall 
indemnify the Supplier and any Notified Sub-Contractor against any Employee Liabilities in 
respect of any Transferring Former Supplier Employee (or, where applicable any employee 
representative as defined in the Employment Regulations) arising from or as a result of: 

2.1.1 any act or omission by the Former Supplier arising before the Relevant Transfer Date; 
2.1.2 the breach or non-observance by the Former Supplier arising before the Relevant Transfer Date 

of: 

(a) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Former Supplier Employees; and/or 

(b) any custom or practice in respect of any Transferring Former Supplier Employees which the 
Former Supplier is contractually bound to honour; 

2.1.3 any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority in respect of any 
financial obligation including, but not limited to, PAYE and primary and secondary 
national insurance contributions: 
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(a) in relation to any Transferring Former Supplier Employee, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or 
demand by HMRC or other statutory authority relates to financial obligations arising before the 
Relevant Transfer Date; and 

(b) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Former Supplier 
Employee and in respect of whom it is later alleged or determined that the 
Employment Regulations applied so as to transfer his/her employment from 
the Former Supplier to the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor as 
appropriate, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or 
other statutory authority relates to financial obligations in respect of the 
period to (but excluding) the Relevant Transfer Date; 

2.1.4 a failure of the Former Supplier to discharge or procure the discharge of all wages, salaries 
and all other benefits and all PAYE tax deductions and national insurance contributions 
relating to the Transferring Former Supplier Employees in respect of the period to (but 
excluding) the Relevant Transfer Date; 

2.1.5 any claim made by or in respect of any person employed or formerly employed by the 
Former Supplier other than a Transferring Former Supplier Employee for whom it is 
alleged the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor as appropriate may be liable 
by virtue of this Contract and/or the Employment Regulations and/or the Acquired 
Rights Directive; and 

2.1.6 any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Former Supplier Employee or any 
appropriate employee representative (as defined in the Employment Regulations) of 
any Transferring Former Supplier Employee relating to any act or omission of the 
Former Supplier in relation to its obligations under regulation 13 of the Employment 
Regulations, except to the extent that the liability arises from the failure by the 
Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to comply with regulation 13(4) of the Employment 
Regulations. 

2.2 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.1 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or 
are attributable to an act or omission of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor whether occurring 
or having its origin before, on or after the Relevant Transfer Date including, without limitation, 
any Employee Liabilities: 

2.2.1 arising out of the resignation of any Transferring Former Supplier Employee before the 
Relevant Transfer Date on account of substantial detrimental changes to his/her 
working conditions proposed by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to occur in the 
period from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date; or 

2.2.2 arising from the failure by the Supplier and/or any Sub-Contractor to comply with its obligations under 
the Employment Regulations. 

2.3 If any person who is not identified by the Customer as a Transferring Former Supplier Employee claims, or 
it is determined in relation to any person who is not identified by the Customer as a Transferring 
Former Supplier Employee, that his/her contract of employment has been transferred from a Former 
Supplier to the Supplier and/or any Notified SubContractor pursuant to the Employment Regulations 
or the Acquired Rights Directive then: 

2.3.1 the Supplier shall, or shall procure that the Notified Sub-Contractor shall, within 5 
Working Days of becoming aware of that fact, give notice in writing to the Customer 
and, where required by the Customer, to the Former Supplier; and 

2.3.2 the Former Supplier may offer (or may procure that a third party may offer) employment 
to such person within 15 Working Days of the notification by the Supplier and/or the 
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Notified Sub-Contractor or take such other reasonable steps as the Former Supplier 
considers appropriate to deal with the matter provided always that such steps are in 
compliance with applicable Law. 

2.4 If an offer referred to in Paragraph 2.3.2 is accepted, or if the situation has otherwise been resolved by the 
Former Supplier and/or the Customer, the Supplier shall, or shall procure that the 

Notified Sub-Contractor shall, immediately release the person from his/her employment or alleged 
employment. 

2.5 If by the end of the 15 Working Day period specified in Paragraph 2.3.2: 
 

2.5.1 no such offer of employment has been made; 

2.5.2 such offer has been made but not accepted; or 2.5.3 the situation has not otherwise been resolved, 
the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor may within 5 Working Days give notice to 
terminate the employment or alleged employment of such person. 

2.6 Subject to the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor acting in accordance with the provisions of 
Paragraphs 2.3 to 2.5 and in accordance with all applicable proper employment procedures set out 
in Law, the Customer shall procure that the Former Supplier indemnifies the Supplier and/or any 
Notified Sub-Contractor (as appropriate) against all Employee Liabilities arising out of the termination 
pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 2.5 provided that the Supplier takes, or shall procure that 
the Notified Sub-Contractor takes, all reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee Liabilities. 

2.7 The indemnity in Paragraph 2.6: 

2.7.1 shall not apply to: (a) 
 

any claim for: 

 
i discrimination, including on the grounds of sex, race, disability, age, gender reassignment, marriage or 

civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or sexual orientation, religion or 
belief; or 

 
ii equal pay or compensation for less favourable treatment of parttime workers or fixedterm employees, 

in any case in relation to any alleged act or omission of the Supplier and/or any Sub- 
Contractor; or 

(b) any claim that the termination of employment was unfair because the Supplier 
and/or Notified Sub-Contractor neglected to follow a fair dismissal procedure; 
and 

2.7.2 shall apply only where the notification referred to in Paragraph 2.3.1 is made by the 
Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor (as appropriate) to the Customer and, if 
applicable, the Former Supplier, within 6 months of the Contract Commencement 
Date. 

2.8 If any such person as is described in Paragraph 2.3 is neither re-employed by the Former Supplier 
nor dismissed by the Supplier and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor within the time scales set out 
in Paragraph 2.5, such person shall be treated as having transferred to the Supplier or 

Notified Sub-Contractor and the Supplier shall, or shall procure that the Notified 
Sub-Contractor shall, comply with such obligations as may be imposed upon it under the Law. 



124  

3. SUPPLIER INDEMNITIES AND OBLIGATIONS 

3.1 Subject to Paragraph 3.2, the Supplier shall indemnify the Customer and/or the Former Supplier 
against any Employee Liabilities in respect of any Transferring Former Supplier Employee (or, 
where applicable any employee representative as defined in the Employment Regulations) 
arising from or as a result of: 

3.1.1 any act or omission by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor whether occurring before, on or after 
the Relevant Transfer Date; 

3.1.2 the breach or non-observance by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor on or after the Relevant Transfer 
Date of: 

(a) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Former Supplier Employee; and/or 

(b) any custom or practice in respect of any Transferring Former Supplier Employees which 
the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor is contractually bound to honour; 

3.1.3 any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing any Transferring 
Former Supplier Employees arising from or connected with any failure by the Supplier 
or a Sub-Contractor to comply with any legal obligation to such trade union, body or 
person arising on or after the Relevant Transfer Date; 

3.1.4 any proposal by the Supplier or a Sub-Contractor prior to the Relevant Transfer Date to 
make changes to the terms and conditions of employment or working conditions of 
any Transferring Former Supplier Employees to their material detriment on or after 
their transfer to the Supplier or a Sub-Contractor (as the case may be) on the Relevant 
Transfer Date, or to change the terms and conditions of employment or working 
conditions of any person who would have been a Transferring Former Supplier 
Employee but for their resignation (or decision to treat their employment as 
terminated under regulation 4(9) of the Employment Regulations) before the Relevant 
Transfer Date as a result of or for a reason connected to such proposed changes; 

3.1.5 any statement communicated to or action undertaken by the Supplier or a SubContractor 
to, or in respect of, any Transferring Former Supplier Employee before the Relevant 
Transfer Date regarding the Relevant Transfer which has not been agreed in advance 
with the Customer and/or the Former Supplier in writing; 

3.1.6 any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority in respect of any 
financial obligation including, but not limited to, PAYE and primary and secondary 
national insurance contributions: 

(a) in relation to any Transferring Former Supplier Employee, to the extent that the 
proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority 

relates to financial obligations arising on or after the Relevant Transfer Date; and 

(b) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Former Supplier 
Employee, and in respect of whom it is later alleged or determined that the 
Employment Regulations applied so as to transfer his/her employment from 
the Former Supplier to the Supplier or a Sub-Contractor, to the extent that 
the proceeding, claim or demand by the HMRC or other statutory authority 
relates to financial obligations arising on or after the Relevant Transfer Date; 

3.1.7 a failure of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to discharge or procure the discharge of 
all wages, salaries and all other benefits and all PAYE tax deductions and national 
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insurance contributions relating to the Transferring Former Supplier Employees in 
respect of the period from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date; and 

3.1.8 any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Former Supplier Employee or any appropriate 
employee representative (as defined in the Employment Regulations) of any 
Transferring Former Supplier Employee relating to any act or omission of the 
Supplier or any Sub-Contractor in relation to obligations under regulation 13 of the Employment 
Regulations, except to the extent that the liability arises from the 

Former Supplier’s failure to comply with its obligations under regulation 13 of the Employment 
Regulations. 

3.2 The indemnities in Paragraph 3.1 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or 
are attributable to an act or omission of the Former Supplier whether occurring or having its 
origin before, on or after the Relevant Transfer Date including, without limitation, any Employee 
Liabilities arising from the Former Supplier’s failure to comply with its obligations under the 
Employment Regulations. 

3.3 The Supplier shall comply, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall comply, with all its 
obligations under the Employment Regulations (including without limitation its obligation to 
inform and consult in accordance with regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations) and shall 
perform and discharge, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall perform and discharge, 
all its obligations in respect of all the Transferring Former Supplier Employees, on and from the 
Relevant Transfer Date (including the payment of all remuneration, benefits, entitlements and 
outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of 
PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension contributions which in any case are 
attributable in whole or in part to the period from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date) 
and any necessary apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between 
the Supplier and the Former Supplier. 

 
4. INFORMATION 

4.1 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall, promptly provide to the 
Customer and/or at the Customer’s direction, the Former Supplier, in writing such information 
as is necessary to enable the Customer and/or the Former Supplier to carry out their respective 
duties under regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations. Subject to Paragraph 6, the 
Customer shall procure that the Former Supplier shall promptly provide to the Supplier and 
each Notified Sub-Contractor in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Supplier 
and each Notified Sub-Contractor to carry out their respective duties under regulation 13 of the 
Employment Regulations. 

5. PRINCIPLES OF GOOD EMPLOYMENT PRACTICE 

5.1 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall, comply with any requirement 
notified to it by the Customer relating to pensions in respect of any Transferring Former 
Supplier Employee as set down in: 

5.1.1 the Cabinet Office Statement of Practice on Staff Transfers in the Public Sector of January 2000, revised 
2007; 

5.1.2 HM Treasury's guidance “Staff Transfers from Central Government: A Fair Deal for Staff Pensions of 
1999; 

5.1.3 HM Treasury's guidance: “Fair deal for staff pensions: procurement of Bulk Transfer Agreements and 
Related Issues” of June 2004; and/or 

5.1.4 the New Fair Deal. 
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5.2 Any changes embodied in any statement of practice, paper or other guidance that replaces any of 
the documentation referred to in Paragraph 5.1 shall be agreed in accordance with the 
Variation Procedure. 

 
6. PROCUREMENT OBLIGATIONS 

6.1 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Part B, where in this Part B the Customer accepts an 
obligation to procure that a Former Supplier does or does not do something, such obligation shall be 
limited so that it extends only to the extent that the Customer's contract with the 

Former Supplier contains a contractual right in that regard which the Customer may enforce, 
or otherwise so that it requires only that the Customer must use reasonable endeavours to 
procure that the Former Supplier does or does not act accordingly. 

7. PENSIONS 

7.1 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall, comply with the pensions 
provisions in the following Annex in respect of any Transferring Former Supplier Employees who 
transfer from the Former Supplier to the Supplier. 

 
 
 
 

ANNEX TO PART B: PENSIONS 

 
1. PARTICIPATION 

1.1 The Supplier undertakes to enter into the Admission Agreement. 

1.2 The Supplier and the Customer: 

1.2.1 undertake to do all such things and execute any documents (including the Admission 
Agreement) as may be required to enable the Supplier to participate in the Schemes 
in respect of the Fair Deal Employees; 

1.2.2 agree that the Customer is entitled to make arrangements with the body responsible 
for the Schemes for the Customer to be notified if the Supplier breaches the 
Admission Agreement; 

1.2.3 notwithstanding Paragraph 1.2.2 of this Annex, the Supplier shall notify the Customer in the event 
that it breaches the Admission Agreement; and 

1.2.4 agree that the Customer may terminate this Contract for material default in the event that the Supplier 
breaches the Admission Agreement. 

1.3 The Supplier shall bear its own costs and all costs that the Customer reasonably incurs in 
connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of documents to facilitate the 
Supplier participating in the Schemes. 

 
2. FUTURE SERVICE BENEFITS 

2.1 If the Supplier is rejoining the Schemes for the first time, the Supplier shall procure that the Fair Deal 
Employees shall be either admitted to or offered continued membership of the relevant section 
of the Schemes that they became eligible to join on the Relevant Transfer Date and shall 
continue to accrue or accrue benefits in accordance with the provisions governing the relevant 
section of the Schemes for service from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date. 
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2.2 If staff have already been readmitted to the Schemes, the Supplier shall procure that the Fair Deal 
Employees, shall be either admitted into, or offered continued membership of, the relevant 
section of the Schemes that they currently contribute to, or were eligible to join immediately 
prior to the Relevant Transfer Date and the Supplier shall procure that the Fair Deal Employees 
continue to accrue benefits in accordance with the provisions governing the relevant section 
of the Schemes for service from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date. 

2.3 The Supplier undertakes that should it cease to participate in the Schemes for whatever reason at 
a time when it has Eligible Employees, that it will, at no extra cost to the Customer, provide to 
any Fair Deal Employee who immediately prior to such cessation remained an Eligible 
Employee with access to an occupational pension scheme certified by the Government 
Actuary’s Department or any actuary nominated by the Customer in accordance with relevant 
guidance produced by the Government Actuary’s Department as providing benefits which are 
broadly comparable to those provided by the Schemes at the relevant date. 

2.4 The Parties acknowledge that the Civil Service Compensation Scheme and the Civil Service Injury 
Benefit Scheme (established pursuant to section 1 of the Superannuation Act 1972) are not 
covered by the protection of New Fair Deal. 

3. FUNDING 

3.1 The Supplier undertakes to pay to the Schemes all such amounts as are due under the Admission 
Agreement and shall deduct and pay to the Schemes such employee contributions as are 
required by the Schemes. 

3.2 The Supplier shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Customer on demand against any claim by, 
payment to, or loss incurred by the Schemes in respect of the failure to account to the 
Schemes for payments received and the non-payment or the late payment of any sum payable 
by the Supplier to or in respect of the Schemes. 

 
4. PROVISION OF INFORMATION 

The Supplier and the Customer respectively undertake to each other: 

4.1 to provide all information which the other Party may reasonably request concerning matters (i) 
referred to in this Annex and (ii) set out in the Admission Agreement, and to supply the 
information as expeditiously as possible; and 

4.2 not to issue any announcements to the Fair Deal Employees prior to the Relevant Transfer Date 
concerning the matters stated in this Annex without the consent in writing of the other Party 
(not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). 

 
5. INDEMNITY 

5.1 The Supplier undertakes to the Customer to indemnify and keep indemnified the Customer on 
demand from and against all and any Losses whatsoever arising out of or in connection with 
any liability towards the Fair Deal Employees arising in respect of service on or after the 
Relevant Transfer Date which relate to the payment of benefits under an occupational pension 
scheme (within the meaning provided for in section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993) or 
the Schemes. 

 
6. EMPLOYER OBLIGATION 

6.1 The Supplier shall comply with the requirements of the Pensions Act 2008 and the Transfer of Employment 
(Pension Protection) Regulations 2005. 
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7. SUBSEQUENT TRANSFERS 

The Supplier shall: 

7.1 not adversely affect pension rights accrued by any Fair Deal Employee in the period ending on the date of 
the relevant future transfer; 

7.2 provide all such co-operation and assistance as the Schemes and the Replacement Supplier and/or 
the Customer may reasonably require to enable the Replacement Supplier to participate in 
the Schemes in respect of any Eligible Employee and to give effect to any transfer of accrued 
rights required as part of participation under the New Fair Deal; and 

7.3 for the period either 

7.3.1 after notice (for whatever reason) is given, in accordance with the other provisions of this Contract, 
to terminate the Contract or any part of the Services; or 

7.3.2 after the date which is two (2) years prior to the date of expiry of this Contract, 

7.3.3 ensure that no change is made to pension, retirement and death benefits provided for or 
in respect of any person who will transfer to the Replacement Supplier or the Customer, 
no category of earnings which were not previously pensionable are made pensionable 
and the contributions (if any) payable by such employees are not reduced without (in 
any case) the prior approval of the Customer (such approval not to be unreasonably 
withheld). Save that this subparagraph shall not apply to any change made as a 
consequence of participation in an Admission Agreement. 

 
 
 

PART C NO TRANSFER OF EMPLOYEES AT COMMENCEMENT OF SERVICES 

 
1. PROCEDURE IN THE EVENT OF TRANSFER 

1.1 The Customer and the Supplier agree that the commencement of the provision of the Services or of 
any part of the Services will not be a Relevant Transfer in relation to any employees of the 
Customer and/or any Former Supplier. 

1.2 If any employee of the Customer and/or a Former Supplier claims, or it is determined in relation to 
any employee of the Customer and/or a Former Supplier, that his/her contract of employment 
has been transferred from the Customer and/or the Former Supplier to the Supplier and/or 
any Sub-Contractor pursuant to the Employment Regulations or the Acquired Rights Directive 
then: 

1.2.1 the Supplier shall, and shall procure that the relevant Sub-Contractor shall, within five (5) 
Working Days of becoming aware of that fact, give notice in writing to the Customer 
and, where required by the Customer, give notice to the Former Supplier; and 

1.2.2 the Customer and/or the Former Supplier may offer (or may procure that a third party 
may offer) employment to such person within fifteen (15) Working Days of the 
notification by the Supplier or the Sub-Contractor (as appropriate) or take such other 
reasonable steps as the Customer or Former Supplier (as the case may be) considers 
appropriate to deal with the matter provided always that such steps are in 
compliance with applicable Law. 

1.3 If an offer referred to in Paragraph 1.2.2 is accepted (or if the situation has otherwise been resolved 
by the Customer and/or the Former Supplier), the Supplier shall, or shall procure that the 
SubContractor shall, immediately release the person from his/her employment or alleged 
employment. 
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1.4 If by the end of the fifteen (15) Working Day period specified in Paragraph 1.2.2: 

1.4.1 no such offer of employment has been made; 

1.4.2 such offer has been made but not accepted; or 1.4.3 the situation has not otherwise 
been resolved, the Supplier and/or the Sub-Contractor may within five (5) Working 
Days give notice to terminate the employment or alleged employment of such 
person. 

 
2. INDEMNITIES 

2.1 Subject to the Supplier and/or the relevant Sub-Contractor acting in accordance with the provisions 
of Paragraphs 1.2 to 1.4 and in accordance with all applicable employment procedures set out 
in applicable Law and subject also to Paragraph 2.4, the Customer shall: 

2.1.1 indemnify the Supplier and/or the relevant Sub-Contractor against all Employee Liabilities arising out 
of the termination of the employment of any employees of the 
Customer referred to in Paragraph 1.2 made pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 

1.4 provided that the Supplier takes, or shall procure that the Notified Sub- Contractor 
takes, all reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee Liabilities; and 

2.1.2 subject to paragraph 3, procure that the Former Supplier indemnifies the Supplier 
and/or any Notified Sub-Contractor against all Employee Liabilities arising out of 
termination of the employment of the employees of the Former Supplier made 
pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 1.4 provided that the Supplier takes, or shall 

procure that the relevant Sub-Contractor takes, all reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee 
Liabilities. 

2.2 If any such person as is described in Paragraph 1.2 is neither re employed by the Customer and/or 
the Former Supplier as appropriate nor dismissed by the Supplier and/or any SubContractor 
within the fifteen (15) Working Day period referred to in Paragraph 1.4 such person shall be 
treated as having transferred to the Supplier and/or the Sub-Contractor (as appropriate) and 
the Supplier shall, or shall procure that the Sub-Contractor shall, comply with such obligations 
as may be imposed upon it under Law. 

2.3 Where any person remains employed by the Supplier and/or any Sub-Contractor pursuant to Paragraph 
2.2, all Employee Liabilities in relation to such employee shall remain with the 
Supplier and/or the Sub-Contractor and the Supplier shall indemnify the Customer and any 
Former Supplier, and shall procure that the Sub-Contractor shall indemnify the Customer and 
any Former Supplier, against any Employee Liabilities that either of them may incur in respect 
of any such employees of the Supplier and/or employees of the Sub-Contractor. 

2.4 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.1: 

2.4.1 shall not apply to: 

(a) any claim for: 
 

(i) discrimination, including on the grounds of sex, race, disability, age, 
gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or 
sexual orientation, religion or belief; or 

(ii) equal pay or compensation for less favourable treatment of parttime workers or 
fixed-term employees, 

in any case in relation to any alleged act or omission of the Supplier and/or any SubContractor; or 
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(b) any claim that the termination of employment was unfair because the Supplier and/or any 
Sub-Contractor neglected to follow a fair dismissal procedure; and 

2.4.2 shall apply only where the notification referred to in Paragraph 1.2.1 is made by the 
Supplier and/or any Sub-Contractor to the Customer and, if applicable, Former 
Supplier within 6 months of the Contract Commencement Date. 

 
3. PROCUREMENT OBLIGATIONS 

3.1 Where in this Part C the Customer accepts an obligation to procure that a Former Supplier does or 
does not do something, such obligation shall be limited so that it extends only to the extent that 
the Customer's contract with the Former Supplier contains a contractual right in that regard 
which the Customer may enforce, or otherwise so that it requires only that the Customer must 
use reasonable endeavours to procure that the Former Supplier does or does not act 
accordingly. 

 
PART D EMPLOYMENT EXIT PROVISIONS 

 
1. PRE-SERVICE TRANSFER OBLIGATIONS 

1.1 The Supplier agrees that within twenty (20) Working Days of the earliest of: 

1.1.1 receipt of a notification from the Customer of a Service Transfer or intended Service Transfer; 

1.1.2 receipt of the giving of notice of early termination or any Partial Termination of this Contract ; 

1.1.3 the date which is twelve (12) Months before the end of the Term; and 
1.1.4 receipt of a written request of the Customer at any time (provided that the Customer shall only 

be entitled to make one such request in any six (6) month period), 

it shall provide in a suitably anonymised format so as to comply with the DPA, the Supplier’s 
Provisional Supplier Personnel List, together with the Staffing Information in relation to the Supplier’s 
Provisional Supplier Personnel List and it shall provide an updated Supplier’s Provisional Supplier 
Personnel List at such intervals as are reasonably requested by the Customer. 

1.2 At least thirty (30) Working Days prior to the Service Transfer Date, the Supplier shall provide to 
the Customer or at the direction of the Customer to any Replacement Supplier and/or any 
Replacement Sub-Contractor: 

1.2.1 the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List, which shall identify which of the Supplier Personnel are 
Transferring Supplier Employees; and 

1.2.2 the Staffing Information in relation to the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List (insofar as such 
information has not previously been provided). 

1.3 The Customer shall be permitted to use and disclose information provided by the Supplier under 
Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 for the purpose of informing any prospective Replacement Supplier 
and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor. 

1.4 The Supplier warrants, for the benefit of the Customer, any Replacement Supplier, and any 
Replacement Sub-Contractor that all information provided pursuant to Paragraphs 1.1 and 
1.2 shall be true and accurate in all material respects at the time of providing the 
information. 

1.5 From the date of the earliest event referred to in Paragraph 1.1, the Supplier agrees, that it shall 
not, and agrees to procure that each Sub-Contractor shall not, assign any person to the 
provision of the Services who is not listed on the Supplier’s Provisional Supplier Personnel 
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List and shall not without the approval of the Customer (not to be unreasonably withheld 
or delayed): 

1.5.1 replace or re-deploy any Supplier Personnel listed on the Supplier Provisional 
Supplier Personnel List other than where any replacement is of equivalent 
grade, skills, experience and expertise and is employed on the same terms and 
conditions of employment as the person he/she replaces; 

1.5.2 make, promise, propose or permit any material changes to the terms and conditions 
of employment of the Supplier Personnel (including any payments connected 
with the termination of employment); 

1.5.3 increase the proportion of working time spent on the Services (or the 
relevant part of the Services) by any of the Supplier Personnel save for fulfilling 
assignments and projects previously scheduled and agreed; 

1.5.4 introduce any new contractual or customary practice concerning the making of 

any lump sum payment on the termination of employment of any employees listed on the 
Supplier’s Provisional Supplier Personnel List; 

1.5.5 increase or reduce the total number of employees so engaged, or deploy any other person to 
perform the Services (or the relevant part of the Services); or 

1.5.6 terminate or give notice to terminate the employment or contracts of any persons on 
the Supplier’s Provisional Supplier Personnel List save by due disciplinary 
process, and shall promptly notify, and procure that each SubContractor shall 
promptly notify, the Customer or, at the direction of the Customer, any 
Replacement 

Supplier and any Replacement Sub-Contractor of any notice to terminate 
employment given by the Supplier or relevant SubContractor or received from 
any persons listed on the Supplier’s Provisional Supplier Personnel List regardless 
of when such notice takes effect. 

1.6 During the Term, the Supplier shall provide, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall 
provide, to the Customer any information the Customer may reasonably require relating 
to the manner in which Services are organised, which shall include: 

1.6.1 the numbers of employees engaged in providing the Services; 
1.6.2 the percentage of time spent by each employee engaged in providing the Services; and 

1.6.3 a description of the nature of the work undertaken by each employee by location. 

1.7 The Supplier shall provide, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall provide, all 
reasonable cooperation and assistance to the Customer, any Replacement Supplier and/or 
any Replacement Sub-Contractor to ensure the smooth transfer of the Transferring 
Supplier Employees on the Service Transfer Date including providing sufficient information 
in advance of the Service Transfer Date to ensure that all necessary payroll arrangements 
can be made to enable the Transferring Supplier Employees to be paid as appropriate. 
Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, within five (5) Working Days following 
the Service Transfer Date, the Supplier shall provide, and shall procure that each 
SubContractor shall provide, to the Customer or, at the direction of the Customer, to any 
Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-Contractor (as appropriate), in respect 
of each person on the Supplier’s Final Supplier Personnel List who is a Transferring Supplier 
Employee: 
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1.7.1 the most recent month's copy pay slip data; 

1.7.2 details of cumulative pay for tax and pension purposes; 

1.7.3 details of cumulative tax paid; 

1.7.4 tax code; 

1.7.5 details of any voluntary deductions from pay; and 

1.7.6 bank/building society account details for payroll purposes. 
 

2. EMPLOYMENT REGULATIONS EXIT PROVISIONS 
2.1 The Customer and the Supplier acknowledge that subsequent to the commencement of the provision of the 

Services, the identity of the provider of the Services (or any part of the 

Services) may change (whether as a result of termination or Partial Termination of this 
Contract or otherwise) resulting in the Services being undertaken by a Replacement Supplier and/or 
a Replacement Sub-Contractor. Such change in the identity of the Supplier of such Services may 
constitute a Relevant Transfer to which the Employment Regulations and/or the Acquired Rights 
Directive will apply. The Customer and the Supplier further agree that, as a result of the operation 
of the Employment Regulations, where a Relevant Transfer occurs, the contracts of employment 
between the Supplier and the Transferring Supplier Employees (except in relation to any contract 
terms disapplied through operation of regulation 10(2) of the Employment Regulations) will have 
effect on and from the Service Transfer Date as if originally made between the Replacement Supplier 
and/or a Replacement Sub-Contractor (as the case may be) and each such Transferring Supplier 
Employee. 

2.2 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall, comply with all its obligations 
in respect of the Transferring Supplier Employees arising under the Employment Regulations 
in respect of the period up to (but not including) the Service Transfer Date and shall perform 
and discharge, and procure that each Sub-Contractor shall perform and discharge, all its 
obligations in respect of all the Transferring Supplier Employees arising in respect of the 
period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date (including the payment of all 
remuneration, benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday 
pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension 
contributions which in any case are attributable in whole or in part to the period ending on 
(and including) the Service Transfer Date) and any necessary apportionments in respect of 
any periodic payments shall be made between: (i) the Supplier and/or the Sub-Contractor 
(as appropriate); and (ii) the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor. 

2.3 Subject to Paragraph 2.4, where a Relevant Transfer occurs the Supplier shall indemnify the 
Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-Contractor 
against any Employee Liabilities in respect of any Transferring Supplier Employee (or, where 
applicable any employee representative as defined in the Employment Regulations) arising 
from or as a result of: 

2.3.1 any act or omission of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor whether occurring before, on or 
after the Service Transfer Date; 

2.3.2 the breach or non-observance by the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor occurring on or before the 
Service Transfer Date of: 

(a) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Supplier Employees; 
and/or 
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(b) any other custom or practice with a trade union or staff association in respect of any Transferring Supplier 
Employees which the Supplier or any SubContractor is contractually bound to honour; 

2.3.3 any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing any Transferring 
Supplier Employees arising from or connected with any failure by the Supplier 
or a Sub-Contractor to comply with any legal obligation to such trade union, 
body or person arising on or before the Service Transfer Date; 

2.3.4 any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority in respect 
of any financial obligation including, but not limited to, PAYE and primary and 
secondary national insurance contributions: 

(a) in relation to any Transferring Supplier Employee, to the extent that the 
proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority relates 
to financial obligations arising on and before the Service Transfer Date; and 

(b) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Supplier Employee, 
and in respect of whom it is later alleged or determined that the 
Employment Regulations applied so as to transfer his/her employment from 
the Supplier to the Customer and/or Replacement Supplier and/or any 
Replacement Sub-Contractor, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or 
demand by HMRC or other statutory authority relates to financial 
obligations arising on or before the Service Transfer Date; 

2.3.5 a failure of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to discharge or procure the discharge 
of all wages, salaries and all other benefits and all PAYE tax deductions and 
national insurance contributions relating to the Transferring Supplier Employees 
in respect of the period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date); 

2.3.6 any claim made by or in respect of any person employed or formerly employed by 
the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor other than a Transferring Supplier Employee 
for whom it is alleged the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier and/or 
any Replacement Sub-Contractor may be liable by virtue of this Contract and/or 
the Employment Regulations and/or the Acquired Rights Directive; and 

2.3.7 any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Supplier Employee or any 
appropriate employee representative (as defined in the Employment 
Regulations) of any Transferring Supplier Employee relating to any act or 
omission of the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor in relation to its obligations 
under regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations, except to the extent that 
the liability arises from the failure by the Customer and/or Replacement 
Supplier to comply with regulation 13(4) of the Employment Regulations. 

2.4 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.3 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise 
or are attributable to an act or omission of the Replacement Supplier and/or any 
Replacement Sub-Contractor whether occurring or having its origin before, on or after the 
Service Transfer Date, including any Employee Liabilities: 

2.4.1 arising out of the resignation of any Transferring Supplier Employee before the Service 
Transfer Date on account of substantial detrimental changes to his/her working 
conditions proposed by the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub- 
Contractor to occur in the period on or after the Service Transfer Date; or 

2.4.2 arising  from the Replacement Supplier’s failure, and/or 
Replacement SubContractor’s failure, to comply with its obligations under the 

Employment Regulations. 
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2.5 If any person who is not a Transferring Supplier Employee claims, or it is determined in relation 
to any person who is not a Transferring Supplier Employee, that his/her contract of 
employment has been transferred from the Supplier or any Sub-Contractor to the 
Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor pursuant to the Employment 
Regulations or the Acquired Rights Directive, then: 

2.5.1 the Customer shall procure that the Replacement Supplier shall, or any Replacement 
Sub-Contractor shall, within five (5) Working Days of becoming aware of that fact, give 
notice in writing to the Supplier; and 

2.5.2 the Supplier may offer (or may procure that a Sub-Contractor may offer) employment 
to such person within fifteen (15) Working Days of the notification by the 

Replacement Supplier and/or any and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor or take 
such other reasonable steps as it considers appropriate to deal with the matter provided 
always that such steps are in compliance with Law. 

2.6 If such offer is accepted, or if the situation has otherwise been resolved by the Supplier or a SubContractor, the 
Customer shall procure that the Replacement Supplier shall, or procure that the Replacement Sub-Contractor 
shall, immediately release or procure the release of the person from his/her employment or alleged employment. 

2.7 If after the fifteen (15) Working Day period specified in Paragraph 2.5.2 has elapsed: 

2.7.1 no such offer of employment has been made; 2.7.2 such offer has been 

made but not accepted; or 2.7.3 the situation has not otherwise been resolved 

 
2.9 The indemnity in Paragraph 2.8: 

 2.9.1 shall not apply to: 

(a) any claim for: 

(i) discrimination, including on the grounds of sex, race, disability, age, 
gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity or sexual orientation, religion or belief; or 

(ii) equal pay or compensation for less favourable treatment of parttime workers or 
fixed-term employees, 

in any case in relation to any alleged act or omission of the Replacement Supplier 
and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor; or 

(b) any claim that the termination of employment was unfair because the Replacement Supplier and/or 
Replacement Sub-Contractor neglected to follow a fair dismissal procedure; and 

2.9.2 shall apply only where the notification referred to in Paragraph 2.5.1 is made by the 
Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor to the Supplier 
within six (6) months of the Service Transfer Date. 

2.10 If any such person as is described in Paragraph 2.5 is neither re-employed by the Supplier 
or any Sub-Contractor nor dismissed by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
Sub-Contractor within the time scales set out in Paragraphs 2.5 to 2.7, such person shall be 
treated as a Transferring Supplier Employee and the Replacement Supplier and/or 
Replacement Sub-Contractor shall comply with such obligations as may be imposed upon 
it under applicable Law. 
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the Customer shall advise the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor, 
as appropriate that it may within five (5) Working Days give notice to terminate the 
employment or alleged employment of such person. 

2.8 Subject to the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor acting in accordance 
with the provisions of Paragraphs 2.5 to 2.7, and in accordance with all applicable proper 
employment procedures set out in applicable Law, the Supplier shall indemnify the 
Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor against all Employee Liabilities 
arising out of the termination pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 2.7 provided that the 
Replacement Supplier takes, or shall procure that the Replacement Sub-Contractor takes, 
all reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee Liabilities. 
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2.11 The Supplier shall comply, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall comply, with all its 
obligations under the Employment Regulations and shall perform and discharge, and shall 
procure that each Sub-Contractor shall perform and discharge, all its obligations in respect 
of the Transferring Supplier Employees before and on the Service Transfer Date (including 
the payment of all remuneration, benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued 
but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of PAYE, national insurance 
contributions and pension contributions which in any case are attributable in whole or in 
part in respect of the period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date) and any 
necessary apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between: 

2.11.1 the Supplier and/or any Sub-Contractor; and 

2.11.2 the Replacement Supplier and/or the Replacement Sub-Contractor. 

2.12 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-Contractor shall, promptly provide to 
the Customer and any Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor, in 
writing such information as is necessary to enable the Customer, the Replacement Supplier 
and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor to carry out their respective duties under regulation 
13 of the Employment Regulations. The Customer shall procure that the Replacement 
Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor, shall promptly provide to the Supplier and 
each Sub-Contractor in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Supplier and 
each Sub-Contractor to carry out their respective duties under regulation 13 of the 
Employment Regulations. 

2.13 Subject to Paragraph 2.14, where a Relevant Transfer occurs the Customer shall procure that 
the Replacement Supplier indemnifies the Supplier on its own behalf and on behalf of any 
Replacement Sub-Contractor and its sub-contractors against any Employee Liabilities in 
respect of each Transferring Supplier Employee (or, where applicable any employee 
representative (as defined in the Employment Regulations) of any Transferring Supplier 
Employee) arising from or as a result of: 

2.13.1 any act or omission of the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement SubContractor; 

2.13.2 the breach or non-observance by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement 
SubContractor on or after the Service Transfer Date of: 

(a) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Supplier Employees; and/or 

(b) any custom or practice in respect of any Transferring Supplier 
Employees which the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement SubContractor is contractually 

bound to honour; 

2.13.3 any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing any Transferring 
Supplier Employees arising from or connected with any failure by the 
Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor to comply with any 
legal obligation to such trade union, body or person arising on or after the 
Relevant Transfer Date; 

2.13.4 any proposal by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-Contractor to 
change the terms and conditions of employment or working conditions of any Transferring 
Supplier Employees on or after their transfer to the Replacement 
Supplier or Replacement Sub-Contractor (as the case may be) on the Relevant 
Transfer Date, or to change the terms and conditions of employment or working 
conditions of any person who would have been a Transferring Supplier Employee 
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but for their resignation (or decision to treat their employment as terminated 
under regulation 4(9) of the Employment Regulations) before the Relevant 
Transfer Date as a result of or for a reason connected to such proposed changes; 

2.13.5 any statement communicated to or action undertaken by the Replacement Supplier or 
Replacement Sub-Contractor to, or in respect of, any Transferring 

Supplier Employee on or before the Relevant Transfer Date regarding the 
Relevant Transfer which has not been agreed in advance with the Supplier in 
writing; 

2.13.6 any proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority in respect 
of any financial obligation including, but not limited to, PAYE and primary and 
secondary national insurance contributions: 

(a) in relation to any Transferring Supplier Employee, to the extent that the 
proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority 
relates to financial obligations arising after the Service Transfer Date; 
and 

(b) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Supplier 
Employee, and in respect of whom it is later alleged or determined that 
the Employment Regulations applied so as to transfer his/her 
employment from the Supplier or Sub-Contractor, to the Replacement 
Supplier or Replacement Sub-Contractor to the extent that the 
proceeding, claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority 
relates to financial obligations arising after the Service Transfer Date; 

2.13.7 a failure of the Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-Contractor to discharge 
or procure the discharge of all wages, salaries and all other benefits and all PAYE 
tax deductions and national insurance contributions relating to the Transferring 
Supplier Employees in respect of the period from (and including) the Service 
Transfer Date; and 

2.13.8 any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Supplier Employee or any 
appropriate employee representative (as defined in the Employment 
Regulations) of any Transferring Supplier Employee relating to any act or 
omission of the Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-Contractor in 
relation to obligations under regulation 13 of the Employment Regulations. 

2.14 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.13 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or are 
attributable to an act or omission of the Supplier and/or any SubContractor (as applicable) whether 
occurring or having its origin before, on or after the 
Relevant Transfer Date, including any Employee Liabilities arising from the failure by the 
Supplier and/or any Sub-Contractor (as applicable) to comply with its obligations under the 
Employment Regulations. 

ANNEX TO SCHEDULE 5: LIST OF NOTIFIED SUB-CONTRACTORS CONTRACT SCHEDULE 6: DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 

 
1. DEFINITIONS 

1.1. In this Contract Schedule 6, the following definitions shall apply: 
 

"CEDR"  the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution of International 
Dispute Resolution Centre, 70 Fleet Street, London, EC4Y 1EU; 
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"Counter Notice" has the meaning given to it in paragraph of this Contract Schedule 
6; 

"Exception" a deviation of project tolerances in accordance with PRINCE2 methodology 
in respect of this Contract or in the supply of 
the Services; 

"Expert" the person appointed by the Parties in accordance with 
paragraph 5.2 of this Contract Schedule 6; and 

"Mediation Notice" has the meaning given to it in paragraph 3.2 of this Contract Schedule 
6; 

 
"Mediator"  the independent third party appointed in accordance 

with paragraph 4.2 of this Contract Schedule 6. 

 
2. INTRODUCTION 

2.1. If a Dispute arises then: 

2.1.1. the representative of the Customer and the Supplier Representative shall attempt in good faith 
to resolve the Dispute; and 

2.1.2. if such attempts are not successful within a reasonable time either Party may give to the other 
a Dispute Notice. 

2.2. The Dispute Notice shall set out: 

2.2.1. the material particulars of the Dispute; 

2.2.2. the reasons why the Party serving the Dispute Notice believes that the Dispute has arisen; and 

2.2.3. if the Party serving the Dispute Notice believes that the Dispute should be dealt with 
under the Expedited Dispute Timetable as set out in paragraph 2.6 of this Contract 
Schedule 6, the reason why. 

2.3. Unless agreed otherwise in writing, the Parties shall continue to comply with their respective 
obligations under this Contract regardless of the nature of the Dispute and notwithstanding 
the referral of the Dispute to the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

2.4. Subject to paragraph 3.2 of this Contract Schedule 6, the Parties shall seek to resolve Disputes: 

2.4.1. first by commercial negotiation (as prescribed in paragraph 3 of this Contract Schedule 
6); 

2.4.2. then by mediation (as prescribed in paragraph 4 of this Contract Schedule 6); and 

2.4.3. lastly by recourse to arbitration (as prescribed in paragraph 6 of this Contract Schedule 

6) or litigation (in accordance with Clause 47 of this Contract (Governing Law and Jurisdiction)). 

2.5. Specific issues shall be referred to Expert Determination (as prescribed in paragraph 5 of this 
Contract Schedule 6) where specified under the provisions of this Contract and may also be 
referred to Expert Determination where otherwise appropriate as specified in paragraph 5 of 
this Contract Schedule 6. 

2.6. In exceptional circumstances where the use of the times in this Contract Schedule 6 would be 
unreasonable, including (by way of example) where one Party would be materially 
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disadvantaged by a delay in resolving the Dispute, the Parties may agree to use the Expedited 
Dispute Timetable. If the Parties are unable to reach agreement on whether to use of the 
Expedited Dispute Timetable within five (5) Working Days of the issue of the Dispute Notice, 
the use of the Expedited Dispute Timetable shall be at the sole discretion of the Customer. 

2.7. If the use of the Expedited Dispute Timetable is determined in accordance with paragraph 2.5 or 
is otherwise specified under the provisions of this Contract, then the following periods of time 
shall apply in lieu of the time periods specified in the applicable paragraphs: 

2.7.1. in paragraph 3.2.3, ten (10) Working Days; 

2.7.2. in paragraph 4.2, ten (10) Working Days; 2.7.3. in 

paragraph 5.2, five (5) Working Days; and 2.7.4. 

in paragraph 6.2, ten (10) Working Days. 

2.8. If at any point it becomes clear that an applicable deadline cannot be met or has passed, the Parties 
may (but shall be under no obligation to) agree in writing to extend the deadline. Any agreed 
extension shall have the effect of delaying the start of the subsequent stages by the period 
agreed in the extension. 

 
3. COMMERCIAL NEGOTIATIONS 

3.1. Following the service of a Dispute Notice, the Customer and the Supplier shall use reasonable 
endeavours to resolve the Dispute as soon as possible, by discussion between the Customer 
Representative and the Supplier Representative. 

3.2. If: 

3.2.1. either Party is of the reasonable opinion that the resolution of a Dispute by commercial 
negotiation, or the continuance of commercial negotiations, will not result in an 
appropriate solution; 

3.2.2. the Parties have already held discussions of a nature and intent (or otherwise were 
conducted in the spirit) that would equate to the conduct of commercial negotiations in accordance 
with this paragraph 3 of this Contract Schedule 6; or 

3.2.3.  the Parties have not settled the Dispute in accordance with paragraph 3.1 of this 
Contract Schedule 6 within thirty (30) Working Days of service of the Dispute Notice, 

either Party may serve a written notice to proceed to mediation (a “Mediation Notice”) in accordance with 

paragraph 4 of this Contract Schedule 6. 

 
4. MEDIATION 

4.1. If a Mediation Notice is served, the Parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute in accordance with 
CEDR's Model Mediation Agreement which shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference 
into this Contract. 

4.2. If the Parties are unable to agree on the joint appointment of a Mediator within thirty (30) Working 
Days from service of the Mediation Notice then either Party may apply to CEDR to nominate 
the Mediator. 

4.3. If the Parties are unable to reach a settlement in the negotiations at the mediation, and only if the 
Parties so request and the Mediator agrees, the Mediator shall produce for the Parties a 
nonbinding recommendation on terms of settlement. This shall not attempt to anticipate what 
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a court might order but shall set out what the Mediator suggests are appropriate settlement terms 
in all of the circumstances. 

4.4. Any settlement reached in the mediation shall not be legally binding until it has been reduced to 
writing and signed by, or on behalf of, the Parties (in accordance with the Variation Procedure 
where appropriate). The Mediator shall assist the Parties in recording the outcome of the 
mediation. 

 
5. EXPERT DETERMINATION 

5.1. If a Dispute relates to any aspect of the technology underlying the provision of the Services or 
otherwise relates to a financial technical or other aspect of a technical nature (as the Parties 
may agree) and the Dispute has not been resolved by discussion or mediation, then either 
Party may request (which request will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) by written 
notice to the other that the Dispute is referred to an Expert for determination. 

5.2. The Expert shall be appointed by agreement in writing between the Parties, but in the event of a 
failure to agree within ten (10) Working Days, or if the person appointed is unable or unwilling 
to act, the Expert shall be appointed on the instructions of the relevant professional body. 

5.3. The Expert shall act on the following basis: 

5.3.1. he/she shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and shall act fairly and impartially; 

5.3.2. the Expert's determination shall (in the absence of a material failure to follow the agreed procedures) 
be final and binding on the Parties; 

5.3.3. the Expert shall decide the procedure to be followed in the determination and shall be 
requested to make his/her determination within thirty (30) Working Days of his 
appointment or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter and the Parties shall assist 
and provide the documentation that the Expert requires for the purpose of the 
determination; 

5.3.4. any amount payable by one Party to another as a result of the Expert's determination shall be due and 
payable within twenty (20) Working Days of the Expert's determination being notified to the Parties; 

5.3.5. the process shall be conducted in private and shall be confidential; and 

5.3.6. the Expert shall determine how and by whom the costs of the determination, including his/her fees 
and expenses, are to be paid. 

 
6. ARBITRATION 

6.1. The Customer may at any time before court proceedings are commenced refer the Dispute to arbitration in 
accordance with the provisions of paragraph 6.4 of this Contract Schedule 6. 

6.2. Before the Supplier commences court proceedings or arbitration, it shall serve written notice on 
the Customer of its intentions and the Customer shall have fifteen (15) Working Days following 
receipt of such notice to serve a reply (a “Counter Notice”) on the Supplier requiring the 
Dispute to be referred to and resolved by arbitration in accordance with paragraph 6.4 of 

this Contract Schedule 6 or be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts in accordance with 
Clause 47 of this Contract (Governing Law and Jurisdiction). The Supplier shall not commence 
any court proceedings or arbitration until the expiry of such fifteen (15) Working Day period. 

6.3. If: 

6.3.1. the Counter Notice requires the Dispute to be referred to arbitration, the provisions of paragraph 
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6.4 of this Contract Schedule 6 shall apply; 

6.3.2. the Counter Notice requires the Dispute to be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 
courts in accordance with Clause 47 of this Contract (Governing Law and Jurisdiction), 
the Dispute shall be so referred to the courts and the Supplier shall not commence 
arbitration proceedings; 

6.3.3. the Customer does not serve a Counter Notice within the fifteen (15) Working Days period 
referred to in paragraph 6.2 of this Contract Schedule 6, the Supplier may either 
commence arbitration proceedings in accordance with paragraph 6.4 of this Contract 
Schedule 6 or commence court proceedings in the courts in accordance with Clause 
47 of this Contract (Governing Law and Jurisdiction) which shall (in those 
circumstances) have exclusive jurisdiction. 

6.4. In the event that any arbitration proceedings are commenced pursuant to paragraphs 
6.1 to 6.3 of this Contract Schedule 6, the Parties hereby confirm that: 

6.4.1. all disputes, issues or claims arising out of or in connection with this Contract (including 
as to its existence, validity or performance) shall be referred to and finally resolved by 
arbitration under the Rules of the London Court of International 
Arbitration (“LCIA”) (subject to paragraphs 6.4.5 to 6.4.7 of this Contract Schedule 6); 

6.4.2. the arbitration shall be administered by the LCIA; 

6.4.3. the LCIA procedural rules in force at the date that the Dispute was referred to arbitration 
shall be applied and are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Contract 
and the decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on the Parties in the absence of any 
material failure to comply with such rules; 

6.4.4. if the Parties fail to agree the appointment of the arbitrator within ten (10) days from 
the date on which arbitration proceedings are commenced or if the person appointed 
is unable or unwilling to act, the arbitrator shall be appointed by the LCIA; 

6.4.5. the chair of the arbitral tribunal shall be British; 

6.4.6. the arbitration proceedings shall take place in London and in the English language; and 

6.4.7. the seat of the arbitration shall be London. 

7. URGENT RELIEF 

7.1. Either Party may at any time take proceedings or seek remedies before any court or tribunal of competent 
jurisdiction: 

7.1.1. for interim or interlocutory remedies in relation to this Contract or infringement by the other Party 
of that Party’s Intellectual Property Rights; and/or 

7.1.2. where compliance with paragraph 2.1 of this Contract Schedule 6 and/or referring the 
Dispute to mediation may leave insufficient time for that Party to commence 
proceedings before the expiry of the limitation period. 

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 7: PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA AND DATA SUBJECTS 

This Schedule shall be completed by the Controller, who may take account of the view of the Processors, however the final 
decision as to the content of this Schedule shall be with the Controller at its absolute discretion. 

1. The contact details of the Controller’s Data Protection Officer are: Emma Wharram, Deputy Director - Departmental 
Data Protection Officer, dataprotection.office@education.gov.uk, Department for Education, 7 & 8 Wellington Place, 

Wellington Street, Leeds, LS1 4AW 

mailto:dataprotection.office@education.gov.uk
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2. The contact details of the Processor’s Data Protection Officer are: (to be confirmed at contract mobilisation) 

3. The Processor shall comply with any further written instructions with respect to processing by the Controller. 

4. Any such further instructions shall be incorporated into this Schedule. 

 

Description Details 

Identity of the Controller and 
Processor 

 

 
The Parties acknowledge that for the purposes of the Data Protection 
Legislation, the Customer is the Controller and the Contractor is the 
Processor in accordance with Clause 23.22. 

Subject matter of the processing  
The processing of personal data relating to applicants for, Learners and 
employers taking part in Skills Bootcamp(s) is required to ensure the 
mandatory requirements of the Service Requirements are delivered by 
the contractor. 

 
Where this information may already be collected or processed by the 
processor, this is to be considered separate processing activities and the 
contractor will be the data controller for those processing activities and 
out of scope for this contract. 

Duration of the processing 
 

 
From the commencement date of the call off agreement until the Expiry 
Date. 

Nature and purposes of the 
processing 

Personal data will be collected, stored, used and disclosed by the 
processor 

 
For the purposes of: 

 
• Recruitment of Learners to enrol on Skills Bootcamps courses 

• Provision of wraparound support for Learners 

• Monitoring and Assessment of Learners undertaking Skills 
Bootcamps and 

• meeting the evidence requirements of the Call Off Contract 
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Type of Personal Data being 
Processed 

All Applicants: 

• Date of Birth 

• Gender 

• Disability/long-term health condition 

• Ethnicity 

• Marriage and civil partnership status 

• Sexual orientation 

 
 

• Gender re-assignment 

• Pregnancy and maternity 

• Religion or belief 
 

Learners: 

• Name (first name and surname) 

• National Insurance number 

• Postcode 

• Email address 

• Telephone number 
 
 

Employer Contacts: 

• Name 

• Email address 

• Telephone Number 

Categories of Data Subject  
• Applicants for a Skills Bootcamp 

• Learners taking part in Skills Bootcamps. 

• Employers 

 

 
Plan for return and destruction of 
the data once the processing is 
complete 

UNLESS requirement under union 
or member state law to preserve 
that type of data 

 

 
Unless further written instructions are provided by the Controller: 

 
Personal Data will be retained for six years past the end of the financial 
year in which the last payment is made, to support audit requirements, 
at which point it will be securely destroyed in line with the Service 
Requirements. 
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CONTRACT SCHEDULE 8: JOINT CONTROLLER AGREEMENT 

[Guidance: It is anticipated that the arrangement will be Controller and Processor. Insert this schedule only where a 
Joint Controller arrangement applies in Schedule 7] 

[In this Annex the Parties must outline each party’s responsibilities for: 

 
• providing information to data subjects under Article 13 and 14 of the GDPR. 

 
• responding to data subject requests under Articles 15-22 of the GDPR 

• notifying the Information Commissioner (and data subjects) where necessary about data breaches 
 

• maintaining records of processing under Article 30 of the GDPR 
 

• carrying out any required Data Protection Impact Assessment 

• The agreement must include a statement as to who is the point of contact for data subjects. 
The essence of this relationship shall be published. 

You may wish to incorporate some clauses equivalent to those specified in Clauses 23.22 - 23.36 

You may also wish to include an additional clause apportioning liability between the parties arising out of data protection; of 
data that is jointly controlled. 

Where there is a Joint Control relationship, but no controller to processor relationship under the Call Off Contract, 
this completed Contract Schedule 8 should be used instead of Clause 23.22 - 23.36] 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-1115-unstructured-electronic-invoices?uri=CELEX%3A32016R0679&from=EN
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CONTRACT SCHEDULE 9: NOT USED 
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CONTRACT SCHEDULE 10: EXIT MANAGEMENT 

 
1. DEFINITIONS 

1.1. In this Contract Schedule 10, the following definitions shall apply: 
"Exclusive Assets" means those Supplier Assets used by the Supplier or a Key 

SubContractor which are used exclusively in the 
provision of the Services; 

"Exit Information" has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.1 of this Contract Schedule 10; 

"Exit Manager" means the person appointed by each Party pursuant to paragraph 3.4 of this 
Contract Schedule 10 for managing the Parties' respective 
obligations under this Contract Schedule 10; 

"Net Book Value" means the net book value of the relevant Supplier Asset(s) 
calculated in accordance with the depreciation policy of 
the Supplier set out in the letter in the agreed form from 
the Supplier to the Costumer of even date with this 
Contract; 

"Non-Exclusive Assets" means those Supplier Assets (if any) which are used by the Supplier 
or a Key Sub Contractor in connection with the 
Services but which are also used by the Supplier or Key Sub- 
Contractor for other purposes; 

"Registers" means the register and configuration database referred to in paragraphs 
3.1.1 and 3.1.2 of this Contract Schedule 10; 

"Termination Assistance"   means the activities to be performed by the Supplier 
pursuant to the Exit Plan, and any other assistance 
required by the Customer pursuant to the Termination 
Assistance Notice; 

 
 

 
Period"  means in relation to a Termination Assistance Notice, the period specified in 

the Termination Assistance Notice for which the Supplier 
is required to provide the Termination Assistance as such 
period may be extended pursuant to paragraph 6.2 of 
this Contract Schedule 10; 

"Transferable Assets" means those of the Exclusive Assets which are capable of legal 
transfer to the Customer; 

"Transferable Contracts"   means the   Sub-Contracts, licences for 
Supplier Background IPR, Project Specific IPR, licences for Third 
Party IPR or other agreements which are 
necessary to enable the Customer or any Replacement Supplier 
to provide the Services or the Replacement 

"Termination Assistance  

"Termination Assistance has the m 
Notice" Contract 
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Services, including in relation to licences all relevant 
Documentation; 

 
“Transferring Assets” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 

9.2.1 of this Contract Schedule 10; 

"Transferring Contracts" has the meaning given to it in paragraph 9.2.3 of this Contract Schedule 
10. 

 
2. INTRODUCTION 

2.1. This Contract Schedule 10 describes provisions that should be included in the Exit Plan, the duties 
and responsibilities of the Supplier to the Customer leading up to and covering the Contract 
Expiry Date and the transfer of service provision to the Customer and/or a Replacement 
Supplier. 

2.2. The objectives of the exit planning and service transfer arrangements are to ensure a smooth 
transition of the availability of the Services from the Supplier to the Customer and/or a 
Replacement Supplier at the Contract Expiry Date. 

 
3. OBLIGATIONS DURING THE CONTRACT PERIOD TO FACILITATE EXIT 

3.1. During the Contract Period, the Supplier shall: 

3.1.1. create and maintain a Register of all: 

(a) Supplier Assets, detailing their: make, model and 

i) asset number; 

ii) ownership and status as either Exclusive Assets or Non Exclusive 
Assets; 

iii) Net Book Value;  iv) condition and physical location; and 

v) use (including technical specifications); 

(b) Sub-Contracts and other relevant agreements (including relevant software 
licences, maintenance and support agreements and equipment rental and 
lease agreements) required for the performance of the Services; 

(c) Information and data relating to Learners (including Learner files) and course 
material used for the Skill Bootcamps; and 

(d) Supplier Background IPR, Third Party IPR, Project Specific IPR, Customer 
Background IPR and Customer Data. 

3.1.2. Customer Data. create and maintain a configuration database detailing the technical 
infrastructure and operating procedures through which the Supplier provides the 
Services, which shall contain sufficient detail to permit the Customer and/or 
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Replacement Supplier to understand how the Supplier provides the Services and to 
enable the smooth transition of the Services with the minimum of disruption; 

3.1.3. agree the format of the Registers with the Customer as part of the process of agreeing 
the Exit Plan; and 

3.1.4. at all times keep the Registers up to date, in particular in the event that Assets, 
SubContracts or other relevant agreements and information relating to the Learners 
(including Learner files) and / or course material used for the Skill Bootcamps are 
added to or removed from the Services. 

3.2. The Supplier shall: 

3.2.1. procure that all Exclusive Assets listed in the Registers are clearly marked to identify 
that they are exclusively used for the provision of the Services under this Contract; 
and 

3.2.2. (unless otherwise agreed by the Customer in writing) procure that all licences for 
Third Party IPR and all Sub-Contracts shall be assignable and/or capable of novation 
at the request of the Customer to the Customer (and/or its nominee) and/or any 
Replacement Supplier upon the Supplier ceasing to provide the Services (or part of 
them) without restriction (including any need to obtain any consent or approval) or 
payment by the Customer. 

3.3. Where the Supplier is unable to procure that any Sub-Contract or other agreement referred 
to in paragraph 3.2.2 of this Contract Schedule 10 which the Supplier proposes to enter into 
after the Contract Commencement Date is assignable and/or capable of novation to the 
Customer (and/or its nominee) and/or any Replacement Supplier without restriction or 
payment, the Supplier shall promptly notify the Customer of this and the Parties shall (acting 
reasonably and without undue delay) discuss the appropriate action to be taken which, 
where the Customer so directs, may include the Supplier seeking an alternative 
SubContractor or provider of services to which the relevant agreement relates. 

3.4. Each Party shall appoint a person for the purposes of managing the Parties' respective 
obligations under this Contract Schedule 10 and provide written notification of such 
appointment to the other Party within three (3) Months of the Contract Commencement 
Date. The Supplier’s Exit Manager shall be responsible for ensuring that the Supplier and its 
employees, agents and Sub-Contractors comply with this Contract Schedule 10. The Supplier 
shall ensure that its Exit Manager has the requisite authority to arrange and procure any 
resources of the Supplier as are reasonably necessary to enable the Supplier to comply with 
the requirements set out in this Contract Schedule 10. The Parties' Exit Managers will liaise 
with one another in relation to all issues relevant to the termination of this Contract and all 
matters connected with this Contract Schedule 10 and each Party's compliance with it. 

 
4. OBLIGATIONS TO ASSIST ON RE-TENDERING OF SERVICES 

4.1. On reasonable notice at any point during the Contract Period, the Supplier shall provide to the 
Customer and/or its potential Replacement Supplier’s (subject to the potential Replacement 
Supplier’s entering into reasonable written confidentiality undertakings), the following 
material and information in order to facilitate the preparation by the Customer of any 
invitation to tender and/or to facilitate any potential Replacement Supplier’s undertaking 
due diligence: 

4.1.1. details of the Service(s); 

4.1.2. a copy of the Registers, updated by the Supplier up to the date of delivery of such 
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Registers; 

4.1.3. an inventory of Customer Data in the Supplier’s possession or control; 

4.1.4. details of any key terms of any third party contracts and licences, particularly as regards 
charges, termination, assignment and novation; 

4.1.5. a list of on-going and/or threatened disputes in relation to the provision of the Services; 

4.1.6. all information relating to Transferring Supplier Employees required to be provided by the 
Supplier under this Contract; and 

4.1.7. such other material and information as the Customer shall reasonably require, (together, 

the “Exit Information”). 

4.2. The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer may disclose the Supplier’s Confidential Information to an 
actual or prospective Replacement Supplier or any third party whom the Customer is 
considering engaging to the extent that such disclosure is necessary in connection with such 
engagement (except that the Customer may not under this paragraph 4.2 of this Contract 
Schedule 10 disclose any Supplier’s Confidential Information which is information relating to 
the Supplier’s or its Sub-Contractors’ prices or costs). 

4.3. The Supplier shall: 

4.3.1. notify the Customer within five (5) Working Days of any material change to the Exit 
Information which may adversely impact upon the provision of any Services and 
shall consult with the Customer regarding such proposed material changes; and 

4.3.2. provide complete updates of the Exit Information on an as-requested basis as soon as 
reasonably practicable and in any event within ten (10) Working Days of a request 
in writing from the Customer. 

4.4. The Supplier may charge the Customer for its reasonable additional costs to the extent the Customer 
requests more than four (4) updates in any six (6) month period. 

4.5. The Exit Information shall be accurate and complete in all material respects and the level of detail 
to be provided by the Supplier shall be such as would be reasonably necessary to enable a 
third party to: 

4.5.1. prepare an informed offer for those Services; and 

4.5.2. not be disadvantaged in any subsequent procurement process 

4.5.3. compared to the Supplier (if the Supplier is invited to participate). 
 

5. EXIT PLAN 

5.1. The Supplier shall, within three (3) Months after the Contract Commencement Date, deliver to the 
Customer an Exit Plan which: 

5.1.1. sets out the Supplier’s proposed methodology for achieving an orderly transition of the Services from the 
Supplier to the Customer and/or its Replacement Supplier on the expiry or 
termination of this Contract; 

5.1.2. complies with the requirements set out in paragraph 5.3 of this Contract Schedule 10; 

5.1.3. sets out an orderly transfer of the items recorded in the Registers including but not limited 
to the IPR rights as referred to in Paragraph 3.1.1 (d). 

5.1.4. is otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Customer. 
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5.2. The Parties shall use reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of the Exit Plan. If the 
Parties are unable to agree the contents of the Exit Plan within twenty (20) Working Days of 

its submission, then such Dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure. 

5.3. Unless otherwise specified by the Customer or Approved, the Exit Plan shall set out, as a 
minimum: 

5.3.1. how the Exit Information is obtained; 

5.3.2. the management structure to be employed during both transfer and cessation of the 
Services; 

5.3.3. the management structure to be employed during the Termination Assistance Period; 

5.3.4. a detailed description of both the transfer and cessation processes, including a timetable; 

5.3.5. how the Services will transfer to the Replacement Supplier and/or the Customer, 
including details of the processes, documentation, data transfer, systems migration, 
security and the segregation of the Customer's technology components from any 
technology components operated by the Supplier or its Sub-Contractors (where 
applicable); 

5.3.6. details of contracts (if any) which will be available for transfer to the Customer and/or 
the Replacement Supplier upon the Contract Expiry Date together with any 
reasonable costs required to effect such transfer (and the Supplier agrees that all 
assets and contracts used by the Supplier in connection with the provision of the 
Services will be available for such transfer); 

5.3.7. proposals for the training of key members of the Replacement Supplier’s personnel in 
connection with the continuation of the provision of the Services following the 
Contract Expiry Date charged at rates agreed between the Parties at that time; 

5.3.8.  proposals for providing the Customer or a Replacement Supplier copies of all 
documentation: 

(a) used in the provision of the Services and necessarily required 
for the continued use thereof, in which the Intellectual 
Property Rights are owned by the Supplier; and 

(b) relating to the use and operation of the Services; 

5.3.9. proposals for the assignment or novation of the provision of all services, leases, 
maintenance agreements and support agreements utilised by the Supplier in 
connection with the performance of the supply of the Services; 

5.3.10. proposals for the identification and return of all Customer Property in the possession of 
and/or control of the Supplier or any third party (including any SubContractor); 

5.3.11. proposals for the disposal of any redundant Services and materials; 

5.3.12. procedures to deal with requests made by the Customer and/or a Replacement Supplier 
for Staffing Information pursuant to Contract Schedule 10 (Staff Transfer); 

5.3.13. how each of the issues set out in this Contract Schedule 10 will be addressed to 
facilitate the transition of the Services from the Supplier to the Replacement 
Supplier and/or the Customer with the aim of ensuring that there is no disruption 
to or degradation of the Services during the Termination Assistance Period; and 
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5.3.14. proposals for the supply of any other information or assistance reasonably required 
by the Customer or a Replacement Supplier in order to effect an orderly handover 
of the provision of the Services. 

6. TERMINATION ASSISTANCE 

6.1. The Customer shall be entitled to require the provision of Termination Assistance at any time during 
the Contract Period by giving written notice to the Supplier (a "Termination 
Assistance Notice") at least four (4) Months prior to the Contract Expiry Date or as soon as 

reasonably practicable (but in any event, not later than one (1) month) following the service 

by either Party of a Termination Notice. The Termination Assistance Notice shall specify: 

6.1.1. the date from which Termination Assistance is required; 

6.1.2. the nature of the Termination Assistance required; and 

6.1.3. the period during which it is anticipated that Termination Assistance will be required, 
which shall continue no longer than twelve (12) Months after the date that the 
Supplier ceases to provide the Services. 

6.2. The Customer shall have an option to extend the Termination Assistance Period beyond the 
period specified in the Termination Assistance Notice provided that such extension shall not 
extend for more than six (6) Months after the date the Supplier ceases to provide the 
Services or, if applicable, beyond the end of the Termination Assistance Period and provided 
that it shall notify the Supplier to such effect no later than twenty (20) Working Days prior 
to the date on which the provision of Termination Assistance is otherwise due to expire. The 
Customer shall have the right to terminate its requirement for Termination Assistance by 
serving not less than (20) Working Days' written notice upon the Supplier to such effect. 

 
7. TERMINATION ASSISTANCE PERIOD 

7.1. Throughout the Termination Assistance Period, or such shorter period as the Customer may require, 
the Supplier shall: 

7.1.1. continue to provide the Services (as applicable) and, if required by the Customer 
pursuant to paragraph 6.1 of this Contract Schedule 10, provide the Termination 
Assistance; 

7.1.2. in addition to providing the Services and the Termination Assistance, provide to the 
Customer any reasonable assistance requested by the Customer to allow the 

Services to continue without interruption following the termination or expiry of this 
Contract and to facilitate the orderly transfer of responsibility for and conduct of 
the Services to the Customer and/or its Replacement Supplier; 

7.1.3. use all reasonable endeavours to reallocate resources to provide such 

7.1.4. assistance as is referred to in paragraph 7.1.2 of this Contract Schedule 10 without 
additional costs to the Customer; 

7.1.5. provide the Services and the Termination Assistance at no detriment to the Service 
Level Performance Measures, save to the extent that the Parties agree otherwise 
in accordance with paragraph 7.3; and 

7.1.6. at the Customer's request and on reasonable notice, deliver up-to-date Registers to the 
Customer. 

7.2. Without prejudice to the Supplier’s obligations under paragraph 7.1.3 of this Contract Schedule 
10, if it is not possible for the Supplier to reallocate resources to provide such assistance as 
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is referred to in paragraph 7.1.2 of this Contract Schedule 10 without additional costs to the 
Customer, any additional costs incurred by the Supplier in providing such reasonable 
assistance which is not already in the scope of the Termination Assistance or the Exit Plan 
shall be subject to the Variation Procedure. 

7.3. If the Supplier demonstrates to the Customer's reasonable satisfaction that transition of the 
Services and provision of the Termination Assist during the Termination Assistance Period 
will have a material, unavoidable adverse effect on the Supplier’s ability to meet one or more 
particular Service Level Performance Measure(s), the Parties shall vary the relevant Service 
Level Performance Measure(s) and/or the applicable Service Credits to take account of such 
adverse effect. 

8. TERMINATION OBLIGATIONS 
 

8.1. The Supplier shall comply with all of its obligations contained in the Exit Plan. 

8.2. Upon termination or expiry (as the case may be) or at the end of the Termination Assistance 
Period (or earlier if this does not adversely affect the Supplier’s performance of the Services 
and the Termination Assistance and its compliance with the other provisions of this Contract 
Schedule 10), the Supplier shall: 

8.2.1. cease to use the Customer Data; 

8.2.2. provide the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier with a complete and 

uncorrupted version of the Customer Data in electronic form (or such other format as 

reasonably required by the Customer); 

8.2.3. erase from any computers, storage devices and storage media that are to be retained 
by the Supplier after the end of the Termination Assistance Period all Customer Data 
and promptly certify to the Customer that it has completed such deletion; 

8.2.4. return to the Customer such of the following as is in the Supplier’s possession or control: 

(a) all materials created by the Supplier under this Contract in which the IPRs are 
owned by the Customer; 

(b) any equipment which belongs to the Customer; 

(c) any items that have been on-charged to the Customer, such as consumables; 
and 

(d) any sums prepaid by the Customer in respect of Services not Delivered by the 
Contract Expiry Date; and 

(e) all Information and data relating to Learners (including Learner files) and course 
material used for the Skill Bootcamps 

8.2.5. vacate any Customer Premises; 

8.2.6. remove the Supplier Equipment together with any other materials used by the 
Supplier to supply the Services and shall leave the Sites in a clean, safe and tidy 
condition. The Supplier is solely responsible for making good any damage to the 
Sites or any objects contained thereon, other than fair wear and tear, which is 
caused by the Supplier and/or any Supplier Personnel; 

8.2.7. provide access during normal working hours to the Customer and/or the Replacement 
Supplier for up to twelve (12) Months after expiry or termination to: 
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(a) such information relating to the Services as remains in the possession or 
control of the Supplier; and 

(b) such members of the Supplier Personnel as have been involved in the design, 
development and provision of the Services and who are still employed by 
the Supplier, provided that the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier 

shall pay the reasonable costs of the Supplier actually incurred in responding 
to requests for access under this paragraph. 

8.3. Upon termination or expiry (as the case may be) or at the end of the Termination Assistance 
Period (or earlier if this does not adversely affect the Supplier’s performance of the Services 
and the Termination Assistance and its compliance with the other provisions of this Contract 
Schedule 10), each Party shall return to the other Party (or if requested, destroy or delete) all 
Confidential Information of the other Party and shall certify that it does not retain the other 
Party's Confidential Information save to the extent (and for the limited period) that such 
information needs to be retained by the Party in question for the purposes of providing or 
receiving any Services or termination services or for statutory compliance purposes. 

8.4. Except where this Contract provides otherwise, all licences, leases and authorisations granted 
by the Customer to the Supplier in relation to the Services shall be terminated with effect 
from the end of the Termination Assistance Period. 

 
9. ASSETS AND SUB-CONTRACTS 

9.1. Following notice of termination of this Contract and during the Termination Assistance Period, the 
Supplier shall not, without the Customer's prior written consent: 

9.1.1. terminate, enter into or vary any Sub-Contract; 

9.1.2. (subject to normal maintenance requirements) make material modifications to, or dispose 
of, any existing Supplier Assets or acquire any new Supplier Assets; or 

9.1.3. terminate, enter into or vary any licence for software in connection with the provision of 
the Services. 

9.2. Within twenty (20) Working Days of receipt of the up-to-date Registers provided by the Supplier 
pursuant to paragraph 7.1.5 of this Contract Schedule 10, the Customer shall provide written 
notice to the Supplier setting out: 

9.2.1. which, if any, of the Transferable Assets the Customer requires to be transferred to the 
Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier (“Transferring Assets”); 

9.2.2. which, if any, of: 

(a) the Exclusive Assets that are not Transferable Assets; and 

(b) the Non-Exclusive Assets, the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier 
requires the continued use of; and 

9.2.3. which, if any, of Transferable Contracts the Customer requires to be assigned or novated to 
the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier 

9.2.4. (the “Transferring Contracts”), in order for the Customer and/or its Replacement 
Supplier to provide the Services from the expiry of the Termination Assistance 
Period. Where requested by the Customer and/or its Replacement Supplier, the 

Supplier shall provide all reasonable assistance to the Customer and/or its 
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Replacement Supplier to enable it to determine which Transferable Assets and 
Transferable Contracts the Customer and/or its Replacement Supplier requires to 
provide the Services or the Replacement Services. 

9.3. With effect from the expiry of the Termination Assistance Period, the Supplier shall sell the 
Transferring Assets to the Customer and/or its nominated Replacement Supplier for a 
consideration equal to their Net Book Value, except where the cost of the Transferring Asset 
has been partially or fully paid for through the Contract Charges at the Contract Expiry Date, 

in which case the Customer shall pay the Supplier the Net Book Value of the Transferring Asset 
less the amount already paid through the Contract Charges. 

9.4. Risk in the Transferring Assets shall pass to the Customer or the Replacement Supplier (as 
appropriate) at the end of the Termination Assistance Period and title to the Transferring 
Assets shall pass to the Customer or the Replacement Supplier (as appropriate) on payment 
for the same. 

9.5. Where the Supplier is notified in accordance with paragraph 9.2.2 of this Contract Schedule 
10 that the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier requires continued use of any 
Exclusive Assets that are not Transferable Assets or any Non-Exclusive Assets, the Supplier 
shall as soon as reasonably practicable: 

9.5.1. procure a non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free licence (or licence on such other 
terms that have been agreed by the Customer) for the Customer and/or the 
Replacement Supplier to use such assets (with a right of sub-licence or assignment on 
the same terms); or failing which 

9.5.2. procure a suitable alternative to such assets and the Customer or the Replacement 
Supplier shall bear the reasonable proven costs of procuring the same. 

9.6. The Supplier shall as soon as reasonably practicable assign or procure the novation to the 
Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier of the Transferring Contracts. The Supplier shall 
execute such documents and provide such other assistance as the Customer reasonably 
requires to effect this novation or assignment. 

9.7. The Customer shall: 

9.7.1. accept assignments from the Supplier or join with the Supplier in procuring a novation 
of each Transferring Contract; and 

9.7.2. once a Transferring Contract is novated or assigned to the Customer and/or the 
Replacement Supplier, carry out, perform and discharge all the obligations and 
liabilities created by or arising under that Transferring Contract and exercise its rights 
arising under that Transferring Contract, or as applicable, procure that the 
Replacement Supplier does the same. 

9.8. The Supplier shall hold any Transferring Contracts on trust for the Customer until such time 
as the transfer of the relevant Transferring Contract to the Customer and/or the 
Replacement Supplier has been effected. 

9.9. The Supplier shall indemnify the Customer (and/or the Replacement Supplier, as applicable) 
against each loss, liability and cost arising out of any claims made by a counterparty to a 
Transferring Contract which is assigned or novated to the Customer (and/or Replacement 
Supplier) pursuant to paragraph 9.6 of this Contract Schedule 10 in relation to any matters 
arising prior to the date of assignment or novation of such Transferring Contract. 
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10. SUPPLIER PERSONNEL 

10.1. The Customer and Supplier agree and acknowledge that in the event of the Supplier ceasing to 
provide the Services or part of them for any reason, Contract Schedule 10 (Staff Transfer) 
shall apply. 

10.2. The Supplier shall not take any step (expressly or implicitly and directly or indirectly by itself or 
through any other person) to dissuade or discourage any employees engaged in the 
provision of the Services from transferring their employment to the Customer and/or the 
Replacement 
Supplier. 

10.3. During the Termination Assistance Period, the Supplier shall give the Customer and/or the 
Replacement Supplier reasonable access to the Supplier’s personnel to present the case for 
transferring their employment to the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier. 

10.4. The Supplier shall immediately notify the Customer or, at the direction of the Customer, the 
Replacement Supplier of any period of notice given by the Supplier or received from any 
person referred to in the Staffing Information, regardless of when such notice takes effect. 

10.5. The Supplier shall not for a period of twelve (12) Months from the date of transfer re-employ 
or re-engage or entice any employees, Supplier’s or Sub-Contractors whose employment or 
engagement is transferred to the Customer and/or the Replacement Supplier, unless 
approval has been obtained from the Customer which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

11. CHARGES 

11.1. Except as otherwise expressly specified in this Contract, the Supplier shall not make any charges 
for the services provided by the Supplier pursuant to, and the Customer shall not be obliged 
to pay for costs incurred by the Supplier in relation to its compliance with, this Contract 
Schedule 10 including the preparation and implementation of the Exit Plan, the Termination 
Assistance and any activities mutually agreed between the Parties to carry on after the expiry 
of the Termination Assistance Period. 

12. APPORTIONMENTS 

12.1. All outgoings and expenses (including any remuneration due) and all rents, royalties and other 
periodical payments receivable in respect of the Transferring Assets and Transferring 
Contracts shall be apportioned between the Customer and the Supplier and/or the 
Replacement Supplier and the Supplier (as applicable) as follows: 

12.1.1. the amounts shall be annualised and divided by 365 to reach a daily rate; 

12.1.2. the Customer shall be responsible for (or shall procure that the Replacement Supplier 
shall be responsible for) or entitled to (as the case may be) that part of the value of 
the invoice pro rata to the number of complete days following the transfer, 
multiplied by the daily rate; and 

12.1.3. the Supplier shall be responsible for or entitled to (as the case may be) the rest of the 
invoice. 

12.2. Each Party shall pay (and/or the Customer shall procure that the Replacement Supplier shall 
pay) any monies due under paragraph 12.1 of this Contract Schedule 10 as soon as 
reasonably practicable. 

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 11: VARIATION FORM No 

of Contract Order Form being varied: 

…………………………………………………………………… 
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Variation Form No: 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

BETWEEN: 

[insert name of Customer] ("the Customer") and 

[insert name of Supplier] ("the Supplier") 

1 This Contract is varied as follows and shall take effect on the date signed by both Parties: 

[Insert details of the Variation] 
 
 

2 Words and expressions in this Variation shall have the meanings given to them in this Contract. 

 
3 This Contract, including any previous Variations, shall remain effective and unaltered except as amended 

by this Variation. 

Signed by an authorised signatory for and on behalf of the Customer 

Signature 

 
Date 

 
 

Name (in Capitals) 
 
 

Address 
 
 

Signed by an authorised signatory to sign for and on behalf of the Supplier 

Signature 

 

Date 
 
 

Name (in Capitals) 
 
 

Address 

 

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 12: ALTERNATIVE AND/OR ADDITIONAL CLAUSES 
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1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Contract Schedule 12 specifies the range of Alternative Clauses and Additional Clauses that 
may be requested in the Contract Order Form and, if requested in the Contract Order Form, 
shall apply to this Contract. 

 
2. CLAUSES SELECTED 

 
2.1 The Customer may, in the Contract Order Form, request the following Alternative Clauses 

2.1.1 Financial Limits (see paragraph 4.5 of this Contract Schedule 12). 
2.2 The Customer may, in the Contract Order Form, request the following Additional Clauses should 

apply: 

2.2.1 Security Measures (see paragraph 5.1 of this Contract Schedule 12); 

3. IMPLEMENTATION 

3.1 The appropriate changes have been made in this Contract to implement the Alternative and/or 
Additional Clauses specified in paragraph 2.1 of this Contract Schedule 12 and the Additional 
Clauses specified in paragraphs 2.2 and 2.2.1 of this Contract Schedule 12 shall be deemed to 
be incorporated into this Contract. 

 
4. ALTERNATIVE CLAUSES 

 
4.1 FINANCIAL LIMITS 

In Clause 25.3 remove the monetary amount and the percentage stated therein and replace 
respectively with: 

[enter monetary amount in words] [£ X] 

[enter percentage in words] [£ X] 
 

5. ADDITIONAL CLAUSES: GENERAL 
 

5.1 SECURITY MEASURES 

5.1.1 The following definitions to be added to Contract Schedule 1 (Definitions) to the Contract 
Order Form and the Contract Terms: 

"Document" includes specifications, plans, drawings, photographs and books; 
 

"Secret Matter" means any matter connected with or arising out of the 
performance of this Contract which has been, or may hereafter be, by a notice in 
writing given by the Customer to the Supplier be designated 'top secret', 'secret', 
or 'confidential'; 

 
"Servant" where the Supplier is a body corporate shall include a director of that 
body and any person occupying in relation to that body the position of director by 
whatever name called. 

5.1.2 The following new Clause [58] shall apply: 

58. [SECURITY MEASURES] 

58.1. The Supplier shall not, either before or after the completion or termination of 
this Contract, do or permit to be done anything which it knows or ought 
reasonably to know may result in information about a secret matter being: 
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58.1.1. without the prior consent in writing of the Customer, disclosed to or 
acquired by a person who is an alien or who is a British subject by 
virtue only of a certificate of naturalisation in which his name was 
included; 

58.1.2. disclosed to or acquired by a person as respects whom the Customer 
has given to the Supplier a notice in writing which has not been 
cancelled stating that the Customer requires that secret matters 
shall not be disclosed to that person; 

58.1.3. without the prior consent in writing of the Customer, disclosed to or 
acquired by any person who is not a servant of the Supplier; or 

58.1.4. disclosed to or acquired by a person who is an employee of the 
Supplier except in a case where it is necessary for the proper 
performance of this Contract that such person shall have the 
information. 

58.2. Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 58.1, the Supplier shall, both 
before and after the completion or termination of this Contract, take all 
reasonable steps to ensure: 

58.2.1. no such person as is mentioned in Clauses 58.1, 58.1.1 or 58.1.2 
hereof shall have access to any item or document under the control 
of the Supplier containing information about a secret matter except 
with the prior consent in writing of the Customer; 

58.2.2. that no visitor to any premises in which there is any item to be 
supplied under this Contract or where Services are being supplied 
shall see or discuss with the Supplier or any person employed by 
him any secret matter unless the visitor is authorised in writing by 
the Customer so to do; 

58.2.3. that no photograph of any item to be supplied under this Contract 
or any portions of the Services shall be taken except insofar as may 
be necessary for the proper performance of this Contract or with 
the prior consent in writing of the Customer, and that no such 
photograph shall, without such consent, be published or otherwise 
circulated; 

58.2.4 . that all information about any secret matter and every document 
model or other item which contains or may reveal any such 
information is at all times strictly safeguarded, and that, except 
insofar as may be necessary for the proper performance of this 
Contract or with the prior consent in writing of the Customer, no 
copies of or extracts from any such document, model or item shall 
be made or used and no designation of description which may 
reveal information about the nature or contents of any such 
document, model or item shall be placed thereon; and 

58.2.5. that if the Customer gives notice in writing to the Supplier at any 
time requiring the delivery to the Customer of any such document, 
model or item as is mentioned in Clause 58.2.3, that document, 
model or item (including all copies of or extracts therefrom) shall 
forthwith be delivered to the Customer who shall be deemed to be 
the owner thereof and accordingly entitled to retain the same. 
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58.3. The decision of the Customer on the question whether the Supplier has taken 
or is taking all reasonable steps as required by the foregoing provisions of 
Clause 58 shall be final and conclusive. 

58.4. If and when directed by the Customer, the Supplier shall furnish full particulars 
of all people who are at any time concerned with any secret matter. 

58.6. If, at any time either before or after the expiry or termination of this Contract, 
it comes to the notice of the Supplier that any person acting without lawful 
authority is seeking or has sought to obtain information concerning this 
Contract or anything done or to be done in pursuance thereof, the matter 
shall be forthwith reported by the Supplier to the Customer and the report 
shall, in each case, be accompanied by a statement of the facts, including, if 
possible, the name, address and occupation of that person, and the Supplier 
shall be responsible for making all such arrangements as it may consider 
appropriate to ensure that if any such occurrence comes to the knowledge 

of any person employed by it, that person shall forthwith report the matter to 
the Supplier with a statement of the facts as aforesaid. 

58.7. The Supplier shall place every person employed by it, other than a 
SubContractor, who in its opinion has or will have such knowledge of any 
secret matter as to appreciate its significance, under a duty to the Supplier 
to observe the same obligations in relation to that matter as are imposed on 
the Supplier by Clauses 58.1 and 58.2 and shall, if directed by the Customer, 
place every person who is specified in the direction or is one of a class of 
people so specified, under the like duty in relation to any secret matter which 
may be specified in the direction, and shall at all times use its best 
endeavours to ensure that every person upon whom obligations are imposed 
by virtue of Clause 58 observes the said obligations, and the Supplier shall 
give such instructions and information to every such person as may be 
necessary for that purpose, and shall, immediately upon becoming aware of 
any act or omission which is or would be a breach of the said obligations, 
report the facts to the Supplier with all necessary particulars. 

58.8. The Supplier shall, if directed by the Customer, include in the Sub-Contract 
provisions in such terms as the Customer may consider appropriate for 
placing the Sub-Contractor under obligations in relation to secrecy and 
security corresponding to those placed on the Supplier by Clause 58, but 
with such variations (if any) as the Customer may consider necessary. 
Further the Supplier shall: 

58.8.1.  give such notices, directions, requirements and decisions to its 
SubContractors as may be necessary to bring the provisions relating 
to secrecy and security which are included in Sub-Contracts under 

Clause 58 into operation in such cases and to such extent as the 
Customer may direct; 

58.8.2. if there comes to its notice any breach by the Subcontractor of the 
obligations of secrecy and security included in their Sub-Contracts 
in pursuance of Clause 58, notify such breach forthwith to the 
Customer; and 

58.8.3. if and when so required by the Customer, exercise its power to 
determine the Sub-Contract under the provision in that 
SubContract which corresponds to Clause 58.11. 
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58.9. The Supplier shall give the Customer such information and particulars as the 
Customer may from time to time require for the purposes of satisfying the 
Customer that the obligations imposed by or under the foregoing provisions 
of Clause 58 have been and are being observed and as to what the Supplier 
has done or is doing or proposes to do to secure the observance of those 
obligations and to prevent any breach thereof, and the Supplier shall secure 
that a representative of the Customer duly authorised in writing shall be 
entitled at reasonable times to enter and inspect any premises in which 
anything is being done or is to be done under this Contract or in which there 
is or will be any item to be supplied under this Contract, and also to inspect 
any document or item in any such premises or which is being made or used 
for the purposes of this Contract and that any such representative shall be 
given all such information as he may require on the occasion of, or arising 
out of, any such inspection. 

58.10. Nothing in Clause 58 shall prevent any person from giving any information or 
doing anything on any occasion when it is, by virtue of any enactment, the 
duty of that person to give that information or do that thing. 

58.11. If the Customer shall consider that any of the following events has occurred: 

58.11.1. that the Supplier has committed a breach of, or failed to comply with 
any of, the foregoing provisions of Clause 58; or 

58.11.2. that the Supplier has committed a breach of any obligations in 
relation to secrecy or security imposed upon it by any other 
contract with the Customer, or with any department or person 
acting on behalf of the Crown; or 

58.11.3. that by reason of an act or omission on the part of the Supplier, or 
of a person employed by the Supplier, which does not constitute 
such a breach or failure as is mentioned in 58.11.2, information 
about a secret matter has been or is likely to be acquired by a 
person who, in the opinion of the Customer, ought not to have 
such information; 

and shall also decide that the interests of the State require the termination of this 
Contract, the Customer may by notice in writing terminate this Contract forthwith. 

58.12. A decision of the Customer to terminate this Contract in accordance with the 
provisions of Clause 58.11 shall be final and conclusive and it shall not be 
necessary for any notice of such termination to specify or refer in any way to 
the event or considerations upon which the Customer's decision is based. 

58.13. Supplier’s notice 

58.13.1. The Supplier may within five (5) Working Days of the termination of 

this Contract in accordance with the provisions of Clause 58.11, 
give the Customer notice in writing requesting 

the Customer to state whether the event upon which the 
Customer's decision to terminate was based is an event 
mentioned in Clauses 58.11, 58.11.1 or 58.11.2 and to give 
particulars of that event; and 
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58.13.2. the Customer shall within ten (10) Working Days of the receipt of 
such a request give notice in writing to the Supplier containing 
such a statement and particulars as are required by the request. 

58.14. Matters pursuant to termination 

58.14.1.  The termination of this Contract pursuant to Clause 58.11 shall 
be without prejudice to any rights of either party which shall have 
accrued before the date of such termination; 

58.14.2. The Supplier shall be entitled to be paid for any work or thing done 
under this Contract and accepted but not paid for by the 
Customer at the date of such termination either at the price 
which would have been payable under this Contract if this 
Contract had not been terminated, or at a reasonable price; 

58.14.3. The Customer may take over any work or thing done or made under 
this Contract (whether completed or not) and not accepted at 
the date of such termination which the Customer may by notice 

in writing to the Supplier given within thirty (30) Working Days 
from the time when the provisions of Clause 58 shall have 
effect, elect to take over, and the Supplier shall be entitled to be 
paid for any work or thing so taken over a price which, having 
regard to the stage which that work or thing has reached and its 
condition at the time it is taken over, is reasonable. The Supplier 
shall in accordance with directions given by the Customer, 
deliver any work or thing taken over under this Clause, and take 
all such other steps as may be reasonably necessary to enable 
the Customer to have the full benefit of any work or thing taken 
over under this Clause; and 

58.14.4. Save as aforesaid, the Supplier shall not be entitled to any payment 
from the Customer after the termination of this Contract. 

58.15.  If, after notice of termination of this Contract pursuant to the provisions of 
58.11: 

58.15.1. the Customer shall not within ten (10) Working Days of the receipt 
of a request from the Supplier, furnish such a statement and 
particulars as are detailed in Clause 58.13.1; or 

58.15.2. the Customer shall state in the statement and particulars detailed 
in Clause 58.13.2. that the event upon which the Customer's 
decision to terminate this Contract was based is an event 
mentioned in Clause 58.11.3, 

the respective rights and obligations of the Supplier and the Customer shall be 
terminated in accordance with the following provisions: 

58.15.3. the Customer shall take over from the Supplier at a fair and 
reasonable price all unused and undamaged materials, 
boughtout parts and components and articles in course of 
manufacture 

in the possession of the Supplier upon the termination of this 
Contract under the provisions of Clause 58.11 and properly 
provided by or supplied to the Supplier for the performance of 
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this Contract, except such materials, bought-out parts and 
components and articles in course of manufacture as the 
Supplier shall, with the concurrence of the Customer, elect to 
retain; 

58.15.4. the Supplier shall prepare and deliver to the Customer within an 
agreed period or in default of agreement within such period as 
the Customer may specify, a list of all such unused and 
undamaged materials, bought-out parts and components and 
articles in course of manufacture liable to be taken over by or 
previously belonging to the Customer and shall deliver such 
materials and items in accordance with the directions of the 
Customer who shall pay to the Supplier fair and reasonable 
handling and delivery charges incurred in complying with such 
directions; 

58.15.5. the Customer shall indemnify the Supplier against any 
commitments, liabilities or expenditure which are reasonably 
and properly chargeable by the Supplier in connection with this 

Contract to the extent to which the said commitments, liabilities 
or expenditure would otherwise represent an unavoidable loss 
by the Supplier by reason of the termination of this Contract; 

58.15.6. if hardship to the Supplier should arise from the operation of Clause 
58.15 it shall be open to the Supplier to refer the circumstances 
to the Customer who, on being satisfied that such hardship 
exists shall make such allowance, if any, as in its opinion is 
reasonable and the decision of the Customer on any matter 
arising out of this Clause 58.15 shall be final and conclusive; and 

subject to the operation of Clauses 58.15.3, 58.15.4, 58.15.5 and 58.15.6 
termination of this Contract shall be without prejudice to any rights of either party 
that may have accrued before the date of such termination. CONTRACT SCHEDULE 
13: CONTRACT TENDER 

NOTE: the Supplier’s quality tender response for the Call-Off Contract will be attached to the 

of the contract 
 

back 
 
 
 
 

 
SCHEDULE 14: SUB-CONTRACTING 

General 

1.1. The Supplier must select its Sub-Contractors fairly and without discrimination and must comply with any 
procurement rules that apply when doing so, including the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 where 
the Supplier is a contracting authority under those regulations. 

1.2. The Supplier must ensure that proposed Sub-Contractors are of adequate financial standing and have 
sufficient capacity and capability to deliver the Services that are to be Sub-Contracted. 
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1.3. The Supplier must have a direct contractual relationship by way of a Sub- Contract with all of its 
SubContractors. The Supplier must ensure that its Sub-Contractors do not sub-contract any of the 
Services further to other Suppliers unless the Customer has given its expression written permission for 
further Sub-Contracting 

1.4. The Supplier must not enter into any agreement for Brokerage in relation to the Services under this Contract. 
 

Requirements for Sub-Contracts 

1.5. The Supplier must enter into a written Sub-Contract with any supplier that the Supplier is proposing to use 
as a Sub-Contractor. The Supplier and the Sub-Contractor must enter into the Sub-Contract before the 
Sub-Contractor commences the delivery of the proposed sub-contracted Services. 

1.6. The Sub-Contract must include: 

1.6.1. terms and conditions substantially the same as those set out in this Contract; 

1.6.2. payment provisions such that the Supplier must pay the Sub- Contractor within 30 days of 
receiving a valid invoice; 

1.6.3. an obligation on the Sub-Contractor to obtain express written permission from the Supplier before 
enrolling any Learners; 

1.6.4. an obligation on the Sub-Contractor to participate in any rectification plan as appropriate in the 
event that the Sub-Contractor has committed an act which would constitute a material 
Default of this Contract (whether or not it is also a breach of the Sub-Contract); and 

1.6.5. sanctions on the Sub-Contractor for material Default of the Sub- Contract substantially the same 
as those set out in this Contract. 

1.7. Sub-Contracts must be available at all times for the Customer to inspect on request. 

Supplier Obligations 

1.8. The Supplier must make payment to any Sub-Contractor within 30 days of receiving a valid invoice in 
accordance with the required provisions of the Sub- Contract set out at paragraph 1.8.2 of this 
Schedule. 

1.9. The Supplier must manage and monitor its Sub-Contractors in accordance with the relevant SubContract 
to ensure that the Sub-Contractors deliver the sub-contracted Services to the standard set out in 
Clause 3 (Service Delivery) of this Contract. 

1.10. The Supplier must inform the Customer whenever a Sub-Contractor goes into administration or 
liquidation. 

1.11. The Supplier must have a contingency plan in place to ensure that there is continuity of Services for 
existing Learners in the event of any circumstances that may arise that render a Sub-Contractor unable 

to deliver the sub- contracted Services including but not limited to the expiry or termination of the 
Sub-Contract. 

1.12. The Supplier must ensure that a Sub-Contractor that has committed an act which constitutes a material 
Default of this Contract (whether or not it is also a breach of its Sub-Contract) participates in any rectification 
plan as appropriate. 

1.13. The Supplier must carry out an investigation at its own cost if there is any evidence of a Sub-Contractor 
having irregular financial or delivery activity and notify the Customer of this and of the outcome of any 
such investigation. 
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1.14. The Supplier must not enter new sub-contracting arrangements or increase the value of existing 
arrangements, without the written consent of the Customer, if any of the following circumstances 
apply: 

1.14.1. Ofsted has rated the Contractor's management and leadership as inadequate; 

1.14.2. the outcome of the Contractor's annual financial health assessment is inadequate, unless the 
Customer has provided its written consent to the proposed sub-contracting arrangement 
in advance of a Sub- Contract being entered into; 

1.14.3. a Sub-Supplier has been inspected and judged to be inadequate by Ofsted; or 

1.14.4. a Sub-Contractor is subject to ongoing intervention or investigation by the Customer. 

Financial Thresholds 

1.15. Where the annual value of this Contract in any Academic Year exceeds £5 million and the Supplier wants to 
sub-contract one or more of the Services the following provisions apply: 

1.15.1. The Supplier will advertise on Contracts Finder all sub-contract opportunities arising from or 
in connection with the provision of the Services above a minimum threshold of £25,000 
that arise during the Contract Period. 

1.15.2. Once a Sub-Contract has been awarded, the Supplier will update the notice on Contracts Finder 
with the details of the successful Sub-Contractor. 

1.15.3. In addition to any other management information requirements set out in this Contract, the 
Supplier agrees and acknowledges that it will, at no charge, provider timely, full, accurate 
and complete SME Management Information (“MI) Reports to the Customer which 
incorporate the following: 

(a) The total revenue received directly from the Contract 

(b) The total value of Services under the Contract that have been sub- contracted 
(including revenues for non-SMEs/non-VCSEs); and (c) 

The total value of sub-contracted revenues to SMEs and VCSEs. 

1.15.4. The SME Management Information Reports will be provided in the correct format as required by 
the Customer and any guidance issued by the Customer from time to time. 

1.16. Where the Customer requests it, the Supplier must obtain an annual report from an external auditor if 
the aggregate total of Services in respect of which the Supplier has entered into Sub-Contracts exceeds 
or is anticipated to exceed £50,000 in any single Contract Year. The aggregate of the sums paid by the 
Supplier to its Sub-Contractors relates solely to Services that the Supplier is required to delivery under 
this Call Off Contract. 

Departmental Rights 

1.17. In the event that the Supplier fails to comply with any of the requirements set out in this Schedule the 
Customer reserves the right to take such remedial action under this Contract as it considers 
appropriate in the circumstances, which may include but is not limited to requiring the Supplier to 
terminate an existing Sub-Contract and/ or prohibiting the Supplier from entering into any new 
SubContract to deliver the Services under this Contract. 

Key Sub-Contractor 

2.1. The following are agreed between the Parties to be Key Sub-Contracts at the Contract Commencement Date: 

2.1.1. [insert full name details] 
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SCHEDULE 15: FINANCIAL DISTRESS 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

1.1 In this Schedule, the following definitions shall apply: 

 
“Applicable Financial means the financial indicators from Paragraph 5.1 of this Schedule 
Indicators” which are to apply to the Monitored Suppliers as set out in 

Paragraph 5.2 of this Schedule; 

 
“Board” means the Supplier’s board of directors; 

 
“Board Confirmation”  means written confirmation from the Board in accordance with 

Paragraph 8 of this Schedule; 

 
“Credit Rating Level” a credit rating level as specified in Annex 1 of this Schedule; 

 
“Credit Rating Threshold” the minimum Credit Rating Level for each entity in the FDE Group as set out 

in Annex 2 of this Schedule; 

 
“FDE Group”  means the [Supplier, Key Sub-Contractors, [the Guarantor] and 

the [Monitored Suppliers]]; 

 
“Financial Indicators” in respect of the Supplier, Key 
SubContractors and the Guarantor, means each of the financial 
indicators set out at Paragraph 5.1 of this Schedule; and in respect 
of each Monitored Supplier, means those Applicable Financial 
Indicators; 

 
“Financial Target Thresholds” means the target thresholds for each of the Financial Indicators set out 

at Paragraph 5.1 of this Schedule; 

 
”Monitored Suppliers” means those entities specified at Paragraph 5.2 of this Schedule; “Rating 

Agencies” the rating agencies listed in Annex 1 of this Schedule. 

2. WARRANTIES AND DUTY TO NOTIFY 

2.1 The Supplier warrants and represents to the Customer for the benefit of the Customer that as at the Contract 
Commencement Date: 

2.1.1 the long term credit ratings issued for each entity in the FDE Group by each of the Rating Agencies 
are as set out in Annex 2 of this Schedule; and 

2.1.2 the financial position or, as appropriate, the financial performance of each of the Supplier, 
Guarantor and Key Sub-Contractors satisfies the Financial Target Thresholds. 

2.2 The Supplier shall promptly notify (or shall procure that its auditors promptly notify) the Customer in 
writing if there is any downgrade in the credit rating issued by any Rating Agency for any entity in the 
FDE Group (and in any event within 5 Working Days of the occurrence of the downgrade). 
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2.3 The Supplier shall: 

 
2.3.1 regularly monitor the credit ratings of each entity in the FDE Group with the Rating Agencies; 

2.3.2 monitor and report on the Financial Indicators for each entity in the FDE Group against the Financial 
Target Thresholds at least at the frequency set out for each at Paragraph 5.1 (where 
specified) and in any event, on a regular basis and no less than once a year within one 
hundred and twenty (120) days after the Accounting Reference Date; and 

 
2.3.3 promptly notify (or shall procure that its auditors promptly notify) the Customer in 
writing following the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event or any fact, circumstance or 
matter which could cause a Financial Distress Event (and in any event, ensure that such 
notification is made within 10 Working Days of the date on which the Supplier first becomes 
aware of the Financial Distress Event or the fact, circumstance or matter which could cause a 
Financial Distress Event). 

2.4 For the purposes of determining whether a Financial Distress Event has occurred pursuant to the 
provisions of Paragraphs 3.1.10, and for the purposes of determining relief under Paragraph 7.1, the 
credit rating of an FDE Group entity shall be deemed to have dropped below the applicable Credit Rating 
Threshold if: 

2.4.1 any of the Rating Agencies have given a Credit Rating Level for that entity which is below the 
applicable Credit Rating Threshold; or 

2.4.2 a Rating Agency that is specified as holding a Credit Rating for an entity as set out at Annex 2 of 
this Schedule ceases to hold a Credit Rating for that entity. 

 
2.5 Each report submitted by the Supplier pursuant to Paragraph 2.3.2 shall: 

 
2.5.1 be a single report with separate sections for each of the FDE Group entities; 

2.5.2 contain a sufficient level of information to enable the Customer to verify the calculations that 
have been made in respect of the Financial Indicators; 

2.5.3 include key financial and other supporting information (including any accounts data that has been 
relied on) as separate annexes; 

2.5.4 be based on the audited accounts for the date or period on which the Financial Indicator is 
based or, where the Financial Indicator is not linked to an accounting period or an accounting 
reference date, on unaudited management accounts prepared in accordance with their 
normal timetable; and 

2.5.5 include a history of the Financial Indicators reported by the Supplier in graph form to enable the 
Customer to easily analyse and assess the trends in financial performance. 

 
3. FINANCIAL DISTRESS EVENTS 

 
3. .1  The following shall be Financial Distress Events: 

5.1.3 the credit rating of an FDE Group entity dropping below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold; 
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3.1.2 an FDE Group entity issuing a profits warning to a stock exchange or making any other public 
announcement, in each case about a material deterioration in its financial position or 
prospects; 

3.1.3 there being a public investigation into improper financial accounting and reporting, suspected 
fraud or any other impropriety of an FDE Group entity; 

 
3.1.4 an FDE Group entity committing a material breach of covenant to its lenders; 

3.1.5 a Key Sub-Contractor notifying the Customer that the Supplier has not satisfied any material sums 
properly due under a specified invoice and not subject to a genuine dispute; 

3.1.6 any FDE Group entity extends the filing period for filing its accounts with the Registrar of 
Companies so that the filing period ends more than 9 months after its accounting reference 
date without an explanation to the Customer which the Customer (acting reasonably) 
considers to be adequate; 

3.1.7 any FDE Group entity is late to file its annual accounts without a public notification or an 
explanation to the Customer which the Customer, acting reasonably, considers to be 
adequate; 

3.1.8 the directors and/or external auditors of any FDE Group entity conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists in relation to that FDE Group entity’s going concern in the annual report 
including in a reasonable but plausible downside scenario. This includes, but is not limited to, 
commentary about liquidity and trading prospects in the reports from directors or external 
auditors; 

 
3.1.9 any of the following: 

(i) any FDE Group entity makes a public announcement which contains adverse 
commentary with regards to that FDE Group entity’s liquidity and trading and 
trading prospects, such as but not limited to, a profit warning or ability to 
trade as a going concern; 

 
(ii) commencement of any litigation against an FDE Group entity with respect to 

financial indebtedness greater than £5m or obligations under a service 
contract with a total contract value greater than £5m; 

 
(iii) non-payment by an FDE Group entity of any financial indebtedness; 

 
(iv) any financial indebtedness of an FDE Group entity becoming due as a result of 

an event of default; 
 

(v) the cancellation or suspension of any financial indebtedness in respect of an 
FDE Group entity; or 

 
(vi) the external auditor of an FDE Group entity expressing a qualified opinion on, 

or including an emphasis of matter in, its opinion on the statutory accounts of 
that FDE entity; 

in each case which the Customer reasonably believes (or would be likely reasonably to 
believe) could directly impact on the continued performance and delivery of the 
Services in accordance with this Contract; and 
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3.1.10 any [one] of the Financial Indicators set out at Paragraph 5 for any of the FDE Group entities 
failing to meet the required Financial Target Threshold. 

4. CONSEQUENCES OF FINANCIAL DISTRESS EVENTS 
 

4.1 Immediately upon notification by the Supplier of a Financial Distress Event (or if the Customer becomes 
aware of a Financial Distress Event without notification and brings the event to the attention of the 
Supplier), the Supplier shall have the obligations and the Customer shall have the rights and remedies as 
set out in Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.5. 

4.2 In the event of a late or non-payment of a Key Sub-Contractor pursuant to Paragraph 3.1.5, the Customer 
shall not exercise any of its rights or remedies under Paragraph 4.3 without first giving the Supplier 10 
Working Days to: 

 
4.2.1 rectify such late or non-payment; or 

4.2.2 demonstrate to the Customer's reasonable satisfaction that there is a valid reason for late or non- 
payment. 

4.3 The Supplier shall (and shall procure that any Monitored Supplier, the Guarantor and/or any relevant Key 
Sub-Contractor shall): 

4.3.1 at the request of the Customer, meet the Customer as soon as reasonably practicable (and in 
any event within 3 Working Days of the initial notification (or awareness) of the Financial 
Distress Event or such other period as the Customer may permit and notify to the Supplier in 
writing) to review the effect of the Financial Distress Event on the continued performance 
and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Contract; and 

4.3.2 where the Customer reasonably believes (taking into account the discussions and any 
representations made under Paragraph 4.3.1 that the Financial Distress Event could impact 
on the continued performance and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Contract: 

 
(i) submit to the Customer for its approval, a draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan as soon as 

reasonably practicable (and in any event, within 10 Working Days of the initial notification (or 
awareness) of the Financial Distress Event or such other period as the Customer may permit and notify 
to the Supplier in writing); and 

 
(ii) to the extent that it is legally permitted to do so and subject to Paragraph 4.7 , provide 

such information relating to the Supplier, any Monitored Supplier, Key Sub-Contractors 
and/or the Guarantor as the Customer may reasonably require in order to understand the 
risk to the Services, which may include forecasts in relation to cash flow, orders and profits 
and details of financial measures being considered to mitigate the impact of the Financial 
Distress Event. 

4.4 The Customer shall not withhold its approval of a draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan unreasonably. 
If the Customer does not approve the draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan, it shall inform the 
Supplier of its reasons and the Supplier shall take those reasons into account in the preparation of a 
further draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan, which shall be resubmitted to the Customer within 5 
Working Days of the rejection of the first draft. This process shall be repeated until the Financial Distress 
Remediation Plan is either: 

 
4.4.1 approved by the Customer; 
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4.4.2 referred, by notice sent by either Party to the other Party explaining why it thinks the 
Financial Distress Remediation Plan has not been approved, to commercial negotiation led 
by senior representatives who have authority to agree the Financial Distress Remediation 
Plan to be held within 28 days of the date of the notice; or 

4.4.3 finally rejected by the Customer. 
 

4.5 Following approval of the Financial Distress Remediation Plan by the Customer, the Supplier shall: 
 

4.5.1 on a regular basis (which shall not be less than fortnightly): 

(i) review and make any updates to the Financial Distress Remediation Plan as the Supplier 
may deem reasonably necessary and/or as may be reasonably requested by the 

Customer, so that the plan remains adequate, up to date and ensures the continued 
performance and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Contract; and 

 
(ii) provide a written report to the Customer setting out its progress against the 

Financial Distress Remediation Plan, the reasons for any changes made to the 
Financial Distress Remediation Plan by the Supplier and/or the reasons why the 
Supplier may have decided not to make any changes; 

4.5.2 where updates are made to the Financial Distress Remediation Plan in accordance with Paragraph 4.5.1 
submit an updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan to the Customer for its approval, and 
the provisions of Paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5.1 shall apply to the review and approval process for 
the updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan; and 

4.5.3 comply with the Financial Distress Remediation Plan (including any updated Financial 
Distress Remediation Plan) and ensure that it achieves the financial and performance 
requirements set out in the Financial Distress Remediation Plan. 

 
4.6 Where the Supplier reasonably believes that the relevant Financial Distress Event under Paragraph 4.1 

(or the circumstance or matter which has caused or otherwise led to it) no longer exists, it shall notify 
the Customer and the Parties may agree that the Supplier shall be relieved of its obligations under 
Paragraph 4.5. 

 
4.7 The Supplier shall use reasonable endeavours to put in place the necessary measures to ensure that the 

information specified at Paragraph 4.3.2(ii) is available when required and on request from the 
Customer and within reasonable timescales. Such measures may include: 

 
4.7.1 obtaining in advance written authority from Key Sub-Contractors, the Guarantor and/or 

Monitored Suppliers authorising the disclosure of the information to the Customer and/or 
entering into confidentiality agreements which permit disclosure; 

 
4.7.2 agreeing in advance with the Customer, Key Sub-Contractors, the Guarantor and/or 

Monitored Suppliers a form of confidentiality agreement to be entered by the relevant 
parties to enable the disclosure of the information to the Customer; 

 
4.7.3 putting in place any other reasonable arrangements to enable the information to be lawfully 

disclosed to the Customer (which may include making price sensitive information available to 
Customer nominated personnel through confidential arrangements, subject to their 
consent); and 
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4.7.4 disclosing the information to the fullest extent that it is lawfully entitled to do so, including 
through the use of redaction, anonymisation and any other techniques to permit disclosure 
of the information without breaching a duty of confidentiality. 

5. FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
 

5.1 Subject to the calculation methodology set out at Annex 3 of this Schedule, the Financial Indicators and 
the corresponding calculations and thresholds used to determine whether a Financial Distress Event has 
occurred in respect of those Financial Indicators, shall be as follows: 

 
 
 

 
Financial Indicator 

 
Calculation1 

Financial Target 
Threshold: 

Monitoring and Reporting 
Frequency 

 

1 

Operating Margin 

OR 

The higher of (a) the 
Operating Margin for the 
most recent 12 month 
period and (b) the 
average Operating Margin 
for the last two 
12 month periods 

 
 
 
 

 
[Operating Margin = 

Operating Profit / 
Revenue] 

 
 
 
 
 

 
[> [X%]] 

 
 

 
Tested and reported yearly in arrears 

within 120 days of each 
accounting reference date based 
upon figures for the 12 months 

ending on the relevant accounting 
reference date 

 
2 

Free Cash Flow to Net 
Debt Ratio 

OR 

Net Debt to EBITDA 
Ratio 

 
[Free Cash Flow to 

Net Debt Ratio = Free 
Cash Flow / Net Debt] 

OR 

[Net Debt to EBITDA 
ratio = Net Debt / 

EBITDA] 

 
 
 

[> [X%]] 

OR 

[< [X]] times 

 
Tested and reported yearly in arrears 

within 120 days of each 
accounting reference date ] based 
upon [Free Cash Flow / EBITDA] for 
the 12 months ending on, and Net 

Debt at, the relevant accounting 
reference date 

 
 
3 

Net Debt + Net Pension 
Deficit to EBITDA ratio 

 
[Net Debt + Net 

Pension Deficit to 
EBITDA Ratio = (Net 
Debt + Net Pension 
Deficit) / EBITDA] 

 
 

 
[< [X]] times 

Tested and reported yearly in arrears 
within 120 days of each accounting 
reference date based upon EBITDA 

for the 12 months 
ending on, and the Net Debt and 

Net Pension Deficit at, the relevant 
accounting reference date 
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4 

[Net Interest Paid 
Cover] 

 
[Net Interest Paid 

Cover = Earnings 
Before Interest and 
Tax / Net Interest Paid] 

 
 
 

[> [X]] times 

Tested and reported yearly in arrears 
within 120 days of each accounting 

reference date based upon figures for 
the 12 months 

ending on the relevant [accounting 
reference date / half year end] 

 
5 

[Acid Ratio] 

 
[Acid Ratio = (Current 
Assets – Inventories) 
/ Current Liabilities] 

 
[> [X]] times 

Tested and reported yearly in 
arrears within 120 days of each 
accounting reference date based 

upon figures at the relevant 
accounting reference date 

 
6 

[Net Asset value] 

 
 

[Net Asset Value = 
Net Assets] 

 

 
[> £0] 

Tested and reported yearly in 
arrears within 120 days of each 
accounting reference date based 

upon figures at the relevant 
accounting reference date 

 
7 

[Group Exposure Ratio] 

 
 

[Group Exposure / 
Gross Assets] 

 

 
[< [X]]% 

Tested and reported yearly in 
arrears within 120 days of each 
accounting reference date based 

upon figures at the relevant 
accounting reference date 

Key: 1 – See Annex 3 of this Schedule which sets out the calculation methodology to be used in the calculation of 
each Financial Indicator. 

 

 
5.2  Monitored Suppliers 

 

 
Monitored Supplier 

 
 
 
 
 

Applicable Financial Indicators 

(these are the Financial Indicators from the table 
in Paragraph 0 which are to apply to the 
Monitored Suppliers) 

 
 
 

 
Group Member, Sub-contractor, Relevant 
Parent Company 

[1] [2] [3][4][5][6][7] 

 
 

6. TERMINATION RIGHTS 

6.1 The Customer shall be entitled to terminate this Contract under Clause 30.3.1 (Termination in relation to 
Financial Standing) if: 
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6.1.2 the Supplier fails to notify the Customer of a Financial Distress Event in accordance with Paragraph 
2.3.3; 

 
6.1.3 the Supplier fails to comply with any part of Paragraph 4.3; 

6.1.4 the Customer finally rejects a Financial Distress Remediation Plan (or any updated Financial 
Distress Remediation Plan) in accordance with Paragraphs 4.4 to 4.5.1; and/or 

6.1.5 the Supplier fails to comply with the terms of the Financial Distress Remediation Plan (or any 
updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan) in accordance with Paragraph 4.5.3. 

7. PRIMACY OF CREDIT RATINGS 
 

7.1  Without prejudice to the Supplier’s obligations and the Customer’s rights and remedies under Paragraph 
2, if, following the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event pursuant to any of Paragraphs 
3.1.2 to 3.1.10 the Rating Agencies review and report subsequently that the credit ratings for the FDE 
Group entities do not drop below the relevant Credit Rating Thresholds specified for those entities in 
Annex 2 of this Schedule, then: 

 
7.1.1 the Supplier shall be relieved automatically of its obligations under Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.5; and 

7.1.2 the Customer shall not be entitled to require the Supplier to provide financial information in 
accordance with Paragraph 4.3.2(ii)4(ii). 

 
8. BOARD CONFIRMATION 

8.1 Subject to Paragraph 8.4 of this Schedule, the Supplier shall within one hundred and twenty (120) days after 
each Accounting Reference Date or within 15 months of the previous Board Confirmation 

(whichever is the earlier) provide a Board Confirmation to the Customer in the form set out at Annex 4 
of this Schedule, confirming that to the best of the Board’s knowledge and belief, it is not aware of and 
has no knowledge: 

8.1.1 that a Financial Distress Event has occurred since the later of the Contract Commencement Date 
or the previous Board Confirmation or is subsisting; or 

8.1.2 of any matters which have occurred or are subsisting that could reasonably be expected to cause 
a Financial Distress Event. 

8.2 The Supplier shall ensure that in its preparation of the Board Confirmation it exercises due care and 
diligence and has made reasonable enquiry of all relevant Supplier Personnel and other persons as is 
reasonably necessary to understand and confirm the position. 

8.3 In respect of the first Board Confirmation to be provided under this Contract, the Supplier shall provide 
the Board Confirmation within 15 months of the Contract Commencement Date if earlier than the 
timescale for submission set out in Paragraph 8.1 of this Schedule. 

 
8.4 Where the Supplier is unable to provide a Board Confirmation in accordance with Paragraphs 8.1 to 8.3 of 

this Schedule due to the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event or knowledge of subsisting matters 
which could reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event, it will be sufficient for the 
Supplier to submit in place of the Board Confirmation, a statement from the Board of Directors to the 
Customer (and where the Supplier is a Strategic Supplier, the Supplier shall send a copy of the 
statement to the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team) setting out full details of any Financial 
Distress Events that have occurred and/or the matters which could reasonably be expected to cause a 
Financial Distress Event. 
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ANNEX 1: RATING AGENCIES AND THEIR STANDARD RATING SYSTEM 
 
 
 

NOT USED 
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ANNEX 2: CREDIT RATINGS AND CREDIT RATING THRESHOLDS 
 

NOT USED 
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ANNEX 3: CALCULATION METHODOLOGY FOR FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
 

The Supplier shall ensure that it uses the following general and specific methodologies for calculating the 
Financial Indicators against the Financial Target Thresholds: 

General methodology 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Financial Indicator 

 
 

Specific Methodology 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 

[Operating Margin] 

 
 

The elements used to calculate the Operating Margin should be shown on the 
face of the Income Statement in a standard set of financial statements. 

Figures for Operating Profit and Revenue should exclude the entity’s share of 
the results of any joint ventures or Associates. 

Where an entity has an operating loss (i.e. where the operating profit is 
negative), Operating Profit should be taken to be zero. 



176  

2 

[Free Cash Flow to Net Debt 
Ratio] 

 
[“Free Cash Flow” = Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities – Capital 
Expenditure 

“Capital Expenditure” = Purchase of property, plant & equipment + purchase 
of intangible assets 

“Net Debt” = Bank overdrafts + Loans and borrowings + Finance Leases + 
Deferred consideration payable – Cash and cash equivalents 

The majority of the elements used to calculate the Free Cash Flow to Net 
Debt Ratio should be shown on the face of the Statement of Cash Flows and 
the Balance Sheet in a standard set of financial statements. 

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities: This should be stated after deduction 
of interest and tax paid. 

Capital expenditure: The elements of capital expenditure may be described 
slightly differently but will be found under ‘Cash flows from investing 
activities’ in the Statement of Cash Flows; they should be limited to the 
purchase of fixed assets (including intangible assets) for the business and 
exclude acquisitions. The figure should be shown gross without any deduction 
for any proceeds of sale of fixed assets. 

Net Debt: The elements of Net Debt may also be described slightly differently 
and should be found either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the 

1. Terminology: The terms referred to in this Annex are those used by UK companies in their financial 
statements. Where the entity is not a UK company, the corresponding items should be used even if 
the terminology is slightly different (for example a charity would refer to a surplus or deficit rather 
than a profit or loss). 

 
1. Groups: Where the entity is the holding company of a group and prepares consolidated financial 

statements, the consolidated figures should be used. 
 

2. Foreign currency conversion: Figures denominated in foreign currencies should be converted at the 
exchange rate in force at the relevant date for which the Financial Indicator is being calculated. 

 
3. Treatment of non-underlying items: Financial Indicators should be based on the figures in the financial 

statements before adjusting for non-underlying items. 
 

Specific Methodology 
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OR 

[Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio] 

relevant note to the financial statements. All interest bearing liabilities (other 
than retirement benefit obligations) should be treated as borrowings as 
should, where disclosed, any liabilities (less any assets) in respect of any 
hedges designated as linked to borrowings (but not non-designated hedges). 
Borrowings should also include balances owed to other group members. 

Deferred consideration payable should be included in Net Debt despite 
typically being non-interest bearing. 

Cash and cash equivalents should include short-term financial investments 
shown in current assets. 

Where Net debt is negative (i.e. an entity has net cash), the relevant 

Financial Target Threshold should be treated as having been met.] OR 

[“Net Debt” = Bank overdrafts + Loans and borrowings + Finance leases + 
Deferred consideration payable – Cash and cash equivalents 

“EBITDA” = Operating profit + Depreciation charge + Amortisation charge 

The majority of the elements used to calculate the Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio 
should be shown on the face of the Balance sheet, Income statement and 
Statement of Cash Flows in a standard set of financial statements but will 
otherwise be found in the notes to the financial statements. 

Net Debt: The elements of Net Debt may be described slightly differently and 
should be found either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant 
note to the financial statements. All interest bearing liabilities (other than 
retirement benefit obligations) should be included as borrowings as should, 
where disclosed, any liabilities (less any assets) in respect of any hedges 
designated as linked to borrowings (but not non-designated hedges). 
Borrowings should also include balances owed to other group members. 

Deferred consideration payable should be included in Net Debt despite 
typically being non-interest bearing. 

Cash and cash equivalents should include short-term financial investments 
shown in current assets. 

Where Net debt is negative (i.e. an entity has net cash), the relevant Financial 
Target Threshold should be treated as having been met. 

EBITDA: Operating profit should be shown on the face of the Income 
Statement and, for the purposes of calculating this Financial Indicator, should 
include the entity’s share of the results of any joint ventures or Associates. The 
depreciation and amortisation charges for the period may be found on the 
face of the Statement of Cash Flows or in a Note to the Accounts. Where 
EBITDA is negative, the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated 
as not having been met (unless Net Debt is also negative, in which case the 
relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as having been met).] 
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3 

[Net Debt + Net Pension 
Deficit to EBITDA ratio] 

 
 
 

[“Net Debt” = Bank overdrafts + Loans and borrowings + Finance leases + 
Deferred consideration payable – Cash and cash equivalents 

“Net Pension Deficit” = Retirement Benefit Obligations – Retirement Benefit 
Assets 
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“EBITDA” = Operating profit + Depreciation charge + Amortisation charge 

The majority of the elements used to calculate the Net Debt + Net Pension 
Deficit to EBITDA Ratio should be shown on the face of the Balance sheet, 
Income statement and Statement of Cash Flows in a standard set of financial 
statements but will otherwise be found in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Net Debt: The elements of Net Debt may be described slightly differently and 
should be found either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant 
note to the financial statements. All interest bearing liabilities (other than 
retirement benefit obligations) should be included as borrowings as should, 
where disclosed, any liabilities (less any assets) in respect of any hedges 
designated as linked to borrowings (but not non-designated hedges). 
Borrowings should also include balances owed to other group members. 

Deferred consideration payable should be included in Net Debt despite 
typically being non-interest bearing. 

Cash and cash equivalents should include short-term financial investments 
shown in current assets. 

Net Pension Deficit: Retirement Benefit Obligations and Retirement Benefit 
Assets may be shown on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the notes to the 
financial statements. They may also be described as pension benefits / 
obligations, post-employment obligations or other similar terms. 

Where ‘Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit’ is negative, the relevant Financial 
Target Threshold should be treated as having been met. 

EBITDA: Operating profit should be shown on the face of the Income 
Statement and, for the purposes of calculating this Financial Indicator, should 
include the entity’s share of the results of any joint ventures or Associates. 

The depreciation and amortisation charges for the period may be found on 
the face of the Statement of Cash Flows or in a Note to the Accounts. 

Where EBITDA is negative, the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be 
treated as not having been met (unless ‘Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit’ is 
also negative, in which case the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be 
regarded as having been met).] 
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4 

[Net Interest Paid Cover] 

 
 
 
 

 
[“Earnings Before Interest and Tax” = Operating profit 

“Net Interest Paid” = Interest paid – Interest received 

Operating profit should be shown on the face of the Income Statement in a 
standard set of financial statements and, for the purposes of calculating this 
Financial Indicator, should include the entity’s share of the results of any joint 
ventures or Associates. 

Interest received and interest paid should be shown on the face of the Cash 
Flow statement. 

Where Net interest paid is negative (i.e. the entity has net interest received), 
the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as having been 
met.] 

 
 
 
 

 
5 

[Acid Ratio] 

 
[All elements that are used to calculate the Acid Ratio are available on the 
face of the Balance Sheet in a standard set of financial statements.] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 

[Net Asset value] 

 
 
 
 
 

[Net Assets are shown (but sometimes not labelled) on the face of the 
Balance Sheet of a standard set of financial statements. Net Assets are 
sometimes called net worth or ‘Shareholders’ Funds’. They represent the net 
assets available to the shareholders. Where an entity has a majority interest 
in another entity in which there are also minority or non-controlling interests 
(i.e. where it has a subsidiary partially owned by outside investors), Net Assets 
should be taken inclusive of minority or non-controlling interests (as if the 
entity owned 100% of such entity).] 
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7 

[Group Exposure Ratio] 

 

 
[“Group Exposure” = Balances owed by Group Undertakings + Contingent 
liabilities assumed in support of Group Undertakings 

“Gross Assets” = Fixed Assets + Current Assets 

Group Exposure: Balances owed by (i.e. receivable from) Group 
Undertakings are shown within Fixed assets or Current assets either on the 
face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 
In many cases there may be no such balances, in particular where an entity is 
not a member of a group or is itself the ultimate holding company of the 
group. 

Contingent liabilities assumed in support of Group Undertakings are shown in 
the Contingent Liabilities note in a standard set of financial statements. They 
include guarantees and security given in support of the borrowings of other 
group companies, often as part of group borrowing arrangements. Where the 
contingent liabilities are capped, the capped figure should be taken as their 
value. Where no cap or maximum is specified, the relevant Financial Target 
Threshold should automatically be regarded as not having been met. 

In many cases an entity may not have assumed any contingent liabilities in 
support of Group Undertakings, in particular where an entity is not a member 
of a group or is itself the ultimate holding company of the group. 

Gross Assets: Both Fixed assets and Current assets are shown on the face of 
the Balance Sheet] 



 

ANNEX 4: BOARD CONFIRMATION 
 

 
Supplier Name: 

Contract Reference Number: 
 

 
The Board of Directors acknowledge the requirements set out at paragraph 8 of Schedule 15 
(Financial Distress) and confirm that the Supplier has exercised due care and diligence and made 
reasonable enquiry of all relevant Supplier Personnel and other persons as is reasonably necessary 
to enable the Board to prepare this statement. 

The Board of Directors confirms, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that as at the date of this 
Board Confirmation it is not aware of and has no knowledge: 

 
(a)  that a Financial Distress Event has occurred since the later of the previous Board 

Confirmation and the Contract Commencement Date or is subsisting; or 
 

(b) of any matters which have occurred or are subsisting that could reasonably be expected 
to cause a Financial Distress Event 

 

 
On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

 
 

Chair ………………………………… 

Signed ………………………………… 

………………………………… 
Date 

 

 
Director ………………………………… 

Signed ………………………………… 

Date ………………………………… 
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SUPPLIER’S QUALITY TENDER RESPONSE 
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Please detail the 
high-level course 
content 
(identifying 

 
 

 
Week 1: Acquire the basics of programming such as writing a pseudo 
code, understanding algorithm design and representation, and an 
introduction to the field of Software Engineering. An introduction to 
Python besides other fundamental concepts such as how to store and 
interact with data using variables. Complete an initial assessment as a 
‘mini-capstone’ project that identifies the learners' aptitude level in 
foundational competencies required to be successful in Software 
Engineering. 

 
Week 2: Build on the basics by learning string and numerical data 
types and how to use if statement and boolean data type in Python. 

Q.  
 delivery subjects 

6 in each week 
 

 
Soft 
Boo 
con 

of the Skills 
Bootcamp) 

ware Engineering 
tcamp course 
tent 

2a: Course Content 



 

Build a strong 
foundation in 

letter in a professional development ‘Build your Brand’ task. 

understanding control Week 4: Get acquainted with the foundational concepts of logical 
structures - else 
statements and learn 
to check for multiple 
conditions using elif 
statements. 

programming such as using operators, variables and more advanced 
control structures. Gain hands-on experience through a second 
Capstone Project of creating an investment calculator. 

Week 5: Familiarise yourself with the basics of software engineering 
best practices followed by industry professionals. An introduction to 

Week 3: Start thinking best practices of handling errors and looping. 
about the career 
outcome you want - 
self employment, vs 
moving to a new role 
at your company, vs 
moving to a new 
external role. Learn 
about apprenticeship 
opportunities and 
how the job search 
and support process 
would work in the 
SKills Bootcamp. If 
relevant,create and 
get reviewed a draft 
professional 
CV/LinkedIn and cover 

Week 6: Deep dive into fundamentals of software engineering such as 
string handling, discovering the most frequently used and versatile 
collection data type used in Python - The List, besides learning how to 
read data from text files. 

Week 7: Build on foundational programming skills and prepare for 
more advanced concepts in the software engineering program. 
Introduction to the fundamentals of working with external data 
sources. 

Week 8: Get guidance on how to manipulate lists and become 
acquainted with dictionaries and finally the learning is put to test 
through another Capstone Project involving a comprehensive task that 
uses control and data structures in an interactive way. 
 
 
Week 9: Familiarise yourself with how to use Python's built-in functions 
to provide better modularity for programs and encourage code reuse 
apart from learning to create own Python functions to carry out 
specific 
tasks 

Week 10: Introduction to hypothesis-driven debugging with the stack 
trace which further guides learners on how to debug methodically and 
move away from trying to resolve errors randomly, to be more 
systematic. 
 
Week 11: Build on previous week's learning and get accustomed with 
the fundamentals of defensive programming which guides learners on 
how to guard against unexpected errors. 

Week 12: A focus on looking again at outcomes and engaging with 
HyperionDev employer partners in a first webinar and starting to 
implement some of the tools and systems to start a new job/contract 
search. 



 

Week 13: Get acquainted with the principles of object oriented 
programming and a brief introduction on ‘Classes’. 

 
Week 14: Introduction to more concepts of object oriented 
programming such as ‘Inheritance’ and learning how to improve the 
modularity and reuse of code using inheritance and the critical role it 
plays in Python's object system. 

 
 

  

 
Week 15: Applying the fundamentals of object oriented programming 
to solve a problem defined in another Capstone Project of ours. Also, 
start preparing for interviews or contract applications with another 
task in the ‘Build Your Brand’ sessions, including giving feedback on 
employer engagement. 

Week 16: Introduce version control and Git, discovering how to set up 
a repository, use common Git commands, commit a modified file, 
view project's history, and branch. Learners are advised to use GitHub 
to start building a portfolio of work which they can share with others 
to showcase their skills, and completing a final capstone project that 
puts the core learning of the bootcamp into practice. 

 
 
 
 

Q. 
7 

 
Number of 
Guided 
Learning Hours* 
for each cohort 
(minimum 120 
GLH). 

Number of 
Q. independent 

8 learning hours 

 
Mode of delivery 

Q. (remote/classro 
9 om/blended) 

 
 

 
128 

 
 
 
 
Remote 

 

Number of 
Q. Cohorts 

10 proposed 

 
 

 
Three 



 

 
 
 
 

 
Planned start/end 
dates 
for each cohort 04/09/2023 - 22/12/2024. Assume learner recruitment begins June 1, Q. 

(dates should fall2023 . Positive outcomes achieved by end of June, 2024. 

11 within the 05/10/2023 - 31/01/2024. Positive outcomes achieved by end of July, 
maximum 2024. 

length of time of 05/11/2023 - 28/02/2024. Positive outcomes achieved by end of Aug 16 
weeks) 2024. 

Identify how Over the last decade of operations, we have delivered our commercial 
your initial and Software Engineering bootcamps to thousands of learners. We 
deliver final  similar versions of the proposed Software Engineering Skills Bootcamp 
assessments will to >1000 learners in FY22 as part of Wave 3 provision and will use the 
establish   lessons learned to improve Wave 4 provision. 
the knowledge, 

Q. skills and Our initial assessment takes place online in the first week and is 

12 behaviours the structured as a mini-capstone that assesses the baseline skill level of 
learner has learners entering the bootcamp. Learners will also be asked to gained 

through complete beginner-friendly assessments to identify the learners' level the 

Skills of aptitude in foundational competencies, such as logical thinking, 

Bootcamp. problem-solving, and technical skills to set up software that 
 

are required to be successful in the Software Engineering career path. 
During the Wave 3 delivery of Skills Bootcamps, over 7300 Software 
Engineering bootcamp applicants completed a similar initial 
assessment pre our 16 week delivery period, and we have data that 
correlates the success and scoring on this initial assessment to final 
completion and outcomes. 

In Wave 4, we’ll structure the first week of learning to include a similar 
assessment. In our bootcamps, learners complete a series of ‘tasks’ 
where they are required to review learning materials that include code, 
written notes, video instruction, and live synchronous lectures. They 
then take this information and complete an exercise that often requires 
them to write code. This is then submitted as a ‘code review’ to a 
human reviewer that scores their code and submission on 4 quality 
factors: (i) Completeness (how complete the technical solution is, does 
it manage edge cases and can a human break it?), (ii) Efficiency (is this 
an efficient implementation, has a student approached and considered 
this?), (iii) Style (did the student confirm to coding style standards that 
make it easier for code to read by other humans, or key conventions), 
and (iv) Documentation (how well is the code documented to be 
allowed into a larger codebase?). The grades in these 4 categories are 



 

used to determine an overall pass/fail for the task, with each sub 
category scored out of 4. 

 
In Wave 4, our week 1 assessment is planned to consist of 2 such tasks, 
the 2nd being posited as a ‘capstone’ task where the learner has to put 
together information and learning from the first two tasks to complete 
an initial assessment that we think will reflect the baseline entry 
knowledge for a student starting our Software Engineering bootcamp. 
We will log each student's score on this capstone task out of an overall 
grade out of 16, with 4 in each of the sub categories described above. 

For Software Engineering, the week 1 capstone task will assess a 
student's ability to set up and run basic code on their local machine 
and understand key basic concepts in syntax and debugging. In the final 
2 weeks of the bootcamp, we will structure a similar final assessment 
based on all learning in the bootcamp, as a final capstone project 
where students will need to write a significant codebase, deploy 
version control as if they were working in a professional Software 
Engineering team, and display competencies with skills like stack 
debugging, implementing efficient algorithms at the like. Again, we will 
score this final capstone on the 4 pillars and out of 16, and be able to 
quantitatively compare progression in learning from the Week 1 and 
final 2 week assessments. 

As we carried out over 25,000 such personalised and scored code 
reviews per month in our Wave 3 delivery, we are confident of being 
able to scale, record, and quality control these initial and final 
assessments. Furthermore, we will allow students to resubmit their 

 
  

initial and final assessments once (we historically have 
approximately a 20% resubmission once rate and a 2% resubmission 
twice rate) Thus, learners also get the opportunity to improve over time 
with the detail in a personal human review of their code, forming part 
of the learning experience. 

Given that students must complete all tasks on our Bootcamps and 
meet a minimum criteria on grading, graded by a human, on all aspects, 
we will closely track that they are meeting the required learning 
outcomes of the overall bootcamp at all stages - not just at the initial 
and final assessment. 
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13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Identify and/or 
quantify the 
measurement of 
successful 
completion of 
the training 
element of the 
Skills Bootcamp 

As described in the previous answer, our Bootcamps consist of a 
series of required tasks requiring submission of work that is then 
graded as a ‘code review’ by one of our code reviewer team. We plot 
out against 16 weeks the expected completion time of tasks assuming 
a minimum study time per week, and as such can at any point in a 
bootcamp calculate where a student is based on their task 
progression, vs where we expect them to be. We display this to them 
on a dashboard, trigger automatic notifications when they are falling 
behind, and decide how to deploy learning interventions based on a 
% behind rate. We also track where the expected task completion 

times of tasks vary significantly from actual completion times, which 
informs our learning design. 
 

As such, we can plot the expected vs actual progression of every 
student across the lifetime of a Skills Bootcamp, and furthermore the 
average scores achieved out of a total of 16 achievable marks per 
bootcamp for all students and quantitatively measure and report on 
the top scoring and fastest progressing students. Given that every task 
has a minimum score across the 4 factors for students to ‘pass’ the 
tasks (allowing them to resubmit a task up to 2 times), we can ensure 
that every student completes the required training and learning 
outcomes at a very granular level, and quantify it per student and for a 
cohort overall. 

We also carry out ‘meta reviews’, whereby we review the code 
reviews conducted by our reviewers to ensure that they are consistent 
in how they grade students work at scales, and also this forms a 
means of continuous upskilling of our educator workforce. 

 
 
 

Q. 
14 

 
 
 

Size of cohorts 
(max/min) 

500 students: 
Cohort 1: 100-150 students 
Cohort 2: 150-200 students 
Cohort 3: 150-200 students 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Q. 
15 

 
 
 
 

Skill level of this 
Skills 
Bootcamp 
(levels 3-5 or 
equivalent) 

The bootcamp content contains learning outcomes at levels 3, 4, and 
5 mapped to portions of a foundation degree in computing (level 5), 
higher national certificates (level 4), and A-level concepts in coding 
(level 3), and has had portions formally mapped to international NQF 
unit standards that aligns to level 3 in the UK. We also work with our 
UK university consortium partners to endorse and certify content, 
allowing graduates to earn a co-branded certification. With certain 
universities, graduates can also via recognition of prior learning earn 



 

 

  
accredited credits on the UK QCF at Level 3-5 when going on to 
further studies with a UK university after graduating from a relevant 
bootcamp. 

Is this Skills 
Bootcamp 
mapped to an 



 

 IfATE 
occupational 

 

Q. tandard? If so,  

16 please specify the name and level of the The proposed course is not a 
 Pathway to Accel erated occupational Apprenticeships, and hence, is not 

 yet mapped to a IfATE standard(s) occupational standard. 

 Will training be a 
If 

ccredited? 

Q. yes, by which The proposed Skills Bootcamp training is not accredited, however a 
certain 

 -certified by UK universities, 

17 Awarding su ch as the University of Manchester who we have submitted as a 

organization? subcontractor for this bid. 

We adopt a comprehensive methodology to measure each learner's 
progress by comparing it to the expected progress, which has been 

  
 

 

  derived using over 10 years of data from thousands of actual learners 
who have completed our bootcamps. We realistically define the 
expected progress by quantifying the median days it takes a learner to 
complete each task per Bootcamp. We log every code review and 
every one of our human reviewers feedback per students task 
submission, and scoring along the 4 quality factors: (i) Completeness 
(how complete the technical solution is, does it manage edge cases 
and can a human break it?), (ii) Efficiency (is this an efficient 
implementation, has a student approached and considered this?), 
(iii) Style (did the student confirm to coding style standards that 

 If the training is make it easier for code to read by other humans, or key 

 not mapped or conventions), and (iv) Documentation (how well is the 

 code accredited, 
please identify 

documented to be allowed into a larger codebase?). 

Q. While our conte t is not accredited in the sense it is not fully mapped the method for 
18  to accredited credits, our learning design team does define learning 

 recognising and 
r 

ecording outcomes per task and per bootcamp, and parts of this 

 are partially 
prog 

ress and aligned to accredited standards and/or learning 

 outcomes. For 
ac 

hievement  example, parts of our bootcamps are aligned to 60 

 credits on the S uth African National Qualifications framework that maps to Level 3 on 

 the UK QCF. We lso work with our UK university consortium partners to endorse and 

 certify content, 
a 

llowing graduates to earn a branded certification in this bid for 

 programmes in r levant regions, for example a University of Nottingham Full Stack Web 

 Development bo otcamp certification. Furthermore, we work with universities like City, 

 University of Lon don to map parts of our bootcamp content to 30 postgraduate credits 



 

number of places 
would be co Due to 
our work with 
university 
partners, we are 
required to audit 
and update 
content to match t 
moving nature of o 
extremely challeng 
employers. Howev 
employees follow t 
UK apprenticeship 
have also prepared 
due to the pandem 
 
 
 
 
 

 
whether our content is appropriate for 16 weeks of study at a certain 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Yes 

Guidance: 

 

on the UK qualific ations framework, allowing some students to earn these credits via  
 
 
 
 

 
heir st 
ur cor 
ing to 
er, ou 
he RA  
provid 
to sub 
ic. 

an agreement 
Re 

cognition of Prior Learning (RPL) mechanism towards a masters 

degree with City, University of London. 

andards and to en  
e subject areas wh  
keep all content 
r internal academ 
PA approach to qu 
ers deliver their o 
mit to become an 

ure a smooth RPL mechanism. Due to the extremely fast 
re popular technologies can shift on a quarterly basis, it is 
aligned and accredited whilst still meeting the needs of 
ic quality assurance and learning team of 25 fulltime 
ality assurance and accountability, and even helps certain 
wn programs (eg Makers Academy, one of our clients). We 
apprenticeship provider in the UK but this has been closed 
 
 

In relation to answer to Q19, we have carefully benchmarked from 
Wave 3 data on expected task completion times vs actual student 
completion times based on student learning times, we have verified 
actual vs stated learning time on our platform based on hours students 
have logged in and the like to get very detailed information on 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Q. 

19 

  

 
 

 
Can you confirm 
that the 
training, 
including initial 
and final 
assessment, and 

securing any 

relevant 
accreditation, 
can be 
completed within 

minimum commitment of study time. 

 16 
weeks? 

 

 



 

 

* = Guided 
Learning Hours 
are the time a 
learner spends 
being taught or 
instructed by - or 
otherwise 
participating in 
education or 
training under 
the immediate 
guidance or 
supervision of - a 
lecturer, 
supervisor, tutor 
or other 

appropriate 
provider 

of 
education or 
training, whether 
online or in 
person. 



 

 

2a: Course Content 

 
 

Complete the table below for each proposed Skills Bootcamp: Web Development 
  

 
Question 

 

 
Answer 

Q. Lead Provider 
 

1 Name 
CoGrammar Ltd. 

Q. Skills Bootcamp 
 

2 Title 
Web Development 

Q. Delivery 
 

3 Partner(s) 
Minor sub-contractor: The University of Manchester 

 
Region of 

 

 Delivery. Please  
 also state if this  
 includes any  
 areas of high  
 economic  
 deprivation (if  
 so, which areas,  
 and what  
 evidence do you  
 have of East Midlands, East of England, London-Greater London Authority, 

Q. deprivation in North East, North West, South East, South West, Yorkshire & The 
4 that area?) Humber 

 
Total unit cost 

 

Q. 
5 

of Skills 
Bootcamp  

£4950 per learner excl. VAT 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Q. 
6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please detail the 
high-level course 
content 
(identifying 
delivery subjects 
in each week of 
the 
Skills 
Bootcamp) 

Web Development Bootcamp course content 
 
Week 1: Learn about the basics of programming using Python, a 
programming language often used for full stack web development, in 
conjunction with HTML, CSS, and Javascript . Complete a first initial 
assessment as a ‘mini-capstone’ project that identify the learners' level 
of aptitude in foundational competencies for web development, such 
as thinking about websites, user experience, and gaining the technical 
skills to set up software that are required to be successful in the Web 
Development career path 

Week 2: Build on the basics of programming using tools and data 
structures to build basic algorithms while identifying and solving errors 
in the code, using Python. Get introduced to conditional statements as 
well as fundamentals of logical programming such as using operators 
and switch statements. 

Week 3: Create a professional CV and cover letter in a professional 
development ‘Build your Brand’ task. Take the first step towards 
securing an interview by establishing career goals and identifying top 
companies to work. 
. 
Week 4: Familiarise yourself with intermediate concepts of web 
development and learn to use functions to carry out specific tasks 



 

   

 
and avoid repetitive code. 

 
Week 5: Sharpen your debugging skills to methodically resolve errors 
in code. 

 
Week 6: Grasp the foundational concepts of web development and 
how people interact with web applications . 

Week 7: Study HTML, a markup language that tells a browser how to 
position text and images on a web page. 

Week 8: Explore CSS, a language used to style HTML with different 
fonts, image sizes, and element positions. 

Week 9: Create an attractive web page using HTML and CSS to add to 
your portfolio. 

Week 10: Prepare for interviews that may incorporate a technical 
interview as part of a ‘Build your Brand’ task. 

Week 11: Grasp the fundamentals of Django, a Python web 
development framework. Understand concepts in the MVC (model 
view controller) methodology for building dynamic web applications 
using Django, and other similar frameworks. 

Week 12: Learn how to build a Django web application by first starting 
with basic definitions of the views, models, and controller to build a 
website with 1 dynamically generating page. 

Week 13: Working on a more comprehensive Django web application, 
which requires more complexity with more views and controllers for 
differing user behaviour. 

Week 14: Looking ahead, explore the functionality of JavaScript, a 
popular web development language and how this can make the 
frontend of a Django-powered website more powerful. 

Week 15: Learn about version control with Git and leveraging GitHub 
to share your portfolio as part of a ‘Build your Brand’ task. 

Week 16: Putting it all together in a final assessment and capstone 
project which requires the student to build a significant full stack web 
application in Django that is deployed online and usable in their 
portfolio. 

 

 



 

   

 
Number of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

112 

 Guided 

Q. 
7 

Learning Hours* 
for each cohort 
(minimum 120 
GLH). 

  
 

 
 
 
 

 
Q. 
8 

 

 
Number of 
independent 
learning hours 

 
 
 
 

 
128 

 
 

 
Q. 
9 

Mode of delivery 
(remote/classro 
om/blended) 

 
 
 

 
Remote 

 

 
Q. 
10 

 
Number of 

Cohorts 
proposed 

 
 

 
Three 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Q. 
11 

 
Planned 
start/end dates 
for each cohort 
(dates should 

fall within the 
maximum length 
of time of 

16 weeks) 

 

 
04/09/2023 - 22/12/2024. Assume learner recruitment begins June 1, 
2023. Positive outcomes achieved by end of June, 2024. 
05/10/2023 - 31/01/2024. Positive outcomes achieved by end of July, 
2024. 

05/11/2023 - 28/02/2024. Positive outcomes achieved by end of Aug 
2024. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q. 
12 

Identify how 
your initial and 
final 
assessments 
will establish the 
knowledge, skills 
and behaviours 
the learner has 
gained through 
the Skills 
Bootcamp. 

Over the last decade of operations, we have delivered our commercial 
Web Development bootcamps to thousands of learners. We deliver 
similar versions of the proposed Web Development bootcamps to 
>400 learners in FY22 as part of Wave 3 provision and will use the 
lessons learned to improve Wave 4 provision. 

Our initial assessment takes place online in the first week and is 
structured as a mini-capstone that assesses the baseline skill level of 
learners entering the bootcamp. In this capstone initial assessment in 
Week 1, learners will also be asked to complete beginner-friendly 
assessments to identify the learners' level of aptitude in foundational 
competencies for web development, such as thinking about websites, 
user experience, and gaining the technical skills to set up software 
that are required to be successful in the Web Development career 
path. During the Wave 3 delivery of Skills Bootcamps, over 5400 
applicants for the Web Development bootcamp completed a similar 
initial assessment pre our 16 week delivery period, and we have data 
that correlates the success and scoring on this initial assessment to 
final completion and outcomes. In the final week of the bootcamp, we 
will structure a similar final assessment based on all learning in the 
bootcamp, as a final capstone project where students will need to use 
a powerful web framework to build and deploy a full stack website 
that is dynamic based on user behaviour and powered by 4 
programming languages. Again, we will score this final capstone on 
the 4 pillars and out of 16, and be able to quantitatively compare 
progression in learning from the Week 1 and final wekk assessments. 

In Wave 4, we’ll structure the first week of learning to include a 
similar assessment. In our bootcamps, learners complete a series of 
‘tasks’ where they are required to review learning materials that 
include code, written notes, video instruction, and live synchronous 
lectures. 
They then take this information and complete an exercise 



 

  
that often requires them to write code. This is then submitted as a 
‘code review’ to a human reviewer that scores their code and 
submission on 4 quality factors: (i) Completeness (how complete the 
technical solution is, does it manage edge cases and can a human break 
it?), (ii) Efficiency (is this an efficient implementation, has a student 
approached and considered this?), (iii) Style (did the student confirm to 
coding style standards that make it easier for code to read by other 
humans, or key conventions), and (iv) Documentation (how well is the 
code documented to be allowed into a larger codebase?). The grades in 
these 4 categories are used to determine an overall pass/fail for the 
task, with each sub category scored out of 4. 

In Wave 4, our week 1 initial assessment is planned to consist of 2 such 
tasks, the 2nd being posited as a ‘capstone’ task where the learner has 
to put together information and learning from the first two tasks to 
complete an initial assessment that we think will reflect the baseline 
entry knowledge for a student starting our Web Development 
bootcamp. We will log each student's score on this capstone task and 
overall grade out of 16, with 4 in each of the sub categories described 
above. 

As we carried out over 25,000 such personalised and scored code 
reviews per month in our Wave 3 delivery, we are confident of being 
able to scale, record, and quality control these initial and final 
assessments. Furthermore, we will allow students to resubmit their 
initial and final assessments once (we historically have approximately a 
20% resubmission once rate and a 2% resubmission twice rate) Thus, 
learners also get the opportunity to improve over time with the detail 
in a personal human review of their code, forming part of the learning 
experience. 

Given that students must complete all tasks on our Bootcamps and 
meet a minimum criteria on grading, graded by a human, on all 
aspects, we will closely track that they are meeting the required 
learning outcomes of the overall bootcamp at all stages - not just at the 
initial and final assessment. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Q. 
13 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Identify and/or 
quantify the 
measurement of 
successful 
completion of 
the training 
element of the 
Skills Bootcamp 

As described in the previous answer, our Bootcamps consist of a 
series of required tasks requiring submission of work that is then 
graded as a ‘code review’ by one of our code reviewer team. We plot 

out against 16 weeks the expected completion time of tasks assuming 
a minimum study time per week, and as such can at any point in a 
bootcamp calculate where a student is based on their task progression, 
vs where we expect them to be. We display this to them 
on a dashboard, trigger automatic notifications when they are falling 
behind, and decide how to deploy learning interventions based on a 
% behind rate. We also track where the expected task completion 
times of tasks vary significantly from actual completion times, which 
informs our learning design. 

As such, we can plot the expected vs actual progression of every 

 

 
Q. Size of cohorts 
14 (max/min) 
average scores 
achieved out of a 
total of 16 
achievable marks 
per bootcamp for all 
students and 
quantitatively 
measure and report 
on the top scoring 
and fastest 
progressing 
students. Given that 

Skill level of this 
Skills 

Q. 
Bootcamp 

15 (levels 3-5 or 
equivalent) 
Cohort 3: 25- 
75 students 

 
The bootcamp 
content contains 
learning outcomes at 
levels 3, 4, and 5 
mapped to portions 
of a foundation 
degree in computing 
(level 5), higher 

student across the lifetime of a Skills Bootcamp, and furthermore the 
every task has a minimum score across the 4 factors for students to 
‘pass’ the tasks (allowing them to resubmit a task up to 2 times), we 
can ensure that every student completes the required training and 
learning outcomes at a very granular level, and quantify it per student 
and for a cohort overall. 

We also carry out ‘meta reviews’, whereby we review the code 
reviews conducted by our reviewers to ensure that they are 
consistent in how they grade students work at scales, and also this 
forms a means of continuous upskilling of our educator workforce. 

 
109 students 
Cohort 1: 25-75 students 
Cohort 2: 25-75 students 
national certificates (level 4), and A-level concepts in coding (level 
3), and has had portions formally mapped to international NQF unit 
standards that aligns to level 3 in the UK. We also work with our UK 
university consortium partners to endorse and certify content, 
allowing graduates to earn a co-branded certification. With certain 
universities, graduates can also via recognition of prior learning earn 
accredited credits on the UK QCF at Level 3-5 when going on to 
further studies with a UK university after graduating from a relevant 
bootcamp. 

Is this Skills 
Bootcamp mapped to an 
IfATE occupational 

Q. standard? If so, 
16 please specify the name and level of the occupational 

standard(s) 



 

We adopt a 
comprehensive 

o 
t 
m 
a 
p 
p 
e 
d 
o 
r 

Q. 
accre 
dited, 

18 please identify the 
method for 
recognising and 

The 
proposed 
course is 

Will training be 

accredited? If Q. 
yes, by which 
17 Awarding 

organization? 

not a Pathway to Accelerated Apprenticeships, and hence, 
is not yet mapped to an IfATE occupational standard. 

 
The proposed Skills Bootcamp training is not accredited, however 
a certain number of places would be co-certified by UK 
universities, such as the University of Manchester who we have 
submitted a subcontractor for this bid. 

I methodology to measure each learner's progress by comparing it to the expected 
f progress, which has been derived using over 10 years of data from thousands of actual 
t learners who have completed our bootcamps. We realistically define the expected 
hprogress by quantifying the median days it takes a learner to complete each task per 
eBootcamp. We log every code 
t 
r 
a 
i 
n 
i 
n 
g 
i 
s 
n 



 

recording review and every one of our human reviewers feedback per students 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

have logged in and the like to get very detailed information on 

 
progress and  tas 

Completen 

k submission, and scoring along the 4 quality factors: (i) achievement 

ess (how complete the technical solution is, does it manage 

edge cases and can a human break it?), (ii) Efficiency (is this an 
efficient implementation, has a student approached and considered 
this?), (iii) Style (did the student confirm to coding style standards that 
make it easier for code to read by other humans, or key conventions), 
and (iv) Documentation (how well is the code documented to be 
allowed into a larger codebase?). 

 
While our content is not accredited in the sense it is not fully mapped 
to accredited credits, our learning design team does define learning 
outcomes per task and per bootcamp, and parts of this are partially 
aligned to accredited standards and/or learning outcomes. For 
example, parts of our bootcamps are aligned to 60 credits on the 
South African National Qualifications framework that maps to Level 3 
on the UK QCF. We also work with our UK university consortium 
partners to endorse and certify content, allowing graduates to earn a 
branded certification in this bid for programmes in relevant regions, 
for example a University of Nottingham Full Stack Web Development 
bootcamp certification. Furthermore, we work with universities like 
City, University of London to map parts of our bootcamp content to 30 
postgraduate credits on the UK qualifications framework, allowing 
some students to earn these credits via an agreement Recognition of 
Prior Learning (RPL) mechanism towards a masters degree with City, 
University of London. 

Due to our work with university partners, we are required to audit and 
update content to match their standards and to ensure a smooth RPL 
mechanism. Due to the extremely fast moving nature of our core 
subject areas where popular technologies can shift on a quarterly 
basis, it is extremely challenging to keep all content aligned and 
accredited whilst still meeting the needs of employers. However, our 
internal academic quality assurance and learning team of 25 fulltime 
employees follow the RARPA approach to quality assurance and 
accountability, and even helps certain UK apprenticeship providers 
deliver their own programs (eg Makers Academy, one of our clients). 
We have also prepared to submit to become an apprenticeship 
provider in the UK but this has been closed due to the pandemic. 

In relation to answer to Q19, we have carefully benchmarked from 
Wave 3 data on expected task completion times vs actual student 
completion times based on student learning times, we have verified 
actual vs stated learning time on our platform based on hours students 

 



 

2a: Course Content 

whether our content is appropriate for 16 weeks of study at a certain 
minimum commitment of study time. 

 
 

 



 

Complete the table below for each proposed Skills Bootcamp: Data Science 

 
Question Answer 

 

Q.1 Lead Provider Name CoGrammar Ltd. 

Q.2 Skills Bootcamp Title Data Science 

   

Q.3 Delivery Partner(s) Minor sub-contractor: The University of Manchester 

 
 

 
Q.4 

 
Region of Delivery. Please also 
state if this includes any areas 
of high economic deprivation 
(if so, which areas, and what 
evidence do you have of 
deprivation in that area?) 

 
 
 
 
 

East Midlands, East of England, London-Greater 
London Authority, North East, North West, South 
East, South West, Yorkshire & The Humber 

 
Q.5 

Total unit cost of Skills 
Bootcamp 

 
 

£4950 per learner excl. VAT 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q.6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Please detail the high-level 
course content (identifying 
delivery subjects in each 
week of the Skills Bootcamp) 

Data Science bootcamp course content 
 

Week 1: Learn about the basics of programming using 
Python, one of the most popular programming 
languages for data scientists, and complete a mini 
capstone initial assessment based on understanding 
how data is store and processed, plus basic 
introductory programming tasks. 

Week 2: Familiarise yourself with tools and data 
structures to create algorithms while learning to 
identify and solve errors in your code. Understand and 
apply best practices for writing code followed by 
industry professionals. 

Week 3: Introduction to the basics of data science and 
learn to leverage functions to carry out specific tasks 
and avoid repetitive code. Hone debugging skills to 
methodically resolve errors in code. 
 

Week 4: Deep-dive into object-oriented programming 
and learn to guard against logical errors in code. 
Create a professional CV and cover letter in a 
professional development ‘Build your Brand’ task. Take 
the first step towards securing an interview by 
establishing career goals and identifying top 
companies to work for. 

Week 5: Study the fundamentals of data visualisation 
and telling a story by creating a narrative using data 
and analytics. 

Week 6: Learn how to manipulate and visualise 
datasets using Python libraries such as pandas and 



 

   

 
Matplotlib in a Jupyter notebook. 

 
Week 7: Experiment with cleaning, transforming, and 
summarising data as well as understanding how to 
deal with missing values, turn categorical variables 
into quantitative variables, and explore data 
normalisation. 

Week 8: Explore data to find patterns and extract 
insights using visualisations and key questions. 

Week 9: Test knowledge of data cleaning, exploration, 
and visualisation in a Capstone Project that can be 
added to a portfolio. 

Week 10: Gain an understanding of databases and 
how to communicate with a relational database using 
SQLite. 

 
Week 11: Discover the fundamentals of supervised 
machine learning, and regression and classification 
models . 

Week 12: Build a classification model to apply your 
knowledge and add another project to your data 
science portfolio. 

Week 13: Explore an unsupervised machine learning 
model. 

Week 14: Prepare for interviews that may 
incorporate a technical interview. 

Week 15: Learn about version control with Git and 
leveraging GitHub to share your portfolio as part of a 
‘Build your Brand’ task. 

Week 16: Fine tune your portfolio to put your best 
foot forward. Complete your final assessment by 
drawing together all key concepts in the bootcamp to 
build a final Data Science capstone project that is 
displayable in a portfolio. This Data Science project 
can make use of a supervised or unsupervised 
machine learning model to display how actionable 
insights can be derived from datasets. 

 
Q.7 

Number of Guided Learning 
Hours* for each cohort 
(minimum 120 GLH). 

 
 
 

112 



 

 
Q.8 

Number of independent 
learning hours 

 
 

128 

Q.9 Mode of delivery Remote 

 
  

(remote/classroom/blended) 

 

 
Q.10 

 
Number of Cohorts proposed 

 

 
Three 

 
 

 
Q.11 

 
Planned start/end dates for 
each cohort (dates should fall 

within the maximum length 
of time of 16 weeks) 

04/09/2023 - 22/12/2024. Assume learner 
recruitment begins June 1, 2023. Positive outcomes 
achieved by end of June, 2024. 
05/10/2023 - 31/01/2024. Positive outcomes achieved 

by end of July, 2024. 
05/11/2023 - 28/02/2024. Positive outcomes achieved 
by end of Aug 2024. 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Q.12 

Identify how your initial and 
final assessments will 
establish the knowledge, skills 
and behaviours the learner 
has gained through the Skills 
Bootcamp. 

 
Over the last decade of operations, we have delivered 
our commercial Data Science bootcamps to thousands 
of learners. We deliver similar versions of the 
proposed Data Science Skills Bootcamp to >450 
learners in FY22 as part of Wave 3 provision and will 
use the lessons learned to improve Wave 4 provision. 

Our initial assessment takes place online in the first 
week and is structured as a mini-capstone that 
assesses the baseline skill level of learners entering 
the bootcamp. Learners will also be asked to complete 
beginner-friendly assessments to identify the learners' 
level of aptitude in foundational competencies, such 
as logical thinking, problemsolving, and technical skills 
to set up software that are required to be successful in 
the Data Science career path. During the Wave 3 
delivery of Skills Bootcamps, over 6400 Data Science 
bootcamp applicants completed a similar initial 
assessment pre our 16 week delivery period, and we 
have data that correlates the success and scoring on 
this initial assessment to final completion and 
outcomes. 

In Wave 4, we’ll structure the first week of learning to 
include a similar assessment. In our bootcamps, 
learners complete a series of ‘tasks’ where they are 
required to review learning materials that include 
code, written notes, video instruction, and live 
synchronous lectures. They then take this information 
and complete an exercise that often requires them to 
write code. This is then submitted as a ‘code review’ to 
a human reviewer that scores their code and 
submission on 4 quality factors: (i) Completeness (how 
complete the technical solution is, does it manage 
edge cases and can a human break it?), (ii) Efficiency 
(is this an efficient implementation, has a student 
approached and considered this?), (iii) Style (did the 
student confirm to coding style standards that make it 
easier for code to read by other humans, or key 
conventions), and (iv) 
Documentation (how well is the code documented to 



 

 

 
be allowed into a larger codebase?). The grades in 
these 4 categories are used to determine an overall 
pass/fail for the task, with each sub category scored out 
of 4. 

In Wave 4, our week 1 assessment is planned to consist 
of 2 such tasks, the 2nd being posited as a ‘capstone’ 
task where the learner has to put together information 
and learning from the first two tasks to complete an 
initial assessment that we think will reflect the baseline 
entry knowledge for a student starting our Data Science 
bootcamp. We will log each student's score on this 
capstone task an overall grade out of 16, with 4 in each 
of the sub categories described above. 

For Data Science, the week 1 capstone task will assess a 
student's ability to set up and run basic code on their 
local machine and understand key basic concepts in 
storing and processing data. In the final week of the 
bootcamp, we will structure a similar final assessment 
based on all learning in the bootcamp, as a final 
capstone project where students will need to write a 
mini Data Science project that uses machine learning to 
uncover an insight about a dataset. Again, we will score 
this final capstone on the 4 pillars and out of 16, and be 
able to quantitatively compare progression in learning 
from the Week 1 and final 2 week assessments. 

As we carried out over 25,000 such personalised and 
scored code reviews per month in our Wave 3 delivery, 
we are confident of being able to scale, record, and 
quality control these initial and final assessments. 
Furthermore, we will allow students to resubmit their 
initial and final assessments once (we historically have 
approximately a 20% resubmission once rate and a 2% 
resubmission twice rate) Thus, learners also get the 
opportunity to improve over time with the detail in a 
personal human review of their code, forming part of 
the learning experience. 

Given that students must complete all tasks on our 
Bootcamps and meet a minimum criteria on grading, 
graded by a human, on all aspects, we will closely track 
that they are meeting the required learning outcomes 
of the overall bootcamp at all stages - not just at the 
initial and final assessment. 



 

 
 

 
Q.13 

Identify and/or quantify the 
measurement of successful 
completion of the training 

As described in the previous answer, our Bootcamps 
consist of a series of required tasks requiring 
submission of work that is then graded as a ‘code 

 
 

  
element of the Skills 
Bootcamp 

 
review’ by one of our code reviewer team. We plot 
out against 16 weeks the expected completion time of 
tasks assuming a minimum study time per week, and 
as such can at any point in a bootcamp calculate 
where a student is based on their task progression, vs 
where we expect them to be. We display this to them 
on a dashboard, trigger automatic notifications when 
they are falling behind, and decide how to deploy 
learning interventions based on a % behind rate. We 
also track where the expected task completion times 
of tasks vary significantly from actual completion 
times, which informs our learning design. 

As such, we can plot the expected vs actual 
progression of every student across the lifetime of a 
Skills Bootcamp, and furthermore the average scores 
achieved out of a total of 16 achievable marks per 
bootcamp for all students and quantitatively measure 
and report on the top scoring and fastest progressing 
students. Given that every task has a minimum score 
across the 4 factors for students to ‘pass’ the tasks 
(allowing them to resubmit a task up to 2 times), we 
can ensure that every student completes the required 
training and learning outcomes at a very granular 
level, and quantify it per student and for a cohort 
overall. 

We also carry out ‘meta reviews’, whereby we review 
the code reviews conducted by our reviewers to 
ensure that they are consistent in how they grade 
students work at scales, and also this forms a means 
of continuous upskilling of our educator workforce. 

 

 
Q.14 

 

 
Size of cohorts (max/min) 

181 students 
Cohort 1: 50-100 students 
Cohort 2: 50-100 students 
Cohort 3: 50-100 students 

 

 
Q.15 

Skill level of this Skills 
Bootcamp (levels 3-5 or 
equivalent) 

The bootcamp content contains learning outcomes at 
levels 3, 4, and 5 mapped to portions of a foundation 
degree in computing (level 5), higher national 
certificates (level 4), and A-level concepts in coding 



 

(level 3), and has had portions 
formally mapped to 
international NQF unit 
standards that aligns to level 3 

in the UK. We also work with our UK university 
consortium partners to endorse and certify content, 
allowing graduates to earn a co-branded 
certification. 
With certain universities, graduates can also via 
recognition of prior learning earn accredited credits on 
the UK QCF at Level 3-5 when going on to further 
studies with a UK university after graduating from a 
relevant bootcamp. 

 
Q.16 Is this Skills Bootcamp The proposed course is not a Pathway to Accelerated 

 
 

mapped to an IfATE Apprenticeships, and hence, is not yet mapped to an 
occupational standard? If so, IfATE occupational standard. please specify 
the name and level of the occupational standard(s) 

The proposed Skills Bootcamp training is not 
Will training be accredited? If accredited, however a certain number of places would 

Q.17 yes, by which Awarding be co-certified by UK universities, such as the 
organization? University of Manchester who we have submitted a 

subcontractor for this bid. 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Q.18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
If the training is not mapped or 
accredited, please identify the 
method for recognising and 
recording progress and 
achievement 

We adopt a comprehensive methodology to measure 
each learner's progress by comparing it to the 
expected progress, which has been derived using over 
10 years of data from thousands of actual learners who 
have completed our bootcamps. We realistically define 
the expected progress by quantifying the median days 
it takes a learner to complete each task per Bootcamp. 
We log every code review and every one of our human 
reviewers feedback per students task submission, and 
scoring along the 4 quality factors: (i) Completeness 
(how complete the technical solution is, does it 
manage edge cases and can a human break it?), (ii) 
Efficiency (is this an efficient implementation, has a 
student approached and considered this?), (iii) Style 
(did the student confirm to coding style standards that 
make it easier for code to read by other humans, or key 
conventions), and (iv) Documentation (how well is the 
code documented to be allowed into a larger 
codebase?). 

While our content is not accredited in the sense it is not 
fully mapped to accredited credits, our learning design 
team does define learning outcomes per task and per 
bootcamp, and parts of this are partially aligned to 
accredited standards and/or learning outcomes. For 
example, parts of our bootcamps are aligned to 60 
credits on the South African National Qualifications 
framework that maps to Level 3 on the UK QCF. We 
also work with our UK university consortium partners 
to endorse and certify content, allowing graduates to 
earn a branded certification in this bid for programmes 
in relevant regions, for example a University of 
Nottingham Full Stack Web Development bootcamp 
certification. Furthermore, we work with universities 
like City, University of London to map parts of our 
bootcamp content to 30 postgraduate credits on the UK 
qualifications framework, allowing some students to 
earn these credits via an agreement Recognition of 
Prior Learning 
(RPL) mechanism towards a masters degree 



 

   
with City, University of London. 

Due to our work with university partners, we are 
required to audit and update content to match their 
standards and to ensure a smooth RPL mechanism. 
Due to the extremely fast moving nature of our core 
subject areas where popular technologies can shift on 
a quarterly basis, it is extremely challenging to keep all 
content aligned and accredited whilst still meeting the 
needs of employers. However, our internal academic 
quality assurance and learning team of 25 full-time 
employees follow the RARPA approach to quality 
assurance and accountability, and even helps certain 
UK apprenticeship providers deliver their own 
programs (eg Makers Academy, one of our clients). 
We have also prepared to submit to become an 
apprenticeship provider in the UK but this has been 
closed due to the pandemic. 

In relation to answer to Q19, we have carefully 
benchmarked from Wave 3 data on expected task 
completion times vs actual student completion times 
based on student learning times, we have verified 
actual vs stated learning time on our platform based 
on hours students have logged in and the like to get 
very detailed information on whether our content is 
appropriate for 16 weeks of study at a certain 
minimum commitment of study time. 

 Can you confirm that the 
training, including initial and 
final assessment, and 

 

Q. 19   
 securing any relevant 

accreditation, can be 
completed within 16 weeks? 

 
 
Yes 

 Guidance:  

 

 * = Guided Learning Hours 
are the time a learner spends 
being taught or instructed by 
- or otherwise participating 
in education or training 
under the immediate 
guidance or supervision of - a 
lecturer, supervisor, tutor or 
other appropriate provider of 



 

 
 
 
 

 

2a: Course Content 

 
Complete the table below for each proposed Skills Bootcamp: Cloud Engineering 

 
 

Question 
 

Answer 

Q. Lead Provider  
1 Name 

CoGrammar Ltd. 
Q. Skills Bootcamp  
2 Title 

Cloud Engineering 

Q. Delivery  
3 Partner(s) 

Minor sub-contractor: The University of Manchester 
 

Region of 
 

 Delivery. Please  
 also state if this  
 includes any  
 areas of high  
 economic  
 deprivation (if  
 so, which areas,  
 and what  
 evidence do you  
 have of East Midlands, East of England, London-Greater London Authority, 

Q. deprivation in North East, North West, South East, South West, Yorkshire & The 
4 that area?) Humber 

 Total unit cost  

Q. 
5 

of Skills 
Bootcamp  

£4950 per learner excl. VAT 

education or training, 
whether online or in person. 
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Please detail the 
high-level course 
content 
(identifying 
delivery subjects 
in each week of 
the 
Skills 
Bootcamp) 

Cloud Engineering Bootcamp course content 
 
Week 1: What is the Cloud? What does it mean to develop on the 
cloud and how does cloud engineering differ from traditional web or 
software development? Complete a mini capstone project as an initial 
assessment on these topics. 

Week 2: Students start to learn about core programming required for 
cloud computing. 

Week 3: In this week, students cover advanced programming 
techniques required for cloud computing and are introduced to the first 
Build your Brand task to start thinking about which roles to apply to. 

Week 4: Begin to work with strings, encounter simple data structures, 
and learn to input and output data to/from files using Python or an 
equivalent salable cloud programming language. 

Week 5: Continue the Build Your Brand career preparation series, 
creating a CV and LinkedIn profile. Familiarise yourself with functions, 
learning how to use those provided by Python and how to write your 
own. 



 

  
 

Week 6: In this week, students cover the basics of HTML and CSS 
They learn about responsive design. They also take on another 
Capstone project which requires them to integrate learning on HTML 
and CSS. 

Week 7: Introduction to the web and how it works, followed by an 
introduction to RESTful APIs. Find out how to serve static files. 

Week 8: Students now learn about how to draw together the 
fundamental programming skills with cloud skills, ie how to deploy 
this code and scripts in a similar way to web developers by harnessing 
the power of the cloud, ie an introduction to the Map Reduce 
Algorithm., 

Week 9: Students cover Git basics and unpack their brand further as it 
pertains to GitHub. Students . Lastly, students will use GitHub to start 
building a portfolio of work that can be shared with others to 
showcase new skills. 

Week 10: This week covers database interactions in detail and 
explores the relevant to the cloud and storing data on the cloud. 

Week 11: This week explores how to deploy cloud applications, and 
different options for cloud computing. Touches on network protocols 
and system architecture, and an introduction to cloud hosting 
platforms such as or similar to AWS. 

Week 12: This week continues on options for deploying cloud 
applications and how to deploy these. A further Build your Brand task 
allows students to focus on specific companies that hire at scale for 
cloud roles, such as Amazon. 

Week 13: This week students are introduced to essential scripting 
skills required for deploying cloud applications. Covers knowledge 
and an introduction to RESTful API. 

Week 14: This week students are introduced to advanced scripting 
skills required for deploying cloud applications. 

Week 15: This week students deploy and maintain a web application 
on a cloud service. 

Week 16: The final assessment and capstone project has students 
focus on improving their deployed web application and ensuring it can 
scale dynamically. 
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Number of 
Guided 
Learning Hours* 
for each cohort 
(minimum 120 

 
 
 
 
 

 
112 
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Identify how 
your initial and 
final 
assessments 
will establish the 
knowledge, skills 
and behaviours 
the learner has 
gained through 
the Skills 
Bootcamp. 

We see a large number of Cloud vacancies in our employer network, 
hence we propose the delivery of Cloud Engineering Skills Bootcamp 
during Wave 4 provision. 

Our initial assessment takes place online in the first week and is 
structured as a mini-capstone that assesses the baseline skill level of 
learners entering the bootcamp. Learners will also be asked to 
complete beginner-friendly assessments to identify the learners' level 
of aptitude in foundational competencies, such as logical thinking, 
problem-solving, and technical skills to set up software that are 
required to be successful in the Cloud Engineering career path. 

In Wave 4, we’ll structure the first week of learning to include a 
similar assessment. In our bootcamps, learners complete a series of 
‘tasks’ where they are required to review learning materials that 
include code, written notes, video instruction, and live synchronous 
lectures. They then take this information and complete an exercise 
that often requires them to write code. This is then submitted as a 
‘code review’ to a human reviewer that scores their code and 
submission on 4 quality factors: (i) Completeness (how complete the 
technical solution 
is, does it manage edge cases and can a human break it?), (ii) 
Efficiency (is this an efficient implementation, has a student 
approached and considered this?), (iii) Style (did the student confirm 
to coding style standards that make it easier for code to read by other 
humans, or key conventions), and (iv) Documentation (how well is the 
code documented to be allowed into a larger codebase?). The grades 
in these 4 categories are used to determine an overall pass/fail for the 
task, with each sub category scored out of 4. 

 
In Wave 4, our week 1 assessment is planned to consist of 2 such 
tasks, the 2nd being posited as a ‘capstone’ task where the learner 



 

 

  
 
has to put together information and learning from the first two tasks to 
complete an initial assessment that we think will reflect the baseline 
entry knowledge for a student starting our Cloud Engineering 
bootcamp. We will log each student's score on this capstone task an 
overall grade out of 16, with 4 in each of the sub categories described 
above. 

For Cloud Engineering, the week 1 capstone task will assess a student's 
ability to understand what the cloud is and the difference from 
traditional web development In the final 2 weeks of the bootcamp, we 
will structure a similar final assessment based on all learning in the 
bootcamp, as a final capstone project where students will need to build 
and deploy a cloud applicaiton. Again, we will score this final capstone 
on the 4 pillars and out of 16, and be able to quantitatively compare 
progression in learning from the Week 1 and final 2 week assessments. 
 
As we carried out over 25,000 such personalised and scored code 
reviews per month in our Wave 3 delivery, we are confident of being 
able to scale, record, and quality control these initial and final 
assessments. Furthermore, we will allow students to resubmit their 
initial and final assessments once (we historically have approximately a 
20% resubmission once rate and a 2% resubmission twice rate) Thus, 
learners also get the opportunity to improve over time with the detail 
in a personal human review of their code, forming part of the learning 
experience. 

Given that students must complete all tasks on our Bootcamps and 
meet a minimum criteria on grading, graded by a human, on all 
aspects, we will closely track that they are meeting the required 
learning outcomes of the overall bootcamp at all stages - not just at the 
initial and final assessment. 
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Identify and/or 
quantify the 
measurement of 
successful 

completion of the 
training element 
of the Skills 
Bootcamp 

As described in the previous answer, our Bootcamps consist of a 
series of required tasks requiring submission of work that is then 
graded as a ‘code review’ by one of our code reviewer team. We plot 
out against 16 weeks the expected completion time of tasks assuming 
a minimum study time per week, and as such can at any point in a 
bootcamp calculate where a student is based on their task 
progression, vs where we expect them to be. We display this to them 
on a dashboard, trigger automatic notifications when they are falling 
behind, and decide how to deploy learning interventions based on a 
% behind rate. We also track where the expected task completion 
times of tasks vary significantly from actual completion times, which 
informs our learning design. 

As such, we can plot the expected vs actual progression of every 
student across the lifetime of a Skills Bootcamp, and furthermore the 
average scores achieved out of a total of 16 achievable marks per 
bootcamp for all students and quantitatively measure and report on 
the top scoring and fastest progressing students. Given that every task 
has a minimum score across the 4 factors for students to ‘pass’ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14 (ma 

  the tasks (allowing them to resubmit a task up to 2 times), we can 
ensure that every student completes the required training and 
learning outcomes at a very granular level, and quantify it per student 
and for a cohort overall. 

 
We also carry out ‘meta reviews’, whereby we review the code reviews 
conducted by our reviewers to ensure that they are consistent in how 
they grade students work at scales, and also this forms a means of 
continuous upskilling of our educator workforce. 

 
Q. 

x/min 

 
Size of cohorts 
)  Cohort 2: 2 

Skill level of this 

119 students 
Cohort 1: 25-75 students 

5-75 students 
3: 25-75 students 

The bootcamp content contains learning outcomes at levels 3, 4, and 
5 mapped to portions of a foundation degree in computing (level 5), 
higher national certificates (level 4), and A-level concepts in coding 
(level 3), and has had portions formally mapped to international 
NQF unit standards that aligns to level 3 in the UK. We also work 
with our UK university consortium partners to endorse and certify 
content, allowing graduates to earn a co-branded certification. With 
certain universities, graduates can also via recognition of prior 
learning earn accredited credits on the UK QCF at Level 3-5 when 
going on to further studies with a UK university after graduating 
from a relevant bootcamp. 
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Bootcamp 
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5 or 
equi 
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 Is this Skills 
Bootcamp mappe  
to an IfATE 
occupational 

 
 
 
 
 

 
please specify the name and level of the The proposed course is 
not a Pathway to Accelerated occupational Apprenticeships, and 
hence, is not yet mapped to an IfATE standard(s) occupational 
standard. 

credited? If The proposed Skills Bootcamp training is not 
Q. yes, by which 

Awarding certain number of places would be co-certified by UK 
universities, such as the University of Manchester who we have 
submitted a 

ubcontractor for this bid. 

Q.  
 standard? If so, 
16  

  
 

Will training be ac 

accr 

17 

edited, however a 

  
organization? s 

 
 

the training is pr 
mapped or de  
accredited, wh 

We adopt a comprehensive methodology to measure each learner's If 
ogress by comparing it to the expected progress, which has been not 

ived using over 10 years of data from thousands of actual learners 
o have completed our bootcamps. We realistically define the 

 
learn 

please identify 
er to Q. co 

expected progress by quantifying the median days it takes a 
mplete each task per Bootcamp. We log every code review and 

 the method for  
18 

recognising and r 
Completeness pr 
edge cases achie 

every one of our human reviewers feedback per students task 
ecording  submission, and scoring along the 4 quality factors: (i) 
ogress and (how complete the technical solution is, does it manage 
vement  and can a human break it?), (ii) Efficiency (is this an 

efficient implementation, has a student approached and 
 
 
 

considered this?), (iii) Style (did the student confirm to coding 
style standards that make it easier for code to read by other humans, 
or key conventions), and (iv) Documentation (how well is the code 
documented to be allowed into a larger codebase?). 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
students have logged in and the like to get very detailed information 
on whether our content is appropriate for 16 weeks of study at a 
certain minimum commitment of study time. 

   
 
 
 
 

While our content is not accredited in the sense it is not fully mapped 
to accredited credits, our learning design team does define learning 
outcomes per task and per bootcamp, and parts of this are partially 
aligned to accredited standards and/or learning outcomes. For 
example, parts of our bootcamps are aligned to 60 credits on the 
South African National Qualifications framework that maps to Level 3 
on the UK QCF. We also work with our UK university consortium 
partners to endorse and certify content, allowing graduates to earn a 
branded certification in this bid for programmes in relevant regions, 
for example a University of Nottingham Full Stack Web Development 
bootcamp certification. Furthermore, we work with universities like 
City, University of London to map parts of our bootcamp content to 
30 postgraduate credits on the UK qualifications framework, allowing 
some students to earn these credits via an agreement Recognition of 
Prior Learning (RPL) mechanism towards a masters degree with City, 
University of London. 

Due to our work with university partners, we are required to audit 
and update content to match their standards and to ensure a smooth 
RPL mechanism. Due to the extremely fast moving nature of our core 
subject areas where popular technologies can shift on a quarterly 
basis, it is extremely challenging to keep all content aligned and 
accredited whilst still meeting the needs of employers. However, our 
internal academic quality assurance and learning team of 25 fulltime 
employees follow the RARPA approach to quality assurance and 
accountability, and even helps certain UK apprenticeship providers 
deliver their own programs (eg Makers Academy, one of our clients). 
We have also prepared to submit to become an apprenticeship 
provider in the UK but this has been closed due to the pandemic. 

In relation to answer to Q19, we have carefully benchmarked from 
Wave 3 data on expected task completion times vs actual student 
completion times based on student learning times, we have verified 
actual vs stated learning time on our platform based on hours 
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Can you confirm 
that the training, 
including initial 
and final 
assessment, and 

securing any 
relevant 
accreditation, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Yes 

  
can be 
completed 
within 16 
weeks? 

 Guidance:  

 



 

 

* = Guided 
Learning Hours 
are the time a 
learner spends 
being taught or 
instructed by - or 
otherwise 
participating in 
education or 
training under 
the immediate 
guidance or 
supervision of - a 
lecturer, 
supervisor, tutor 
or other 
appropriate 
provider of 
education or 
training, 
whether online 
or in person. 
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Jaggaer Reference Number: project_7338 and project_7698 
 

QUESTION 2: Learner Engagement 
 

Describe how you will engage learners throughout the Skills Bootcamp 
(recruitment, enrolment, delivery of training, and offer of an interview) to ensure 
they reach completion and achieve a positive outcome. Describe how you will 
adapt your approach to support under-represented groups. 

 
 

RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Your response should: 
 

Describe how you will… 
● Attract and recruit potential learners, including those in underrepresented groups who might 

not otherwise apply. 

● Screen potential learners to ensure that the Skills Bootcamp is appropriate for them 
and that they have a good understanding of what will be involved and what 
employers are looking for in candidates. 

● Support learners throughout the Skills Bootcamp to promote learner retention. This 
should include details of the Wraparound Support that you will provide to help 
learners complete training. 

● Support learners throughout the Skills Bootcamp to promote positive outcomes. This 
should include how you will coach learners for specific interviews and support them 
to ensure they are well prepared for the vacancies/opportunities available. This 
should also take into account where a learner is moving into a new organisation, 
staying within their own organisation or a self-employed learner looking to increase 
their business/entrepreneurial skills/market themselves to secure new contracts. 

● Ensure that your training is available and accessible to a diverse cohort 
representative of the communities in which you will deliver. 

 
 

Word count = 750 
Weighting = 
Competition 1 Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 20% 
Competition 2 Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 20% 

 
 

 
Please write your response on a separate Word document and upload it to the relevant 
question answer area in the Jaggaer e-Sourcing Portal within the Technical Envelope. 
Please ensure your document response is named as per the response naming 
guidance in Document 1 Procurement Document A Invitation to Participate. 
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We have >10 years experience in delivering bootcamps, and are already delivering Skills Bootcamps 
(SB) to >2,000 students under Wave 3 tenders. Our cohorts are exceeding Wave 3 KPIs, with over 
50% of applicable students currently recording interviews well before the deadline. This experience of 
sourcing over 32k applicants for these places, insights on which students need intervention and when, 
and rich datasets collected (750+ metrics per student) will allow us to iterate in Wave 4 and achieve 
better outcomes. 

 
As an online bootcamp provider, we attract students from demographics that struggle to access onsite 
or full-time programmes, e.g., due to disability or other factors. In Wave 3 delivery, over 1 million visits 
were made to our website through >£400,000 of marketing spend deployed for SB specifically, 
including ads on the London Underground for >£150,000, and paid ads on over 15 platforms, ranging 
from TikTok to Google. We also partner with top UK universities like the University of Manchester who 
co-market our bootcamps through which approximately 40% of SB applicants come via at no direct 
cost to us. 

 
Our application process features a free 8 hour online ‘course’ explaining SB structure, employer 
expectations, success stories, and asks applicants to complete logic and intent tests graded by our 
human assessors. We then shortlist a % of applicants based on application scores and make offers to 
students that fit our and the SB required criteria, such as minimum study time and Right to Work. We 
signpost rejected applicants to other programmes we offer. 

 
>40% of our UK students are female (significantly above the sector’s national average), 21% have 
caring responsibilities, an estimated 22% are from BAME backgrounds, 5% indicated a form of a 
disability, >20% were unemployed, >10% claim universal credit, >30% have less than 5 years of work 
experience, >10% are 55+ years old. 

 
We’ve adapted parts of our learning platform to comply with the WCAG 2.0 Level AA accessibility 
standards (websites usable and understandable for the majority of people with disability). For Wave 4, 
we intend to meet the higher AAA standards. We also support full text-only studies for deaf students 
(auto transcribing lectures and mentor calls) and have successfully served blind students. Our 
Safeguarding & Disability policies set the framework for additional support to vulnerable & SEND 
learners, with bi-weekly safeguarding meetings led by our designated safeguarding lead reporting on 
students that reported being SEND or neurodiverse learners at enrollment. We work with specialist 
recruitment companies, such as Niya.ai & Enna.org, to provide tailored training & recruitment 
pathways for disabled and underrepresented tech talent, covering special support for neurodiverse 
students with conditions such as ADHD, Dyslexia, Dyspraxia, & Autism. 

 
Our online learning platform gives students significant flexibility to book mentor calls around their 
schedule & learning needs, attend synchronous lectures, and submit tasks for asynchronous grading 
and % of our additionally trained mentors for Wave 4 will be specifically marked as bookable for 
students with learning difficulties or disabilities. 

 
This human-led support is key to learner retention and outcomes. With >54 full-time staff supporting 
Wave 3 students, we’re able to offer monthly nearly 7,000 hours of 1:1 personalised mentor calls 
(mentors adapt call scripts based on progression & student profile), hundreds of 1:many group 
lectures, 1:1 and 1:many wraparound career support, and 1:1 asynchronous grading to SB students, 
and will increase this to exceed the 100 GLH requirement. We also offer co-certification from our 
prestigious university partners based on student completion milestones, which we find is highly 
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motivating for students & can more than triple retention and completion vs a HyperionDev-only 
certificate bootcamp. 

 
Our wraparound support enables flexibility on course deadlines and allows us to structure personal 
‘catch-up plans’. Our career services team implements 1:1 career coaching and interview preparation 
sessions (layered on top of 1:1 CV review sessions plus employers such as Cognizant who deliver 
coaching for applications to our SB students as part of our bootcamp). This wraparound support plus 
the in-course ‘Build your Brand’ study tasks have 4 distinct tailored tracks based on the path a student 
wants to take, e.g. in Wave 3 we found a significant number of students wanting to take a 
selfemployed route. Graduates will retain access for 6 months after the SB to our self-study graduate 
online learning platform to access >40 hours of additional prep content (tailored to their chosen path), 
our dynamically updated jobs board, and links to continue joining employer events. 
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QUESTION 3: Employer Engagement 

Describe how you will engage employers to ensure that the training is targeted to 
meet employer needs, that employers are engaged with the Skills Bootcamp 
prior and throughout delivery, and how you will secure learners the offer of an 
interview for an actual vacancy and help them to achieve positive outcomes. 

 
 

RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS 
 
 
Please complete the Employer Engagement sheet on the template attachment. This 
element does not count towards the 750-word count. 

 
In addition, please provide a written response to the question on a separate document. 
Your response should: 

 
Describe how you will… 

● Work with employers to ensure that the Skills Bootcamps including curriculum design 
provides learners with the technical and soft skills that those employers are looking for to 
meet the needs of vacancies. 

● Maintain high levels of employer-learner engagement throughout the lifetime of the Skills 
Bootcamp. This should include how employers will help learners to gain insight of what their 
new jobs/roles will involve. 

● Secure learner interviews from employers that are for vacancies which are relevant to and 
match the skills level of that Skills Bootcamp or work with employers who want their own 
employees to gain new skills for different roles and / or opportunities within their organisation. 

● Ensure that you engage Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs). 
 

 
Word count = 750 
Weighting = 
Competition 1 Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 20% 
Competition 2 Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 20% 

 
Please write your response on a separate Word document and please also complete 
the Employer Engagement worksheet in Document 10 Excel Template Answer. 
Upload both documents to the relevant question answer area in the Jaggaer 
eSourcing Portal within the Technical Envelope. 
Please ensure your document response is named as per the response naming 
guidance in Document 1 Procurement Document A Invitation to Participate. 

 

Jaggaer Reference Number: project_7338 and project_7698 
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Our Skills Bootcamp Employer Relations (ER) team (12 full-time employees led by a person who 
headed graduate outcomes for the world’s largest coding bootcamp), have in the last 90 days held 
190+ meetings with new employers and received additional 321 interview commitments (in a total pool 
of >1,400 interview commitments) for SB students. 9 of these employers support different elements of 
Wave 4 delivery as shown in Document 10. 

 
For Wave 4, we will run qualitative interviews and surveys with our employer network (e.g., Cognizant, 
BT, AND Digital, Daemon, Experian, Wiley Edge, FDM Group) to inform curriculum design, recruitment 
and delivery (including how we teach soft skills) to better match the skills employers are looking for. 
We plan to modify up to 33% of curriculum content based on performance feedback from companies 
who have hired Wave 3 SB graduates, as well as by using labour market monitoring software to 
analyse the soft and technical skills most needed by employers. This research currently shows 59,443 
open roles in England in January 2023 requiring the skills across 1 or more of our 4 proposed 
bootcamps in this bid. 

 
We maintain high level of employer-learner engagement and secure learner interviews throughout the 
lifetime of SBs by: 

 
1. Involving employers in delivering weekly wraparound services directly to students, e.g. on 

28th Feb 23 top UK employer Cognizant delivered a webinar to our SB students titled “How to 
position yourself as a career changer: Transition to Tech”. These career sessions introduce 
learners to specific employers with a high volume of relevant roles, help them gain skills in 
interviewing and applying directly from employers, and we run up to 24 of them (2 per week) 
in the 16 week delivery period, and up to 20 post graduation. 

 
2. Establishing long-term relationships & regular check-ins with a network of larger employers 

who commit to interviewing qualifying SB graduates (e.g., Ocado, BT, Experian, AND Digital, 
BAESystems & apprenticeship providers eg. Multiverse). Given their long term and large 
hiring needs, our ER team can pre-schedule, up to 18 months in advance, batch interviewing 
by those employers. 

 
3. Weekly sharing of 250+ open vacancies & relevant job-seeker meetup events through our 

semi-automated but human-curated ‘Jobs Board’, which shows new relevant roles within our 
employer network, increasing employer-learner engagement. We familiarise students with our 
employer network from the application stage by explaining which employers are involved in 
delivery. Each bootcamp will have an employer webinar showcasing previous student success 
stories, by the midway point of each SB. 

 
4. Inviting a wider list of 1,400+ employers in England (sourced as having open roles relevant for 

our Wave 3 SB students) to online ‘Tech Career Fair’ events. Our January 2023 event was 
attended by over 1,200 SB students and 6 employers (including BAE Systems and 
Adaptavist) and tech recruiters (e.g., Hackajob, Wiley Edge) presented “a day in the life of” 
session for roles relevant to SB students, deepening students’ understanding of the available 
career paths post SBs. We plan 9 more such events for Wave 3 students over the next 6 
months and intend to double this number for Wave 4, including regionally-focused events. 
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5. Providing employers with templates for emails to use when inviting SB students for an 
interview, further simplifying the process for employers and increasing interview invites & 
acceptance rates. 

 
6. Providing a CV sourcing service, whereby employers share candidate profiles, e.g. 

“candidates in London with Python experience”, based on which our ER team filters a subset 
of SB students assigned to them and makes manual introductions 

 
7. Using software, e.g., Lightcast and Linkedin, we find roles at the most relevant level for 

students and share 250+ of those with students weekly using unique tracking links, which 
allows us to assess their relevancy and level fit by monitoring student uptake and success 
rates, allowing us to iterate to improve engagement. 

 
8. Ensuring that at least 25% of ER team’s time is dedicated to sourcing roles from SMEs (e.g., 

Sales Navigator, SalesQL,Zoominfo) aligned to level & skills taught on our bootcamps. In 
Wave 4, we plan to run 2 jobs fairs specific to SMEs employers, attend in-person SME 
employer events and organise a career series webinar on the differences in tech hiring 
practices and company cultures between SMEs and larger corporate entities. 

 
These tried and tested mechanisms are a key reason we have secured interview outcomes for over 
50% of applicable Wave 3 students with ample time left before the deadline for this milestone. 



 

2b: Employer Engagement 
 

Table 1: Supplier 

status 
 

Q1. Through the Skills 
Bootcamp, will you be 
training only your 
current employees to 
take up new 
roles/responsibilities 
within your own 
organisation? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
No 

 
If you answered 'no' to 
Q1 in Table 1, please also 
complete Table 2 and 
Table 3 below. If you 
answered 'yes', you're not 
required to complete 
Tables 2 and 

 
3.  

 

 
Table 2: Area of 

employer involvement 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Area of Skills 
Bootcamp delivery 
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of 
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willin g to 
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area of 
Skills 
Bootc 
amp 
delive 
ry 
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Named contact’s 
email address 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Named 
contact’s 
telephon 
e number 
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would 
the 
employe 
r be 
interest 
ed in 
employi 
ng Skills 
Bootca 
mps 
learners 
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Table 3 - Employer written signatures  

  

 
 
Named contact from Table 2 in Tab 2b 

 
 
Written signature 
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Jaggaer Reference Number: project_7338 and project_7698 
 
 

QUESTION 4: Resources & Delivery 

Describe how you will ensure that you have the right resources and systems in 
place to help learners gain the skills employers need and to deliver successful 
Skills Bootcamps in a way that meets the aims of Skills Bootcamps. 

 
 
RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS 

 
Your response should: 

 
● Based on your discussions with employers, state the number of learners you will support and 

your rationale for this cohort size. 

 
Describe how… 

● Your proposal aligns with and does not duplicate the skills priorities and delivery of Mayoral 
Combined Authorities/Local Authorities and/or Local Enterprise Partnership(s) and their Skills 
Boards or comparable bodies. 

● You will ensure that you have a clear curriculum which sets out what skills the learner will gain. 

● You will ensure that training is delivered by suitable, high quality, experienced practitioners, 
and that you have sufficient trainer resource to deliver all your proposed Skills Bootcamps. 

● You will ensure that you stay on track to deliver positive outcomes for learners, both in terms 
of delivering to time and in terms of meeting the relevant performance measure targets. 

● The training resources or equipment that you will use will successfully deliver the Skills 
Bootcamp provision for all learners. 
. 

 
 
Word count = 750 
Weighting = 
Competition 1 Lots 1 & 2 are 20%, Lot 3 is 15% Competition 2 
Lots 1 & 2 are 20%, Lot 3 is 15% 

 
Please write your response on a separate Word document and upload it to the 
relevant question answer area in the Jaggaer e-Sourcing Portal within the Technical 
Envelope. 
Please ensure your document response is named as per the response naming 
guidance in Document 1 Procurement Document A Invitation to Participate. 

We’ve already implemented the systems to deliver the SB aims in Wave 3, and have deployed them 
to over 2,000 students, recording interviews for 50%+ of applicable students well before the 
contractual deadline and meeting our KPIs, e.g. around drop off rates. We resolve >2,500 student 
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queries monthly within 20 hours on average, and have averaged a 45.3 Net Promoter Score (NPS) 
from over 43,000 surveys since we started SB delivery. 

 
In our SB delivery we complete on average each month: 24,274 code reviews within an average 
turnaround time of 25 hours, >1600 1:1 mentor calls, >150 synchronous group lectures or 
wraparound webinars. We achieved a 70.6 NPS score specifically for 1:1 mentor calls from 706 
responding students. 

 
To inform our cohort sizes for this bid, we gathered feedback via 1:1 conversations and surveys from 
over 45 employers on how their skills can be addressed by SB graduates. We analysed Wave 3 
application and progression statistics, and conducted quantitative research, which showed that 
between December 2022 - January 2023 just 7 of our engaged employers (interviewing, hiring or 
involved in delivery) have 2,509 open roles in England relevant to just two of the Core Subjects 
(Software Engineering & Data). This is more than three times the total number of students we bid for, 
and why 75% of our bid volume is in these subjects. We found similar ratios for the demand for junior 
jobs in Web Development and Cloud. 

 
Through our experience of delivering Wave 3 with both national and local tenders (with West 
Yorkshire & West Midlands/New Anglia LEP) we understand the opportunities that nationwide delivery 
presents for the regions and how to avoid duplication of provision. For example, New Anglia asked us 
to deliver Software Engineering in their region, but during recruitment we discovered local demand for 
Data Science, which we were able to meet under our national tender, therefore assisting the LEP’s 
adult education goals. Another example is that D2N2 LEP received SB funding from the DfE for digital 
and green SBs (1,500 learners) in FY22-23, yet last year there were over 7,600 open tech (excluding 
green jobs) positions in D2N2, i.e., a x10 mismatch in the local provision and employer demand. We 
have proposed SB subject areas where we see at least still a x3 gap in demand and provision, based 
on our Wave 4 and Wave 3 provision plus estimates for new delivery from other providers. This 
mismatch in local digital skills training provision and job demand from employers is also evidenced by 
local Skills Reports, e.g., “Local research [...] evidenced a mismatch between educational supply and 
sectoral demand, confirming increasing demand for digital skills at all levels.” (Liverpool City Region 
Skills Report, 22), which we will also use to further align our delivery to the local priorities and needs. 
Since we source applicants online, we can quickly adjust advertising in certain regions to dynamically 
respond to employer demand & to avoid duplicated delivery, as we’ve been doing weekly in Wave 3. 

 
Quarterly, we receive over 1,000 applicants for our teaching roles and have <3% acceptance rate. 
Our team of >54 full-time mentors, lecturers, code reviewers and senior academic delivery staff (with 
collective 50+ years of experience in online education) will be increased proportionally for Wave 4. 
We conduct hundreds of internal quality checks of code reviews and mentor calls, ranking all teaching 
staff weekly on their delivery, with only 2% falling below our standards in Wave 3. Our online platform 
and 2 offices provide the equipment needed by staff for online delivery and we guide students to 
install necessary software. 

 
Our curricula have clearly defined skill outcomes per week and our students can access a detailed 
study plan as early as from the application stage. We have been creating and adapting bootcamp 
curricula for over a decade, and will adapt Wave 4 SB based on employer feedback and Wave 3 
learner outcomes. 

 
To stay on track and deliver outcomes, we track interviews and job offers daily and assess these 
against weekly targets, using projections based on Wave 3 outcomes. Where we see our results fall 
behind, we deploy interventions to relevant students that include catch up webinars and 1:1 calls with 
additional tailored 1:1 calls with our employer relations job search support team. By tracking 750+ 
student performance metrics weekly we're able to identify issues early and deploy interventions, as 
well as to report on our performance vs KPIs. 
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Jaggaer Reference Number: project_7338 and project_7698 
 
QUESTION 5: Quality Assurance & Continuous Improvement 

 
Describe your quality assurance and continuous improvement processes to ensure that you 
deliver a high-quality service. Include how you will collect, manage, report, and use data to 
evidence and improve your own performance, and meet the Department for Education’s 
data requirements. 

 
RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS 

 
Your response should: 

 
Describe your overall approach to your quality assurance and continuous improvement 
processes, including how you will: 

● Ensure that all required data, including from subcontractors, is collected, and reported to the 
Department for Education, and reported in a way that is timely, accurate, and complete. 

● Use your data to evidence, review and improve your performance (e.g., learner dropouts, 
completions, outcomes, quality of training etc) and to develop new ways of working, to 
maximise efficiency. 

● Implement robust and auditable procedures for logging, managing, escalating, and resolving 
issues, complaints, and risks. 

 
 

 
Word count = 400 
Weighting = 
Competition 1 Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 10% 
Competition 2 Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 10% 

 

 
Please write your response on a separate Word document and upload it to the 
relevant question answer area in the Jaggaer e-Sourcing Portal within the Technical 
Envelope. 
Please ensure your document response is named as per the response naming 
guidance in Document 1 Procurement Document A Invitation to Participate. 

We’re a data-first organisation that has built a completely bespoke online learning platform for 
delivering bootcamps, with an internal data & engineering team of 15 full-time staff. Our platform 
tracks nearly a thousand metrics weekly relating to the student experience, including time stamping 
every submission of work and we’ve built a custom GLH tracker that integrates with multiple external 
tools to track GLH per student. A dedicated QA team checks accuracy by collecting data twice, e.g., 
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on metrics such as turnaround time on student grading, and our system flags automatically for review 
any “outlier” metrics varying significantly from the preceding 3 month average, which are then 
populated automatically for discussion at a weekly metrics meeting. 

 
As we’ve already made claims via the ILR system and through local portals, we’ve clear alignment of 
our platforms’ data fields and have built custom automation to extract and populate reporting data to 
the DfE. 

 
A SB project implementation team of 20 employees, divided in sub-areas that range from 1:1 mentor 
call delivery to curriculum design, meets weekly and flags any concerning metrics from the previous 
week. In Wave 3 we used this system to successfully implement urgent interventions such as 
refactoring our student ticketing system and releasing more mentor calls in periods to improve 
retention. In Wave 4 we will compare a set of 50 core metrics (e.g. turnaround time on grading) to our 
Wave 3 performance weekly, targeting improvements. 

 
In Wave 3, we’ve worked closely with the DfE to define a % escalations target rate of 0.5% of our 
active student base, and to share data on the functioning of our complaints procedure. We 
benchmark % complaint rates and severity per bootcamp weekly, and use the Zendesk platform to 
ensure we resolve issues & complaints within a 24 hour SLA, complaints are escalated first for calls 
with Success Managers, and that we receive at least a 85% satisfaction score on ticket resolution. 
We're resolving >2,500 tickets monthly (a subset are complaints) within 20 hours, with 9 full-time staff 
dedicated to this, with every ticket and issue logged, categorised, and the % of issues discussed and 
audited each week to monitor under delivery across our services. We deploy weekly content, mentor 
call and overall experience surveys plus NPS surveys, from these we found over 80% of 200 SB 
respondents in January 23 rated their overall experience “Good” or "Excellent”. 
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Jaggaer Reference Number: project_7338 and project_7698 
 
QUESTION 6: Social Value 

 
Demonstrate effective measures to the following objectives through the Contract: 

● Support employment and training opportunities, particularly for those who face barriers to 
employment and/or who are located in deprived areas, and for those in industries with known 
skill shortages or in high growth sectors. 

 
RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS: 

 
Your response should: 

 
● Describe how you will engage and recruit under-represented groups within your workforce 

employed under the contract, such as those with protected characteristics, and those who 
might face barriers to employment e.g. veterans or serving prisoners due to be released 
within 6 months of completion of the Skills Bootcamp and those on Temporary Release ● 
State how you will monitor, measure and report on this commitment. 

 
Word count = 300 Weighting 
= 
Competition 1 Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 10% Competition 2 
Lots 1, 2 and 3 are 10% 

 
 
For further information on Social Value Model please see Procurement Policy Note 06/20 – 
taking account of social value in the award of central government contracts - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

 
Please write your response on a separate Word document and upload it to the 
relevant question answer area in the Jaggaer e-Sourcing Portal within the Technical 
Envelope. 
Please ensure your document response is named as per the response naming 
guidance in Document 1 Procurement Document A Invitation to Participate. 

We exist to close the tech skills gap and diversity and inclusion is fundamental to our company’s 
culture, with our founding team denied educational opportunities growing up as non-white South 
Africans living during Apartheid. We apply this to hiring as a fully remote team by advertising our 
roles in deprived areas of England and abroad, and working with nonprofits such as TechVets to 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
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advertise our roles specifically to veterans and former prisoners, and worked with the non-profit 
Lifechoices to train and hire 11 coding mentors from an impoverished area in South Africa (SA). 

 
As we're partially based in SA, we’re required to report annually under Black Economic 
Empowerment diversity laws on the percentage of our total workforce that is from underrepresented 
backgrounds (beyond ethnicity alone and including disabilities) and meet minimum thresholds on 
diversity. Our People Operations team tracks and reports on these metrics for all employees in the 
UK and abroad, and we're proud that over 40% of our employees come from minority backgrounds, 
over 
40% are female, and by applying the five foundational principles of quality work set out in the Good 
Work Plan, offering flexible working hours, fully remote working, and adjustments to cater for 
employees with caring responsibilities or disabilities, we’ve formed a diverse workforce which we will 
continue to track and report on quarterly and at the start of and end of SB delivery to meet the 10% 
minimum improvement criteria. Finally, we support all our contract and FT workforce by providing 
them access to 1 free bootcamp we offer per year, allowing them to progress into scarce tech careers 
with us or elsewhere and move out of contract-only work. 
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